DOCUMENT RESUME

	ED 215 399 . ~	EA 014 499
-	AUTHOR	Harris, Yeuell Y. Community Information in Education. A Handbook of Standard Terminology and a Guide to Its Collection
		and Use. State Educational Records and Reports Series, Handbook VIII.
	INSTITUTION	Miami Univ., Oxford, Ohio.
	SPONS AGENCY	National Center for Education Statistics (DHEW), Washington, D.C.
	PUB DATÈ	[80]
	CONTRACT `	300-760-570
	NOTE .	265p.
	AVAILABLE FROM	Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC 20402 (Stock No.
•	· ·	065-000-00009-1; \$7.50).
	EDRS PRICE	MF01/PC11 Plus Póstage.
	, DESCRIPTORS	*Community Characteristics; Community Surveys; Data Analysis; *Data Collection; Definitions; Demography; Educational Planning; Elementary Secondary Education; Information Needs; *Information Sources; Land Use; Records (Forms); Social Structure: Tables (Data): Two

ABSTRACT

As an aid for administrators in state and local education agencies, community colleges, and noneducational service agencies, this handbook tells how to gather community information needed for educational planning and decision-making. Information sources, terminology, and definitions are included, as well as guidelines for the use of such data. The first two chapters present an introduction to community information. Six further chapters examine the classification of community data on population, land use, and social structure and discuss available published resources, information gathering from local sources, community survey methods, techniques of data use, and definitions of the data items used. Tables and charts provide examples of community information. In eleven appendices, the authors include a glossary of terms, sample community profile charts, an explanation of the Standard Industrial Classification system, hints on using federal census data, and a guide to the literature. (RW)

Year Colleges; Vocabulary





U.S. Department of Education Shirley M. Hufstedler, Secretary

F. James Rutherford Assistant Secretary for Educational Research and Improvement

National Center for Education Statistics Marie D. Eldridge, Administrator



NATIONAL CENTER FOR EDUCATION STATISTICS 📑

"The purpose of the Center shall be to collect and disseminate statistics and other data related to education in the United States and in other nations. The Center shall ... collect, collate, and, from time to time, report full and complete statistics on the conditions of education in the United States; conduct and publish reports on specialized analyses of the meaning and significance of such statistics; ... and review and report on education activities in foreign countries."-Section 406(b) of the General Education Provisions Act, as amended (20 U.S.C. 1221e²¹).

The manuscript for this Handbook was developed by a multidisciplinary team of professionals from Miami University, Oxford, Ohio, under contract number 300-760-570 with the National Center for Education Statistics. The Project Administrator was C, Neale Bogner, Dean, School of Education and Allied Professions.

> Project Team Members:
> James H. Pelley, Project Director Robert C. Atchley Mary E. McWilliams
> Suzanne L. Parker
> James R. Showkeir
> Richard V. Smith

This document has been prepared by the contractor for the National Center for Education Statistics, U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. Points of view or opinions stated in this document do not necessarily represent the policy of either the National Center for Education Statistics or Miami University.

FOREWORD

Although the reciprocal relationship that exists between a school and its community has long been recognized, the need for better information about the community as a basis for planning and decisionmaking has only recently become apparent. Obtaining information about community characteristics requires terminology, definitions, sources of information, and knowledge concerning the use of such data. Handbook VIII was conceived to fill these needs.

The development of this project was supervised in the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) by the Division of Statistical Services' Federal State Coordination Branch, headed by Ivan N. Siebert, Chief (retired).

Å multidisciplinary team of professionals from Miami University, under contract with NCES, developed Handbook VIII in the Educational Records and Report Series. The same team prepared the original draft based on field work conducted in 30 States. Extensive field testing of the revised draft was conducted in North Carolina, Ohio, and Washington. A brief description of the role of NCES and a listing of other handbooks in the series are presented in appendix I.

This handbook is somewhat unique in the series in two respects: first, the sources of data for Handbook VIII are external to the school. The information from other handbooks in the series is addressed to internal aspects of school operation, such as student property, staff, or curriculum. Second, Handbook VIII is intended for a broader range of potential users, including not only decisionmakers for State and local education agencies, but community college administrators and those responsible for various noneducation agencies that serve communities.

The authors of this handbook advocate maximum feasible collaboration among local agencies in sharing community information, and recommend the cooperative development and use of a community information data base.

Handbook VIII is the first effort to delineate community characteristics information for NCES. Handbook users are invited to send suggestions for future revision to Administrator, National Center for Education Statistics Federal Office Building #6, 400 Maryland Avenue SW., Washington, D.C. 20202.

This document is the result of cooperative efforts of the many professional organizations, agencies, and individuals cited in appendix K.

> Mary A. Golladay, Acting Director Division of Statistical Services

February 1979

CONTENTS

FORMADD	Pages
FOREWORD	· · · · · · · · · · · · iii
Chapter 1—OVERVIEW	v
PURPOSE	, .,
WHAT IS A COMMUNITY	•••••••••••
BASIC ASSUMPTIONS	••••••
DESCRIPTION OF HANDBOOK VIII FLOW CHART	·····
Chapter 2 AN DEDODUCTION TO COL	
Chapter 2-AV INTRODUCTION TO COMMUNITY INFORMAT	ION
	5
DATA ITEM IDENTIFICATION	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
DATA-TIEM IDENTIFICATION	
History and Bestern of System Adapts to Declining Enrolln	ient 8
Problem' I dentification is at a standard of Hirth School District	
The Committee on Derline The Hirth School District	
Size and Distribution of the Law Size and Distribution of the Law Size and Distribution of the Law Size and Size and Distribution of the Law Size and Size and Distribution of the Law Size and	•••••• 11
The Vocational Education Of the Junior High School Pupil Population	on 12
OTHER CONSIDERATIONS IN STUDYING THE	16
Formal Areas and Functional Areas	Y 20
County and Rubal Areas	•••••• 20
Emerging Factors	20.
Enerov	
Environment	
Patterns of Employment and Unemployment	••••• 21
CONCLUSION	; 22
	••••• 22'
Chapter 3—CLASSIFICATION OF SELECTED COMMUNITY	•.
INFORMATION	• 5'
INTRODUCTION	
• SELECTING DATA ITEMS	
DEFINITIONS OF DATA ITEMS	23
SNOTES ON USE	
Geographic Area	
Time of Data Collection	
The Coding System	
Structure of the Coding System	
Expanding the Coding System	
Further Examples of Expanding the Coding System	
Concercience Conce	
General ropulation Characteristics	····· 27 **

6.

à.

~ .	•	· P	` age	•
	Racial and Ethnic Characteristics		27	
• .	Foreign Born Characteristics	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	27	
· · ·	Urban-Rural Characteristics		27	
	Income Characteristics		27	
	Educational Characteristics	4	28	4
	Household and Housing Characteristics		. 283	;
1-	Vital Statistics		28	
•	Handicapped Categories		28	
	Items Describing Economy Data	••••••••••••••••••	31	5
	General Economic Characteristics		31	}
	Employment by Industry Group Characteristics		32	
÷ •	Economic Indicators	•••••	• 32	•
•	Economic Aspects of Local Government	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	32	•
	Community Revenue Base for Schools		· 32	
,	Economic Characteristics of the Population		32	
	Economic Trends (Future)		32	
•	ITEMS DESCRIBING LAND USE DATA		36	
	Classification of Lard		36	-
	Land Use—General Characteristics		36	,
	Land Use—Density Measures		36	
	1 Land Use—Specific Site Characteristics		36	
` د	Land Use—Regulatory Information	•••••	36	•
ŧ	** * ITEMS DESCRIBING SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND DYNA	MICS DATA	39.	
`,	General Characteristics of the Community		39	~'
° '	Statistics Collected by Local Agencies		39-	
	Voting Characteristics		39	•
	Formal and Informal Organizations in the Community	•	39	· ·
	Allocation of Community Resources and Services		<u>3</u> 9	
	Communication Through Mass Media		40	1.
•	School District Characteristics	•••••	40	*
	School District Organization		40.	·
	School and Community Interrelationships	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	40	
Chapter	A DIDI KUPD DATA			,
Chapter		•••	45	-
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	45 `47	
	POPULATION INFORMATION	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	45	
	Housing Congre Deports	· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	43	
	Init Deputation Housing Deports	•••••	40	
	Current Depulation Deports	. • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	41	٥
	RASIC CENSUS DURI ICATIONS	•••••	4/ 10	•
	Titles of Tables From Donulation Consus Donorts Series D	······	40	
•	HOUSING		50	• •
•	Titles of Tables on Hours	olde	50	
	ORTAINING 1980 Cansus Data by School District	0105	50	,
	ECONOMY	e • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	50	
•	Data Sources on Industrial Groups of the France	•••••	55 52	•
	Summary of Industry Group Data Sources	•••••••••••	, 22 , 22	• 1
/ 、	Data Sources for Local Government and the Community I	Revenue Race	, JJ	•
• •	for Schools		57	
		•••••	51	

i.

vi 👌

Í

CONTENTS

ERIC

		Page
•4	Data Sources for the Economic Characteristics of the Population	. 57.
۰.	Social Structure and Dynamics	• 58 • 58
Chapter 5-	-OBTAINING AVAILABLE COMMUNITY INFORMATION	•
	INTRODUCTION	
•	DATA CATHEDED BY OTHER OR CANES	• 759
a 6	Bublic Sources With Diversion of the State of the Sources	• 59
	Private and Industrial Q	. 5 9
	I MITATIONS OF Wassers With Examples '	. 60 [.]
	OF LOCAL DATE:	E
. ,		61
、	DATA UN MIGRANIS	61
•	LOCAL SCHOOL CENSUSES AS A SOURCE OF INFORMATION	62
~	The Periodic Census	62 ·
	The Continuous Census	62
	Some Elements of a School Census	62
	HOUSING AUTHORITIES AS A SOURCE OF LOCAL DATA	62
- 1	. VITAL STATISTICS AS A SOURCE OF LOCAL INFORMATION	63
×	LOCAL SOURCES OF ECONOMIC DATA	63
•	Data on the Economy	63
° • ø	Data on the Economic Characteristics' of the Population	.63
• • *	Questions to Consider on Economic Characteristics	63 •
	LAND USE AND COMMUNITY RESOURCES DATA	64
· · ·	SOURCES OF INFORMATION ON SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND	6
1	DYNAMICS OF A COMMUNITY	66
•	Questions to Consider Regarding Social Structure and Dynamics	66
•	Questions to Consider in Collecting Political Data	67
	• Questions to Consider in Collecting Data About Local Organizations	67
·	COMMUNITY RESOURCES AND SERVICES AS SOURCES OF LOCAL	07
•	DATA	60
•	, Questions to Consider in Using Community Resources	60
•	MASS MEDIA AS A SOURCE OF LOCAL DATA	70
• ·	Questions to Consider in the Use of Mass Media	70
*	COMMUNITY RESIDENTS AS A SOURCE OF DATA	.71
••	Questions to Consider in Collecting Data From Local Lorders	-71 -71
2	Political Questions	71
	Questions to be Asked of a Professional Educator	71
* •	General Questions	71 .
	CITIZEN PARTICIPATION AS A SOURCE OF DATA	12
•	Questions to Consider in Collecting Data Through Citizen Participation	72
` -	" USE OF MAPS TO DISPLAY DATA	/3 70'
· ·	SUMMARY.	73
		/4
Chapter 6-	ASSESSING COMMUNITY ATTITUDES, VALUES, AND	
<i>i i</i>	BELIEFS	
•	INTRODUCTION	75
	TO DO OR NOT TO DO A SURVEY	75
•	PLANNING FOR A COMMUNITY SURVEY	76
· • ,	SURVEY DESIGN	76 .
		7U '

 \mathcal{B}

ŀ.

vii

Ś

•	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Page
-	QUESTION DESIGN	77
	· Demographic Questions	77
	Factual Questions	. 77
	Attitudinal Questions	78
	Open-Ended Questions	78
<u>.</u>	Multiple-Choice Questions	. 78
••••	Scaled Multiple-Choice Questions	, 70
	SAMPLING	, 72 70
-	PRETESTING THE SURVEY INSTRUMENT	01
· 4	HOW TO ADMINISTER A SURVEY	, 01 01
	ANALYSIS AND INTERPRETATION OF MATA	01
	BIAS	02
	REPORTING THE RESULTS	0.0
	Periodic Reassessment	, 83 95
	Use of Survey Data	. 83
4	CONCLUSION	83
· · · · ·		83
Chapter 7-	-TECHNIQUES FOR USING INFORMATION	· ·`
	INTRODUCTION	87
	GENERAL PRINCIPLES	. 87
	SCHOOL ENROLLMENT PROJECTIONS	89
<i>.</i> .	The Survival Ratio Method	89
	Projecting Survival Ratios	91
	Neighborhood Change Factor	91
• ,	Saturation Ratio	91
•	Linking Enrollment Projections to Population Projections	92
	Standard Methods	92
•	SCHOOL SITE AND TRANSPORTATION PLANNING	03
• •	Essential Information	03
` o _	Population	03
•	Land Use—General Characteristics	03
۰.	Land Use—Density Measures	03
:	Land Use—Specific Characteristics	03 '
^	Standard Formulas	04
	Generalized Site Features	04
, ,	Distance Guidelines for a Moderate-Size City	0/
· ` -	Site Size Standards	0/
	Site Cost Considerations	24 05
•	Site Location, Population Distribution, and Site Access	95 05
	Specific Site Characteristics	95
1	>Transportation	95
< , `	The Future	93 04
	APPLICATIONS OF ELECTRONIC DATA PROCESSING FOUNDMENT	90
,	TO THE COMMUNITY INFORMATION SVETEM	07
	GBF/DIME System	96.
· ·	CONCLUSION	97
		98
Chapter 8–	-DEFINITIONS	99

9

viii

.

.

CONTENTS

G

Full Text Provided by ERIC

APPENDIXES	
A-Glossary	
B—Acronyms Used in Handbook VIII	
C—Community Profile Charts	1
D-An Educational and Sociological Definition of Community	
E—The Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) System	
F-Race an Ethnic Standards for Federal Statistics and Administrative Reporting	
G-The Family Grucation Rights and Privacy Act of 1974	
H—Assistance in Obtaining and Using Data and Products From the U.S. Bureau of	
the Census	
I The Role of NCES in Gathering and Compiling Data and Information	
About Education	
J—A Guide to the Literature	L
K—Acknowledgments	
NDEX	

FIGURES

1-1	Handbook VIII flow chart	
2-1	Hirth School District (Hirth Township) with consust tracks	1
2-2	Median family income level, by census tract for Hirth School District)
	(Hirth Township): 1980	1
2-3	Population of the age group 12 to 14 by junior high school attendance area, Hirth School District: 1980	
2.4	Projected number of number	
2-4	respected number of persons age 12 to 14 in Hirth School District (Hirth Township), by	
~ ~	census tract: 1990	
2-5	Proposed attendance areas for junior high schools in Hirth School Disfrict: 1990	
5-1	General pattern of vital statistics registration in the United States, by:	
	a. Birth, death, and fetal death	
	b. Marriage and divorce	
-6-1	Samples of three-, four-, and five cools multiple choice and five footbold and five	
6-2	Potential sources of bigs in a more and multiple-choice response items	
7.1	School ago necessor bas in a survey	
7 3	School-age population, by type of school, Hirth School District: 1980	•
	Change in age 12 to 14 population, Hirth Township: 1980-1995	
H-1	19/0 census summary tapes: Counts and files	
H-2	Census Bureau geographic units — their hierarchial relationships	
H-3	Summary of major 1970 census reports	

TABLES

~

2-1	Population of Hirth Township, by age, sex, and race: 1980	10	
2-2	Projections of school-age population. Hirth Township: 1980 1990	10	4
·2-3	Projections of junior high-age population, by single upon of age 1000 1005	11	
2-4	Selected characteristics of nonulation and of housing. With Township, 1995	12	•
	tract. 1980		

ix

j.

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Page
2- 5 [·]	Projected population of the age group 12 to 14 for Hirth Township, by census tracts: 1990	
2-6	Employment by industry group, Hirth Township: 1980; and Laftcaster Standard	. 16
	Med opontali Statistical Area (SMSA): 1980 and 1990	• 19
4-1	Basic data available from The County and City Data Book 1972	40
4-2	Sources for congress date on monorholism and City Date Book, 1974	48
	sources for census data on population	. 49 ·
4-3	Sources for census data on housing	5.1
6-1	Attitudes toward the levy of parents and nonparents	57 82
6-2	Attitude toward levy, by type of school their children attend	. 02
63	A 44 in de 4 sum of 1 series of the series in the children attend	, 83
.0-3	Attitude toward levy of home owners and renters	83
7-1	Percent distribution of family income and median income Cincinneti SMSA, 1060	00
7-2	Actual and projected empetition and an income, Cincinnati SIVISA: 1909	88
1-4	Actual and projected enrolments, by grades 1-12	° 00

11

ć

Chapter 1 OVERVIEW

PURPOSE

Under the unique system for control of public education that has evolved in the United States, schools are expected to be responsive to the communities they serve. Lay boards of education are elected, and other arrangements for involving citizens in policymaking are made to insure a large measure of local autonomy. Schools are expected to reflect the characteristics and needs of the community and its people.

The purpose of Handbook VIII is to help all those who participate in planning for education to make sound decisions based on accurate data about the community. These participants include the educational leaders, members of the professional teaching staff, interested citizens, and the students themselves, in accordance with their level of maturity.

Nearly every phase of educational planning and decisionmaking is affected by community characteristics. Handbook VIII has identified principal facets of the community as: (1) Population, (2) Economic activity, (3) Land Use, and (4) Social Structure and Dynamics.

Extensive arrays of data items have been classified under the above major categories, and these have been defined-to-insure comparability when such data are used.

In addition to presenting systematic arrays of data items, terms, and definitions, the handbook cites sources of such data and offers suggestions on how to collect and analyze the data.

WHAT IS A COMMUNITY?

The term "community" has several meanings. In this handbook, community refers to a concentrated settlement of people within a specific territorial area. Local areas become communities: (1) to the extent that . the daily needs of residents can be satisfied within the locality through a system of interdependent relationships, and (2) to the extent that residents identify with the locality. Boundaries of political localities, such as townships or counties, and boundaries of administrative localities, such as school districts, water districts, or census tracts, may or may not correspond to the boundaries of a community.

٤

Community can also refer to shared interests, as in "a community of ideas" or "the professional community." This definition is relevant to this handbook. *only* when shared interests revolve around a geographic locality.

Data are usually collected for political or administrative units. Therefore it is important to keep in mind while using the handbook that the geographic and political units used in the collection of data often only approximate actual community boundaries. (See appendix C for a more detailed discussion of "community.")

BASIC ASSUMPTIONS

This handbook is designed to be used selectively. It is not designed as a complete information system, and perhaps no user would want to implement the efftire handbook. Some users may want to add items of their own. Persons concerned with educational planning and decisionmaking vary considerably, both in their familiarity with community data and in the depth and breadth of data they need. The handbook is geared to a broad audience. It assumes no previous familiarity with statistics or with data sources, such as the U.S. Census. It is designed for maximum flexibility in terms of the types of data covered, geographic detail, and the topics that can be addressed. The Handbook represents a distillation of data items and perspectives that are of

continuing significance. No attempt was made to be encyclopedic, yet the level of detail should be sufficient for most users.

2

DESCRIPTION OF HANDBOOK VIII FLOW CHART

The flow chart (figure 1-1) is designed to provide a framework for using Handbook VIII. It emphasizes that the handbook can be used selectively.

Collecting and using the data presented in Handbook VIII under normal circumstances, involve the following steps:

Step 1—is identification of the concern. Once this is done, the data needed for examining the area of concern can be identified. Any data already collected should be examined to determine if they can be used to study the concern. At this point the kind of data that still must be collected can be identified.

Chapter 2 contains a section describing problem, identification and data needs. In addition, it provides an illustration of how various concerns facing a school district were analyzed, using the sources of data presented in this Handbook.

Step 2—is identification of the data items to be collected. The way the data will be organized should also be decided. Organization is important because the data collected for one concern may be useful in other areas; and once the data are collected and organized, they can be stored for later retrieval.

Chapter 3 outlines one method of organizing a data system and identifies items that should be useful in analyzing the concerns that face schools. It is not necessary to collect all data items listed in chapter 3; only those data items relevant to the concern being studied should be collected. Chapter 8 contains definitions for all data items presented in chapter 3.

Appendix B contains an abbreviated version of the classification of data items presented in chapter 3.

It also includes charts for recording the collected data. These charts represent only one method of recording and storing data. Another method may be chosen that is better suited to the reader's needs and capabilities.

Step 3—is collection of data. Once the needed data are specified, sources of these data can be identified. Since data collection can be costly, the first question to be asked is: "Is the required data available in published form?" Chapter 4 can be used to identify sources of published data and the types of data reported by these sources.

If all the needed data cannot be acquired from the sources listed in chapter 4, other sources of data within the community should be explored. Chapter 5 is designed to help locate sources within the community that might provide the needed data.

Finally, if all the data required to analyze the concern cannot be gathered from existing sources cited in chapters 4 and 5, it may be necessary to conduct a survey of community residents. Chapter 6 provides a basic explanation of survey techniques used in collecting data from original sources.

Step 4—is analysis and interpretation of data. Chapter 7 includes a brief overview of descriptive statistics and other techniques for analyzing data.

The process outlined above can be cyclical in nature. Once the data have been collected, other data may be identified as necessary for problem analysis. In this case, steps 2, 3 and 4 would be repeated until all the data necessary to analyze the concern are collected.

A Guide to the Literature, presented in appendix J, is useful in identifying other references that can be used for further data on various topics. Public and private organizations that may be able to provide further data have also been included.

Figure 1-1.-Handbook VIII Flow Chart

STEP 1

- Identifying the problem
- Identifying the type of data needed
- Identifying the data on hand

provides information on problem identification and presents illustrations of how community data can be used.

INFORMATION—Chapter 3: Presents one possible scheme for organizing the data to be collected. It also proivdes a listing of items that can be used in determining the data needed for specific problems. The data items and organizational system presented here can be used selectively according to the requirements of the problem being investigated.

STEP 2

DATA ORGANIZATION -- Chapters 3, 8,

DATA ITEM IDENTIFICATION AND

One organizational scheme for a

Definitions of those data items

An explanation of the coding system

Identification of important data items

An abbreviated version of the data

system presented in chapter 3

CLASSIFICATION OF COMMUNITY

complete data system

and Appendix B

DEFINITIONS-Chapter 8:

Provides the definitions for the data items presented in chapter 3.

COMMUNITY PROFILE CHARTS-

Abbreviated version of the organizational system provided in chapter 3.

STEP 3

OBTAINING THE NECESSARY INFORMATION-Chapters 4, 5, 6

- Availability of information needed
- 🖕 PUBLISHED DATA-CHAPTER 4: 🔒

Reviews the information that is available from the Bureau of Census and the publications in which that information is located.

- Availability of additional information OBTAINING COMMUNITY INFORMATION FROM LOCAL SOURCES—Chapter 5: identifies other sources of information within
- the local community. It also provides
- questions to be considered in the
- * collection of the data.
- Collecting information directly from community members'

ASSESSING COMMUNITY ATTITUDES, VALUES, AND BELIEFS—Chapter 6: provides a basic framework of survey techniques for the collection of community opinions.

ANALYZING THE DATA THAT HAVE BEEN COLLECTED-Chapter 7

- Manipulating statistical data
- Enrollment projections.
- Linking enrollment projections to population projections
- Electronic data processing

TECHNIQUES FOR USING, INFORMATION,-Chapter 7:

Provides a review of some of the statistical methods that can be used in analyzing the collected data. VERVIEN

Chapter 2,

AN INTRODUCTION TO COMMUNITY INFORMATION

SUMMARY

Code

Handbook VIII is specifically designed to assist the researcher in better collection and use of data for decisionmaking related "to school issues. The schools serve, and are served by, the community, its people, and institutions. Therefore, short-term and long-term school planning and problem solving require knowledge of the internal and external features and dynamics of the geographic area the schools serve.

The concerns involved in the school-community tie are diverse. They may affect the entire geographic area of the school district, including vocational schools and community colleges; or they may affect only a compact neighborhood. They may relate to a minority group, a housing area, or the population of the entire community. They may have academic, vocational, or leisure time program implications. They may be of local origin, or they may result from some mandate imposed by the State or the Federal Government. In each case a decision will be required, and community-related data may be a small or a large part of what is essential for reasoned decisionmaking. Handbook VIII is designed to help decisionmakers as they assemble facts, perceptions, and data on community political and social realities to solve emerging problems.

Early in the decisionmaking process school planners must decide what and how much data to collect. a common belief that great quantities of data are essential; this is not necessarily true. Data have real value only when they contribute to the solution of concerns being confronted. A comprehensive system providing data on almost any conceivable issue would be ideal. Time, staff, and budget, however, rule out such a system for most school districts. The lack of an available information system should not preclude collection of data pertinent to a specific issue. A minimal data base can be started. A functional system can be started for stopped, contracted or expanded, as emerging needs dictate.

Community data items may be stored in a computerized retrieval system, on file cards or sheets of paper, or in other ways. The data may be manipulated by a sophisticated computer method available through a community college or may be summarized by office staff or community volunteers in a rudimentary manner. Community data are central to a consideration of issues related to enrollment, tax base, curriculum design, race relations, school building needs and losations, attendance areas, bus routes, additional training for the labor force, and many others. The school system is a dominant institution in the community; therefore school decisionmaking affects the community's present and future.

The major data categories (detailed in chapter 3), covering useful sets of community information are listed below:

5

Numbers	Data-Helli Calegones	
01 .	POPULATION -	
01. 0 1	GENERAL POPULATION CHARACTERISTICS	
01. 0 2	RACIAL AND ETHNIC CHARACTERISTICS	
01. 03	FOREIGN BORN CHARACTERISTICS	
01.04	URBAN-RURAL CHARACTERISTICS	
01. 0 5	INCOME ^C CHARACTERISTICS	,
01.06	EDUCATIONAL CHARACTERISTICS	
	· · ·	

16.24

COMN

	•
- 01. 07	HOUSEHOLD AND HOUSING CHARACTERISFICS
01. 09	HANDICAPPED CATEGORIES
02. 9	ECONOMY
02. 01	GENERAL ECONOMIC CHARACTERISTICS EMPLOYMENT, BY INDUSTRY GROUP CHARACTERISTICS
02. 03	ECONOMIC INDICATORS
02.04	ECONOMIC ASPECTS OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT
02. 06	ECONOMIC CHARACTERISTICS OF THE DODULATION
02. 07	ECONOMIC TRENDS (FUTURE)
03.	LAND USE .
'03. 01	CLASSIFICATION OF LAND
03. 02 ·	LAND USE—GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS
03. 03	LAND USE-DENSITY MEASURES
03. 04	LAND USE—SPECIFIC SITE CHARACTERISTICS
03. 05	LAND USE-REGULATORY INFORMATION
04. S	SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND DYNAMICS
04. 01	GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS OF THE COMMUNITY
04. 02	STATISTICS COLLECTED BY LOCAL AGENCIES
04. 03	VOTING CHARACTERISTICS
04. 04	FORMAL AND INFORMAL ORGANIZATIONS IN THE COMMUNITY
04.05	ALLOCATION OF COMMUNITY RESOURCES AND SERVICES
04.06	COMMUNICATION THROUGH MASS MEDIA
04.07	SCHOOL DISTRICT CHARACTERISTICS
∲ U4. U8′	SCHOOL DISTRICT ORGANIZATION
. 04. 09 · ,	SCHOOL AND COMMUNITY INTERRELATIONSHIPS

PROBLEM IDENTIFICATION

. It is beyond the scope of this Handbook to discuss problem identification in detail; however, a few general guidelines can be presented. Three questions might be asked: '

- (1) Where is the concern occurring?
- (2) When is the concern occurring?

(3) Whom does it affect?

The first aspect of problem identification, determining where the concern is occurring, involves questions of scope. The researcher needs to know whether a concern affects the whole school district. For instance, declining enrollment may be districtwide or it may be occurring in only a few schools. Note, however, that

"in -"Jution to the problem, even if it is manifested

only locally, may have implications for the entire school district.

A second aspect of problem identification is determining a time frame. Is it a concern that occurs only at a specific time? Does it have short- or long-range implications? Assume, for example, that the concern: is failure of a school levy. The failure occurs at a specific point in time, but the ramifications may be felt all year. Defining the time limits can determine how much time is available for data collection and analysis. If the concern is short term and needs an immediate solution, the time for collection and analysis of data may be severely limited. If the problem is long term in nature, there may be enough time for extended research and analysis. Emphasis, therefore, must be placed on the identification of long term problems before they become immediate concerns requiring prompt solutions.

INTRODUCTION

The third aspect of problem identification, identifying exactly who is, or will be, affected by the concern or its solution, is particularly important if the community is brought into the decisionmaking process or if a survey is being contemplated. For example, if a survey will be used to determine why school levies have failed, it is important to determine which groups of people have voted against the levy. If the problem concerns declining enrollments, it is necessary to determine who would be affected by closing schools or other possible solutions.

DATA-ITEM IDENTIFICATION

The data items that can be collected are numerous and varied. It is difficult to provide exact guidelines for the identification of data items for specific concerns because the nature of the problem and the characteristics of the community should determine the type of data to be collected. This section, therefore, outlines a general, rather than specific, strategy for item identification.

• Data are usually collected to provide a clearer understanding of the different aspects of a situation. Data items themselves will not provide a solution, of course, but they may point to a particular alternative solution as being more desirable than another.

The following list of basic areas that data can be used to illuminate is not exhaustive, but it should provide some idea of the areas that can be profitably explored by the use of community data:

- Background of the concern'
- Why the concern is occurring
- Impact of the concern on the schools and com-, munity
- Range of possible solutions and their effects on the schools and the community
- Areas of the community that will be most directly affected by the concern and possible solutions
- Opinions of community members about the concern and possible solutions
- Long-term or future-trends

The user should first determine what data are already known before deciding which specific data should be collected. The amount of data known will, to some extent, determine what data must still be collected.

The process of data-item identification as shown in the illustration following this section is briefly summarized here and in the next several paragraphs. The school-age population in Hirth School District was declining. The committee exploring the problem wanted to know the background of the community. Population figures for some point in the past and for the present, plus projections for the future, were key data items in understanding the magnitude of the concerni

After collecting and analyzing population data, the committee decided that the projected decline in population was critical and that plans were urgently needed. The committee collected information on the following. Staff, buildings, attendance areas, and transportation. They also formulated the following questions that the data would help them answer:

- How are the students spatially distributed throughout the district now, and how might this distri-/ bution change?
- How do the social and economic characteristics of the population vary throughout the district, and what implication does this have for retrenchment?
- To what extent are resources available to develop school programs for population groups other than the traditional 5-to-18 age category?

The committee identified the data it still needed to collect.

Following the initial steps the committee formulated plans for coping with the projected future situation. The committee recognized that the need for community data, however, did not end with the formulation of plans. Community members might not understand the magnitude or complexity of the concern. Community cooperation would be important in making certain basic decisions and carrying out future plans. The committee decided to investigate groups within the community that could help explain the concern to community members.

The preceding paragraphs have briefly summarized the Hirth School illustration. It may not always be possible, at a specific point in time, to identify all the data that need to be collected. Often the collection and analysis of initial data lead to other questions and other data that will be needed. The process of data-item identification, collection, and analysis proceeds in stages. The cyclical nature of the data-collection process has been alluded to in figure 1-1, chapter 1.

Standard data sources should always' be examined first. If these sources do not provide the needed data items, or if the data they provide are old and incorrect, then local sources of data should be considered. Local planning agencies, major employers, local community colleges or universities, and many other places may well perform studies or collect data that will be useful.

Chapter 5 suggests many of these local sources. If needed information is not available, then the final alternative is to generate the data through a survey. Chapter 6 covers some of the considerations involved in such efforts.

The following hypothetical illustration examines the community-school tie and the possible uses of community data.

ILLUSTRATION: HIRTH SCHOOL SYSTEM ADAPTS TO DECLINING ENROLLMENT

History and Background of Hirth School District

Hirth School District formed the northwestern corner of Washington County, which was the central unit of a four-county Standard Metropolitan Statistical Area (SMSA). The SMSA was named for the central city, Lancaster, and the metropolitan complex was reasonably typical of the older big city areas of the East and Midwest. The SM\$A's 1980 population of 1,504,585 was almost identical to the 1970 figure, but there was evidence that the area would lose population in the coming decades. The city of Lancaster had a census, count of 611,443 in 1980; a drop of nearly 80,000 from the 1970 total. The overall population trends were: (1) a sizable immigration of younger people to the "Sunbelt States"; (2) an increase in the general age of the population; (3) a decline in numbers in the core city and the older suburbs; and (4) a redistribution into the smaller outlying suburbs, detached towns, and rural nonfarm sectors.

The Lancaster area economy had originally been based on heavy industry. The first steel plants opened in the 1890's, had grown steadily to a peak in employment and production in the early 1950's, and had stimulated a major development of metal fabricating and machine tool industries. Traditional manufacturing had been augmented in the post-war years by a significant expansion of electronics producers, which, by 1980, were the only manufacturers that were likely to experience expansion⁵ in either employment or production. The area anticipated a continuing diversification of jobs, with retail, clerical, and service positions becoming opportunities. These categories and the electronics industry were primary employers of the female labor force. As the economic base underwent a rapid

١

and major change, so did demands on the labor force and community institutions, including education.

The Hirth School District included two political jurisdictions: (1) the incorporated City of Hirth occupying the northern third of Hirth Township (see map, figure 2-1), and (2) the remaining portion of Hirth Township, lying to the south. The Hirth School District covered both areas (Hirth School District and Hirth Township have the same boundaries).

The City of Hirth had long-been an economic satellite of the central city, Lancaster, and consisted of older homes, both single-family and duplex, and some highly concentrated industrial districts. Residents of Hirth had typically divided themselves evenly between jobs available in the community and those in other job centers throughout the metropolitan area. The community was extremely vulnerable to change; recent decades had seen both an exodus of industry and a change in the composition of the population.

The larger part of the school district was politically a part of the township. This extensive area had remained familand during the 1950's. However, early in the 1960's one of the first completed interstate highway segments slashed across the southern part of the area from the southwest to the east. The township lands were converted rapidly from rural to suburban in character.

The Hirth School District was composed of a diverse set of neighborhoods and confrontéd a variety of economic, social, and demographic concerns and educational facilities and resources. The problems confronting this district were very similar to concerns facing numerous other districts across the Nation.

The district served just under 25,000 school-age (5-17) children in 1980; approximately half of them enrolled in the 22 k-6 schools and a quarter each in the eight junior (7-9) and four senior (10-12) high schools. The District prided itself on a high-quality educational system that provided for a broad range of opportunities designed to serve all types of students: the advantaged and disadvantaged, the academically oriented, and those pursuing vocational skills. In addition, the district had begun to consider the educational needs of the adult population.

Problem Identification in the Hirth School District

The State Department of Education issued guidelines for a State subsidy that influenced Hirth School District in two ways: First, there was to be a statewide evalu-.

INTRODUCTION



Figure 2-1.-Hirth Township with census tracts and major roads

ation of expenditures for school buildings, with clear economic incentives for school districts that reduced per-pupil expenditures for facilities. This move was prompted by a declining State population, particularly in the larger cities, which produced a drastic need to make more efficient use of income tax funds for education. Second, responding to shifts in employment toward the clerical and service sectors of the economy, the State sought to expand vocational education by offering developmental grants for start-up efforts.

Superintendent Arno Smiley asked the Hirth School Board to establish an ad how committee on Evaluation

20

to study the State guidelines and to examine Hirth's current operations in detail. The goal of the evaluation was to formulate a proposal for taking advantage of the State guidelines, while at the same time identifying and responding to important local concerns. Local school districts had 6 months in which to submit revised plans to the State Department of Education to qualify for the new subsidies and for developmental grants in vocational education.

The board appointed Jim Norton, an active board member and local attorney, to chair the Committee on Evaluation. A modest budget of \$2,000 was approved,



and secretarial support was to be provided by the administration. Norton and Smiley appointed several persons to the committee, including Rhonda Gray, a social scientist on the faculty of nearby Avon Community College, and suggested at the first committee meeting that Handbook VIII might be useful as a guide

10

to elarify issues the committee needed to resolve.

Dr. Gray, working with some of her students and using the Handbook as a guide, decided that population and economic information was needed for Hirth Township and the overall metropolitan area. She contacted the Lancaster Metropolitan Planning Commission and

Table 2-1.—Population of Hir	h Township, by	age, sex, and	race: 1980
------------------------------	----------------	---------------	------------

	×¥	,				•	
Age	. Total		White			Black	•
		Total	Male	Female	Total	a Màle	Female
Under 1	1,503	1,273	653	620	230	117 `	113
1	1,472	1,246	640	606	226	114 "	112
2	1,477	1,245	638	607	232	117	115
3	1,592	1,344	689	グ [・] 655 ·	248	125	. 123
4 -	1,755	1,484	、 761 [°]	723	. 271	136	135
5	1,713 '	1,460	` 748	712	253	· ·127	. 126
6	- 1,683	1,431	731 🔊	. 700	252	126	126
7	، 1,668	1,420	727	、 693	. 248	124	124
~8 ·	1,685	1,441	736	, 705	244	123	121
9	1,757	1,495	765	7.30	262 .	~ 132	130
10	1,938 [.]	1,645	. 840	≠ 805	293	147 .	146
11 '	1,955	1,674	້ 857 ີ	° 817	281 ·	142	139
12 '	2,000	1,712	876	, `836	288	145	▲ 143
.3	2,035	1,747	892.	855	288	144	a .144
4	2,116	1,815	· ^• 927	888	. 301	151	150
.5 , ,	2,075	1,785	912 [`]	873	290	147	. • 143
6	2,066	1,775	[,] 905	870	291	146	145
7 *	2,075	1,791	9 13	878	284	143	141
8	2,088	1,808	9 1 7 ·	[*] 891	280	139	141
9	• 2,041	1,763	· 892	· 874	278	- 132 ·	146
.0-24	9,446	8,273	4,187	4,086	1,173	. 566	607
25-29	8,297	7,398	3,717	3,681	899	420	479
0-34	6,850	6,106	3,049 •	3,057	744	341	403
5-39	5,715	5,083	2,508	2,57,5	632	286 .	° 346.
0-44	5,498	4,900	2,421	2,479	.598	273	325
5-49	5,804	5,220	2,550	2,670	• 584	272 '	· 312
0-54	-5,913	5,365	2,589	2,776	548	254	294
5-59	5,216	4,761.	2,276	2.485	455	210	245
0-64	4,579	4,173	1,953	2.220	406	184	213
5-69	4,018.	3,634	1,609	2,025	384	165	219
0-74 .	~ 2,865	2,650	1,113	1.537	215	105	111 Q
5-79	· 1,978	1,839	716	1.123	139	59	80
0 and Over	2,366	2,038	703.	1,335	328	- 61	-267
ll Ages 🕌	117,684	105,239	45,410	47,384	12;445 *	5,864	6,581
Iedian Age	° 28.8	· 29.6	28.4	31.0	23:4	22.3*	24.5

INTRODUCTION

found population projections for Hirth Township and economic projections for the county and for the metropolitan area.

The population projections showed the population of Hirth Township by age, sex, and race for each year. from 1980 through 1995. Table 2-1 shows the population data for the township for 1980. In the total population by age data, Dr. Gray noticed a steady decline in population from age 17 to age 1 and combined the data into categories roughly corresponding to the ages of elementary, junior high, and high school students. Her results are shown in Table 2-2. While the age groups used did not precisely correspond to the actual. ages of pupils by grade, the *trends* indicated that the Hirth School District would face a drop of fiearly 23 a percent in the school-age population over a 10-year period.

The economic projections for the area indicated that the metropolitan area would continue to be diversified, but that employment opportunities would be most prevalent in the occupations relating to retail sales, clerical, service, and manufacturing jobs. Dr. Gray took this information back to the Committee.

The committee identified several issues related to declining enrollments: concerns about staff, buildings, attendance areas, and transportation. Although data indicated that vocational education was an important need in Hirth's labor market, the issues on specific offerings were less clearcut and it was apparent that more information was needed.

Jim Norton appointed two subcommittees to collect additional information and make recommendations on the two major concerns identified by the initial information gathering: declining enrollment and vocational education.

The Committee on Declining Enrollment

A plan to deal with significant decline in the schoolage population required answers to the following questions:

(1) How is the school-age population distributed throughout the district now, and how might this change?

(2) How do the social and economic characteristics of the population vary in different sections of the district, and what implication does this have for future enrollment?

`able	2-2	-Projections of school-age population,	
• c	•	Hirth Townshin: 1980-1990	

·.				
Age	1980	. 1985	1990 .	Change 1980-1990
Total	24,766	19,673	19,094	-5;672
5-11.	12,399	10,007	40,182	-2,217
12-14.	. 6,151	5,230	5,010	<u> </u>
<u>1</u> 5-17	6,216	4,436	3,902	-2,314

(3) To what extent are resources available to develop school programs for population groups other than the traditional 5-to-18 age cationry?

The Declining Enrollment Subcommittee quickly recognized the need for information on several different topics:

(1) Pupil population

(a) Size of pupil population

- (b) Spatial distribution:
 - 1. Socioeconomic characteristics of neighborhoods
 - 2. Racial characteristics

(2) Physical facilities:

(a) Capacity

(b) Condition-of facilities

(c) Location

- --(d) Flexibility of possible use
- (e) Relation to existing land use in surrounding areas
- (3) Transportation:
 - (a) Traffic flow
 - (b) Vehicle requirements
- (4) Attendance areas:
 - (a) Natural boundaries
 - (b) Political factors
 - , 1. Racial composition
 - ,2: Historical factors
- (5) Staffing requirements:
 - (a) Teaching staff
 - (b) Administrators
 - (c) Support staff

Handbook VIII was used for such basic information needs as: (1) the size and location of pupil population, (2) the land use context of existing school buildings, and (3) political factors associated with attendance areas.

The next section indicates how information was developed and used for one of the research questions what to do with the junior high schools. In the Hirth School District grades 7 to 9 were enrolled.

Size and Distribution of the Junior High School Pupil Population

The subcommittee first looked at the projected population of the junior high school age group and discovered that the greatest enrollment decline would occur between 1980 and 1985, with a relatively stable situation developing by 1990. (See table 2-3.) Adjustments would have to occur quickly, rather than being postponed until the end of the decade.

Table 2-3.—Projections of junior high-age population, by single years of age: 1980-1995.

Age	1980	1985	1990	1995
Total	6,151	5,230	5,010	5;005
12 •	2,000	· 1,687	1,543	1,726
4 3 13	2,035	1,730	1,647	1,658
14 -	2,116	1,813	1,820	1,621
, Reduction over	•		•	
previous period	•	-921	220	-5
	, ,			

The subcommittee then collected information on the distribution and composition of population by census tract. Because Hirth Township is part of a large metropolitan area, it was divided by the Bureau of Census into census tracts. Figure 2-1 shows the general layout of the district, with census tracts and major roads.

Table 2-4 shows selected characteristics of the population of Hirth Towhship as presented in the census tract publications. These items were selected from the hundreds of items in chapter 3 of Handbook VIII as being relevant to the problems at hand. From this information a number of factors could be identified. In terms of family income and educational background, the advantaged population tended to live in the south and east sections of the district. (See figure 2-2.) Census tracts 0011, 0012, and 0016 through 0019 were clearly advantaged in comparison with the others. The **e** black population was concentrated in census tracts 0002, 0003, 0008, and 0014.1. The northern section had an older population, a fact reflected in fewer persons per household. Multiple-unit housing was located primarily in the census tracts west of and adjacent to River Road.

Next, it was necessary to understand how the population decline in ages 12 to 14 would be spread through existing, attendance areas, which fortunately had been made to conform to the census tracts to comply with information requirements for Federal funding. (See figure 2-3.) In estimating enrollments by attendance areas for 1990, it was necessary to project the age 12-to-14 population by census tract. This was accomplished by calculating rates of decline based on the relationship between completed family size and family income.* The calculations indicated that the three highincome census tracts would decline by about 25 percent, while the remainder of the tracts would decline by 18.5 percent. (See table 2-5.) The present number of schools and the present configuration, of attendance areas were going to reed modification.

To develop some preliminary proposals, the subcommittee on declining enrollment began working with a map of census tracts that showed the location of existing junior high schools and the projected 1990 population of the 12-14 age group. (See figure 2-4.) The data indicated that:

- (1) School 6 was rapidly losing pupil population.
- (2) School 2 was quite old and in need of extensive renovation.
- (3) School 1 was a new, campus-type school developed as part of an urban renewal project in 1972.
- (4) School 5 was overcrowded.
- (5) Schools 7 and 8 were "community schools" that
- offered extensive programming for local residents.

Because the State was offering incentives to reduce expenditures on building, the subcommittee decided to propose the closing of two schools: Numbers 2 and 6. In realigning the attendance areas, the subcommittee tried to keep in mind the socioeconomic and racial composition of the census tracts. A decision was made to retain the census tract as the basic unit for determining boundarles of attendance areas.

Figure 2-5 shows' the revised attendance areas that the subcommittee proposed with the 1990 population figure for each new area.

(1) The area of School 1 changed from a schoolserving primarily a low-income black population to one with a more mixed population, including

^{*} For a brief discussion of the relationship between family income and completed family size, see R. Weeks, *Population* (Belmont, California: Wadsworth, 1978).

25

Table 2-4.—Selected characteristics of population and of housing, Hirth Township, by census tract: 1980

1

	<u> </u>		<u> </u>	• · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<u> </u>	·								۱		_					
indbook/VIII de number & ta item	Tract 0001	Tract 0002	Tract 0003	Tract 0004	Tract / =0005	Tract . 0006	Tract 0007	Tract 0008	Tract 0009	Tract 0010	Tract 0011	Tract 0012	Tract 0013	Tract 0014-4	Tract 0014.2	Tract 0015	Tract 0016	Tract /0017	Tract 0018	Tract 0019	Total
01 01 01 ^V tal population	5.660	5,993	7,141	7,027	6,110	5,703	4,823	6,710	5,118	7;444	6,266	5,454	A,681	4,226	4,616	5,321 *	5,817	, 8,518	·7,014	4,042	117,684
1.0104 Juan age	. 30.9	26.5	26.1	32 8	31 6	31.3	33.3	27 7	• 30 1	29.9	28 8	28 8	25.5	25.8	24.6	25.9	26 0	27 2	27 2	28.8	28.8
					•	•			<i>.</i>				•		~	•	0				
me	12,152	9,871	8,144	9,610	10,810	11,802 ,	12,151	9,242	12,663	11,818	13,405	13,678	12,995	10,708-	11,462	12.336	16,203	14,765	18,584	21,144	12,775
. 01 06 an highest : of school	·		~					• •		-		4.							۰ ۲	·'	ħ
oleted	11.1	10 8	10.4	10.7	10.7	11 0	11.2	10.6	11,9	12.2	12.8	12 5	13 0	10.8	12.9	128	14.3	14 2	14 9	15 1	• 12.1
. 02 03-01 at/black	- 2.4	. 48.2	51 5	8.5	~ 4.1 `	0.7	1.6	. 17.8	· 21	• 66	1.1	0.4	. 0.7	_53.3	°0.2	10.9	403	• -	· _	•	10 6
07 03	•							•,		•	-			·		, \				•	
ns per shold	2.5	26	2.5	2.8	• 2.5	2.7	2 5	29	2.8	2.8	3.1	3.0	°¥ `34	3.2	30	3.4	30	32	°.≮ ⇒ 33	31	30
. 07 04 0j	•	•	•	•				-	•						•			•			ι
in single ng units	76.1	_ 80.'3	. 72.2	80.9	- 85.5	79.1	77.7	51 6	72.3	46.7	61 6	40.1	49.9	36.5	75.6	81.1	96,2	93.5	91 2	98 8	, ⁷ 2.6
. 07 07 an value of	°• ~~;				4		•	_		•		-	, ,	• •) بر بر		•	4		-	
r-occupied	23,600	15,800	15,400	17,200	, 17,300	17,500	19,100	16,400	21,100	18,800	24,000	`26,600	25,50	17.100	25,300	22,800	31,400	29,700	37,200	39,900	22,100
06 01 02 at of labor	-	, s		•	•.	1	٤		• .				74	•	•	·	¢.	. '		•	
unem-	.7.8°	10.9	11 8	8 6	5.8	5.9	4.4	12.2	6.3	• • 6.8	6.0 -	5.5	5.8	Î0 6	8.1 <i>-</i>	7.0	6	38	38	34	6.2
. 06 04,03 nt employ-					•	•	•		*	•	•	5	;	÷``	•	• -			-	•	ي. م
en white	25.2		22.1	•	j	<i></i>	6 /	~		, 45 5	•	:		.		a ,		•	• •	•	
ation 12-14	33.L MA	279.U	242	20.0	41,3	40 Q	J/.0	• 38.9 • 215	وبرد م	37.7.	62.6	66.4	61,1	54.4	57.9	68,8	83.3	81.7	84.4	87.2.	54.6 ,
							188		235			291	. 328	323	338	388	404	481	420 °	,178	6,151
•			-	•					· 82			ê .	, a 🖓						۲		
									. ~						•	- N			,		

ERIC Full Fixet Provided by ERIC



INTRODUCTION

Figure 2-3.—Population age 12 to 14, by junior high school attendance area, Hirth School District: 1980



more lower- and middle-income whites from tracts 0004 and 0005 and more middle-class blacks from tract 0014.1.

- (2) School 2 would be phased out, its students reassigned to Schools 1 and 8.
- (3) School 3 would receive 232 pupils from tract 0002. This plan would give School 3 about 15 percent black students in 1990, compared with 2 percent in 1980.
- (4) School 4 would be shifted to serve the corridor made up of tracts 008, 0010, and 0011, a mixed income apartment-dweller population. About 9 percent of the students would be black, compared to 30 percent in 1980.
- (5) School 5 would be relieved of overworking by a transfer of over 100 students.
- (6) School 6 would be phased out and its students reassigned to Schools 5 and 7.
- (7) Schools 7 and 8 would record little change in number of students and socioeconomic or racial characteristics.

In addition to making recommendations for realizing attendance areas, the subcommittee had to make rec-

Table 2-5.–	-Projected population of the age group 1	2
*	to 14 for Hirth Township, by census	

tracts: 1990

	· ·
Census tract.	Projection
0001	187
0002	232
0003	284
/ 0004	231
\ 0005	218
0006	206
0007	155
0008	256
· 0009	· 211
0010	249
0011	- 252
0012	241
0013	271
0014.1	267
0014.2	280
0015	321
· 0016	303
0017	398
0018	318
0019	134

ommendations about how to realign transportation; how to reassign teachers, administrators, and support staff; and what to do with the closed buildings. Also a strategy had to be developed for informing local citizens about declining enrollments, the financial advantages of closing the two schools, and the rationale for the new attendance areas.

The social structure and dynamics section of Handbook VIII provided: (1) a checklist of community organizations that might be approached about taking over responsibility for the buildings that were being phased, out as schools, and (2) checklists for identifying leaders of local organizations, which may political groups, that could be involved in disseminating information to the public. At this point the Vocational Education Subcommittee was also informed about the proposal to close School 6, which was only 15 years old. Located near the interstate highway, School 6 was being considered as a possible facility for vocational education.

Members of the Declining Enrollment Subcommittee realized that gaining acceptance of the sweeping change within the diverse community would be a monumental task. Convincing the Board of Education was their first task.

The Vocational Education Subcommittee

Three different sets of data would be necessary to aid the Vocational Education Subcommittee. The first set related to the characteristics of the metropolitan economy, with particular reference to the identification of those industries and occupations that would most likely be the source of future jobs. The second was the need for a clear understanding of the economic characteristics of the population. Vocational education should be structured in light*of the real opportunities that might exist in the labor market area and the capabilities of the retrainable labor force. A third question concerned what buildings might be available for the expansion of vocational education.

As noted earlier the Lancaster SMSA had a diversified economy in 1980. Manufacturing accounted for 33.8 percent of all jobs, but a steady broadening of the economic structure had been occurring since 1950, and was likely to continue through the next decade. An economic forecast study completed by the Lancaster Metropolitan Planning Commission, indicated that job growth in the labor market area would be about 7.2 percent in the 1980-90 decade. (See figure 2-6.) Man-

INTRODUCTION



29

Figure 2-4. Projected number of persons age 12 to 14 in Hirth. Township, by census tract: 1990

ufacturing was expected to decline slightly in absolute employment and would employ 30.6 percent of all positions as compared to the 33,8 percent recorded a decade earlier, but employment in construction and transportation was expected to expand. A wide variety of essentially white collar jobs in clerical, sales, and service occupations was anticipated to be the primary

growth area. Within the manufacturing classification marked shifts were anticipated. Though an overall decline in employment was forecast, certain industrial groups, especially electronics, were expected to expand. Electronics, along with the white collar groups indicated above, tends to employ predominantly female labor. The economic forecasts strongly supported the



INTRODUCTION

Table 2-6.—Employment, by industry groups, Hirth Township: 1980; and Lançaster Standard Metropolitan Statistical Area (SMSA): 1980 and 1990.

Industry group	·	Hirth 1980	Lancaster SMSA-1980	Lancaster – SMSA-1990
Total	- * 8	42,985	695,800	746 100
Construction		2.281	30,258	27 400
Manufacturing		17.236	235 084	27,400
Transportation		<u> </u>		
Communication, Utilities		637	22,643	32 100
Wholesale Trade		1.037	35 148	41,600
Retail Trade		7,159	104 589	121 800
Finance, Insurance, Real Estate	٠	1,690	35,000	37,000
Buyer and Repair Services		983	24 378	37,000
Personnel Services		1 548	25,068	20,900
Health Services		1 816	40.116	J, 100
Educational Services		4 041	40,110	. 4/,/00
Other Services	•	1 245	40,233	48,200
Public Administration	. •	1,245	20,327	32,000
Other		9/16	. 0 272	38,500

-31.

notion that vocational education should be tailored to cover certain identifiable types of jobs (electronics, service, clerical, sales) and should have a strong appeal to the female population.

The periodic occupational outlook studies conducted by the State Bureau of Employment Security provided further support for these conclusions. Many of the job opportunities identified were located beyond the Hirth area; but the vast change in individual mobility and the dispersion of industries, stores, service operations, and residences throughout the SMSA clearly indicated to the subcommittee members that Hirth programs must reflect the fact that the community's residents were looking at opportunities throughout the metropolitan area. Thus, the planning of vocational education programs would have to be based on a recognition of the entire metropolitan area's prospects. The Hirth Schools needed to serve the demands of local economic activity, but satisfying the population's training needs could only be accomplished through an awareness of the entire metropolitan area.

The economic characteristics of the population were obtained from the Bureau of the Census publications. Selected data, presented in table 2-4, indicated that the community's economic character was diverse. Gonsiderable variations among census tracts were evident: in the proportion of the population employed in whitecollar occupations, in the unemployment rate, in median family income, and in the medians for the highest grade of school completed. The data strongly suggested: (1) that the resident labor force of the community had the potential for retraining, (2) that many laborers had median incomes below the level the Federal Government describes as adequate for a moderate level of living, and (3) that many were seeking employment as indicated by the unemployment rate.

The evidence elearly indicated to the subcommitteemembers that a real need existed for expanded vocational education. The subcommittee unanimously recommended to Superintendent Smiley and the board that vocational education receive a very high priority in future decisionmaking. The report emphasized that further studies would be needed to identify the specific courses to be offered.

The final question to be resolved related to the building needs of the expanded vocational education proo gram. The subcommittee first considered the desirability of merging the vocational education program for high school students with that for the adult population. An analysis of the needs and desires of the two groups' provided evidence that they wished to be separate and that their respective needs were of a different order. Each of the high schools offered vocational education along with more general academic programs. Such a merged offering seemed most appropriate for the 15to-17 age population; the adult population, on the other

hand, was in need of specific job-oriented vocational training. The subcommittee concluded that a special building should be set aside to meet adult education needs and to provide specialized equipment for both the adult and the high school age groups. The suggestion by the other subcommittee that School 6 be coftverted to be used for vocational education resulted in a feasibility analysis by a consulting engineer who convinced the group that the building could be economically converted for vocational education purposes andthat the location was ideal in terms of community accessibility.

Other school districts that have experienced sharp declines in enrollment have found, as in the Hirth District, that there are strong emotional attachments to schools considered for losing. Resolving problems associated with declining enrollment requires an effective public relations effort, in addition to the collection of relevant data.

The following section explores additional community factors that are important in educational planning.

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS IN STUDYING THE COMMUNITY

Formal Areas and Functional Areas

Concerns about geographic scale appear at several points in this Handbook. Usually reference is made to the political unit (city, town, county), the school district, or the attendance area of particular kinds of schools that are the geographic units with which a school system's administration must work. Another geographic unit of increasing importance is the geographic service area of community colleges. The unit varies countrywide, both in character and in the criteria used to define it, but it is clearly important to decisionmakers in community colleges.

The great majority of Americans live in communities that are economically interdependent with neighboring communities and must, therefore, be seen as part of a larger functional area. A functional area may be a metropolitan complex (e.g., Greater Chicago or the Chicago SMSA), an alignment of towns along a river valley, or a homogeneous environmental area (e.g., the Columbia Plateau of eastern Washington and Oregon and the contiguod sections of Idaho). What occurs in one part of a functional area affects what occurs in the resctions of the area. Changes have implications for the school system. Shifts in population may lead to larger or smaller enrollments, shifts in the economy can create new vocational training needs, inmigration or outmigration of industry can result in a declining tax base, and an influx of young families can put additional pressure on schools.

School systems must cope with many change factors. Some of these are internal to the system and may be anticipated and managed; others are external and probably cannot be affected by the system's efforts. Managing change is a very important aspect of the school planning process. From an ecohomic standpoint, change is a reality recognized in the concept of the Labor Market Area. This unit is a particular type of functional area about which the Bureau of Labor Statistics of the U.S. Department of Labor regularly prepares employment and unemployment data.

Many school communities, like Hirth, are located in areas dominated by a larger central city. In these instances, several possible trends may emerge:

- (1) The entire metropolitan area may be in a state of decline.
- (2) Some economic activities may leave the area to more promising locations, and other poorer-paying enterprises may locate within the metropolitan region.
- (3) The region as a whole may grow in population and total level of economic activity, but the central city may decline while the suburban communities receive the growth.

While this list is not exhaustive and other trends might possibly emerge, it is evident that each local school system should heed economic, social, or political changes that may affect the entire area. One way administrators can remain alert to possible impacts on their own system is to study the data releases of metropolitan planning agencies and develop data files that provide data for the total area, the central city, and major suburban communities.

County and Rural Areas

32

The data items in Handbook VIII have a particular importance for school systems of considerable size and complexity that have the ability to look closely at a complex set of community patterns. Many school districts, however, are either small in population, quite homogeneous in character, or stable in the type and level of economic activity. Planning and decisionmaking in such districts are commonly based on the administrator's intimate knowledge of the area. This method is often the best; however, the forces now operating in American society are so diverse and dynamic that it might be wise for school systems to develop most of the items included in chapter 3. Even in fairly homogeneous communities, new economic activities may partially dislocate traditional activities or divert the labor force from an old to a new function. In addition, national or State policies may change the nature of activities in the area. A series of community indicators may be valuable in such situations. Planning should assure the capability to act prior to an event and lessen the need to act after the event.

EMERGING FACTORS

City planners, managers, and school administrators should evaluate the impact of new factors or developments. For example, some of the consequences of the interstate highway system and the jet airplane could have been anticipated in advance; others had to be experienced before planners could understand their impact. Both developments greatly affected the location of community elements and the competitive stance of one area of the country in relation to other areas. Similarly, new or altered conditions that will have an impact on school planning can arise at any time. Informed administrators will have resources to understand some of the consequences of new conditions and will have the ability to anticipate changes that the new conditions will require. The energy situation, the effects of environmental regulations, taxpayer resistance to increased property taxes, and the need for vocational retraining resulting from high levels of unemployment are all recent examples of emerging factors with implications for school systems.

ENERGY

The energy shortage in the winter of 1977-78 dramatically Hlustrated the broad range of problems created when a dependable element suddenly becomes a change force of considerable magnitude. Since the early 1970's the finite supply of economical fuels, the increased dependence on distant sources of supply, the price and volume constraints imposed by the oil-producing countries, the resulting inflationary spiral, and other factors have made energy a matter of vital concern to planners.

During the winter of 1977-78, first priority on short natural gas supplies was given to residential customers. Schools, along with other institutions, had fuel supply

30

problems, and many closed for varying periods of time. While the increase in the unit cost of fuels had an impact, the most critical factor of the winter season was that increased demands for fuel were not met because of fuel shortages. The result was a disruption of school operations.

School systems should consider the following impacts of the energy situation on their operation:

- As economic activity shifts to sections of the the country, the country having more certain fuel supplies.
- (2) Employment mobility, leisure time, and other
- family life aspects adjusted to the energy situation.
- (3) Fuel dependability assessed in terms of supply and cost.
- (4) Back-up systems using different fuels.
- (5) School building design to conserve energy.
- (6) Effect of low energy on transportation systems.
- (7) Financial demands of higher fuel bills.
- (8) School year calendar adjustments to bypass high fuel consumption months.

Obviously, the community as a whole will be faced with the same types of problems and needs, therefore, the most effective energy-related planning should be done in a comprehensive, communitywide manner.

ENVIRONMENT

In the 1970's the United States moved into an era of increasing awareness of both the natural and manmade environments. As a result, there has been a flood of new legislation designed to protect the environment. This trend is likely to continue. An increasing need for the schools to teach about the quality of the local and national environment may be anticipated, as well as the need to consider environmental factors in numerous areas of school planning. For example, school heating systems will be affected by the strict rules that govern the level and nature of emissions from the heating plant. Meeting those regulations can directly affect the operating conditions and costs of that system. Environmental protection legislation can also have a communitywide impact, which can alter the levels of economic activity, change the public transportation system, and affect the tax base of the community. An awareness of environmental legislation and its consequences must be added to the lengthy list of conditions for which the school system staff must prepare a contingency plan.

PATTERNS OF EMPLOYMENT AND UNEMPLOYMENT

Among the economic and social issues confronting the Nation with direct implications for school planning are: (1) unemployment, (2) need for a sizable part of the labor force to change occupations two or more times during a work career, (3) modification of jobs as technology and other factors change the specific requirements of economic activity, and (4) need to provide meaningful vocational educational programs for the adult population through continuing education.

Curriculum planners must have access to information on job prospects in many occupations in order to assess ongoing vocational programs and to plan for future programs. The Federal Bureau of Labor Statistics produces a large variety of occasional and serial occupational literature published for counties, for States, and for labor market areas. In addition, every State has an agency (the name of which varies from State to State, but all come within the general category of State Employment Security) that works with employment problems and makes information available on job trends, current surplus and shortage occupations, and other related topics. Good communication with local governments and their planning and economic development offices also may provide useful information for planning vocational education programs. Such data are important components in a school district information system.

COMMUNITY INFORMATION

While this section is not comprehensive, it does illustrate the need to be informed about emerging factors that can have a significant impact on the operation of schools. The data items and information resources included in Handbook VIII are designed to alert school, administrators to emerging trends and help them develop a better understanding of their communities.

CONCLUSION

This chapter has been concerned with answering two basic questions: "Information for what?" and "Information about what?" The illustration indicates how data about communities can be used to clarify problems, identify additional information needs, suggest solutions, and guide plans for implementation. In collecting data it is often more effective to collect preliminary data, use it to clarify concerns and issues, and then collect pertinent detailed data, rather than beginning with masses of detailed data that may never be used/ Ideally, there are several rounds of data collection and analysis. It is best to consult community agencies and printed reports first; only if the needed data are unavailable should serious consideration be given to direct data collection.

This chapter has illustrated selective use of a variety of types of data. The next chapter provides an organized array of detailed community data items that can serve as a catalog from which items pertinent to specific problems, issues, and situations may be selected.

Chapter 3

CLASSIFICATION OF SELECTED COMMUNITY INFORMATION

INTRODUCTION

This chapter, provides a framework for collecting, using, and displaying available data about communities. Suggested data items and a file structure for displaying the data items are included. The data items are separated into four general categories: Population, Economy, Land Use, and Social Structure and Dynamics.

SELECTING DATA ITEMS

Central to this Handbook is the selection of data that, will be most useful to school planners from among the literally hundreds of thousands of bits of information available in any locality.

The data items in this chapter were selected after interviews with hundreds of superintendents and principals across the United States. These were the data items most commonly desired, needed, or used.

A school district may not require all the data items in this chapter. Be selective.

In selecting data items, the following questions should be applied to each prospective item.

- (1) Can the data item be collected *easily* from a public or private source?
- (2) Is the data item measurable?
- B) Can the data item be interpreted without unreasonable effort?
- (A) Is the data item of continuing significance?
- (5) Is the data item commonly useful or potentially useful for educational planning and decisionmaking?

DEFINITIONS OF DATA ITEMS

The data items listed in this chapter are defined in chapter 8. \sim

Most of the items in Handbook VIII are summary data items. There are two kinds of summary data items: basic and derived. An example of a basic summary data item is "total population." Basic summary data items are easy to define because they have descrete referents.

An example of a derived basic summary data item is "population" increase or decrease." Definitions for derived data items consist of two factors. (1) citation of the basic data item, and (2) the computational prodedure used to do the derivation.

Terms used in the handbook that are not data items are defined in the Glossary, appendix A.

NOTES ON USE

Effective use of this chapter requires attention to the following:

(1) Geographic area

- (2) Time of data collection
- (3) The coding System

Referring to the community profile charts in appendix B will be helpful at this time. The charts outline a minimum array of data items and illustrate a way of displaying the data.

Seographic Area

An early decision must be made on how data by geographic area will be collected and accumulated. Probably the simplest approach is to callect data for the entire school district because district boundaries often correspond to the boundaries of the community. Another approach involves maintaining individual files for school attendance areas, and also accumulating data for the school district as a whole. In this scheme, two sets of files are maintained: one set for each attendance area, and one for the entire school district. This approach has the advantage of maintaining it possible to retrieve data for the individual attendance areas. Data from individual school districts can be accumulated by county, region, State, or Nation.

The same procedure could be used to collect and

store (accumulate) information for the geographic units used by various government agencies such as the Bureau of the Census and the Bureau of Labor Statistics. These administrative units, defined in the Glossary or appendix H, are:

(1) Census tract

- (2) City
- (3) Township.
- (A) County
- (5) Standard Metropolitan Statistical Area (SMSA)
 (6) Labor Market Area

If files are toybe accumulated, it is important to build into the files a coding system to identify the geographic area represented by any file.

Knowing the geographic unit often explains why certain data are omitted. For example, for a school attendance area it makes little sense to talk about the structure of the economy, but at the school district level such a discussion might be essential.

Time of Data Collection

Data is usually collected for particular points in time or for time intervals. When comparisons are being made, it is sometimes necessary to adjust data to reflect a consistent time frame. For example, census data can become outdated quickly. Local planners often must make or locate population *estimates*¹ to update census population figures.

The Coding System

The coding system used in this handbook is structurally similar to the systems utilized by other Handbooks in the State-Educational Records and Reports Series. (See especially Handbook X—Educational Technology.) A different coding system may be desirable.

The numerical classifications presented in chapters 3 and 8 and appendix B apply to the data items that appear in this Handbook; they are not part of a master coding system or of any previously established data system. Because it is structurally similar, however, the coding system might be used with the numerical classplications in the other handbooks of the Educational Records and Reports Series.

STRUCTURE OF THE CODING SYSTEM

Each data category or subdivision of a category is given a code number. The coding system assigns a two-digit – number to each level of detail:

	00.					1	Majo	or Classification 7
	00.	00			•		Fi	irst Level of Detail
	00.	00	00		۲	•	•	Second Level of Detail
	Ò0.	00	00	00				Third Level of Detail
*	00.	00	00	00	00)	•	Fourth Level of Detail

The space between the sets of digits is used only to indicate the level of detail at a glance. It is not required. It is important to recognize that level of detail, after the first level, does not necessarily denote level of importance. A data item at the fourth level can be as important as a data item at the second level. Also, a data item, such as sex, may be at the second level in one section and third in another section.

The major classifications and principal segments of the arrays of data items used in this Handbook and the code number assigned to each data item are as follows:

Code Numbers	Data-Item Categori
	Data Hom Calegoin

01.

01.01

Population

General Population Characteristics

See A Guide to the Literature, appendix I, Shryock and Siegel, The Methods and Materials of Demography.

3.6

CLASSIFICATION OF SELECTED INFORMATION

Code Numbers	Data-Item Categories
• ,	s
01.02	Racial and Ethnic Characteristics
01. 03	Foreign Born Characteristics
01.04 ~	Urban-rural Characteristics
• 01.•05	Income Characteristics
∞01. 06	Educational Characteristics
01.07	Household and Housing Characteristics
01.08	^t Vital Statistics
[.] 01. 09	Handicapped Categories
02.	Economy.
02. 01	Géneral Economic Characteristics
02.01	Employment, by Industry Group Characteristics
0 ² . 03	Economic Indicators
02.04 .	Economic Aspects of Local Government
02. 05	, Community Revenue Base for Schools
02.06	Economic Characteristics of the Population
02、07 ·	Economic Trends (Future)
03.	Land Use
** 03. 01	Classification of Land
03.02 °	Land Use-General Characteristics
03.03	Land Use-Density Measures
0304	Land Use-Specific Site Characteristics
0 3. 05	Land Use-Regulatory Information
04.	Social Structure and Dynamics
04. 01	General Characteristics of the Community
04. 02	Statistics Collected by Local Agencies
04. 03 * '	Voting Characteristics
04. 04 [°]	Formal and Informal Organizations in the Community
04.05	Allocation of Community Resources and Services
04.06 ₁ .	Communication Through Mass Media
04.07	School District Characteristics
04. 08	School District Organization
04.09	School and Community Interrelationships

EXPANDING THE CODING SYSTEM

The major advantage of this system is its flexibility. The system can be expanded or contracted to accommodate the needs of the user. The classification and coding system provides up to 99 different information items at each level of detail.

The coding system could be expanded to even more than four levels of detail. An example is a sex and age breakdown for the American Indian or Alaskan Native category, as follows:

.01.	Population	•
01. 02 🧷 🧖	Racial and Ethnic Characteristics	
01. 02 0Ì	American Indian or Alaskan Native	•
01. 02 01 01 🍃	Percent American Indian or Alaskan Native	•
01. 02 01 02	Female	•
01. 02 01 02 01	· Female Age	
01. 02 01 02 01 01	Under 5 Years	

01. 02 01 02 01 02.	⁻ 5 to 9 Years
01. 02 01 02 01 03 。	10 to 14 Years
01. 02 01 02 01 04	15 to 19 Years
01. 02 01 02 01 05.	20 to 24 Years
01. 02 01 02 01 06	25 to 34 Years
01. 02 01 02 01 07	· 35 to 44 Years
01. 02 01 02 01 08	45 to 54 Years
01. 02 01 02 01 09	55 to 59 Years
01. 02 01 02 01 10	60 to 64 Years
01. 02 01 02 01 11	65 to 75 Years
01. 02 01 02 01 12	. 75 Years and Over
01. 02 01, 03	Male
01'. 02 01 03 01	Male Age
01. 02 01 03 01 01	Under 5 Years
01. 02 01 03 01 02	5 to 9 Years
01. 02 01 03 01 03	10 to 14 Years
01. 02 01 03 01 04	15 to 19 Years
01. 02 01 03 01 05	20 to 24 Years
01. 02 01 03 01 06	25 to 34 Years
01. 02 01 03 01 07	35 to 44 Years
01. 02 01 03 01 08	45 to 54 Years
01. 02 01 03 01 09	55 to 59 Years
01. 02 01 03 01 10	60 to 64 Years
01. 02 01 03 01 11	 65 to 75 Years
01. 02 01 03 01 12	75 Years and Over

In the above example the coding system has been expanded to a fifth level of detail, and other levels could be added.

Further Examples of Expanding the Coding System-

Two additional examples of expanding the coding system are in order.

First, existing major classification units can have segments added at the first level of detail. For example, if more occupational data are needed to plan vocational education offerings, the following might be useful:

02 .	Economy
02. 09 -	Shortage and Surplus Occupations
02. 09 01	Total Number of Tool and Die Makers
02. 09 01 01	Tool and Die Makers, Shortage
02. 09 01 02	Tool and Die Makers, Supplus
02. 09 02	Total Number of Electricians
02. 09 02 01	Electricians, Shortage
02. 09 02.02	Electricians, Surplus

This system points easily to those occupations that have a surplus of qualified people. Conversely, those occupations with job opportunities can be identified.

Secondly, totally new areas of data needs may develop. For example, increasing concern with the environment, natural resources, and energy supplies may require the addition of a totally new major classification. The following is an example of how this might be done:
CLASSIFICATION OF SELECTED INFORMATION

06. ·	ENVIRONMENT AND RESOURCES	~
06. 01 01	 Temperature, Annual Average 	,
06. 01 01 01	January Average Temperature	
06. 01 01 02	July Average Temperature	
.06. 01 01 03	Number of Degree-Heating Days (or whatever uni	t is used locally).
06. 02	NATURAL RESOURCES	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
06. 02 01	Coal, Local Availability	<u> </u>
06. 02 01 01	Coal. Per Unit Cost (heat value specified)	· /
06. 02 02	Natural Gas, Local Availability, Ouentity	$\langle \cdot \rangle$
06. 02 02 01	Natural Gas, Per Unit Cost (heat value specified)	0

The data items immediately above are not taken from Handbook VIII's coding system. But if these or others are important classifications for a school district, then they should be added.

01. SERIES: POPULATION

ITEMS DESCRIBING POPULATION DATA

Population data are among the data most readily available. They allow poeple concerned with education to summarize the size, distribution, and characteristics of a community's population and to trace the various changes and trends that constantly occur in that population. It is always helpful to check basic personal knowledge of the people of a community against verifiable data. The first levels of detail for population data follow:

General Population Characteristics

This section shows the size, growth rate, and summary income and education characteristics of the general population.

Racial and Ethnic Characteristics

This section should not be interpreted as being scientific or anthropological in nature. The categories were developed in response to needs expressed by both the executive branch and the Congress to provide for the collection and use by Federal agencies of compatible, nonduplicated, and exchangeable racial and ethnic data.

For purposes of reports to the Department of Health, Education, and Velfare (HEW), the five racial and ethnic categories that follow this first level should be considered as mutually exclusive. The Hispanic category should be given priority; if a person is Hispanic, the Hispanic category only should be applied. These standards were outlined by the Office of Management and Budget in 1978. The racial and ethnic categories are based on self-selection. See appendix F for a complete discussion of racial and éthnic standards.

Foreign Born Characteristics and Urban-Rural Characteristics

These sections identify data items useful in social analysis of a locality.

Income Characteristics

This section provides a detailed breakdown of family income levels. Other economic information is found in the Economic data section.

39

Educational Characteristics

This section concerns the adult population. Other educational information is found in the Social Structure and Dynamics data section.

Household and Housing Characteristics

This section relates the population to its physical residential environment.

Vital Statistics

This section provides data on factors that account for population changes, including births and deaths.

Handicapped Categories

This section delineates categories of handicapped persons as defined in the Federal Register, Vol. 42, No. 163. (Tuesday, August 23, 1977).

· CODE	ITEMS OF INFORMATION ON PAGE
	POPULATION .
.01. 01	GENERAL POPULATION CHARACTERISTICS
01.01.01	Total Population
01. 01 01 01	Percent Female
01. 01 01 02	Percent Male 99
	Midperiod Population 99
01. 01 02	Population Increase or Decrease
01.01 02 01	Percent Population Increase or Decrease
01. 01 03	Population Density
01. 01 04	Median Age
01. 01 05	Median Family Income
01.0106	Median Highest Grade of School Completed
01.0107	Number of Persons Age 25 and Over
01. 02	RACIAL AND ETHNIC CHARACTERISTICS ²
.*	
01. 02 01	American Indian or Alaskan Native ³ 100
01. 02 01 01	Percent American Indian or Alaskan Native
01. 02 02	Asian or Pacific Islander 100
01. 02 02 01	Percent Asian`or Pacific Islander 100
\$	

40

² See appendix F for a complete discussion of Racial and Ethnic standards.

³ See p. 44 for an example of age and sex breakdowns that can be used for any data items.

CLASSIFICATION OF SELECTED INFORMATION

ń.

the i

	29
NIT	JAN

12

	•	29
CODE	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	DEFINITION
CODE	- ITEMS OF INFORMATION	ON PAGE
# •*	``````````````````````````````````````	
01 00 00		
01.02.03	Black, not of Hispanic Origin	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
01. 02 03 01	Percent Black, not of Hispanic Origin	100
01. 02 04	Hispanic	100
01. 02 04 01	Percent Hispanic	101
01:02:05	White, not of Hispanic Origin	101
01. 02 05 01	Percent White, not of Hispanic Origin	
01. 03	FOREIGN BORN CHARACTERISTICS	
01. 03 01	Foreign Born Population	
01. 03 01 01	Percent Foreign Born Population	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
01.04	IIRRAN-RIRAL CHARACTERISTICS	101
01.04 01	Urban Donulation	
01:04:01:01	Davant Unhan Desertation	101
01 04 02	Percent Orban Population	
01.04.02.01	Kurai Population	
	Percent Rural Population	
	Rural Farm Population	101
	Percent Rural Farm Population	
01. 04 02 03	Rural Nonfarm Population	
01.04 02 03 01	Percent Rural Nonfarm Population	101
01.05	NCOME CHARACTERISTICS	
	/ Number of Families with Income	101
∿01.0502° r	Families, by Income Category	
• 0 1. 05 02 01	Under \$1,000	101
01. 05 02 02	\$1.000 - \$2.999	······ 101
01. 05 02 03 .	\$3.000 - \$5.999	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
01. 05 02 04	\$6,000 - \$8,000	
01, 05 02 05	\$9,000 - \$11,000	101
01. 05 02 06	\$12,000 - \$14,000	101
- 01 :05 02 07	\$15,000 \$24,999	101
01 05 02 08	\$25.00 \$40.000	101
01 05 02 00	\$2,00 - \$49,999	101
01.05 02 09	\$JU, UU or more	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · 1Q1
01703 03	Percent Distribution of Families, by Income Category	
·	Percent under \$1,000	102
	Percent \$1,000 - 2,999	102
01. 05 03 03	Percent \$3,000 - 5,999 :	102
01. 05 03 04	Percent \$6,000 - 8,999	102
01. 05 03 05	Percent \$9,000 - 11,999	102
01.05 03 06	Percent \$12,000 - 14,999	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
01. 05 03 07	Percent \$15,000 - 24,999	
01, 05 03 08	Percent \$25.00 - 49.999	
01: 05 03 09	Percent \$50,000 or more	102
01. 05 04	Families Receiving Public Assistance	× 102
°01. 05 04 01	Percent Families Possiving Dublis Astronomy	•••••• 102
01.06	EDUCATIONAL CHADACTEDISTICS	
01.06.01	Highert Grade of School Convert 4 11	
01. 06.01 01	Mone	er 102
11 06 0100	v	
	Λ	
	J-0	102
01.00 01 04	9-11	102

\$

41

ì

· •

:*

30

CODE

ITEMS OF INFORMATION

DEFINITION ON PAGE

٠,

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	•
01. 06 01 05	12	02
01.060106	13-15	02
01. 06 01 07	16	02
01. 06 01 08	17 or more	02
01. 06 02	Percent Distribution of Highest Grade of School Completed by Persons	
	Age 25 and Over	02
01. 06 02 01	Percent None	02
01. 06 02 02	Percent K-4	02
01. 06 02 03	Percent 5-8 1	02
01. 06 02 04	Percent 9-11 1	02
01. 06 02 054	Percent 12	l Q2
01. 06 02 06	Percent 13-15 1	02
01. 06 02 07	Percent 16	02
01. 06 02 08	Percent 17 or more 1	102
01. 07	HOUSEHOLD AND HOUSING CHARACTERISTICS	
0Ì. 07 01	Number of Households 1	102
01. 07 02	Persons Living in Households 1	102
Q1. O7 O3	Mean Number of Persons per Household 1	102
01. 07 04	Persons Living in Single Housing Units 1	102
01. 07 04 01	Percent Persons Living in Single Housing Units	102
01. 07 05	Persons Living in Multiple Housing Units 1	102
01. 07 05 01	Percent Persons Living in Multiple Housing Units	102
01. 07 06	Number of Owner-Occupied Housing Units 1	102
01. 07 06 01	Percent Owner-Occupied Housing Units	103
01.0707	Median Value of Owner-Occupied Housing Units	103
01. 07 08	Number of Rented Housing Units	103
01. 07 08 01	Percent Rented Housing Units	103
01.07.09	Median Monthly Gross Kental of Kented Housing Units	103
01. 07 10	Persons Living in Mobile Homes	103
01.07.10.01	Percent Persons Living in Mobile Homes	103*
01.07.12	Number of Housing Units Without Complete Plumbing Facilities	103
01.0712	Research of Housing Units Without Complete Plumbing Facilities	103
01.07.13	Number of Persons Under age 18 Living with Mother Only	103
01. 07 15	Number of Persons Under age 18 Living with Father Only	103
01 07:15	Number of Persons Linder Age 18 Living with Neither Parent	103
01.08	VITAL STATISTICS	
01. 08 01	Annual Births.	103
01. 08 01 01	Crude Birth Rate	103 ·
01: 08 02	Annual Deaths	104
01. 08 02 01	Crude Death Rate	104
01. 08 03	Annual Infant Mortality	104
019 08 03 01	Infant Mortality Rate	104
01. 08 04	Annual Natural Increase or Decrease in Population	104
01. 08 05	Net Migration	104
01. 08 06	Age-Specific Births	104
10 A0 80 10	Age-Specific Rinth Rates	104

2

SSIFICATION OF SELECTED INFORMATION

01. 09 04 01

01. 09 04 02

01.090403

-01. 09 04 04

01.090405

01. 09 04 06

01.090407

01. 09 04 08 01.090409

01. 09 04 10

01. 09 04 11

CODE	• ITEMS OF INFORMATION •	DEFINITION ON PAGE
•		
01.0807	Annual Marriages	
01.080701	Marriage Rate	
01.0808	Annual Divorces	104
01.080801	Divorce Pata	••••• 104
01.09	HANDICA PDFD. CATECODIES	104
01.09.01.	Handiconned Demons	
01 09 07	Handleapped Persons	104
	Handicapped Persons Age 18 and Over	105
	Handicapped Persons Under Age 18	
01.0904	Handicapped Persons Under Age 18, by Type of Handicap	

Deaf-Blind 105

Hard of Hearing 105

Orthopedically Impaired 105

Seriously Emotionally Disturbed 106

Specific Learning Disability 106

Speech Impaired 106

Visually Handicapped 106

02. SERIES: ECONOMY

ITEMS DESCRIBING ECONOMY DATA

erally thousands of indicators might be used to develop a portrait of a community's economy. Those chosen in this Handbook have been selected for their general utility, the relative ease with which they can be acquired and processed, and their frequent use in a sampling of existing community data systems, including a number of major school systems. Although community economic information has often been neglected in educational planning and decisionmaking, it is clear that both the total economy of the community and the economic situation of the population are fundamental features of any community's character, problems, and potential. Some of the indicators will be useful for all communities, while others may be used only when applicable to a particular community.

The first levels of detail for economic data follow:

General Economic Characteristics

This section summarizes trends in the total community economy. In a sense, these indicators reflect the economic health and the relative stability of the economy through a period of predetermined length. It is desirable to develop • these data for a period of years. Historical series provide a reference base for viewing the dynamics of the present and near future.

Employment, by Industry Group Characteristics

This section is designed to provide an understanding of various aspects of the economy over a period of time, and to establish key indicators of the volume of activity for the present. It is useful in monitoring the performance of various economic activities. The American economic system is undergoing change. The competitive situation for both communities and specific economic activities is in flux. The ups and downs of different sectors may influence personal income, the community's revenue base, employment, the type of training demanded of the labor force, and many other community factors that may have implications for education. This section uses the Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) of types of work published by the U.S. Department of Labor. The SIC has been matched with this Handbook's coding system in the beginning of this series. Ample space is left to incorporate the categories of work from the SIC into the Handbook's coding system; appropriate listings are in appendix E.

Economic Indicators

<u>These indicators provide measures of the local areas economy as measured by employment data.</u> The basic/ nonbasic indicators demonstrate relationships within a local economy, while the location quotient provides a means of comparing the local economy with the national economy.

·Economic Aspects of Local Government

This section is significant in two fundamental ways: first, the information items reflect the quality of the community, specifically the number and quality of services provided and the adequacy of the revenue base for operating them. The sum of these operations may strongly influence the competitive posture of the community in retaining present economic activity and in attracting new business and industry. The availability and quality of community services are increasingly examined by firms considering the attractiveness of various localities. Second, the revenue base for local government and the school system is commonly shared—in particular that part of the base represented by the property tax. Therefore, fiscal planning for schools must continuously be examined in the light of all publicly financed operations.

Community Revenue Base for Schools

This section provides details on the relationship between economic aspects of the community and financing of the schools.

Economic Characteristics of the Population

This section provides information on the economic characteristics of the population and is derived from the same sources as population data. The economy proper and the people who share its benefits and comprise its labor force are complementary aspects of economic information. The indicators given in this section reflect these characteristics. Some of the indicators are signposts of problems, such as the unemployment rate, and rural and urban poverty indices. All of these can have a direct impact on school program planning. Other indicators may suggest related programs needs. For example, the percent of females in the labor force can relate to the need for day care centers.

Economic Trends (Ruture)

The last section deals with economic trends of the future. Any good planner will have an eye on trends as possible indicators of future economic conditions. The data listed help focus on change in the economic situation of a community.

CLASSIFICATION OF SELECTED INFORMATION

CODĘ

X.,:-

ITEMS OF INFORMATION

۲

DEFINITION ON PAGE

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
02. <u>H</u>	CONOMY
02. 01	GENERAL ECONOMIC CHARACTERISTICS
02. 01 01	Total Employment
02. 01 01 01	Percent Change in Employment Selected Veges
02. 01 02	Pavrolls
02. 01 02 01	Percent Change in Powells, Sciented Verse
02. 01 03	Canital Investments
02. 02	FMPL OVMENT DV INDUGEDV CD CONTRACTOR 107
02. 02.01	Employment by Industry GROUP CHARACTERISTICS
¹ 02 02 01 01 07	Employment, by Industry Group
02.02.01.01.07	Employment in Agriculture
02.020100	Employment in Forestry
	Employment in Fisheries
02. 02 01 10-14	Employment in Mining
02. 02 01 15-17	Employment in Construction
02. 02 01 20-39	Employment in Manufacturing
02. 02 01 40-49	Employment in Transportation
02. 02 01 50-51	Employment in Wholesale Trade
02. 02 01/52-59	Employment in Retail Trade
02. 02.01 60-67	Employment in Finance Insurance and Bash Factor
02. 02 01 70-89	Employment in Services 107
02. 02 01 91-97.	Employment in Bublic Administration 107
02. 02 01 99	Employment in Neurlas in Manufactor 11 Parties in 107
02. 02.02 01.99	Propert Free local to 107
020203	Percent Employed, by Industry Group
02 02 04 01.00	Percent Change in Employment by Industry Group, Selected Years
02.02.04.01-99	Payrolls, by Industry Group
02.02.05	Percent Change in Payrolls, Selected Years
02.02.02.00.01-99	Capital Investment, by Industry Group
02. 02 07 01-99	Major Employers, by Industry Group
02.02.09	Agriculture 107
02. 02 09 01	Number of Farms
02. 02 09 02	Size Grouping of Farms.
02.02 09 03	Value of Agricultural Products (including livestock)
02. 02 09 04	Average Sales per Farm
02, 02 09 05	Value of Farms
02. 02 09 05 01	• Average Value of Farms
02. 02 09 06	Tenant Operated Forms // 108
02. 02 10	Mining
02: 02 10 01	Value of Minerals Produced
02. 02 11	Manufacturing 108
02.02 11 01	Manufacturing E
02. 02 11 02	Value Added the Marshare Control of the Marshare Contr
02.02.11.03	Fundamentary Design and State
02 02 12	Imployment in Production Processes
02 02 12 01	wholesale trade
$02 02 12 01_{0}$	wnoiesale Trade Establishments, by Category
02.021202	Wholesale Sales Volume
02.02.12.03%	Sales Volume, by Category of Wholesale Commodity
02.02.12.04	Wholesale, Sales Volume per Employee

45

CODE

34

.

ITEMS OF INFORMATION

DEFINITION ON PAGE

02. 02 12 05	Per Capita Wholesale Sales 10)8
02. 02 13 ⁻	Retail Trade)8 [`]
02. 02 13 01	Retail Trade Establishments by Category	98
02. 02 13 02	Retail Sales Volume)9
02. 02 13 03	Sales Volume, by Category of Retail Commodity	9
02. 02 13 04	Retail Sales Volume per Employee 10)9
02. 02 13 05	Per Capita' Retail Sales)9
02. 02 14	• Finance, Insurance, and Real Estate 10)9
• 02. 02 14 01	Bank Deposits)9
- 02. 02 14 02-	Percent Change in Bank Deposits, Selected Years 10)9 ີ
02. 02.14 03	Bank Loans)9
	ECONOMIC INDICATORS	
02. 03 01	Basic Employment)9
02.03 02	Nonbasic Employment)9 .
02.0303	Basic/Nonbasic Employment Ratio 10)9 [`]
02. 03 04	Employment Multiplier 10)9
02, 03 05	Location Employment Quotients	09
02.0306	Employment Stability Index 11	10
02.04	ECONOMIC ASPECTS OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT	
02.0401	Government Employment (local) 11	10
^t 02. 04 01 01	Government Employment (other than local)	10
· · 02. 04 01 02	* Ratio of Government Jobs to All Jobs	10
02.04.02	Annual Revenues, by Source 11	10,
02.04 03	Annual Expenditures, by Category	10
02.0404	Bonded Indebtedness	10
02. 04 04 01	Bonded Indebtedness Limit	10,
02. 04 05	Community Credit Rating 11	10
02.0406	Capital Improvement Budget	10
02.04 06 01	Percent of Annual Expenditures Devoted to Capital Improvements	10
02.0407	Local Taxes, by Type and Rate 11	10.
02.0408	Volume of Program Funding from External Sources	10
02.0409	Per Capita Bonded Indebtedness	10
02. 04 09 01	Percent Bonded Indebtedness Is of Bonded Indebtedness Limit	10`
02.05	COMMUNITY REVENUE BASE FOR SCHOOLS	
02. 05 01	Total Assessed Valuation	11
02. 05 01 01	Percent Change in Assessed Valuation. Selected Years	11
02. 05 02	Assessed Valuation of Non-Tax-Exempt Property	11
02.050201	Percent Change in Assessed Valuation of Non-Tax-Exempt Property. Selected	
	Years	11
02, 05 03	Assessed Valuation of Tax-Exempt Property	1.1
02, 05 03 01	Ratio of Tax-Exempt Property to Non-Tax Exempt Property	11
02.050302	Percent Change in Assessed Valuation of Tax-Exempt Property. Selected Years . 11	11
02, 05 04	Assessed Valuation, by Land Use Types	11
02. 05 05	Property Tax Rate	11
02. 05 05 01	Per Canita Pronerty Tax	11
02: 05 06	Assessed Valuation per Attendant Student	11
02.05.07	Per Capita Local Expenditure for Education	 11~
· · · ·	Y or alling room willing the reason of the r	•
ERIC		
FullText Provided by ERIC	AR '	

CLASSIFICATION OF SELECTED INFORMATION

CODE .

ITEMS OF INFORMATION

•__

DEFINITION ON PAGE

35

Å,

02.06	ECONOMIC CHARACTERISTICS OF THE POPULATION		-
	Civilian Labor Force	r	111
	Percent of Labor Force Employed		111
02.000102	Percent of Labor Force Unemployed		112
02.060103	Percent of Persons not in Labor Force		112
02.06.02	Employment Status, by Sex	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	112
	Percent Female		112 *.
	Percent Male		112 0
	Employed Civilian Labor Force		112
02. 06 03 01	Percent Change in Employed Civilian Labor Force, Selected Ye	ars	112
02.06.04	Employment in White Collar Occupations		112 •
<i>3</i> 02. 06 04 01	Employment in White Collar Occupations, Female		112
02.06.04.02	Employment in White Collar Occupations, Male		112
02.060403	Percent Employment in White Collar Occupations		112
02.06.05	Employment in Blue Collar Occupations	• 🕶 • • • • • • • • • • • • •	112
02. 06 05 01	Employment in Blue Collar Occupations, Female	•••••	112
02.060502	Employment in Blue Collar Occupations. Male	•••••	112
02. 06 05 03	Percent Employment in Blue Collar Occupations	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	112
02. 06 06	White Collar/Blue Collar Ratio	•••••	112
	Percent Change in White Collar/Blue Collar Ratio	\$ \$	113
02. 06 07	Median Earnings	••••••••••••	113 .
02. 06 08	Annual Weeks Worked	· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	113
02.06 09	Weekly Hours Worked	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	115 94
02. 06 10	Rural Poverty Index	••••••••	113
02. 06 11	Urban Poverty Index	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	Į13
02. 06 12	Insured Labor Force	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	113
02.06 12 01	Percent of Total Civilian Labor Force Classified as Indured	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	113
02. 06 13	Labor Force Participation Rate		113
02. 06 14	Disposable Income	••••••••••••••••••••••	113
02.06 14 01	Percent Change in Disposable Income Selected Vogen	••••••	13
02. 06 15	Residents Working Outside Community of Residence	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	13 *
02. 06 16	Occupation 5 Years Ago	•••••• 1	13 🔩 📍
02. 06 16 01	Percent Change of Occupational Classifications	•••••••	.13
02. 06 17	Industry 5 Years Ago	····· I	.13
02. 06 18	Number of Families with More Than One Wage Former	••••••	14
02.06 19	Dependency Ratio	••••• I	14
102. 07	ECONOMIC TRENDS (FUTURE)	* • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • I	14
02. 07 01	Changes in Employment Growth Rate		
02. 07 02 '	Changes in Pavroll Growth Rate	•••••• J	14
02. 07.03	Changes in Rate of Capital Investment	••••••	14 . •
02. 07 04	Changes in Employment Growth Rate by Industry Content	•••••• 1	14
02 07 05	Changes in Local Government Revenues	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	14 ,
02. 07 06	Changes in Local Government Expenditures	•••••••••	14
02. 07 07 '	Changes in Size of Civilian Labor Force	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	14 •
02.07 08	Changes in Employment Status by Cor	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	14 .
02. 07 09	Changes in White Collar/Blue Collar Dette	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	[4`
02. 07 10	Changes in Median Farmings	11	14 🔍 🗄
	0	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	14

36 COMMUNITY INFORMATION CODE ITEMS OF INFORMATION 02. 07 11 Changes in Weekly Hours Worked 02. 07 12 Changes in Disposable Income

03. CODE SERIES: LAND USE .

ITEMS DESCRIBING LAND USE DATA

The data in this series: (1) indicate the general arrangement of land uses (community structure or morphology), (2) specify features of land use and population distribution that relate to school planning needs, and (3) provide information that relates to school site selection. Since future land use patterns hinge on what already exists, a careful study of the present structure, along with a flow of data on growth and change possibilities, assists in the projection of relevant information for the coming years.

The first levels of detail for land use data follow:

Classification of Land

. This section provides a percentage breakdown of the various land uses. These data should be used with a land use map in hand so that the spatial relationships among the several types can be visualized. Particular attention should be paid to the residential category that relates closely to the location of schools and the pattern of public transportation and school bus transportation (where provided).

Land Use—General Characteristics

This section focuses on the development of data for elementary school attendance areas and community growth rates. Both of these factors are relevant to school planning for determining possible expansion and special needs, not only for the present but for years ahead.

Land Use—Density Measures

This section is concerned with straightforward density measures. These items illustrate one particular problem in data development: the need to develop an estimate of school-age population by small areas. This item is rarely available from standard population sources and may well deserve to be the subject of a special survey. For larger, metropolitan areas, such census data may be obtainable through special computer runs that can relate the desired data, by addresses, to specified small areas.

Land Use—Specific Site Characteristics

This section provides basic data pertinent to the selection of a school site. Such determinations have often and successfully been accomplished by intuition, but the information items provide a means of substantiating intuitive choices.

Land Use—Regulatory Information

This final section on land use regulations can and should be obtained from the local city and county planning offices and they need to be updated regularly. Many communities have comprehensive plans that can be consulted.

CLASSIFICATION OF SELECTED INFORMATION

F

CODE

١Č

ITEMS OF INFORMATION

DEFINITION • ON PAGE

4.

#37

١

	•	•
	03.	LAND USE
	03.01	CLASSIFICATION OF LAND
	03. 01 01	Land Area
•	03.01 02	Residential Land Use
	03. 01 02 01	Percert of Land in Residential Land Hard
	03.0103	Trade Land Use
	03. 01 03 01	Percent of Land in Trade Land Use
	03.0104 .	Manufacturing Land Use
	03. 01 04 01	Percent of Land in Manufacturing L and Has
	03. 01 05	Transportation. Communication and Dublic Haller 7 115
	03. 01 05 01	Percent of Land in Transportation, Communication, and Public Unity Land Use
	•	Public Utility Land IIse
	03. 01 06	Services Land Use
	03. 01 06 01	Percent of Land in Services I and Ilas
	03. 01 07	Cultural, Entertainment, and Recreational Land Line
	03. 01 07 01	Percent of Land in Cultural Entertainment and
	,	Recreational Land Use
	03. 01 08	Resource Production and Extraction I and Use
	03. 01 08 01	Percent of find in Resource Production and Entraction
		Land Use
•	03. 01 09	Undeveloped and Water Land Lise
	03. 01 09 01	Percent of Land in Undeveloped and Water Land V
	03.02	LAND USE-GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS
	03. 02 01	Land Area of K-6 or K-8 School Attandance Anna
	03. 02 01 01	Average Land Area of K.6 or K.8 School Attendance Areas
	03. 02 01 02	Average Population of K-6 or K-8 School Attendance Areas
۰.	03. 02 02	Land Area of 9-12 School Attendance Areas
	03. 02 02 01	Average Land Area of 9-12 School Attendance Areas
	03. 02 02 02 -	Average Population of 9-12 School Attendance Areas
	03. 02 03	Land Area of Postsecondary Education Attandance Areas
I	03. 02 03 01 👘	Average Land Area of Postsecondary Education
ł	03. 02 03 02	Average Population of Postsecondary Attendance Average
(03. 02 04	Land Values, by Type of Lise
(03. 02 05	Annual Land Consumption by Type of Use
(03. 02 05 01	Land Consumption Rate
Į	03. 02 06	Building Permits per Year
(03. 02 06 01	Average Number of Building Permits for Past 3 Voors
(03. 02 06:02	Percent Increase/Decrease in Developed Land Area Salastad Views
(03. 02 06 03	Certificates of Occupancy Issued
()3. 02 07	Population Potential According to Master Plan Guidaling
C)3. 02 08 [°]	Area of Land Zoned Residential
C	3. 02 08.01	Percent of Land Zoned Residential
, C	3. 02 09	Area of Land Zoned Manufacturing
0	13. 02 09 01° ·	Percent of Land Zoned Manufacturing
0	3. 02 10 [.]	Area of Land Zoned Public Ownershin
0	3. 02 10 01	Percent of Land Zoned Public Ownership
0	3: 🚰 11 👘 👘	Land Area in Nonconforming Land Uses
		118

6

ITEMS OF INFORMATION

DEFINITION ON PAGE

o

		•
	03. 02 11 01	Percent of Land in Nonconforming Land Uses 118;
	03. 02 12	Land Classified as Federal Property 118
	03, 02 12 01	Percent of Land Classified as Federal Property
	03. 02 13	American Indian or Alaskan Native Land Area
	03. 02 13 01	Percent of American Indian or Alaskan native land area
	03. 02 14	Size and Location of Blighted Areas 118
	03. 02 14 01	Percent of Residential Blighted Areas 118
	03. 02 15	Land Zoned for Historic Preservation 118
	03: 02 15 01	, Percent of Land Zoned for Historic Preservation
-	03. 03	LAND USE—DENSITY MEASURES
	03. 03 01	Population per Acre/Hectare 118
	03. 03 01 01	Population per Residential Acre/Hectare
•	03. 03 01 02	Average Number of School-Age Children per Residential Acre/Hectare
	(03. 03 02 ·	Automobiles per Housing Unit 119
•	03. 03 03 .	Land in High-Density Residential Use
	03. 03 03 01	Percent of Land in High-Density Residential Use
	03. 03 03 02	Average Number of School-Age Children per Acre/Hectare in High-Density
		Residential Areas
	03. 03 04	Land in Medium-Density Residential Use
	03. 03.04 01	Percent of Land in Medium-Density Residential Use
,	03.030402^{+1}	Average Number of School-Age Children Per Acrel
		Hectare in Medium-Density Residential Areas
Ì		Landoin Low-Density Residential Use,
•	103. 03 03. 01	Percent of Land in Low-Density Residential Use
	05.05.05.02	Average in Low Dansin Residential Areas
a	"A3 . D2 06 ."	Flementary School Age Children Living Within One Mile/1 6 Kilometers
		of Their School of Attendance
1	03 04 *** *	LAND USE-SPECIFIC SITE CHARACTERISTICS
_	-03. 04 01	Size of Available Land Parcels
	03. 04 01.01	Cost of Available Land Parcels
	03. 04 01 02 *	Shape of Available Land Parcels
	03. 04 01 03	- Expandability of Available Land Parcels
	·03. 04 01 04	Location of Available Land Parcels
	03. 04 01 05 [`]	Slope Features of Available Land Parcels
	03. 04 02	Distance from School Site to Nearest Public Transportation Route 120
	03. 04 02 01 ″.	Distance from School Sife to First and Second Nearest Public Facility
	03. 04 03 *	• Total Population Within One-Half Mile/.8 Kilometers of School Site 120
	03. 04 03 01	Total Population Within One MileA)6 Kilometers of School Site
	03. 05	LAND USE - REGULATORY INFORMATION
	03.05°01	Annexation Procedures
	03. 05.02 💉	Building Code 120
	03. 05 03	Housing Code
,	0305.04	Planning Area
	03. 05 05	Subdivision Ordinances
	03. 05 06	Zoning Code
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

. 38_

CODE

•

CLASSIFICATION OF SELECTED INFORMATION

04. CODE SERIES: SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND DYNAMICS

ITEMS DESCRIBING SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND DYNAMICS DATA

The items in this series: (1) indicate the social nature of the community, (2) provide a method of studying the social and political dynamics of the community, and (3) specify how the school fits into the operation of the community. Most of the decisions made by school officials have an impact on the citizens of the community. In turn, the nature of the community and its citizens have an impact on the schools. This section should help identify different elements of the local community and their relationship to the schools.

The first levels of detail for social structure and dynamics follow:

General Characteristics of the Community

This section identifies some general characteristics of the community: the number of families with children and some of the characteristics of those families.

Statistics Collected by Local Agencies

This section identifies some statistics that may be available from local agencies. Data collected from sources such as hospital, police, social service agency, court, and library records are matters of public record. Other data affecting school and community decisions may be sensitive, private, and unreported. For example, predelinquency arrest records and information on the extent of domestic violence (e.g., child abuse, spouse abuse) may be difficult or impossible to collect.

Voting Characteristics

This section details the political makeup of the community. Votes cast in off-year U.S. House of Representatives elections are the best indicators of the party identification of members of the community. This section also concerns school levies. The precinct returns may make it possible to identify those areas most unfavorable and those most favorable to school levies and bond issues.

Formal and Informal Organizations in the Community

This section profiles the community's formal and informal organizations. The number and types of these organizations indicate the amount of group activity within the community. Knowing the organizations that exist and who belongs to them may be important in mobilizing support for, or in identifying antagonism to, certain educational proposals or decisions. A close scrutiny of such organizations may identify publicly active individuals and leaders of segments of the population who could bring their expertise and/or influence to bear on a community problem. The list is not intended to be exhaustive, but it is representative of the types of organizations in most communities. See chapter 5 for a further discussion on organizations in communities.

Allocation of Community Resources and Services

This section presents a general view of the distribution of public funds for various services. Current expenditure levels may or may not reflect the true value system of the community, but a total view is needed as the first step in revamping a funding system to reflect community needs and aspirations. Since schools are only one factor in determining the quality of life in the community, it is important that financial allocations to all essential services be balanced. Good schools are not usually found in communities where other agencies are handicapped in fulfilling their roles.

39

5;

Communication Through Mass Media

This section identifies the types and the extent of community media services. Such data can help to assess the effectiveness of communication within the community and spot gaps in communication. A careful study of community media communication may reveal reliance on sources that are not actually communicating with the local community and may also uncover little-recognized sources that can be used to communicate with certain members of a community. The items suggested are typical of the media sources that exist in most communities. Items about libraries are not listed. Libraries are, however, an important source of community information.

School District Characteristics

This section identifies basic needed school district data. Some data can be difficult to obtain. Community colleges, because of their close relationship with local business and community agencies, collect data that may be of assistance.

Schools do not constitute the only educational agency in the community. Service organizations, social service agencies, business, and industry are involved in numerous educational activities. Service organizations offer informal educational leisure, occupational, and professional programs. Social service agencies serve the general public with self-help educational programs. Business and industry operate schools for their constituency. Many communities have an array of proprietary schools serving the needs of the community members. (See Handbook IX, listed in appendix I.)

School District Organization

This section details how the school district is organized, administered, and financed. The important data items included in this section give an overview of the potential of the school system. Analysis of these data may point to needed changes and/or adaptations to adverse conditions.

School and Community Interrelationships

This section identifies factors for assessing the school-community relationship. The degree of involvement desired is a matter for local decision.

These items can serve a basis for forming an informational network of school-community relations that would allow greater citizen input into the decisionmaking process. They may also reveal gaps in the school-communityrelations process that are prejudicial to positive citizen perceptions of school activities. They may also be a source of information about school activities that can strengthen and enhance school-community relations.

These are suggested items with neither a positive nor a negative slant. Others of this type may be generated locally. The importance of the reason for collecting this data will determine its worth.

ITEMS OF INFORMATION

DÉFINITION ON PAGE

. 121 . 121

121

CODE

14. 01 **0**4 01

4.•	SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND DYNAMICS
4.01	GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS OF THE COMMUNITY
4.0101	Number of Families
4.01.02	Number of Families With School-Age Children
4. 01 [°] 03	Number of Families With Preschool-Age Children
4:01:04	• Number of Families Receiving Public Assistance That Have
4	School-Age Children

Percent Families Receiving Public Assistance That Have

School-Age Children

CLASSIFICATION OF SELECTED INFORMATION

È,

CODE

ł

J

ITEMS OF INFORMATION

.

١

DEFINITION ON PAGE

	4
04. 01 05	Number of Working Mothers With Children Under Age 6 in a
04 01 06	Two-Parent Family
	Number of Working Mothers With Children Under Age 6 in a
04 01 07	[°] Number of Werking Fight and With on the state of the s
	Two Porent Fourily
04 01 08	Number of Working Fothers With Guild - The second states and the s
	One-Depart Family
04.01.09	Number of Femilies in Which Excited to a Grant Ar
04. 01 09 01	Percent Families in Which English Is a Second Language
04.01 10	Major Ethnic Grouns
04. 01 10 01	Major Ethnic Groups Population
04.01 10 02	Percent Major Ethnic Groups in the Community
04.0111	Location of Ethnic Groups, by Precinct
04. 01 12	Location of Ethnic Greun, by School Attendance Area
04. 02	STATISTICS COLLECTED BY LOCAL AGENCIES
04. 02 01	Annual Suicides
04. 02 01 01	Suicidal Rate
04. 02 02	Live Births to Teenagers
. 04. 02 02 01	Rate of Live Births To Teenagers
04. 02 03	Delinquencies
04. 02 03 01	Delinquency Rate
04. 02 04 ,	Drug Arrests of Juveniles
04. 02 04 01	Juvenile Drug Arrest Rate
04. 03	VOTING CHARACTERISTICS
04. 03 01	Voter Registrations
04. 03 01 01	Voter Registrations, by Political Party
04. 03 01 02	Percent Distribution of Voter Registrations, by Political Party
04. 03 02	Votes Cast in Last Two Presidential Elections
04. 03 02 01	Votes Cast in Last Two Presidential Elections, by Political Party
04. 03 02 02	Votes Cast in Last Two Presidential Elections by
04 02 02	Political Party, by Precinct
04. 05 05	Votes Cast in Last Two Nonpresidential Year U.S. House
04 02 02 01	Elections, by Political Party 123
~	Votes Cast in Last Two Nonpresidential U.S. House
04 03 04	Elections by Political Party, by Precinct
04. 04 04	Votes Cast in School Operating Levy Elections, Last Three
04 03 04 01	Kotes Francisco Califa Log Califa Tanana and Anna and An
04 03 04 02	Potes Favoring School-Operating Levy, Last Three Elections
04.03.04.03	Votes Cast in School Operating Levy, Last Three Elections
	Three Elections by Dursing-Levy Election, Last
04.03 04 04	Votes Fovoring School Operating Law L. 7
	Flections by President
04. 03 04 05 1	Percent Votes Equating School Operating Land L
	Three Elections by Precinct
04. 03.05	Votes Cast in School Bond Issues I act Three Electrones
1	123
Y	

ę 53

(

ITEMS OF INFORMATION

: 42

CODE

DEFINITION

Э

		1	(*	×			· · ·	•.	۶ ۶
C	14	hz	05	01		Votes Favoring Sci	hool Rond Issues Last Three	Elections	•	124
Č	4	03	05	ín2 ``		Percent Votes Favo	oring School Rond Issues La	st Three Election	S	124
Ċ	<u>14</u> .	03	05 (03		Votes Cast in Scho	ol Bond Issue Elections. Last	Three 🚳	•	
	· · ·	00			•	-Elections, by Preci	nct			124
Ċ	14	03	05 (04 ~		Votes Favoring Sci	hool Bond Issues. Last Three	° 0		
				•••		 Elections, by Preci 	inct			124
(14.	03	05	05		Percent Favoring S	School Bond Issues, Last Thre			
			••			Elections by Preci	inct		• •	124
C	14 .	04				FORMAL AND INFO	RMAL ORGANIZATIONS	IN THE	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
		• ·				COMMUNITY	•		·	
C	4 .	<u>04</u>	01°			Number of Governm	ent Units Included in Schoo	District	·	
		• ·	•-,			Boundaries				124
C	14 .	0 4	02	•		Number of Formal (Organizations in the Comm	unity		124
Ċ	14.	04	02	01		Percent of Populat	ion in at Least One Formal	·····		
		•		••		° Organization		•		124
C	14 .	04	03			Number of Informal	Organizations in the Com	nunity		124
Ċ)4.	04	03	01	;	Percent of Populat	ion in at Least One Informal	•		
		• ·	•••	•-,	1	Organization	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	•		124
Ċ)4.	04	04		3	Ad Hoc Committees	Locally			124
Ċ)4.	04	05	₽ [™]		Cultural Groups /			2	124
Ċ	14 .	04	96			Minority Organizati	ons		•/	\$24
Ċ)4.	04	07			Fraternal or Sororal	Organizations.			125
$\langle 0 \rangle$)4.	04	08			Governmental-Orga	nizations		ð	125
Ì)4.	04	Ø9.			Interest Groups, Na	tionally			125
d	4.	04	10			Older Person Clubs	·····		<i></i>	125
Č)4.	04	11			Patriotic Organizati	ons	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		125.
Ċ)4.	04	12	**		Political Groups				125-
C)4.	04	13	ζ,		Professional Organiz	ations			125
()4.	04	14			Religious Organizati	ons			125
()4.	.04	15			Service Clubs)	125
Ċ)4.	04	16	•		Social Service Agence	ies		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	125
()4.	04	17			Unions				-125
(14 .	04	18			Youth Groups	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			ˈ í 25 ´
(14 .	05		۲		ALLOCATION OF CO	DMMUNITY RESOURCES	AND SERVICE	2 ×	/
()4.	05	01	•	,	Total Public Budget	.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·)	í125° j
()4.	05	01	01		Percent Public Bud	dget Allotted to Public Service	ės	•••••	125 🕈
()4.	0Ś	01	02		Percent Public Bu	dget Allotted to Recreation			126
()4.	05	01	03		' · Percent Public Bud	dget Allotted to Barks	•••	· · · · · · · / · · · · · · ·	126
()4.	05	01	04	·	Percent Public Bud	dget Allotted to Health.Servic	es		126
(<u>)</u> 4. '	05	01	05		Percent Public_Builty	dget Allotted to Social Service	es	/	126
(.	05	01	06		Percent Public Bud	dget Allotted to Líbraries			126
()4.	06	•		•	COMMUNICATION 7	HROUGH MASS MEDIA	• /	<i>"</i>	•
C)4.	06	01			Local Circulation.of	Local Newspapers	· ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	126
C)4.	06	02		• •	Local Circulation of	Nonlocal Newspapers	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	··· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	126
C)4.	06	03	•		Local Circulation R	atio, Local to Nonlocal New	spapers	،«] • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	126.
C)4.	06	04			Radio Stations Repo	rting Local Stories			126 1
C)4.	06	05,			Television Stations I	Reporting Local Stories			126
	0	•	•	*.	٣	- ' - 1	· • •		• \	٠
	-								· · ·	~

54 🥠

CODE ITEMS OF INFO

ITEMS OF INFORMATION

DEFINITION ON PAGE

بو

	- · ·				· · · · ·
	, \ y		-	•	
	04. 06 06	Circulatio	of School Bulloting on Nounletton		· ·
/ =	04. 06 07	. Circulatio	m of Nonschool Bulleting Covering Educ	· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
	. 04. 06 08		culation of Minority Newspapers		126
Å,	04. 06.09	Radio Sta	tions That Are Sponish I amagine at M	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	126
		' · Oriented	tions That Are Spanish Language or MI	nority	
9	04.07	SCHOOL D	ISTRICT CHARACTERISTICS	•••••••••••••••••	126
-	0 4, 07 01	Total	ool Enrollment		
	04. 97 01 01	Total S	chool Enrollment Grades K.8	•••••••••••	••••••• 126
	04. 07 01 01 01	Perc	ent School Enrollment Grades K-8	•••••••	127
	04.07 01 02	Total S	chool	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	**** 127
	04. 07 01 02 01	Perc	ent School Enrollment Grades 9-12	•••••••	
	.04. 07 02	Public Scl	nool Enrollment		127
	04. 07 02 01	Percent	Public School Enrollment	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	107
	04. 07 02 02	·Public S	School Enrollment Grades K-8	•	127
	04. 07 02 02 01	Perc	ent Public School Enrollment Grades K-8		127
	04. 07 02 03	Public S	School Enrollment Grades 9-12		····· 127
	04. 07 02 03 01	Perce	ent Public School Enrollment Grades 9-12		127
40	. 04. 07 03	Nonpublic	School Enrollment	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	127
	04. 07 03 01	Percent	Nonpublic School Enrollment	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	127
	04.07 03 02	Nonpub	lic School Enrollment Grades K-8		127
• .	04. 07 03.02 01	, Perce	ent Nonpublic School Enrollment Grades K	ζ-8	128
	04. 07 03 03	Nonpub	lic School Enrollment Grades 9-12		128
	04. 07 03 03 01	· Perce	ent Nonpublic School Enrollment Grades 9	-12	128
•	04.07.04	 Number of 	f Dropouts	**	128
	04.07 04 01	Dropou	Rate	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
•	• 04. 07 05 04. 07 05 01	Number of	f Adults Enrolled in Adult Continuing E	ducation	
	04.07.05.01	Percent	Adults Enrolled in Adult Continuing Educe	ation	128
		Total High	School Job-Release Students	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	128
•		Percent	High School Job-Release Students		
••		Number of	High School Graduates Who Continue	in	
	104 07 07 01	, rosisecond	ary Education	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	128
	······································	Percent	of High School Graduates Who Continue i	n . •	•
	047 07 08	Number of	High School Curry Market	•••••••••••••••••••••••	128
		Ich Morke	mgn School Graduates who Stay in th	e Local >	
•	04. 07 08 01	'Rercent	of High School Craduates Whe first	••••••	128
·	· · · · · ·	- Local*Ia	h Market	•	<u></u>
•	04, 07 09	Linumber of	Non-English_Sneaking Students	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	128
-	-04-07-09-01	····· Percent	Non-English-Speaking Students	******	<u>···· 129</u>
	04. 07 10 ·	Number of	Functional Illiterates		
	04.07 10 01 •	Percent	Functional Illiterates	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	129
	104.08	SCHOOL DI	STRICT ORGANIZATION	*	• • • • • 129
•	04. 08 01.	Number of	School Board Members	• •	120
•	04. 08 02	Average La	ength of Service of School Board Membe	ers	129
•	04. 08 03	Number of	Public Schools in the School District. by	y Grade 4	127
		Level Serve	ed	*****	129
	04.0804	Total Num	ber of Students		129
	,	• •	· · ·		

Ζ

• 55

ITEMS OF INFORMATION

. DEFINITION ON PAGE

04. 08 05	Total Number of Teachers
04: 08 06	Student-Teacher Ratio
04. 08 06 01	Student-Teacher Ratio, Elementary 129
04. 08 06 02	Student-Teacher Ratio, Secondary 129
04. 08 07 🕔	Current Expenditures per Student
04. 08 07 01	Eurrent Expenditures per Elementary Student
04, 08 07 02	Current Expenditures per Secondary Student
04. 08 07 03	Current Expenditures per Community College Student
04.080704	Current Expenditures per Adult and Continuing
	Education Student
04.0808	Average Teacher's Salary 130 -
04. 08 09	Annual School Budget
04. 08 10	Ratio of School Budget to Total Public Budget 130
04. 08 11	Revenue From Local Sources
04. 08 11 01	* Revenue From Local Taxes 130
04. 08 11 02	Revenue From Other Local Sources
-04. 08 11 03	Revenue From Tuition
04. 08 12	Revenue From Intermediate Sources
04. 08 13	Revenue From State Sources
04. 08 14	Revenue From Federal Sources
04. 09	SCHOOL AND COMMUNITY INTERRELATIONSHIPS
04. 09 01	Number of Surveys Conducted by Outside Agencies Last
	5 Years
04. 09 02	Number of Surveys Conducted by Schools, Last 5 Years
04. 09 03	Number of Citizens Involved in School Planning
04. 09 04	Average Attendance at School Board Meetings
04. 09 05	Number of Parent and Other Citizen Volunteers Serving
	in the Schools,
04. 09 06	Percent of Pupils Whose Homes Are Visited by School
	Personnel, Annually ' 131
04. 09 07	Number of Groups Using School Facilities 131
04. 09 08	Parent Organization Membership 131
04. 09 09	Percent Annual School Budget for Community Relations
•	· · · · · ·

CONCLUSION

This chapter has provided a framework for collecting, using, and displaying data about communities. The next chapter provides guidelines to facilitate the use of available published data.

56

• •

44

CODE

Chapter 4 PUBLISHED DATA

INTRODUCTION

Any information system must begin with a relatively flexible set of objectives and an understanding of what . data are required. The data items in chapter 3 and the Community Profiles in appendix B provide guidance for determining useful community data. Unique local situations may require additional information.

How to find data is an important concern in addition to what information is necessary. This chapter provides guidelines to facilitate the use of available published data. Collecting data at the local level is discussed in chapter 5.

Collecting basic community data requires several decisions:

(1) What geographic unit will be used for data collection? School systems may require data by county, .city, census tract, school district, school attendance area, or some other geographic unit.

(2) Will available data be sufficient, or will a survey or some other type of active local data collection be necessary?

(3) Will additional data have to be identified beyond the suggested data items in chapter 3 before beginning data collection efforts?

(4) Will information on the entire population be sufficient, or should separate data subsets be created for population subgroups such as racial and ethnic categories or rural residents? The basic data can usually be collected for subsets of the local community population and then aggregated to provide a file for the entire community.

POPULATION INFORMATION

The major source of published data on population is the Bureau of the Census. The bureau has conducted a census every 10 years. Beginning in 1985, the census will be taken every 5 years. The bureau also conducts a monthly "Current Population Survey," usually a large sample survey on some specific subject such as migration, school enrollment, voter characteristics, or educational attainment.

The results of the 1970 Census of Population and Housing are issued in the form of printed reports, microfiche copies of the printed reports, computer summary tapes, computer printouts, and microfilm. Listed below are descriptions of the final report series. The descriptions were taken directly from the bureau's publication 1970 General Population Characteristics (Final Report PC (1)-B49). More detailed information on this program can be obtained from the:

	•	
~:		

Publication Distribution Section Bureau of the Census Washington, D.C. 20233.

Population Census Reports

Völume 1. Characteristics of the Population. — This volume consists of 58 "parts"—number 1 for the United States, numbers 2 through 52 for the 50 States and the District of Columbia in alphabetical order, and numbers 53 through 58 for Puerto Rico, .Guam, Virgin Islands, American Samoa, Canal Zone, and the Trust Territory of the Pacific Islands, respectively. Each part, which is a separate clothbound book, will contain four chapters designated as A, B, C, and D. Each chapter (for each of the 58 areas) was first issued as an individual paperbound report in four series designated as PC (1)A,B,C, and D respectively. The 58 PC(1)-A reports was specially assembled and issued in a clothbound book, designated as Part A.

Series PC(1)-A Number of Inhabitants.—Final official population counts are presented for States, counties by urban and rural residence, standard metropolitan statistical areas (SMSA's), urbanized areas, county

subdivisions, all incorporated places, and unincorporated places of 1,000 inhabitants or more.

46

Series PC(1)-B General Population Characteristics. — Statistics on age, sex, race, marital status, and relationship to head of household are presented for States, counties by urban and rural residence, SMSA's, urbanized areas, county subdivisions, and places of 1,000 inhabitants or more

Series PC(1)-C General Social and Economic Characteristics. —Statistics are presented on nativity and parentage, State and county of birth, Spanish origin, mother tongue, residence 5 years ago, year moved into present house, school enrollment (public or private), years of school completed, vocational training, number of children ever born, family composition, disability, veteran status, employment status, place of work, means of transportation to work, occupation group, industry group, class of worker, and income (by type) in 1969 of families and individuals. Each subject is shown for some or all of the following areas: States, counties (by urban, ruralnonfarm residence), SMSA's urbanized areas, and places of 2,500 inhabitants or more.

Series PC(1)-D Detailed Characteristics. —These reports cover most of the subjects shown in Series PC(1)-C, above, presenting the data in considerable " detail and cross-classified by age, race, and other characteristics. Each subject is shown for some or all of the following areas: States (by urban, ruralnonfarm, and rural-farm residence), SMSA's, and large cities.

Volume II. Subject Reports.—Each report in this volume, also designated as Series PC(2) concentrates on a particular subject. Detailed information and cross-relationships is generally provided on a national and regional level; in some reports, data for States or SMSA's is shown. The characteristics covered include national origin and race, fertility, families, marital status, migration, education, unemployment, occupation, industry, and income.

Housing Census Reports

Volume I. Housing Characteristics for States, Cities, and Counties.—This volume, consists of 58 "parts"—number 1 for the United States, numbers, 2 through 52 for the 50 States and the District of Columbia in alphabetical order, and numbers 53 through 58 for Puerto Rico, Guam, Virgin Isalnds, American Samoa, Canal Zone, and the Trust Territory of the Pacific Islands, respectively. Each part, which is a separate clothbound book, contains two chapters designated as A and B. Each chapter (for each of the 58 areas) was first issued as an individual paperbound report in two series designated as HC(1)-A and -B, respectively.

Series HC(1)-A General Housing Characteristics.— Statistics on tenure, kitchen facilities, plumbing facilities, number of rooms, person per room, units in structure, mobile home, telephone, value, contract rent, and vacancy status are presented for some or all of the following areas: States (by urban and rural residence), SMSA's, urbanized areas, places of 1,000-inhabitants or more, and counties.

Series HC(1)-B Detailed Housing Characteristics.— Statistics are presented on a more detailed basis for the subjects included in the HC(1)-A reports, as well as on such additional subjects as year moved into unit, year structure built, basement, heating equipment, fuels, air-conditioning, water and sewage, appliances, gross rent, and ownership of second home. Each subject is shown for some or all of the following areas: States (by urban, rural-nonfarm, and rural-farm residence), SMSA's, urbanized areas, places of 2,500 inhabitants or more, and counties.

Volume II. Metropolitan Housing Characteristics. — These reports, also designated as Series HC(2), will cover most of the 1970 census housing subjects in considerable detail and cross-classification. There is one report for each SMSA and its central city(ies) and places of 50,000 inhabitants or more, as well as a national summary report.

Volume III. Block Statistics. —One report, under the designation Series HC(3), was issued for each urbanized area showing data for individual blocks on selected housing and population subjects. The series also includes reports for the communities outside urbanized areas that have contracted with the Census Bureau to provide block statistics from the 1970 census.

Volume IV. Components of Inventory Change.— This volume contains data on the disposition of the 1960 inventory and the source of the 1970 inventory,

PUBLISHED DATA

such as new construction, conversions, mergers, demolitions, and other additions and losses. Crosstabulations of 1960 and 1969 characteristics for units that have not changed and characteristics of the present and previous residence of recent movers are also provided. Statistics are shown for 15 selected SMSA's and for the United States.

Volume V. Residential Finance.—This volume presents data regarding the financing of privately owned nonfarm residential properties. Statistics are shown on amount of outstanding mortgage debt, manner of acquisition of property, homeowner expenses, and other owner, property, and mortgage characteristics for the United States and regions.

Volume VI. Estimates of "Substandard" Housing. — This volume presents counts of "substandard" housing units for counties and cities, based on the number of units lacking plumbing facilities combined with estimates of units with all plumbing facilities, but in "dilapidated" condition.

Volume VII. Subject Reports. —Each report, in this volume:concentrates on a particular subject. Detailed information and cross-classifications are generally provided on a national and regional level; in some

reports, data for States or SMSA's are also shown. Among the subjects covered are housing characteristics by household composition, housing of minority groups and senior citizens, and households in mobile homes.

Joint Population-Housing Reports

Series PHC(1). Census Tract Reports.—This series contains one report for each SMSA, showing data for most of the population and housing subjects included in the 1970 census.

Series PHC(2). General Demographic Trends for Metropolitan Areas, 1960 to 1970.—This series consists of one report for each State and the District of Columbia, as well as national summary report, presenting statistics for the State and for SMSA's and their central cities and constituent counties. Comparative 1960 and 1970 data are shown on population counts by age and race and on such housing subjects as tenure, plumbing facilities, value, and contract rent.

These Reports are available on computer summary tapes. See chapter 7 and appendix H for a discussion of computer summary tapes.

)	Title		Series No.	Geographic Detail Below U. S. Level	Frequency of Issue
•	Population Characteris	stics	P-20	Metropolitan/nonmetropolitan, sometimes SMSA totals, and selected areas	15 reports per year
	Special Studies	*4	P-23	Regions; sometimes States	Sèveral per year
	Population Estimates a Projections	ind • • • • • •	P-25	States, SMSA's	Monthly/annual
	Federal-State Cooperat Program for Populat	tive tion			•
	Estimates	3. 	P-26	Counties and SMSA's in participating States	Periodic
	Farm Population		'P-27	None	Annual
	Special Censuses	•	P-28	Counties, municipalities, and sometimes census tracts	As required 2 summary
	• 	4	r'r	5D	

Current Population Reports

BASIC CENSUS PUBLICATIONS

The County and City Data Book is a publication. produced every 4 or 5 years as a supplement to the Statistical Abstract. It contains summary, data from a variety of sources, including the census and current population reports; and is an excellent source of population and economic data for counties, SMSA's, and cities: Additional data include: information on unemployment, earnings by industry, number of establishments, employment by place of work and industry, number and value of farms, and bank deposits. Table 4-1 indicates data obtainable directly from *The County* and City Data Book,

Handbook VIII code number	Data item	ç	Counties • table 2 column	Cities table 6 column
01. 01 01 [,]	Total Population		• 3	303
01, 01 02 01	Percent Population Increase		5	305
01 01 03	Decrease Deputeion Density		5	305
	Modian Age		4	,304
	Modian Family Income Persons With Family		- 15	313
•	Income \$12,000 and Quart		66 67	
01 01 06	Median Highest Cardo of School Completed		55-57	358-360
	Median Fighest Grade of School Completed		.24	323
01.050101	Percent Poreign Born Population		³ 18	316 ⁻
01. 05 03 02 01. 05 03 02	Percent With Family Income Under \$3,000		, 52 eo	354
01. 06 02 02	Percent Completing Less Than Fifth Grade		25	324
01. 07 04 01	Percent Persons I iving in Single Housing Units	~	25	324
01. 07 06 01	Percent Owner-Occupied Housing Units		80 •97	3/9
01. 07 07	Median Value of Owner-Occupied Housing Units		07	380
01, 07 09	Median Monthly Gross Reptal of Perted Housing		00	387
	Units		80 [°] 2	200
01. 07 14	Number of Housing Units	•	77	376
01. 08 01 01	Crude Birth Rate	•	21	370
01. 08 02 01	Crude Death Rate ""		° 22	320
03. 01 01	Land Area		1	201
04. 07 01	Total School Enrollment		28-29	328-329 *

Table 4-1 .- Basic data available from The County and City Data Book, 1972

Statistical Abstract of the United States. An annull publication presenting current estimates and census year benchmark data on economic concern, expecially for States and SMSA's. This is a useful publication for current data at the metropolitan, State, and national level.

This category is calculated by summing (01. 05-03 06), (01. 05 03 07), (01. 05 03 08) and (01. 05 03 09).

The catalogs of Bureau of the Census publications are issued quarterly, and are available from the U.S. Department of Commerce District Offices. See p. 188 for addresses.

Table 4/2 gives the table references for Bureau of the Census sources of population basic data. To use the table, select the geographic unit desired (county, city, or census tract) from the column headings and follow down the column for instructions to find the Handbook VIII code number in the left column.

60

48

è

Hand	book VIII *	· Co	ounty		City		Census tract
	•	Series PC(1) -A	. The County &	• Series I -B	PC(1)-A, , -C	The County &	12
Code number	Data item	-C	Table 2	Data for places	Data for cities 50,000 or more	City Data Book, Table 6	Series PHC (1)
01. 01 01	Total population Age-sex-specific	-A, Table 24.	Column 3	28	-A, Table 6	Column 201	Table P-1
	population	-B, Table 35.	-NA-	• 28	 -B, Table 24[°] 	-NA-	Table P4
1.0104 1.0105	Median age Median Pamily	-B, Table 35.	Column 15	28	-B, Table 24	Column 313	'Table P-1
: 1.0106	Income Median highest	-C, Table 124	Column 58	107	-C, Table 89	Column 361	Table P-4
	grade of school completed	-C, Table 120	Column 24	102	-C, 83	.	e `
1.0205	White Population	-B, Table 35	Column 9	28	(by sex only) -B. Table 24	Column 323	Table, P-2
1.0301	Foreign born				1		
1. 05 01	Families with	C, Table 119	-NA-	102	-C, Table 81	-NA- *	Table P-2
	income Families with	-C, Table 124	Columns 52-57	107	-C, Table 89,	· 360 ~	Table P-4
;	income over \$12,000 ²	C Table 124	55 57			Columns 358-	
. 05 03 01	Families with *	, i abic 124		▲ ¹⁰⁷ .●	-C, 1able 89.	360 .	Table P-4
. 05 03 02	income under	·				'	
. 06 01 01	\$3,000 Population	-C, Table 124	Column 52	107	-C, Table 89	Column 354	Table P-4
. 06 01 02	completing less		۰		•	\$	•
	than 5th grade	-C, Table 120	Column 25	103	-C, Table 83	Column 324	Table P-2
. 06 01 07	College en dustas a	÷ 0 m 11 m	,	• *		A	10101-2
	Land Area	-A Table 120	• Column 27 *	103	-C, Table 83	Column 326	Table P*2
. 07 01	Total school	1		-NA-	NA-	Columns 328	· -NA-
07.01.01	enrollment	-C, Table 120	Columns 28-29	• 103 [°]	-C, Table 83	· 329 _ '	Table P-2
	Total school enrollment	•	••	•			
	grades K-8	-C, Table 120	Column 28	103	C Table 83	Column 329	
. 07 01 02	Total school	e .	•	1		Columni 520	Naule P-2
٦	enrollment	C Table 100	Colum 20	1		7	. 1
. 07 02 02	Public enrollment	-C, Table 120	Column 29	103	"C, Table 83	Column 329	Table P-2
07 02 03	grades K-8	-C, Table 120	-NA-	103	-C, Table 83	-NA-	Table P-2
	grades 9-12	-C. Table 120	-NA-	103	C Table 92	· N 4	A
. 07 05	Adult continuing .	-,	· · · · · · ·	105 .	-0, 14010403	-NA- ,	Table P-Z
	- education	•	.	, x •	• • •	••••	• • •
	enrollment	-NA-	-NA-	-NA-	-NA-	-NA- 🕫	Table P-2
		÷		<i>. . .</i>		•	

Table 4-2.—Sources for census data on population

¹ See the Series PHC(1) Appendix for example of median computations. ² This category is calculated by summing (01. 05 03 06), (01. 05 03 07), (01. 05 03 08), and (01. 05 03 09).

Titles of Tables from Population Census Reports Series PC (1):

-A, Table 6. Population of all incorporated places and pof unincorporated places of 1,000 or more: 1960 and 1970. -A, Table 24. Population of counties: 1970 and 1960. -B, Table 20. Age, by race and sex, for areas and places: 1970. B, Table 35. Age, by race and sex, for counties: 1970. C, Table 21. Ethnic characteristics for areas and places: 1970. C, Table 83. Educational characteristics for areas and places: 1970., C, Table 89. Income in 1960 of families, unrelated individuals and persons for areas and places: 1970: C, Table 119. Social characteristics for counties: · 1970. -C, Table 120. Educational and family characteristics for counties: 1970. C, Table 124. Income and poverty status in 1969 for counties: 1970. Items necessary to produce the array of population data suggested in this Handbook are contained in either the Population Census Reports Series PC(1), The County and City Data Book, or the Joint Population-

A difficulty in using census data is the lack of correspondence between the geographic units used by the Bureau of the Census (county, census tract) and those used by the schools (school attendance area, school district). Translating data by census units into data for school units, as described later in this chapter, can partially offset this problem.

Housing Reports Series PHC(1). Adult education en-

rollment must be obtained from local sources.

HOUSING

The major source of published data on housing'is the Bureau of the Census. Local planning and governmental agencies have housing data that rarely include more than the number of households and assessed valuation. Mortgage loans are disclosed to the State by banks and savings and loan associations by census tract or by zip code. State housing plans, required by mid-1978 for receiving certain Federal funds, are developed by comprehensive planning agencies and contain more data than the national housing survey. The Annual Housing Surveys for SMSA's gives data on migration. Table 4-3 lists the sources for the basic data on housing.

Titles of Tables on Housing and Characteristics of Households Series PC(1)-B:

- Table 25. Household relationship and type of family by race, for areas and places: 1970.
- Table 29. Household relationship and type of family by race, for places of 10,000 to 50,000: 1970.
- Table 33. General characteristics for county subdivisions: 1970.

Series PC(1)-C:

 Table 82.
 Mobility, commuting and veteran status, for areas and places: 1970.

- Table 102. Social characteristics for places 10,000 to 50,000: 1970.
- Table 119. Social characteristics for counties: 1970.
- Table 120. Educational and family characteristics for
counties: 1970.
- Series HC(1):
- Table 8.
 Occupancy, plumbing, and structural characteristics for areas and places: 1970.
- Table 10. Financial characteristics for areas and places: 1970.

Series HC(1)-B:

Table 20. Financial characteristics for places of 10,000 to 50,000 inhabitants: 1970.

Table 29. Selected characteristics for counties: 1970.

Table 53. Structural and plumbing characteristics for places of 10,000 to 50,000 inhabitants: 1970.

OBTAINING 1980 CENSUS DATA BY SCHOOL DISTRICT

The National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) is developing 1980 Census of Population and Housing data by school district. State, regional, county, and local education agencies as well as the Federal Government and public and private institutions may use these data to create profiles of socioeconomic characteristics of school districts for evaluation, planning, and research purposes.

The NCES project involves compiling a national set of school district maps, relating these maps to census geographic units in a table of equivalence (TOE) for each school district, and, from that information making

PUBLISHED DATA

Handbo	ook VIII	Cou	nty	*	City		,
Code number	Data Item	Population and housing censuses	The County & City Data Book, table 2	Population an For cities of 50,000 or	For cities of 10-50,000	The County & City Data Book,	Census tract Series PHC(1)
1. 07 01	Households	Series PC(1)	-NA-	Series PC(1)	Series PC(1)	-NA-	Table
. 07 0 <u>2</u>	Persons living in bousebolds	-B, Table 33 Series PC(1) -B, Table 33	Column 85-86	-B, Table 25 Series PC(1) -B, Table 25	-B, Table 29 Series PC(1) -B, Table 29	Columns 384-385	P-4 Table P-1
1. 07 04	Persons living in single housing units	Series HC(1) Table 29	Column 80	Series HC(1) Table 8	Series HC(1) Table 53	Column 379	Table H-2
l. 07 06 ं (*	Persons living 'in owner- occupied bousing units	Series HC(1) Table 29	Column 87	Series HC(1) Table 8	Series HC(1) Table 53	Column 386	Table H-1
, 07 07 ,	Median value of owner occupied	Series HĆ(1) Table 29	Column 88	Series HC(1) Table 10	Series HC(1) - Table 20	Column , 387	Table . H-1
. 07 09	Median monthly gross rental	Series HC(1) Table 29	Column 89	Series HC(1) Table 10	Series HC(1) Table 20	Column 388	Table H-1
ę	of rented • housing units	• • `	/	·~'		•	/s -
. 07 14	Number of housing units Units with complete plumbing	Series HC(1) Table 29 Series HC(1) Table 29	Column 77 NA-	Series HC(1) Table 8 Series HC(1) Table 8	Series HC(1) Table 53 -NA-	Column 384 NA-	Table, H-1 Table H-1
. 07 15. I	tacilities* Persons under age 18 living with neither parent	Series PC(1) -C, Table 120	-NA-	Series PC(1) -C, Table 82	Series PC(1) -C, Table 102	-NĄ-	-NA-

63

• Table 4-3 — Sources for census data on housing

* This category would be calculated by subtracting (01. 07 12) from (01. 07 11).

a geographic reference file (GRF). The GRF is a computer tape compilation of the TOE's of all school districts by State. The GRF is used to restructure and transfer 1980 census data to a school district base. School district boundary data are supplied by the State education agencies (SEA's), regional education agencies, and/or local education agencies (LEA's).

In planning for the 1980 Census Data by School District Project, NCES decided to remap all school districts on Census maps (about 15,800 in 1978) nationwide. This decision was made because school districts continued to be reduced in number, many of the Census maps had changed so that many of the TOE's from a similar 1970 project would not be correct, and in 1970 only about 12,400 districts out of almost 18,700 were included in the project. Because of the decrease, an update of school district boundaries was made in 1975. The data contained in the updated Census Data by School District tape were still, however, from the 1970 decennial census.

Including all school districts makes the project useful to all States and provides a cross-checking verification procedure for school district maps and TOE's. The process involved makes provision for checking common

boundaries of districts and sending copies of all district maps drawn on census maps back to each district, along with its TOE, for verification. Corrections are made until verification by the LEA's is complete with SEA adjudicating any irreconcilable differences between districts. For the small percentage of school districts refusing to take part in the project, boundaries are obtained from the maps of neighboring school districts.

Social and economic characteristics of school districts and their populations have a number of potential applications including the following:

- Improved formulae can be developed for the distribution of Federal and State educational funds. In particular, statistics on the number of children below the poverty level mail permit program managers and State coordinators in make allocations by school district rather than by county.
- (2) A planning base for LEA's could be provided for use in:
- (a) Projections of kindergarten and first grade enrollments
- (b) Facility and staff planning
 - (c) Dropout prevention" planning.
- (d) Vocational education planning
- (e) School desegregation planning
- (f) Validation and standardization of a school district's local census
- (g) Community involvement planning
- (3) Comparisons of socioeconomic data such as poverty, educational level, housing, and employment of families of children in local districts can help State education planners and the State government to formulate education policy.
- (4) Relevant analyses regarding population, age distributions, race, income, educational level, and other analyses can be used to evaluate redistricting plans.
- (5) Census maps with superimposed school district
- boundaries can help SEA's formulate redistricting plans and help local or county governments reorganize election areas.
- (6) Statistics on low educational attainment can help adult basic education program planning.
- (7) Statistics on occupations and vocational training can help career education program planning.
- (8) Statistics on language use can help bilingual education program planning.

NCES coordinates with two organizations-in carry-

and Information Systems (CEIS), a working arm of the Council of Chief State School Officers, and (2) the Bureau of the Census from which NCES obtains the census maps.

Procedures for maintaining an updated GRF (probably annually) will include: (1) addition of new district records, (2) deletion of districts, (3) reallocation of census geography within districts, and (4) changes in district name, fall enrollment, or Average Daily Membership/Attendance (ADM/A), and population.

Products that will be available from this project are:

- (1) School District Maps. District boundaries overlaid on census maps. These maps can be purchased on microfilm and/or other available forms. Each school district will receive a map of its own district during the verification phase of the mapping project.
- (2) School District Geographic Reference Tapes. Definition of school districts by census geographic units.
- (3) 1980 census data by school district on computer age for individual States or the Nation.
- (4) Census-NCES School District Data Base Tape. Data by school district from the 1980 census merged with selected data from a common core of data for individual States or the Nation.
- (5) Publication(s) with 1980 Census data by school district.

A revised NCES program obtains a broad range of educational data by school district and replaces the Elementary and Secondary General Information Survey (ELSEGIS). The ELSEGIS obtained data about public elementary and secondary education through a sample survey of school districts.

The revised program compiles an annual census enumeration of LEA's by obtaining selected LEA data that was previously reported to SEA's. Data comprised of educational statistics from each LEA, housed in a central repository and updated annually, should identify educational problems and needs, trends, and policies that might improve the quality of education. Names and brief descriptions of the components of the data base are listed below:

- (1) LEA Control/Directory File. Characteristics of LEA's.
- (2) LEA Nonfiscal Data. Public enrollment, full-time equivalent (FTE) of staff employed by assignment, number of high school graduates, and pupil transportation data.
- (3) Public School Universe. Name and address of

PUBLISHED DATA

school, type of school, grade span of pupils served, FTE of classroom teachers, and October 1 pupil enrollment.

- (4) LEA Fiscal Data. Revenues and receipts by source, expenditures by purpose, and miscellaneous special exhibits.
- (5) SEA Data. Revenues by source, expenditures by function, FTE of staff by function, and list of SEAoperated schools.
- (6) SEA Directory of Officials. Name, title, telephone number, and address.
- (7) Miscellaneous State Aggregates:
 - (a) Current expenditures for State allotments of Federal funds.
 - (b) Fall estimates for school year in progress.
 - (c) Miscellaneous other aggregates.

More information concerning the new NCES school district data base program and its seven components is available from NCES. See p. iii for the address of NCES.

ÉCONOMY

The data needs for studying the economy are diverse. Data needs focus on: (1) the structure of the community economy (especially in terms of its component parts, the industrial groups), (2) the economic characteristics and effects of local government and the local revenue base for schools, and (3) the economic characteristics of the population. In each case, data from two sources are desirable: (1) census reports and public records, which are discussed in this chapter, and (2) direct collection of data through questionnaires and interviews, which are discussed in chapter 6. Other suggestions for collecting data directly are covered in chapter 5.

A major problem in analyzing a community economy is that the community is usually part of a larger functional economic area or region. The economic forces and patterns operating in the larger area will strongly influence the present and future economy of the individual community. Economic activities involved a flow of money, goods, and people and must be measured as either taking place within the area or extending into other areas. A precise functional delimitation of the community, precise indicators, and a sensitivity for external influences are required to analyze community economy.

65

Data Sources on Industrial Groups of the Economy

Obtaining information for industrial groups is one obstacle in studying community economy. It is seldom possible to compile all desired data from published reports or surveys: usually the data is unavailable or the cost is prohibitive.

The Census of Population and Housing is the most complete tabulation of statistical materials; but data addresses attributes, possessions, and residences of people, rather than industrial groups. Also, because census employment data are based on place of residence, rather than place of work, economic data adapted from the census must be carefully translated from place-of-residence data to place-of-work data.

Several data sources that provide data for general economic studies permit use of some simple and helpful (if properly used and interpreted) techniques of analysis. The Bureau of the Census conducts several periodic censuses (usually every 5 years) on industrial groups, and releases short studies on particular subjects pertinent to the economy. Two useful census publications are *County Business Patterns* and *The County and City Data Book*. *The County and City Data Book*, summarizes the most important information from detailed sources noted below. The recent major publications of value include:

(1) Census of Business:

Census of Retail Trade, 1972. Subject Series

Census of Retail Trade, 1972. Area Series Major Retail Center. Statistics Series

Census of Retail Trade, 1972. Retail Merchandise Line Sale Series

Census of Wholesale Trade, 1972. Subject Series

Census of Wholesale Trade, 1972. Area Series Census of Wholesale Trade, 1972. Wholesale Commodity Line Sales Series

(2)-Census of Governments, 1972 (taken every 5 years in years ending with 2 and 8, published in six volumes and series reports):

- Volume 1. Governmental Organization
- Volume 2. Taxable, Property Values and Assessment-Sales Price Ratios Part 1. Taxable and Other Property Values
 - Part 2. Assessment-Sales Price Ratios and Tax Rates

Volume 3. Public Employment

No. 1. Employment of Major
Local Governments
No. 2. Compendium of Public
🛋 Employment 💦 🔨
No. 3. Management-Labor
Relations in State and
Local Government
Volume 4. Governmental Finances
No. 1. Finances of School
Districts
No. 2. Finances of Special
Districts
No. 3. Finances of County
Governments
• No. 4. Finances of Municipalities
and Township Governments
, No. 5. Compendium of
Government Finances
Volume 5. Local Government in Metropolitan
Areas
Volume 6. Topical Studies
No. 1. Employee-Retirement
Systems of State and Local
Governments
No. 2. State Reports on State and
Local Government
Finances
No. 3. State Payments to Local
Governments
r No. 4. Historical Statistics on
Governmental Finances
and Employment
(3) Census of Agriculture (taken every 5 years);
beginning in 1982, will be taken in the same
year as the Economic Census):
Volume 1. Area Reports
(4) Census of Manufacturing (formerly taken every 5
years in years ending with 3 and 8; beginning
in 1967, taken every 5 years in years ending
with 2 and 7), published fit four series:
Number 1. Industry Series
Number 2. Area Series
Number 3. Subject Series
Number 4. Special Reports Series
(5) Census of Mineral Industries (formerly taken
every 5 years in years ending with 3 and 8;
beginning in 1907, taken every 5 years ending
with 2 and 7), published in three series:
Number 1. Series —
Number 2. Series

٠Ņ Number 3.- Subject Series (6) Census of Transportation (provides somewhat fragmentary information on shipper and commodity groups)

Each of the above publications has a variety of lim- itations, but together they provide the most comprehensive data available. Two particular problems⁴ are: (1) dates when census data are obtained; and (2) disclosure rules, which prevent the inclusion of information that might be identified with a particular firm. As an example of the first problem, some employment dia are a result of averaging and some are based on * a specific data. Census of Business data are for a work week including March 12 and the total year, whereas data from some other source may be for data at the beginning of a month. Such differences must be detected and the data adjusted for some point in time selected for the purposes of the study. Not all data collected by the Bureau of the Census are published. Unpublished data collected by the Bureau of the Census may be obtained at cost from the Bureau of the Census upon special request.

Many additional sources of data, information, and interpretation are available. The listing below is suggestive rather than exhaustive:

- (1) Publications from the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS), U.S. Department of Labor, provide State and area statistics on employment, earnings, unemployment, hours, and labor turnover. The bureau has published special volumes of interpretive research for specific purposes, and it also provides occupation projections through 1985 by Labor Market Area.
- (2) The Internal Revenue Service, U.S. Treasury, biennially (every other year) publishes statistics on income for individuals and corporations.
- (3) State employment security agencies or divisions are the best sources of information on employment by place of work by county. Such data are available at frequent intervals. They provide excellent data for the State and SMSA's use. The data cover all industries included by the employment compensation laws and include almost all employed persons except for the self-employed and domestics within the urban labor force. Valuable labor market information is presented in the Economic Series, beginning on p. 31 in chapter 3 of this Handbook.
- (4) State directories of manufacturing may be available on an annual basis.
- (5) The National Planning Association's (NPA) Center for Economic Projects conducts national sta-

PUBLISHED DATA

tistical studies and compilations and interprets the performance of sectors of the economy in the present and as projected into the near future. Those NPA publications that address the economy, industrial groups of the economy, and distributional trends are most useful.

- (6) Business registers and guides, often available for a metropolitan area or a part of a State, provide the number, location, employment, and products of firms, and may serve as a source for the selection of units for sampling. Two examples are *Polk's* and *Dunn and Bradstreet*.
- (7) The annual issue of Sales Management (usually the May issue), devoted to a "Survey of Buying

Power," provides data on purchasing power and expenditure patterns obtained for metropolitan areas.

- (8) Local planning agency studies, FHA housing market studies, contract studies for areas or regions, and local government agency studies may provide pertinent data.
- (9) The Survey of Current Business, a monthly journal published by the U.S. Department of Commerce, provides current information on general economic trends.
- (10) The Federal Reserve System Banks publish a variety of statistical reports and journals that may be of use in collecting economic data.

Summary of Industry Group Data Sources

The following list summarizes the most accessible sources for the information items on the community economy as given in chapter 3:

2.0101

3

Total Employment ⁴

For counties and SMSA's, the publication of the Bureau of Labor Statistics and/or a State's division of Employment Security. A basic problem with the census of population data is to adjust place of residence data and place of work data. It is necessary to subtract the number of people who live inside the community and work outside and to add the number who live outside the community and work inside.

02. 01 02

Payrolls

Obtainable from the economic census. Probably obtainable from a community's income tax office if there is a local income tax.

02, 01,03

02. 02 Of 08

02.02 01 09

Capital Investment

Summarized from the census reports of industrial groups.

Employment in Forestry

County Business Patterns.

Employment in Fisheries County Business Patterns.

02.02 01 01-99

Employment, by Industry Group

As for 02. 01 01 above.

02.02 01 20-39

Manufacturing

Employment by specific industry groups: as in 02. 02 11 01 below. Also from Bureau of Labor Statistics reports and State Divisions of Employment Security.

2.67

02. 02 01 72

56 *

· 02. 02 01 73

02. 02 04 01-99

Payrolls, by Industry Group

02: 02 09 01

02. 02:09.02

02. 02.09 03

02. 02 09 05

02. 02 09 06

02. 02 10 01

02. 02 11 01

-02. 02 11 02

02. 02 11 03

02. 02 12 03

As for 02. 01 02 above. Capital Investment by Industry group As for 02. 01 03 above. Number of Farms Census of Agriculture, Volume I. , Size Grouping of Farms As in 02. 02 09 01 above. Value of Agriculture Products (Including Livestock) As in 02. 02 09 01 above. Value of Farms As in 02. 02 09 01 above. _ Tenant Operated Farms As in 02. 02 09 01 above. Value of Minerals Produced Census of Mineral Industries, Industry Series. Manufacturing Establishments Number of establishments: Census of Manufacturing, Area Series. Value Added by Manufacturing As in 02. 02 11 01 above. Employment in Production Processes As in 02. 02 11 01 above. Wholesaling Establishments by Category Census of Business, Area Series.

Employment in Personal Services

As in 02. 02 01 72 above.

Census of Business, Subject and Area Series.

Employmént in Miscellaneous Business Services

Sales Volume by Category of Wholesale Commodity As in 02. 02 12 01 above.

68

·- ·- ·- ·

.

	Δ.		<i></i>
	-	· · · · · ·	
	• .	Retail Trade Establishments, by Category	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	• *	Census of Business, Area Series,	
• • 02. 02 13 02		Retail Sales Volume	,
	7	As in 02. 02 13 01 above.	
02. 02 13 03	``	Sales Volume, by Category of Retail Commodity	
· · ·	ŧ	As in 02. 02.13 01 above.	
02. 02 14 01	· • •	Bank Deposits	
	•	From annual statements of all community banks.	
02. 02 14 03	۴.	Bank Loans	

As in 02. 02 14 01 above.

Data Sources for Local Government and the Community Revenue Base for Schools

,Data in these categories can be obtained on an annual, basis. Each item usually can be obtained by briefly examining records of local government. In some cases, items are summarized in the annual report of the local government: Tax and assessed valuation data can also be obtained from the office of the treasurer(s) of the county(ies) within which the community is located.

Data Sources for the Economic Characteristics of the Population

The comprehensive Census of Population and Housing provides a firm statistical foundation at regular in tervals for the economic characteristics of the population. Detailed data are commonly available for counties and cities. Specifically detailed data in the following categories are available for counties, SMSA's, urbanized areas, and cities with a population of 10,000 or more:

- (1) Disposable income
- (2) Employment status (by sex)
- (3) Income of persons (by sex)
- (4) Industry group of employed (total and female)
- (5) Major occupational group of employed (by sex)°
- (6) Median earnings of selected occupation groups (by sex)
- (7) Occupation and industry 5 years ago.

(8) Place of work and means of transportation.
 Much greater detail is available for SMSA's with a population over 250,000:

- (1) Subject Reports, Series PC(2). Data on spe-
- cial subjects such as race religion, migration, and family income
- (2) Supplementary Reports, Series PC(S1). Provides data on poverty areas, city rank-size patterns, and the real growth of cities.
- (3) Statistical Abstract of the United States. An annual publication presenting current estimates and census-year-benchmark data on many of the concerns in economic studies, especially for large units such as States and SMSA's. This is the most useful publication for current data at the metropolitan, State, and national level.

Relatively little information is available in any detail for places with population of less than 10,000 except for census tract reports within the SMSA.

Two problems are inherent in the census material on the economic characteristics of the population: (1) Precise survey results are obtained infrequently, which requires methods to estimate intercensal year data or surveys to update census information; (2) Few data are available for smaller places, especially those under 2,500 in population. A useful source of general data

DJ.

for smaller communities is the Municipal Year Book, published by the International City Managers' Association.

Only two of the information items on the economic characteristics of the population are not available from the Census of Population and Housing. The insured labor force is reported by a State's employment security agency and is available upon request. Disposable income is most readily obtained either through the speclal issue of *Sales Management* devoted to a "Survey of Buying Power" or by assuming take-home pay to be a certain percentage (perhaps 75-80 percent) of family income.

See appendix H for further details on census publications and materials.

LAND USE

Data for the study of community land use patterns. are likely to be available from a variety of sources. Land use data are collected by local agencies in most cases, as the following indicates:

- (1) The mapping, coding, and overall processing of land use will be a function of the local planning agency (town, city, regional, or county). All information relative to zoning will come from this agency: the master plan, nonconforming uses, the delimitation of blighted areas, and the data appropriate to the development of land consumption rates. Such agencies may have developed population distribution and density data that will assist in completing the portrait of the overall land use pattern and its consequences.
- (2) The Sanborn Map Company of Pelham, New York, maps many communities with regard to the interests of insurance companies, real estate firms, and banks and other lending institutions. Such maps provide data on land parcel size as well as qualitative information about structures, and can assist in the determination of land use and local tax maps.
- (3) Population data can be acquired from the Census of Population. If the data are given for census tracts and blocks, this will be a particularly useful source. The smaller units provide a base

for aggregating data in accordance with a school district and school attendance areas.

- (4) Site characteristics data must be obtained either by an examination of the appropriate maps ob-
- tained from the planning agency or by a survey. Topographic features can be determined from a U.S. Geological Survey topographic sheet, and site values can be obtained through an appraisal firm or local real estate agencies.
- (5) Most needed information on transportation can be acquired from the public of private transportation company(ies) operating in the school district.

It is apparent that much of the needed information is readily available. It is probable that land use data for each individual community have been developed and stored in slightly different ways. This needs to be kept in mind when using data available from local planning agencies in research. The listing of data items in chapter 3 is consistent with the standardized land use and coding system that communities are being encouraged to adopt by the Federal government. The system is described in the publication of the U.S. Urban Renewal Administration and Bureau of Public Roads, *Standard Land Use Coding Manual* (Washington: The Bureau of the Public Roads, 1965).

See chapter 7, Site and Transportation Plans, for afurther discussion of land use.

DATA SOURCES ON SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND DYNAMICS

Data about a community's social structure and dynamics usually are buried in the aggregate data for larger units such as metropolitan areas or States. Most data on the social structure and dynamics of a community must be collected locally, a situation that requires retrieval and systematic use of data available in various private and public agencies.

Data about the local community may be available from local, regional, or State planning agencies; social service agencies; or local universities. It is important to identify the community data that are necessary for decisionmaking, but which cannot be gathered from the sources cited in this chapter. Chapter 5 can be used to identify local sources of data that are still required.

Chapter 5

OBTAINING AVAILABLE COMMUNITY INFORMATION FROM STATE AND LOCAL SOURCES

INTRODUCTION

This chapter provides the researcher with suggested sources for finding data that are not systematically collected by local sources. Note, however, that collecting data is only the beginning of an understanding of community dynamics. The school planner must also become sensitive to the interrelationships of community elements.

Three issues are involved in initiating data collection at the local level: (1) kinds of data to collect, (2) sources of desired data, and (3) methods to be used in collecting the data. The first two of these issues are addressed in this chapter. Chapter 6 addresses the third.

While there is usually a wide range of available data concerning population, economy, land use, and transportation in the community, there are often significant gaps in the data needed by the user. For example, data. on major ethnic groups or the number of local political

Public Sources

Bureau of State Employment Security Agency

City/County/State Highway and Traffic Safety

City/County/Regional/State Planning Agency organizations are often limited or nonexistent. Frequently, the community must rely on its own resourcefulness to find such data. Fortunately such sources may have to be located only once to become a permanent part of the system; therefore concerted initial effort to locate local data sources will prove most useful over a period of time.

This chapter provides suggested sources for finding such data and suggests a set of questions about areas that should be investigated.

DATA GATHERED BY OTHER ORGANIZATIONS AND AGENCIES

Most community organizations and agencies collect community data for their own purposes. Examples of interest to school districts are listed below:

Selected Examples of Kinds of Data Available

Job opportunity statistics . Unemployment statistics

Traffic patterns, present and future

Demographic information, such as size and locations of aging population

Public Sources Selected Examples of Kinds of Data Available, City/County/Regional/State Planning Agency-Continued Economic. Housing Land Socioeconomic Transportation City/County Zoning . Codes on residential, industrial, and business development City or County Health Health services statistics Department Department of Finance and Taxation Property tax statistics Tax base Tax levies Fire Department High risk areas Local and State Courts Juvenile delinquency rates Other court records. Motor Vehicles Registrar Number of automobiles Newspapers Active informal and formal organizations Newspaper files People of influence · Police Crime statistics Postsecondary Education Community college enrollment and courses offéred Technical institute enrollment and courses offered Public Libraries Lists of community organizations Recreation and Parks Profile of community users. State Department of Education Average class size . Average teacher and superintendent salaries Seasonal workers' children Test results Private and Industrial Sources Selected Examples of Kinds of Data Available Banks^{*}. Mortgage disclosure by census tract or ZIP code

60

AVAILABLE INFORMATION FROM STATE AND LOCAL SOURCES

Private and Industrial Sources

Industrial and Utility

Companies.

Local Transit Company or Authority

Other Education

United Way Agencies

LIMITATIONS OF U.S. BUREAU OF CENSUS RECORDS AS A SOURCE OF LOCAL DATA

Census sources for population and economic data are usually the easiest to find and use. There are, however, several reasons why such data may not necessarily be the best to use: (1) census data become outdated rather quickly, (2) in areas of rapid population change, the data may begin to lose their usefulness within a year or two after the census reports are published, and (3) even in relatively stable populations, 10 years may be too long to rely on a statistical portrait that has not been updated. A full or modified census is scheduled to be taken every 5 years after each decennial census.

Local data sometimes can be used to find discrepancies or changes in census data. In some local areas, school censuses and records, tax records, or utility records can provide recent data on population characteristics and school enrollment. These data can be used to update or correct the census data before more recent local data are used.*

Depository Libraries are also sources of census information. (See appendix H.)

* See A Guide to the Literature, appendix J, Shryock and Siegel's book. The Methods and Materials of Demography.

Selected Examples of Kinds of Data Available

Economic trends Potential industrial development Tourism

Community profiles Projections of population growth and industrial tlevelopment

Commuter patterns City inmigration and outmigration

Private business college enrollment and courses offered Private elementary and secondary school enrollment

-Information and referral List of community social service organizations

DATA ON MIGRANTS

Communities in which migrant workers are employed have a special problem obtaining accurate forecasts for both migrant children and adults who may require services. Weather conditions, pricing of various crops, wage rates, and general economic conditions all affect the flow of migrant workers, and increase the unpredictability of that population. Several local, State, and Federal agencies cooperate in attempting to monitor the flow of migrants. These agencies include the U.S. Department of Labor; Agriculture; Health, Education, and Welfare; and their State and local offices.

The State department of education in a State having significant seasonal migrations is a source of data for planning programs for school-age children. An additional source for tracking the circulation of individuals from school to school is:

> The Migrant Student Record Transfer System Arch Ford Education Building Arkansas Department of Education Little Rock, Arkansas 72201 (501) 371-1857.

LOCAL SCHOOL CENSUSES AS A SOURCE OF INFORMATION

While it is true that all data, including Federal census data, are collected locally, the distinction between material discussed in this chapter and that in previous chapters lies in what agency initiates collection. Federal census data collection is initiated at the national level. Collection of data referred to in this chapter is initiated locally.

The most important part of a school's demographic study of a community is the set of data that pertain to the nature and number of pupils who will be in attendance during the foreseeable future. Not only are such data generally required by law, but it is also necessary in financing, program planning, and reporting in such areas as instruction, guidance, curriculum, finance, facilities, staffing, and general decisionmaking.

Since the 1940^{*}s, States have tended to require some type of annual school census. Methods as well as the degree of accuracy vary greatly.

'A school-authorized census is important. When a school census is conducted it depends on such factors as the size and growth rate of the community, applicable State laws, past experience, and similar enumerative activities conducted by other community agencies, such as utility companies and the Chamber of Commerce. The enumeration can be periodic, continuous, or a combination of both. It can be conducted by trained volunteers, temporary employees, another community group, or a team of specialists.

The Periodic Census

School districts using the periodic approach typically gather certain data each spring to assist in preparing for the following year. In some communities with relatively static populations, enumeration may occur every second or third year, or every 5 to 10 years. If the data gathered are minimal and/or if the ehumeration is not annual, some of the elements of the continuous census should be employed to insure that data are still valid.

The Continuous Census

Many school districts maintain a continuous census of the school-age population, and some include an enumeration of preschool children. Methods vary greatly in using the continuous census. Usually periodic census data are supplemented by population indices gathered regularly from such sources as hospitals, utility companies, construction firms, real estate agencies, "welcome-wagon" groups, and neighborhood representatives or parent-teacher organizations.

To conduct a continuous census, the schools and the enumerators should have a clear understanding of the types of information desired; enumerators should be well trained; and commercialism should be avoided. Summary reports prepared by the school should be part of the public domain.

Some Elements of a School Census

The kinds of data that might be desired in a school census are:

(1) Family:

- (a) Current elementary/secondary school attended
 - (b) Father's name
 - (c) Mother's name
 - (d) Guardian's name
 - (e) Single-family or multiple-family home
- (f) Length of residence in district
- (g) Place of previous residence

(2) Children who are in school:

- (a) Name
- (b) Sex
- (c) Birth date
- (d) Age
- (e) Grade in school
- (f) School age and, if not attending school, the reason
- (g) Language spoken if other than English
- (3) Preschool:
 - (a) Name
 - (b) Sex
 - (c) Birth date
 - (d) School likely to attend

HOUSING AUTHORITIES AS A SOURCE OF LOCAL DATA

The best sources of housing data for communities include the city, county, or regional planning agencies, the zoning office, the tax assessor's office, saving and loan associations, and mobile home dealers. Each has a need to know about housing and should be able to provide useful data.
AVAILABLE INFORMATION FROM STATE AND LOCAL SOURCES

VITAL STATISTICS AS A SOURCE OF LOCAL INFORMATION

Data on vital statistics, such as births, deaths, marriages, and divorces, are collected at the local level. Because all national data are accumulated from these local reports, local sources of vital statistics provide probably the best and the most accurate data.

Figure 5-1a and 5-1b show the flow of information on births, deaths, marriages, and divorces and lists resonable persons or agencies from which data can be obtained. Vital statistics are difficult to collect for areas smaller than city or county:

LOCAL SOURCES OF ECONOMIC DATA

As noted earlier, the basic problems with census data and data from other standard sources are: (1) they may be dated by the time they become available, and (2) they may also be incomplete in their coverage. Alternative sources for economic data are frequently necessary. Such agencies as the chambers of commerce and business and industrial development agencies are good sources of data.

Data on the Economy

Two principal means for collecting data on the economy are-suggested. The first uses continuing data from major enonomic units and appropriate public offices to maintain a current set of key data items. Items listed in chapter 3 are summary data that will allow confidentiality to be maintained without the possibility of disclosing details that can be related to any individual economic unit. The development of a continuous data input system should be flexible enough to allow for a flow of opinions on economic development possibilities that will give decisionmakers a foundation for anticipating future economic changes.

The second means utilizes periodic surveys that focus specifically on data items and an assessment of the potential for change in each of the individual industry groups.

Data on the Economic Characteristics of the Population

Two possible means of acquiring and maintaining data on the economic characteristics of the population are suggested. The first means uses the economic development plan and other published data available from local and regional planning offices, private industries, public utilities, and other agencies. Most State departments of employment security publish a series of reports on county-employment, unemployment, weekly earnings, and other labor market data, and include summaries for the State as a whole.

The second means is to expand the traditional school census or conduct special surveys to update those data items that would be more current than census data. Extreme caution must be exercised with respect to the data requested and how they are solicited. Local surveys are both time consuming and expensive, but may be the only viable means of acquiring the necessary data.

Questions to Consider on Economic Characteristics

Some key questions to be considered in understanding the community include:

- Is there an effective development group working to expand the local economy (e.g., the Chamber of Commerce or Community Development Corporation? Is this group collecting data that may be appropriate to an economic study?
- (2) What economic development goals have been established for the community by the local development group, by local government, by citizens groups, or others?
- (3) Has an economic development program been created for the community?
- (4) What are the community's assets for attracting new economic activity (e.g., skilled labor, available buildings and/or sites, generally desirable living situation)?
- (5) What are the community's negative characteristics with respect to attracting economic activity (e.g., tight labor market, a location inaccessible to markets, overburdened utilities, etc.)?
- (6) Is there serious labor-management conflict in the community?

~

. Figure 5-1a. General pattern of vital statistics registration in the United

THE VITAL STATISTICS

				•
	RESPONSIBLE PERSON OR PERSON OR	BIRTH CERTIFICATE	OEATH CERTIFICATE	• FETAL DEATH CERTIFICATE • (Stillburth)
	Hospital Authority	1 Completes series certificate in consultation with performed and the series of the series of the series of the series of the series of the per State law,	When death occurs in hoppital may initiate preparation of certificate Completes name, date of death, and place of death information, obtains certification of cause of death from physician, and grids cer- tificate to funeral director	1 Completes entre report in consultation with parents(s) 2 Obtains cause of death from physiciah 3. rObtains authorization for edisposition of fetue.
	·····			4 Files report with local office or State office, per State law
		-	1. Obteins personal facts about decedent and com- pletes certificate.	If fetus is to be buried, the funeral director is responsible for obtaining the authoriza-
ð	Funeral Director	•	2 Obtains certification of cause of death from phy- sician or medical exam- iner or coroner;»	NOTE. In some States the funeral director, or person acting as such, is responsible for all dutes shown above
1	• • •	5.7	 3 Obtains authorization for disposition, per State law 	under hospital authority
	, * , ~		4. Files certificate with local office or State office, per State law	,
	Professional Attendant	Verifies accuracy of medical information and signs certificate	Completes certification of cause of death and signs certificata	Provides cause of fêtal death information
	.ocal Office" (may be	Verifies compléteness and accuracy of certificate and queries incomplete-or in consistent certificates 2 "Iffauthorized, makes copy	Verifies completeness and accuracy of certificate and queries incomplete or in- consistent certificates, 2 If authorized, makes.copy	If State law requires routing of fetal death reports through local office, the local office will perform the same func- tions as shown for the death certificate.
° 0 0	r County Health De- errment)	 For index for local use Sends certificates to State registrar 	 or index for local use If authorized by State taw, issues authorization for dis- position upon receipt of completed certificate, 	
	·	• '	4 Sends certificates to State registrar	
	, City and county hi services, followups ductivity research str	ealth departments use data derived on infectious diseases, planning p idies	d from these records in allocating a sograms, measuring effectiveness of	medical and nursing
		1. Queries incomplete or inconsi 2. Maintains files for permanent	stent information reference and es the source of cert	ified copies.
6 0 - S1	tany Registrar,	 1 - Divelops stal statistics for us health activities and for researched to the statist Compiles health-related statist partment and other agencies a 	r in planning, evaluating, and admi chatudies ics for State and civil divisions of S nd groups interested in the fulle o	nistering State and local
Ľ	•	health, demography, and socia 5 Sends copies of records or dat. Statistics.	a derived from records to the Natio	onal Center for Health
		1. Prepares and publishes national official U.S. life tables and rela	I statistics of briths, deaths, and te	tal deaths, and constructs the
1 60	rvice-Național	2. Conducts health and social-resi 21/2 Red to records.	earch stadies based on vital records	and on sampling surveys
Se	inter for Health			<u>'</u>
St Ct St	nter for Health atistics 4 / •	3 Conducts research and method cal, administrative, and legal as	lological studies in vital statistics m pects of vital records registration a	ethods including the techni- ind administration

SOURCE: Hospital Handbook on Birth Registration and Fetal Death Reporting, U.S. Depart-mont of Health, Education, and Welfare, Public Health Service, National Center for Health Statistics, Hyattsville, Md.: February 1978.

Figure 5-1b. General pattern of vital statistics registration in the United States, by marriage and divorce

Marriage Registration System in the United States

Divorce Registration System in the United States

Responsible Person or Agency	Narriage Certificate						
County Clerk or Other Local Official	 Receives application for marriage license, and review application for completeness, ac- curacy, and compliance with State marriage lawy. Issues marriage license and records date. Checks completeness of entries about the marriage ceremony when license and cer- gificate are returned by the officiant. Sphots specified information or records re- yance marriage to State registrar. 						
Marriage Officiant	1. Checks the validity of the marriage license. 2. Performs the marriage ceremony 3. Certifies to the facts of the marriage ceremony. 4. Returns the records of marriage to the county clerk within the legally prescribed time.						
State Régistrar, Office of Vital Statistics	 Queries incomplete or inconsistent information Maintains files for permanent reference and as the source of certified copies. Develops statistics for use in planning, evaluating, and administering State and local health activities and for research studies. Complies health-related statistics for State and civil divisions of State for use of the health department and other agencies and groups interested in the fields of medical science, public health, demography, and social welfare. Sends copies of records or data derived from records to the National Center for Health Statistics. 						
Public Health Service, National Center for Health Statistics	 Prepares and publishes national statistics of marriages and divorces. Conducts health and social research studies based on marriage records and on surveys linked to/records. Conducts research and methodological studies in marriage and divorce statistical methods including the technical, admini- ristrative, and legal aspects of marriage record registration and administration. Maintains a continuing technical as- sistance program to improve the quality and usefulness of marriage statistics. 						

National Center for Health Statistics, Hyattsville, Md.: February 1978

77

Responsible erson or Agency	Divorce Certificate
torney for Petitioner	 Obtains the required personal data from the petitioner and completes the divorce reporting form. Submits the reporting form to the clerk of court.
erk of Court	 Receives the completed reporting form and checks for completeness and consistency. Completes the items relating to the decree when the final decree of divorce is granted. Signs and forwards the completed divorce reporting form to the State office of vital statistics.
dge • •	1. Verifies that the information necessary to complete the reporting form has been provided to the clerk of court by the attorneys or divorcing parties, before the decree is granted.
te gistrar, ice of al Statistics	 Queries incomplete or inconsistent information. Maintains files for permanent reference and as the source of certified copies. Develops statistics for use in planning, evaluating, and ad- ministering State and local health activities and for re- search studies. Compiles health-related statistics for State and civil divi- sions of State for use of the health department and other agencies⁹ and groups interested in the fields of medical science, public health, demography, and social welfare. Sends copies of records or data derived from records to the National Center for Health Statistics.
lic Health vice, National nter for Health . tistics	 Prepares and publishes national statistics of marriages and divorces. Conducts health and social research studies based on divorce records and on surveys linked to records. Conducts research and methodological studies in marriage and divorce statistics methods including the technical, ad- ministrative, and legal aspects of divorce record regis- tration and administration. Maintains a continuing technical assistance program to im- prove the quality and usefulness of divorce statistics.

SOURCE: Handbook on Divorce Registration, U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Public Health Service, National Center for Health Statistics, Hyattsville, Md.: February 1978 AVAILABLE INFORMATION FROM STATE AND LOCAL SOURCES

LAND USE AND COMMUNITY RESOURCES DATA

If local agencies are unable to provide essential data on land use, they must be collected through surveys. Surveys can be constructed to provide direct land use, data, land development probabilities, and data for school and other transportation needs. (See chapter 7 for further discussion of school transportation.)

Some or all of the following steps may be necessary:

- Acquire base maps of the community from the town, city, or county engineer's office. Essential land parcel maps will be provided by the engineer's office or the auditor or treasurer's office.
- (2) Compile data on the physical geography of the community from United States Geological Survey topographic maps. Maps may also be purchased from the Bureau of the Census.
- (3) Conduct a land use survey utilizing a coding system: (This can be an expensive collection process.)
- (4) Conduct land value and assessed valuation studies in order to understand the base for property tax revenues and the likely consequences of change as the community grows larger.
- (5) Conduct population studies in order to map the total population by age and sex and by such small units as the attendance areas of K-6 and K-8 schools.
- (6) Analyze all governmental control mechanisms on land use development through a study of the master plan and all other plans, subdivision ordinances, housing and building codés, and annexations.
- (7) Maintain a record of building permits and demolitions issued annually by the appropriate local governmental agency.
- (8) Inventory the development potential of the community through interviews with government officials, real estate brokers, development groups, and leaders in the community's larger economic enterprises.
- (9) Make a detailed study of the data items given
- m chapter 3 for each prospective school acquisition site.
- (10) Analysis land use changes, land consumption patter used other major measures of an area's land applied is particularly important to have data on plans for city or regional water and sewage systems and proposed transportation

system changes. Each one of these factors may
 have an important effect on land use and the distribution of school population, and each should be the subject of data collection effort.

, It is likely that the schools will have to collect only a few of the needed data. The most difficult data to obtain from existing sources are detailed population distributions by small areas. Yet such studies are, of course, quite important in school planning.

SOURCES OF INFORMATION ON SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND DYNAMICS OF A COMMUNITY

The planner should make a special effort to understand the social structure and dynamics of a community and the attitudes, values, and beliefs of tis residents. These are often crucial to the success of planning. The planner should be aware of the sometimes formidable complexity of interrelationships between informal and formal community organizations.

Data relating to community social structure, dynamics, attitudes, and understandings are not as concrete as data discussed elsewhere in this Handbook. They are both difficult to define and difficult to measure. Yet there are several direct methods of collecting useful data, including face-to-face communication.

The most useful face-to-face techniques are focused interviews and group interviews. Focused interviews explore people's reactions to a specific event or situation. Group interviews allow several individuals to interact about specific issues. In either case, the individual's predispositions can be observed and recorded. (See chapter 6 for a more complete discussion of survey techniques.)

Questions to Consider Regarding ' Social Structure and Dynamics

Answers to the following questions will help in understanding the community:

- (1) What overlap is there among administrative or political jurisdictions?
- (2). To what extent do major issues tend to polarize the community?
- (3) To what extent is the community's business and industry locally owned and operated?
- (4) To what extent can area residents satisfy all their needs within the community?
- (5) To what extent is the community rich or poor

AVAILABLE INFORMATION FROM STATE AND LOCAL SOURCES

with respect to educational, cultural, and recreational resources?

١

- (6) To what extent do residents work as well as live in the community?
- (7) To what extent are there other internally or externally produced social tensions?
- (8) What formal or informal structures exist for managing social tension?
- (9) Is the area relatively homogeneous, or is there a wide variety of racial, ethnic, and/or interest groups?
- (10) To what extent does religious preference among the members of the community affect educational planning?
- (11) To what extent does a feeling of identity exist within the school attendance areas or neighborhoods?
- (12) To what extent do school athletic teams serve 'as a focus for community identity?
- (13) To what extent do school interest groups serve as a focus for community identity, e.g., drama clubs, scholar clubs?

Questions to Consider in Collecting Political Data

Political and economic characteristics are important in understanding the power structure of the community and the reasons behind some issues receiving more attention than others, the failure of levies in the community, and the influence of specific community groups.

A basic understanding of the political dynamics of the community requires a knowledge of its formal political structure (e.g., the different branches of government). While the formal power structure is only part of the total system of influence, it does affect education decisionmaking. Persons in positions of authority in business, finance, industrial, and other nongovernmental organizations are usually sources of informal influence in the political sphere.

Voting returns provide some basic data for understanding the dynamics of the community. High voter registration and high voter turnout for presidential and congressional elections may indicate a highly motivated and well-informed electorate. The returns for offyear (nonpresidential) congressional elections will give the best indication of party affiliations of the community. Only the most loyal party members usually vote in these elections. Analyzing the vote on school levies or bond issues may help identify those areas of the community where opposition to current educational policies is centered.

Answers to the following questions will help in un⁹ derstanding the community:

(1) What is the nature of the city charter?

- (2) What is the formal organizational structure of the government?
- (3) What degree of home rule exists?
- (4) What is the type of local government, e.g., mayor-council, etc.?
- (5) Are elections for local officials nonpartisan?
- (6) On what issues did the U.S. Representative in the congressional district take a stand? What position did the Representative's opponent take on these issues? (Ask the same question about State legislators.)
- (7) To what extent can the general citizenry be characterized as apathetic or active politically?
- (8) To what extent is there one small group of individuals who appear to participate more than the rest of the members of the community, or do many diverse elements of the communityparticipate in most decisions?"
- (9) To what extent do community decisions tend to favor particular population segments at the
 expense of others?
- (10) Is there evidence of indirect control of community decisions by persons other than elected officials?
- (11) To what extent does the community turn out for city council meetings, school board meetings, or planning council meetings?
- (12) To what extent do neighborhood action groups participate in decisionmaking?
- (13) Do certain segments of the population seem to be omitted from the decisionmaking process? Who afe they?
- (14) How large a percentage of citizens vote in offyear and local elections?

Questions to Consider in Collecting Data About Local Organizations

The characteristics of organizations in a community require an approach that considers the interdependencies and interrelationships within the community. No single power structure may exist in a community: several power coalitions may appear or disappear as issues change. A continual study of organizations, their relationships to each other, and their relative influence on public issues is needed.

Churches

5.4

(11) Religious

The following list is suggestive of both informal and formal organizations that may, exist within the community:

formal organizations th	hat may exict within the same		
munity:	at may, exist within the com-	organizations	Service groups such as Church Women United
÷-	-	Ϋ́,	Synagogues
(1) Ad hoc	School levy groups	(12) Service clubs	American Association of
committees,	· •		American Association of
	e '		University Women
(2) Cultural groups	Drome clube		Chamber of Commerce T
	Drama clubs		Jaycees .
•	Garden clubs	۰.	Kiwanis
1	Literary groups		Rotary
-	Music groups	/	Lions
(3) Fraternal and	Lodges such as Elks.	(13) Social service	Alcoholismagencies
sororal	Fagles		
organizations	Masonic orders	agencies	Cooperative nurseries
, Giganizations	Behaviore officers		Counseling agencies
•	Rebeccas		Drug abuse agencies
(4) Governmental	Housing groups	•	Family planning agencies
organizations .	Law enforcement groups	٠	Foster parents agencies
1	Regional planning groups	(14) Unions 🥻 🦉	AFL-CIO
(5) Interest groups	Common Cause		Teacher unions
(5) interest groups,			United Auto Workers
national	Environmental groups	(15) Youth groups	4-H groups
	Farm organizations	() - couri Broups	Girl Scouts and Dou
,	National Council of	_ / 、	OIII Scouls and Boy .
Ť	Senior Citizens		Scouts
	, National Organization for	¢ •	Future Farmers of
•	Women	•	America
	National Rifle	Answers to the followi	ng questions will help in un-
	Association	derstanding the communit	ty:
(6) Older persons	Association of Retired	(1) To what extent is	s the nonulation involved in
clubs	Persons	community organi	izations?
	Senior citizens centers	(2) To what extent d	o formal anaphinetians wish
(7) Patriatia			the community?
(7) Fathotic	American Legion and	(2) When the second sec	the community?
organizations	VFW	(5) what proportion	of formal organizations are
	Sons and Daughters of	age-specific—serv	ing youth, adults, or older
	the American	people exclusively	?
	Revolution	(4) From what group	s are local political leaders 🐨
(8) Political groups	Nonnartisan such as	drawn?	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
* () 1 <u>B-oubo</u>	League of Women	(5) Are ethnic and o	ther special interest groups
	Veters	represented in leg	islative and advisory bodies
A A	V OICEIS	in numbers that re	flect their proportion of the
•	Partisan, such as	total nonulation?	· · · ·
	Democratic or	(6) To what degree is	hore de facte residential es-
	Republican parties 🗸	(0) TO what degree is	ulere de l'acto residential seg-
(9) Professional	Business and	Tegation by race of	r etnnic group?
organizations	Professional Women	(7) To what extent are	ethnic and/or special interest
;-8	Education associations	groups represented	on major service boards and
• `_	Engineering engelieties	in service organization	ations in proportion to their
· ·	Lingmeeting associations	numbers in the pop	pulation?
	Law associations	(8) What appears to be	the influence of the follow-
	Medical associations	ing groups in parti	cular decisionmaking areas?
(10) Racial and ethnic	LaRaza Unita	(a) Bankers	•
groups	NAACP	(b) Elected legisla	tors
4 0r-	Sons of Italy	(c) Elected registe	al administratour
3 7	Source of the second se	(c) Elected politic	ai auministrators
IC · ·	•		` ,
	•	01	

ILABLE INFORMATION FROM STATE AND LOCAL SOURCES

- (d) Exclusive clubs List of programs and services in the community: (e) Local entrepreneurs (a) Blood banks (f) Major industries or businesses (b) Civic beautification (g) Professional organizations (c) Conservation (h) Prominent families (d) Day care (i) Racial and ethnic groups (e) Employment (j) Real estate brokers (f) Housing apartment rentals, housing inspec (k) Service organizations tion (1) Students (m) Wealthy chizens (9) Do women play an active role in the above groups? 10) To what extent can formal organizations be used as a means for communication? 1) To what extent can the various friendship groups in the community be identified (e.g., who plays bridge or golf with whom; who visits whom)? (12)' To what extent are there formal organizations devoted to citizen participation in planning? At • what level of participation do they function? (13) To what extent are school facilities used by a community groups? For what types of proabuse) grams 5. Drug abuse **COMMUNITY RESOURCES AND** SERVICES AS SOURCES OF (j) Recreation LOCAL DATA An inventory of the resources and services in a com-2. The blind Criminals munity can help in assessing both community strengths The deaf and the weaknesses. The following lists may be use in the preparation of such an inventory: (1) List of resources in the community: (a) Churches (b) Church-owned facilities (c) Civic center (d) Commercial recreation facilities (e) Communications media (f) Crisis agencies (g) Dental clinics 4. Older persons (h) Family counseling agencies 5. The unemployed (i) Hospitals and medical clinics (j) Libraries (k) Mental health clinics (l) Museums (m) Nursing homes and convalescent centers Answers to the following questions will help in u (n) Philanthropic foundations
 - (o) Public parks or historic sites
 - (p) Public recreational facilities
 - (q) Transit systems

derstanding the community: (1) To what extent are services provided exclusive for youth, adults, and older people?

- Health treatment programs and services for: 1. Children 2. Dental care 3. First aid 4. General health 5. Mental health care 6. Older persons 7. Public health Law enforcement Prevention programs and service's for: 1. Accidents 2. Alcoholism
- 3. Crime and juvenile delinquency.
- 4. Domestic violence (includes child/spouse
- Planned parenthood
- 7. Pregnancy
- (k) Rehabilitation programs and services for
 - 1. Alcoholics

 - 5. The disabled and handicapped
 - 6. Drug abusers
- 7. Juvenile delinquents
- 8. The mentally ill
- 9. Older persons
- (1) Social Services for
 - 1. Dependent children
 - 2. The disabled or handicapped
 - 3. Families under stress

Questions to Consider in Using **Community Resources**

- (2) Does the community favor public responsibility for community services?
- (3) In terms of public resources, is it a rich or poor community?
- (4) Is there a positive process government charged with responsibility for proceeding in the following areas?
 - (a) Delinquency prevention
 - (b) Health ·
 - (c); Recreation
 - (d)[§] Welfare

MASS MEDIA AS A SOURCE OF LOCAL DATA

Mass media are often overlooked as a source of community data, but newspapers, particularly local papers, , can be valid sources of information. For example, a single issue of a small-town weekly in the Midwest contained the names of 9 local political and governmental officials, State and Federal legislative representatives of the area, 5 local ministers, 10 ranking, officials, the newpaper editor, 11 separate governmental agencies, 16 voluntary associations, 5 special interest (farm) groups, 6 churches and the 3 major employers in the area. Of course not all local newspapers portray community structure this completely.

The effectiveness of local publications as a data' source depends on several factors: (1) Newspapers sometimes concentrate on State and national news rather than on local news; (2) newspapers are sometimes biased in their presentations, although these biases are usually obvious to those acquainted with the community: and (3) newspapers as a source of data, particularly about community organizations and voluntary associations, can be affected by the size of the circulation area. (The larger the circulation area, the more spotty the local news is likely to be, particularly in identifying influential leaders and organizations.)

Newspapers are a fundamental source of community data. Most local newspapers maintain a modest community data base and a historical record in back issues that they are willing to share. Newspaper people generally know a great deal about what goes on in the community and tend to view the community from a broader perspective than the average citizen. Therefore, they are excellent data sources.

The press has some impact on attitudes and opinions of parents, board members, staff, pupils, and voters in general. Objective greatment of the schools by the press is of concern because newspaper editorials can frequently influence undecided voters.

Television and radio as community data sources are usually inferior to newspapers. Newspapers print hundreds of words for every one word that is heard over radio or television. Information detail is greater in written communication than in the more transitory electronic broadcasts. Television and radio stations, however, have often developed a magazine format to convey information in detail to correct this situation.

The media are required to devote a percentage of free time to community interests. Schools can claim this free service to conduct a community survey or to report the results of a survey.

School administrators and citizen's concerned with education policy should become familiar with the circulation, audiences, and impact of mass media on the community. Questions can be answered by use of the survey techniques described in chapter 6, or media sources can answer them directly.

Questions to Consider in the Use of Mass Media

Answers to the following questions will help in understanding the community:

- (1) To what extent do local newspapers report ed ucation news?
- (2) What has been the ratio of favorable-to unfavorable editorials concerning education?.
- (3) To what extent do the schools prepare press releases for distribution to the mass media?
- (4) What are the major educational issues raised in editorials or letters to the editor?
- (5) To what extent can the media be used as a means of communicating education information to the public and receiving feedback?
- (6) What are the informal channels of communication in the community?
- (7) Who are the opinion-forming leaders in the community? How do they receive news about the community?
- (8) What are the prime obstacles to good communication within the community? How can these be overcome? What resources are available for this purpose?

(9) What is the established policy of the school administration with respect to release of educational news? Is the policy understood and approved by representatives of the mass media?

AVAILABLE INFORMATION FROM STATE AND LOCAL SOURCES

COMMUNITY RESIDENTS AS A SOURCE OF DATA

Leaders in the community tend to be excellent sources. of data, particularly concerning the social structure and dynamics areas of community life.

Education decisions are not always viewed as related to the politics, economy, and history of the local area. School leaders may be viewed as nonmembers of the community, and can have difficulty in gaining access to the information, possessed by community leaders.

Community leaders are a good source in the quest for local data sources. A preliminary screening question might be: "What-local official leader of private" citizen in a community has probably had to find this ' item of data before?"

Older residents may be important resources for understanding the history of concerns in the community. Often it is important to know whether issues of present concern have appeared before, what solutions were proposed, and who the participants were. Sometimes, long histories of animosities block intelligent planning processes. Among the data sources for such information might be local historical museum curators and face-to-face surveys with older people who held influential positions in the past. Tapping such sources may also uncover additional individual resources.

Informal networks of community leaders can provide clues to who may have data pertinent to community problems. Where suburbs have been carved from farmlands under smaller and more informal governments, the history of drainage areas, aquafers (water bearing strata of permeable rock, sand, or gravel), and previous land use policies on attempts to change them may be known only by a few residents.

The following list suggests potential sources of community information:

- (It should be pointed out that many of these potential sources may be unwilling to give information, of they may be legally or ethically prohibited from doing so.)
- (1) Administrative officials of the city
- (2) Automobile dealers
- (3) Bankers
- (4) Clergy
- (5) Consumer group leaders
- (6) Ethnic leaders
- (7) Farmers
- (8) Industrialists
- (9) Leaders of school parents organizations
- (10) League of Women Voters

 (11) Members of elected boards (planning, zoning, city council)

71

- (12) Minority leaders
- (13) Officials of political parties
- (14) Older citizens
- (15) Politicians
- (16) Present and former members of city council
- (17) Professional persons such as lawyers, doctors social workers, educators
- (18) Real estate brokers
- (19) School board members
- (20) Support personnel (secretaries, custodians)
- (21) Teacher organization officers
- (22) Union officers
- (23) Youth and youth leaders

Questions to Consider in Collecting Data from Local Leaders

Answers to the following questions will help in understanding the community:

Political Questions

- (1) What overlap is there among administrative or
- political jurisdictions?
- (2) How strong is the party system locally?
- (3)" From what groups are local political leaders drawn?
- (4) Are legislatures elected by wards or precincts or 1 at large?
- (5) Is there active participation by local jurisdictions in a regional planning-agency?

Questions to be Asked of a Professional Educator

- (1) Is the school board elected or appointed? If appointed, by whom?
- (2) What is the legal description of the school district?
- (3) What is the legal relationship to other local government units and to the State?
- (4) To what extent is the school district fiscally independent?
- (5) To what extent are school revenues subject-to ' popular approval?
- (6) What is the trend in popular support of school. finance issues in each precinct?
- (7) Are ethnic and other interest groups represented

on the school board in numbers that reflect their proportion in the population?

(8) What formal organizations wield political power in the community?

General Questions

- (1) To what extent is community business and industry locally owned and operated?
- (2) What are the major issues, if any, that tend to polarize the community?
- (3) To what extent are there serious social tensions, either locally based or coming from outside?
- (4) To what extent does the community tend to be liberal/conservative on finance questions, social issues, etc.?
- (5)' What is the relationship of the community to the school district? (Smaller than, larger than, or same size as?)
- (6) Who are the opinion-forming leaders in the community?

(7) Who are the generally recognized leaders of the community?

- (a) Is their influence long-term?
- (b) Is leadership changing?
- (c) In what fields do they have influence?
- (d) Is the influence actively exercised or chiefly potential?
- (e) As influence wielded through:
 - 1. Public office?
 - 2., Delivery of votes?
 - 3.' Control of wealth?
 - 4. Prestige?

CITIZEN PARTICIPATION AS A SOURCE OF DATA

Several mechanisms exist for obtaining direct citizen. impliminto educational decisions: (1) elections, (2) communication with local groups or influential citizens, (3) communication through school board members, and (4) organized citizen participation. All of these methods allow members of the community to express their opinions about the educational system. Elections are the most direct method for community members to express approval or disapproval of the educational system; however, elections rarely allow for a two-way dialogue between community members and the school system.

Soliciting the opinions of local groups or influential citizens may enable the pinpointing of specific areas of community dissatisfaction; however, it is a rather unsystematic way of receiving feedback on educational programs and educational decisions. It must be determined if the sources of feedback are merely vocal special interests or represent the sentiments of a sizable portion of the community.

One of the most effective mechanisms for gathering citizen input is through an organized, planned program of citizen participation. The benefits of citizen participation for the educational system include: (1) citizen insights into the complexities involved in making educational decisions; and (2), increased citizen support for the educational system because of decision participation.

A variety of methods can be used to encourage citizen participation. A most common method is to hold public hearings or community meetings in which community members are encouraged to voice opinions on a particular topic. Another method is through the use of a survey. This method is discussed in more detail in chapter 6. One other method is the establishment of citizen advisory committees. These committees should be roughly representative of the community, or may be composed of citizens directly affected by the problem being considered.

The growth in popularity of citizen participation programs has been largely due to federally funded programs that require some form of citizen input. The following are examples of Federal programs and the required form of citizen participation:

AVAILABLE INFORMATION FROM STATE AND LOCAL SOURCES

Federal Program

(1) Bilingual Education (Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965, Title VII of PL 89-10, as amended by Education Amendments of 1974)

(2) Adult Education—Grants to States (Adult Education Act, Title III of PL 91-330, as amended)

(3) Educationally Deprived Children—Special Incentive Grants (Title I ESEA-Part B) *

The success of citizen participation will depend upon the intentions of the educator and the methods used to formulate and carry out the activity. Sometimes citizen advisory boards or other forms of citizen participation are designed solely for public relations; there is no intention of considering the opinions or ideas offered. Activities of this type will more likely lead to citizen alienation than to a viable source of citizen input. Citizen committees can easily be constituted to represent a particular point of view, In this instance, citizen input is not truly being sought; the citizen board is designed * to act as a automatic approval of certain decisions. In addition, when citizen input is instituted but the citizens are not given the resources or information to fulfill their responsibilities, the result may be citizen frustration and alienation. In regard to the above problems, the following caution should be considered: if the educator does not sincerely intend to solicit and use citizen input as a means of improving decisionmaking, it is best to avoid citizen participation programs. When improperly conducted, citizen participation is likely to lead to resentment and alienation on the part of community members.

Another problem which might be encountered in citizen participation programs entails the possibility of citizens demanding greater authority than is intended. Therefore, it is prudent to clearly specify the following ground rules before the citizen input is solicited.

- (1) Areas of responsibility
- (2) Degree of influence (e.g., advisory, full partners, etc.)
- (3) Duration of participation-
- (4) Nature of membership

Citizen Participation Required

Requires a citizen advisory committée composed of parents of children of limited English-speaking ability, and high school students if the program is operating in secondary schools.

Requires that a State plan be submitted annually to the Office of Education, DHEW. Regulations require input from State advisory committees and local advisory committees. State plans may call for the use of paraprofessionals.

In local programs, parental consultation and involvement is expected.

- (5) Selection process for participants
- (6) Resources that will be provided

(7) Methods of publicizing meetings and results

(8) Final product or outcome anticipated

Questions to Consider in Collecting Data through Citizen Participation

Answers to the following questions will help in understanding the community:

- (1) To what extent has the major role of the participants been specified?
- (2) To what extent have the areas of responsibility been defined?
- (3) To what extent has the level of participation been specified?
- (4) To what extent have procedures for selection of participants been established?
- (5) To what extent have these procedures been well publicized?
- (6) To what extent have grievance procedures or review processes been established?
- (7) To what extent have the means to provide participants with information and resources been established?
- (8) To what extent have procedures for assuring the representativeness of the participants been established?
 - (9) To what extent are the participants actually rep. resentative of interests or groups?
- (10) To what extent have public meetings been well publicized?

(11) To what extent have provisions been made for minority reports?

USE OF MAPS TO DISPLAY DATA

Maps can serve as one of the most useful ways to display community data and to illustrate interrelationships among various phenomena.

Once a suitable base map of the community is obtained, various trace maps can be made from it. One useful technique is to make overlays on transparent plastic to show various relationships among such factors as transportation arteries, population density, ethnic concentrations, and open areas. Base maps are easily converted to various forms for projection or enlarged for presentation to groups.

The list of types of data that can be displayed on community maps is endless, but the following are illustrative:

- Areas gaining and losing population
- Availability of housing,
- Disaster emergency routes
- Location of blighted areas
- Location of traffic accidents
- Location of industries, by type
- Map of shelters for severe storms
- Population density
- Traffic flow or transportation routes

- Various land use zones.
- Voter records by precincts on specific issues

• Zoning patterns

Sources of maps of a given community include the Geological Survey, Washington, D.C.; U.S. Bureau of the Census, Data User Services Division, Washington, D.C.; the office of the county or city engineer; local, regional, and State planning agencies; and the U.S. Forest Service. Some State agencies that provide maps include the U.S. Department of Highways, Industrial Development, and Environmental Protection.

SUMMARY ·

The sources of local data, local census techniques, and questions to be considered are designed to better understand the community.

Communities are complex. Although communities have a defined structure (e.g., a definite governmental structure, definite school district structure, etc.), the sources of power are often not clearcut. The sources of power in decisionmaking can change according to the issues being considered, the groups seeking to influence the decision, and the intensity of the participants involved.

This chapter provided suggested sources for finding data that are not systematically collected by local sources. The next chapter focuses on surveys, as one way of obtaining information from the community.

Chapter 6

ASSESSING COMMUNITY ATTITUDES, VALUES, AND BELIEFS

INTRODUCTION

This chapter explains a method of collecting and analyzing data that reveal community attitudes, values, and beliefs. Assessment of these intangibles serves three major purposes: (1) it enables school policymakers to plan in accordance with the beliefs and goals of the people they serve; (2) it allows publication of survey results to establish community consensus on important questions; and (3) it serves an important public relations function because a survey of community sentiment on school-related questions is seen as an expression of administrator concern.

Accurate and useful assessment of attitudes, values, and beliefs is not easy because they can only be measured indirectly. As a result, the assessment process is often complex, and a great deal of care is required to design and conduct a successful survey. (See the Glossary for definitions of attitudes, values, and beliefs.) a

This chapter describes the steps and logic involved in opinion and attitude measurement. Persons unfamiliar with survey techniques should consult the sources listed in A Guide to the Literature, appendix J. Expert help will often be needed, narticularly in questionnaire construction and sampling. The source of this help may be a State education agency, a local university, or a professional opinion-polling organization.

TO SURVEY OR NOT TO SURVEY

Designing and conducting a survey properly takes time, money, and skill. The costs must be dweighed against potential benefits. Because these benefits are often great, public opinion surveys have become increasingly popular. For this reason school leaders may be able to find community agencies that have already compiled data on relevant topics. Utility companies; local and State government agencies; local, State, and regional planning agencies; and other sources within the community should be checked. To avoid error, the researcher will need to investigate the following before using data from other surveys:

- (1) Population specified for the survey. The population that the school is interested in surveying should be the same as the survey population.
- (2) Size of the sample, response rate, size of the sampling error, and confidence level established. These figures tell an experienced researcher whether findings can be trusted.
- (3) Wording of the survey instrument. Questions should be clear, should not be positively or negatively slanted, and should bear directly on the topic of interest.

Opportunities for cooperative efforts with other community agencies should also be considered before a school district undertakes a survey.

After other sources and cooperative efforts Mave been explored, the investigator should consider the following factors before attempting a survey:

 A survey of opinions and ideas always carries with it the possibility of community agitation. Such a survey should not be attempted unless there is a sincere desire on the part of policymakers to learn the truth and run some political risk in the process.
 Some people feel they are being over-surveyed. Publishing findings of a survey, even when the results are unfavorable to persons in office, can offset this feeling. If opinions are to be used as input for decisionmaking, it should be clear to the

/5

public-that all opinions will be considered. Respondents are likely to resent surveys if the survey results are not published or if they have reason to believe that their opinions were not considered.

(3) A survey can produce misleading findings if it is poorly designed and administered. Important design and administration decisions must be made at every stage of the survey. There is a potential for bias at every stage.

PLANNING FOR A COMMUNITY SURVEY

Advance planning is crucial in a community survey. It is essential to devote a great deal of thought to the planning and development stages of a survey becasue they usually determine success or failure of the project.

The first question to ask is: What is the concern for which I am seeking information? Identification of the concern will determine:

- The type and scope of the survey
- The population to be sampled
- The type of questions to be asked
- The number of questions included
- The method of conducting the survey
- The scope and method for conducting a pretest of the survey instrument
- The method of response analysis

At this point the researcher should ask. Is a survey really necessary? Have all the other sources of data been investigated? What is already known about the concern? Is a survey the best method of obtaining the necessary data?

If the decision is made to conduct a survey after answering the questions above, the researcher can begin planning in the following areas:

- A clear statement of the data to be collected should be formulated. Different response formats can be considered. Any data already available about the concern can be used to help formulate questions, and determine procedures.
- (2) A plan for analysis of the data should be devised. If tables are to be used in displaying the findings, the variables must be specified. This operation will simplify the task of question design: Questions should measure the specified variables.
- (3) The population to be investigated should be designated. Once this has been done, the researcher can locate or develop a population list. Designation of the population is prerequisite to selecting a

method for drawing the sample and establishing . sample size.

(4) The researcher should make plans for pretesting the survey instrument, using the format and questions that will be used in the official survey. A pretest is designed to check the instrument before use in the official survey. Pretests or field trials often reveal weaknesses that even experts cannot foresee.

SURVEY DÉSIGN

The following guidelines are useful in constructing an instrument to identify and measure attitudes, values, and beliefs:

- Questions should be precise. They should be complete; definite as to time, place, and comparisons to be made; and simple and direct in wording.
- (2) Questions should not use words with meanings that may be unclear to the respondent.
- (3) Questions should not be slanted or emotionally charged.
- (4) Questions should be as short as possible without sacrificing clarity.
- (5) Questions should not be embarassing to the respondent.

The introduction to the survey instrument should be simply worded, nonthreatening, serious, neutral, and firm. The items should be as few in number as possible and in a logical sequence. The sequence of survey instrument items can affect the type of response received. In the case of a printed questionnaire, the format should be neat, the questions adequately spaced, and the type highly legible. These seemingly insignificant points can influence response rate, particularly for mailed questionnaires.

The following are useful guidelines for sequencing questions on a survey instrument:

- (1) The introduction should include the name of the sponsor and an explanation of the purpose of the survey.
- (2) Questions at the beginning should be short, nonthreatening, and neutral. The first part of a survey establishes rapport between the interviewer and respondent and, therefore, should not offend or anger the respondent.
- (3) Questions that make up the heart of the survey should be asked after rapport has been established.
- (4) Demographic and sensitive, questions should be placed at the end of the survey, with this exception:

ASSESSING ATTITUDES, VALUES, AND BELIEFS

If there are to be followup interviews, it is best to Integrate demographic and sensitive questions into the heart of the survey.

(5) The survey should close with a note of thanks to the respondent for participating. The closing statement can also explain how the data gathered will be used and can tell the respondent how to obtain the final results of the survey.

QUESTION DESIGN

In constructing survey instruments, choose a response format that will allow a large number of answers to be summarized without misrepresenting the idea the item was intended to measure. Experience is useful in selecting the appropriate format for a given situation and/or objective. (See A Guide to the Literature for sources, appendix J.) In the absence of an experienced specialist, a consultant should probably be employed to help design the questionnaire. In selecting a consultant, it is important to look not only at training and experience but also at samples of work done for others.

The following discussion is designed to review some of the different forms of questions that can be used in a survey. There are three categories of questions: (1) demographic, (2) factual, and (3) attitudinal. Each contributes significant data which varies according to the objectives of the survey.

Demographic Questions

Demographic questions permit the researcher to compare responses of different groups in a community. These questions should be carefully chosen so that the researcher will be able to assess the influence of a number of variables.

- Age
- Educational attainment
- Employment statues
- Family size
- Income
- Length of time in community
- Marital status "
- Number of children
- Number of children in school
- Race
- Religion
- Sex

ERIC

- Type of housing
- Type of school attended

The above list is not comprehensive, nor is it necessary to include all of these items in a particular survey. The choice of demographic questions will be determined by the problem being investigated.

Demographic data can also aid in identifying subgroups in the population or example, if the chances for passing a school levy are to be assessed, it is important to know which segments of the population are favorably disposed and which are unfavorably disposed toward the levy. Using well-chosen demographic data will reveal the characteristics of bothgroups. In this instance the researcher might want to seek the following demographic data:

- (1) Age
- (2) Income (Caution should be used with this data because respondents tend to classify themselves as middle income despite their actual classification):
 (a) Fired income
 - .(a) Fixed income
 - (b) Variable income:
 - 1. Upper income
 - 2. Middle income
 - 3. Lower income.
- (3) Marital status
- (4) Number of children
- (5) Number of children in school
- (6) Type of school attended:
 - (a) Parochial
 - (b) Private
 - (c) Public

(7) Voting participation in the last school levy

The demographic variables would be included because they might provide important information about supporters and opponents of the levy. If one of the survey's questions was whether the respondent would support'a school tax levy, the researcher could search for patterns in the demographic data. For example, he or she could test the hypothesis that those opposing the levy are older, single, childless, or parents of children in private or parochial schools. Findings would be useful in targeting segments of the population for information campaigns.

The following are guidelines for using demographi questions in a survey:

 Since asking questions takes time and money, and since the length of a questionnaire can influence the respondent's cooperation, care should be taken to include only the demographic information pertinent to the issues prompting the survey. Further, including too many demographic questions may jeopardize the confidentiality of the survey by

-1 77

making it possible to identify individual respondents. (See appendix G, The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974.)

 (2) Demographic questions should be designed to avoid offending the respondent. This is particularly 'true of questions about income, occupation, family, housing, and age. A respondent offended early in the interview may be less willing to cooperate

Factual Questions

on the rest of the survey.

The researcher may decide to use factual questions to determine the extent of respondents' knowledgeabout issues that appear in the survey instrument. The answers will suggest the bases of opinion: information, misinformation, ignorance, or emotion. Factual questions test-the effectiveness of efforts to inform the public about educational matters.

Examples of factual questions include:

- (1) How often are school board meetings held?
- (2) How many school board meetings have you attended in the fast year?
- (3) How many pupils are there in your school district?
- (4) What is the average per-pupil expenditure in this State?
- (5) How does this compare with other States?
- (6) What is the pupil-teacher ratio in this school district?

Care should be used in determining whether to use factual questions', what questions to use, and how many to use. The respondent may feel intimidated or embarrassed by an inability to answer factual questions. These feelings may affect other answers. For these reasons, the researcher should use factual questions sparingly and/or only when they are important to the goals of the survey.

Attitudinal Questions

Open-Ended Questions

Open-ended questions allow respondents to formulate their own answers to a question; there are no predetermined responses. An example:

How do you feel about the job your local public schools are doing in educating your children?

Open-ended questions are probably the most valuable in soliciting the opinions of the respondents in depth. However, this type of response is also the most difficult to process and analyze. If the results of the survey are to be tallied and put into meaningful summary form, then open-ended responses must be put into a limited number of categories that can be compared. Since open-ended questions allow respondents to state their unique opinions, not all responses will fit easily into definable categories. The researcher must make an after-the-fact interpretation of the respondent's response and fit it into a particular category.

If open-ended, uestions are deemed necessary, they should be designed carefully, with consideration given to the way responses will be recorded and categorized.

Multiple-Choice Questions

Multiple-choice questions can overcome the problems of open-ended questions but still maintain much of the valuable content of open-ended questions. With multiple-choice questions, responses are anticipated and categorized in advance. For example:

How do you feel about the job your local public schools are doing in educating your children?

- A. On the whole, the schools are doing a pretty good job.
- B: There is not enough emphasis on the basics reading, writing, and mathematics.
- C. The schools emphasize college preparation too much.
- D. The schools emphasize vocational training too much.
- E. No opinion.
- F. Other

A list of predetermined answers may eliminate some responses that have been given to open-ended questions. Open-ended questions, therefore, should be used in a pretest or field trial of the survey instrument to formulate multiple-choice answers for questions used in the full-scale survey. This procedure will yield a range of responses and decrease the likelihood of omitting responses that might not have been anticipated. Providing an opportunity for the respondent to insert a response, not included in the multiple-choice list insures against a charge of slanting the instrument.

A "no response" category should be included for each question. An uninformed or rash response forced by the questionnaire format may bias results. Respondents should be given a dignified way of saying they do not know enough about the subject to provide an opinion. A good way to lessen anxiety about inability to supply opinions is to preface questionnaire items

ASSESSING ATTITUDES, VALUES, AND BELIEFS

with a statement that not everyone has opinions or information about a topic.

The number of choices offered is another consideration in using multiple-choice questions. A reasonably comprehensive list of responses should be provided, but voluminous lists should be avoided. Long lists of possible responses defeat simplicity and clarity.

Scaled Multiple-Choice Questions

The scaled multiple-choice question allows the researcher to gauge strength or intensity of opinion. Respondents are asked to choose from a continuum ranging from strongly positive to strongly negative responses. The following are examples:

- (1) How would you rate the quality of teaching in the public schools?
 - Excellent
 - Adequate
 - Inadequate

(2) The school district should be operated under the assumption that every student is college bound. Strongly agree

- Agree Neither agree nor disagree Disagree

Strongly disagree

If an odd number of response categories is offered, the middle position should be the neutral response category. In the examples above, the neutral response categories are "adequate" and "neither agree nor disagree." If the researcher decides to use an even number of response categories, a neutral position is not offered. In this case the researcher is operating under the assumption that people hold an opinion on the question, and is forcing a respondent choice. Figure 6-1, prepared by James Conway and his colleagues, gives examples of several response formats.

Scaled multiple-choice questions can be constructed in several ways. A numbered continuum can be used with numbers on each end offering opposing strong opinions. A scale of this type gives a numerical rating to each judgment and provides a rough ordering of the intensity of the respondents' opinions. For example:

How would you rate the job being done by the schools in teaching reading? Circle your choice. 1 24 3 4 5 superior, adequate unacceptable Several different types of scales e.g., Likert Scale, Guttman Scales have been developed for use in attime tude analysis. These scales provide the advantage of prescribed methods for analysis and use of the findings. (See A Guide to the Literature (p. 187) for sources.)

SAMPLING

Sampling is selecting and using part of a group to infer characteristics of the complete group. The complete group is defined as a. "population." The part of the group is a "sample."

The sample should be representative of the population being studied. One method of sampling is called probability sampling. In probability sampling individual elements of the sample are chosen by chance, with each element of the population having an equal change of being selected for inclusion in the sample. This method reduces the possibility that bias will enter the selection process. Biased samples produce a distorted picture of the population and produce a faulty base for future decisions. Other sources of bias in surveying community attitudes will be discussed later in this chapter. (See the Glossary (p. 134) for definition of bias.)

Probability sampling does not guarantee that the sample is representative of the total population, but it does assure that the sample will not be distorted by the selection methods used. Describing sampling techniques in detail is beyond the scope of this Handbook, but the following are basic steps involved in drawing a sample:

(1) Determine the population to be studied. If the planning of the survey has been thorough, this should be a relatively simple step. The following examples may help to clarify the idea of defining a population:

A school administrator is interested in determining why past school levies have been defeated. In this case the population to be studied is composed of all eligible voters in the school district. Looking at ineligible voters would be of little use in determining reasons for voting against the levies.

If there is interest in discovering how parents feel about a new science program in the district, opinions obtained from parents of children who do not participate in the program would not help to understand the problem. The population of concern is parents with children in the new science program.

(2) Obtain a complete and accurate list of all the members of the defined population. Unless all

Figure 6-1. Samples of three-, four-, and five-scale multiple-choice response items



--The neutral "Undecided" could be replaced by "No opinion", "Neither", "Don't know", or any neutral term, depending on the NOTE .logic of the scale itself: OTRCE: James A. Conway, Robert E. Jennings, and Mike M. Milstein, Understanding Communities (Prentice-Hall, Inc., 1974) p. 74.

93

ASSESSING ATTITUDES, VALUES, AND BELIEFS

the population are included on the list, not all members will have an opportunity to be selected for the survey and the sample will be biased. The following are examples of obtaining accurate lists:

In the school ledy example, the administrator would obtain the most current list of all the eligible voters in the district from the board of elections. The sample is drawn from this list.

In the science program example, the administrator should use a list of all parents of children participating in the new science program in the district. The list should be checked to eliminate duplicates, e.g., people who have more than one child participating in the program.

If a survey is aimed at measuring attitudes of residents of a neighborhood toward a proposed new building, a list of addresses obtained from the U.S. Postal Service can be matched with a map of the neighborhood to define the population to be sampled.

(3) Determine the sample size. Literature on sampling should be consulted to determine the optimum sample size for the purposes of a study. Optimum size depends on several factors: error in the estimates, confidence in the estimates, homogeneity of the population, and number of categories, into which the data will be cast. Drawing a sample larger than required wastes resources. The larger the sample, the more costly the survey. The following are basic rules for sample size:

(a) Samples of fewer than 50 cannot be analyzed with certain statistical techniques.

(b) The more homogeneous the population, the smaller the sample required.

(4) Choose the sampling method to be used. The choice is determined by the nature of the problem being investigated, the accuracy required in the results, and the amount of information available about the specified population. Random sampling gives each member of the population an equal chance of being selected, since chance is the only factor entering into the decision. A simple random sample can be drawn by selecting a group of numbers from a table of random numbers. The amount of numbers needed is determined by the size of the desired sample. Each number drawn corresponds with a position on

the population list. For example, if 10, 68, and 120 should be chosen from the table, then the 10th, 68th, and 120th individuals on the population list would be included as members of the sample.

Other techniques for choosing samples (e.g., systematic sampling with a random start, stratified sampling, multistage cluster sampling), are more complicated and require more skill to produce an unbiased, representative sample. If a technique other than a simple random sample is used, then a comprehensive guide to sampling or assistance from a consultant is advisable.

PRETESTING THE SURVEY INSTRUMENT

Pretesting the survey instrument is a good method of detecting problems of question construction. The main objective of pretesting is to assure that the survey instrument is adequate and that the desired information is actually being elicited. There should be no confusion about the intent of each question, and no question should be beyond the respondent's comprehension. In the pretest it is not necessary to use the same sampling methods to be employed in the full-scale survey. The researcher can use a community group to test the survey instrument and then discuss the questions with group members to ascertain if there were any problems of intent or wording. If a pretest of the instrument is not performed, problems in question construction will be carried over to the full-scale survey. This can yield data that cannot be accurately interpreted.

HOW TO ADMINISTER A . SURVEY

The number of resources available and the need for accuracy will determine how a survey instrument is administered. The best method of soliciting indepth opinions is a face-to-face interview; however, this method demands the greatest resources. Unless professionals are hired, interviewers must be thoroughly trained.

Telephone surveys are less costly than face-to-face interviews and require less training time for interviewers. Telephone interviews, however, do not establish the same rapport between interviewer and respondent. Because it is easier also for the respondent to terminate the telephone interview at any point, these interviews

94

- 81

should be brief and shorter, and less demanding questions than those employed in face-to-face interviews should be used.

82

Mailed surveys are less costly than face-to-face interviews. They also allow respondents to answer the questions in the absence of any observer, which promotes more hones, opinions on the questionnaires. The response rate is sometimes low, which can affect the representativeness of the survey. Mailing followup surveys to persons who have not returned the first copy is one method of correcting this problem. The optimum time lapse before a second mailing will vary, depending on the nature of the survey and the character of respondents, but 2 weeks after the initial mailing is common. Another method of overcoming nonresponse is collecting the survey instruments rather than depending on respondents to mail them back. Personal pickup offers the advantage of permitting a check for omissions at the time of pickup. Sometimes a response to omitted questions can be obtained.

ANALYSIS AND INTERPRETATION OF DATA

Data must be put into meaningful form after the survey has been completed. Analysis of data involves establishing order so that interpretations of the findings can be made.

The first step in analysis and interpretation is coding the data from open-ended questions, i.e., placing the answer to each question in meaningful categories. Structured questions are easier to code than unstructured questions (such as open-ended opinion items) as they can be merely tallied by response category. Un² structured questions require the establishment of meaningful categories before tallying can begin. Categories can be established only after analyzing responses and sorting by similarity of content.

The second step in analysis and interpretation is displaying the data. Data can be displayed in the format determined during planning stages of the survey after the data have been categorized and tallied. For example, if demographic data have been included in a survey designed to determine why school levies fail, the interrelationships between the demographic data and other items could be displayed as in table 6-1.

The researcher may wish to display data to compare attitudes toward the levy of parents whose children attend public schools with those of parents whose children attend private schools, as is done in table 6-2.

The data may also be analyzed in another manner. to show differences in attitudes toward the levy by homeowners and renters. (See table 6-3.)

In addition to such graphic data displays as bar graphs, trend lines, and pie charts, data may be displayed in verbal form. The following two examples of verbal display were selected from Inforet (Information Return). They also illustrate how findings can suggest followup action

Nationally 26 percent of the public feel that discipline is the biggest problem in the schools of their community. In a survey, 76 percent indicated what lack of discipline is one of the things they like least about their schools. If it is the philosophy of the district that external discipline is diminished to permit the development of self-discipline, this idea should be implied in all school communications.

Responses to an item, "How many new students would you say enroll in our district each

* 4	Tot	al	•	· At	titudes tow	ard the le	vy	
Status.			Favorable		Unfavorable		Undecided	
· ·	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent
Parents	325	. 100.0	166	· 51.1	. 136	41.8	r 23	7.1
Nonparents	175	100.0	44	25.0	114	65.0	17	• 10.0

95

Table 6-1. Attitudes toward the levy of parents and nonparents

iestion: Do you now support an increase in the operating levy, for the public schools?

SESSING ATTITUDES, VALUES, AND BELIEFS

Type of school	T	otal '	Attitude toward the levy								
children attend	*	· #		rable.	Unfav	orable	Undecided '				
	Number	Percent	Number	Percent,	Number	Percent	Number	Percent			
Public Schools	260	100.0	154	59.Ž	86	, 33.1	· 20 ·	• 7.7			
Private (including Parochial) Schools	65 /	100.0	12 6	18.5	, <u>5</u> 0	76.9	• •	<u> </u>			
Question: Do you now supp	ort an increa	ise in the	operating le	evy for the	public sc	hools?	<u> </u>				

Table 6.2. Attitude toward levy of parents, by type of school their children attend

Home status		To		utal _		A	ttițude tov	· 7	7		
				Favorable		• Unfavorable		Undecid			
·	· / · ·	•	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	`(
Owner	х ,	•	260	100.0	· · 90-	34.6	138	53, 1	32	12.3	
Renter	s	•	240	100.0	120	50.0	112	46.7	~ 8 ·	3,5	

Question: Do you now support an increase in the operating levy for the public schools?

year?", indicate that only 23 percent of the school voters realize how rapidly the district is growing and, therefore, they cannot understand the need for buildings. The geographic spread of this district makes it impossible to see the growth. Frequent stories in the local weeklies, plus, an item in each issue of the newsletter on the child count this month as opposed to last year, would make people more conscious of this problem.*

The third step in analysis and interpretation is determining which factors are most important in explaining the results of the survey. In the above examples, the researcher is exploring various possible explanations in an attempt to find the most plausible explanation(s) for school levy failures. (For a further explanation of tables, see chapter 7.)

Oakland Schools, Pontiac, Michigan, Inforet (Information Return), (1970), p.28. The researcher would probably use a statistical "test of independence" or "test of association" to determine whether the findings describe significant differences in the population. Such tests help to determine whether the findings differ significantly from what could be expected if chance were the sole determining factor.

BIAS

Bias is systematic error that leads to a difference between an estimate of population characteristics and their true value. But therefore, distorts the results obtained from a survey. There is a potential for bias atevery step in the survey process. The utmost care should be taken at every step to obtain results that will be useful and representative of the opinions of the population. Pretesting a questionnaire on a limited number of individuals can eliminate many of the hazards of questionnaire construction. Figure 6-2 can alert the researcher to potential sources of bias in the survey.

.93





ASSESSING ATTITUDES, VALUES, AND BELIEFS

REPORTING THE RESULTS

The results of the survey should be available to the community. It is suggested that the results be displayed in a public place such as a public library. A discussion of the decisions that were made as a result of the survey findings should be included with the display.

Reporting survey results to the community can be a political decision. The following factors might be considered:

- (1) Community members generally like to have their opinions sought, especially if they feel that their suggestions will be taken into account when important decisions are made.
- (2) Surveys often reflect substantial support for schools. Publicizing the results tends to build morale.
- (3) Open recognition of limitations revealed in surveys, especially when followed by temedial measures, can build respect for the school administration.
- (4) A recent survey promotes discussion and expands community understanding.

Periodic Reassessment

Community attitudes and beliefs are subject to constant change; therefore periodic surveys are essential for current information. To compare and assess trends, followup surveys should use the same questions as the original survey, if possible. By doing so, comparisons can be made between two or more surveys to assess the differences in responses and analyze trends.

85

Since opinions change, priorities shift, and new ideas surface, periodic assessments are a good way of keeping in touch with the changing nature of the community. Keeping questions consistent is an excellent way of getting comparable results.

Use of Survey Data.

Survey data can be put to a variety of uses. School administrators, teachers' unions, citizens' groups, or planning agencies can use the data as guides for program development, tools for evaluation, or as devices for more effective leadership in the community. However the fact that a survey looks "objective" does not guarantee that the uses to which it will be put will be "objective."

CONCLUSION

This chapter has explained a method of collecting and analyzing data that reveal community attitudes, values, and beliefs. The next chapter describes some techniques for using various kinds of information.

Chapter 7 TECHNIQUES FOR USING INFORMATION

INTRODUCTION

Data usually must be organized and analyzed as soon as gathered before they can be used effectively. This chapter begins with some general principles for organizing and analyzing information and then presents types of analyses often used in making decisions about such matters as school enrollment and population projections; site and transportation analysis; and computerized retrieval, analysis, and display of data.

GENERAL PRÍNCIPLES

Collecting and organizing information enable the researcher to accurately describe the environmental impact of a particular concern and to determine how the concern developed, how it compares with other concerns, and how it is changing. This section describes some of the more common techniques for using information.

Summary of facts is a major step in the organization. of data. The first of two strategies that can be used in basic descriptive summaries is to estimate what is typical. For example, if a problem involves family income, deriving a single measure that best describes the income of a typical family may be useful, such as the "mean" (average) measure. The mean family income is computed by adding the incomes of all families and dividing them by the total number of families. In 1969, for example, the incomes of 344,607 families in the Cincinnati SMSA amounted to \$3,985,395,955. The mean family income in the Cincinnati SMSA was \$11,565. Another measure of what is typical is the "median" or the number that splits a distribution into two halves-one with the 50 percent above and the other with the 50 percent below the number. The median family income in the Cincinnati SMSA in 1969

was \$10,257. In this case, the gap between one version of a typical measure of income (the mean) and another (the median) is substantial. Which measure of income should be used? The median has the advantage of not being influenced by extremely high or low values. A billionaire's residence in a community can affect the mean family income substantially, but it would not affect the median. Census reports often a preference for the "median" over the "mean" in describing midpoints in distributions of various characteristics because the "median" avoids distortion.

In addition to wanting to know what is typical with respect to some characteristic, one may also want to know how that characteristic is distributed. Percentages are the most commonly used measures of distribution-Table 7-1 depicts the percent distribution of family income for the Cincinnati SMSA in 1969. This table shows that family incomes in Cincinnati were distributed over a wide range in that year, that they clustered heavily around the median figure, and that there was a slight imbalance toward the low-income categories. . Percentages are computed by dividing the number of units in a given category by the total number of units, and multiplying the results by 100. Categories and their percentages can be combined in various ways as needed. For example, in table 7-1 the percent below the poverty line can be obtained by adding the three categories under \$6,000 to get 20.9 percent.

Comparisons of census tracts to median family income allows the researcher to identify clusters of lowincome and high-income families within the school district. Comparisons of the percent in multiple-unit housing allows the researcher to identify those census tracts with relatively large proportions of apartment units.

Thus far descriptive measures have been considered for a single point in time. For processes that occur over

Handbook VIII code number	Family income ² (by category)	Percent distrubution						
TOTAL	i —	100.0						
01. 05 03 01 '	Under \$1,000	<u>\</u> 1.9						
01. 05 03 d2:	\$1,000 - 2,999	6.2						
01. 05 03 03	3,000 – 5,999	12.8						
01. 05 03 04	6,000 - 8,999	19.6						
01. 05 03 05	9,000 - 11,999	22.1						
01. 05 03 06	12,000 - 14,999	15.6						
01. 05 03 07	15,000 - 24,999	17.1						
01. 05 03.08	25,000 - 49,999	3.9 🐣						
01. 05 03 09	50,000 or more	`` 0.8 ^{``}						

Table 7-1.	Percent distribution of family	income,
	Cincinnati, SMSA: 1969*	•

¹ Data also presented on pp. 29 and 102

² Median family income-\$10.257 (01. 01 05).

periods of time, rates are usually used. In chapter 2, table 2-2 shows the school-age population of Hirth School District was expected to decline from 24,766* to 19,094 in the 10 years between 1980 and 1990. The average annual rate of decline would be 24,766-19,094 or 567.2 per year.

Descriptive information is usually displayed in either tables or figures. Descriptive tables should follow a few simple rules:

- (1) Tables should be clearly labeled
- (2) Direction of percentages (horizontal or vertical) should be indicated by including a total column or row
- (3) Row and column headings should clearly and briefly identify the information in the table
 - (4) Qualifications or explanations should be put in footnotes, not in the table proper
 - (5) Title of the table should indicate exactly the subject matter of the table. Ideally, titles should tell what information is presented, where it was col-

lected; and when

Graphs can be used to show comparisons at a single point in time or to show trends over time. Bar graphs are often used to show the relative size of various categories at a single point in time. Figure 7-1 is a simple bar graph that shows the relative size of elementary, junior high, and high school age population. Line graphs are often used to show trends over a period of time. Figure 7-2 shows a line graph of junior high school age population over a 15-year period, Graphs should always indicate a zero point for reference, even

COMMUNITY INFORMATION

if no values near zero are found, or the magnitude of differences or changes may seem exaggerated. Graphs are useful in giving a visual picture of data that may be presented in more detail in tables. Maps are useful in showing how characteristics are spatially distributed (see figures 2-1 through 2-5 in chapter 2).

Data-interpretation often requires examination of the relationship between factors, which is best accomplished by a table that cross-tabulates two or more variables. Table 6-3 in chapter 6 includes some hypothetical data depicting the relationship of owning or renting a house to attitude toward a levy. As shown by this table, the percentage against the levy is higher among homeowners than renters; therefore there may be a relationship between owning a home and having a negative attitude toward the levy.









TECHNIQUES FOR USING INFORMATION

Constructing cross-tabulation tables may enable the researcher to discover relationships that are helpful in explaining a problem. Table 6-3 indicates percentage values for the horizontal variables. The following rules should be followed for horizontally and vertically placed percentages:

- If tables have horizontal percentages, comparisons are made down the table. If tables have vertical percentages, comparisons are, made across the table.¹
- (2) Tables usually contain percentages in the direction of the causing variable. For example, in Table 6-3 it was hypothesized that home ownership might affect how people felt about the levy. In this case, home ownership is the causing or the independent variable. Therefore, the tables contain horizontal percentages, in the direction of the causing variable.

(For more information on how to present tables, see Hans Ziesel, Say It with Figures, which is listed in A Guide to the Literature.)

There are several ways of assessing the relationships that are presented in tables. Consult A Guide to the Literature (appendix J) for a listing of the basic statistical texts.

SCHOOL ENROLLMENT PROJECTIONS

Effective school planning requires an accurate estimate of the future papil population, regardless of whether the planning period is 1 year or 20 years ahead.

If the planning period is short, 1 to 3 years, the school planner can usually use available enrollment data to project enrollments by the Survival Ratio (SR) technique. If the planning period is longer, it is usually desirable to tie enrollment projections to population projections, rather than to rely on extrapolations of current school enrollment. Both approaches will be discussed. Although a county school system and a countypopulation are the subjects of the discussion, the procedures can be used for any local area or school unit.

The Survival Ratio Method¹

The Survival Ratio (SR) method of projecting school enrollment relies completely upon enrollment data by

¹ This is sometimes called the Cohort Survival Method.

grade for current and past years. The specific point at which enrollment is measured is unimportant as long as the same point is used for all years. The beginning of the school year is probably most convenient, particularly for schools with high pupil turnover.

The Survival Ratio method begins with a specific number of pupils in its first year of school and compares that number with the number for each successive year in the next higher grade. Because of the variety of factors that influence kindergarten enrollment, grade 1 is probably the better base grade. Kindergarten enrollment, however, would obviously be a factor in estimating the next year's first grade membership.

For example, if a first grade of 50 children produced only 46 pupils in the second grade, the SR for the second grade would be ${}^{46}/_{50} = .92 \times 100 = 92$ percent. The next year, if membership increased to 51 pupils in the third grade, the SR would be ${}^{51}/_{50} = 1.02 \times 100$ = 102 percent.

There are two common methods for computing the SR:

(1) Change from base year. The kindergarten of first grade enrollment, or possibly the ninth grade for, high school computations, is used as the Base Year (BY). For each subsequent change for the Current Year (CY), the SR would be: CY/BY
 × 100 = SR

(2) Change from preceding year. Each year's SR is computed as a percentage of the immediate preceding year. Thus the Current Year (CY) and Preceding Year (CY-1) have an SR of: CY/CY-1 × 100 = SR

Either method can be used to give perspective, but the latter is probably used more frequently. 7

Table 7¹2 is an example of a worksheet used to record past enrollments, compute SR's, and project enrollments. In the table, enrollment data for current and past years are recorded from official files. SR's are then computed by grade for the past 5 years and a 5year average is established. For example, the SR for grade 2 in 1966 (128) is derived by dividing the second grade enrollment in 1966 (201) by the first grade enrollment in 1965 (157) and multiplying the result by 100.

The 5-year average SR for grade 2 is:

 $\frac{128 + 99' + 94 + 106' + 97}{5} = 105$

The projected second grade enrollment is the first grade enrollment in 1970 multiplied by the average second grade SR ($224 \times 1.05 = 235$).

Table 7-2. Actual and projected enrollments, by grades 1-12

		•			••	(Wo	rkşhe	et)						
Reporting U	nit:				,		÷.							,
Year	EK	SR ¹	El	SR	E2.	SR	F3	SR.	F4	SP.	E5	' SP	E6	SD
. 1965	276.	, . ,	.157		126	U.	118	5K	137	SK	109	SK	111	•
1966 '	307	147	211	.76	201	128	171	136	161	136	188	137	167	1 153
1967	319	127	211	69	209	·99	209	104	183	107	164	102	190) 101
1968	314	134	191 ·	60	199.	94	203	• 97	206	99	182	99	160) 98
, a1969	351	126 ·	220	70	203.	106	201	101	197	· 97	` 206	100	220) 121
. ••		(122)		(64)		(97)		(104)	•	(111))	(108)	•	(108)
1970(CY) ²	•342	131 '	224	68 ·	213	105	211	108	224	110	213	. 109	222	2 116
1971	420		233		235		219		230		`244	* .	247	· 、
1972	441		286		245		242	,	239		251		283	ł
1973	466		300		300-		252		264	Ź61		291		,
1974	389		317		315		309		` 2 ' 75		288		303	1
1975	391	•	265		333		324		337		300		+334	•
•	•		-			•				• .		*		
Year	E7	SR	E8	SR	E	9 S	R・	Eļ0	SR	EI1	SR	E12	SR	Total
1965	、118		126		25	9		228	•	227	•	206		2,198
1966	152	·137	159	135	- 24	2 19	92,	333	129 +	230	101	216	.95	2,738
, 1967	'168	101	170	112	23	8 1.	50	295	122	312	94 [·]	221	96	2,889
1968	191	101	<i>_</i> 173	103	24	3 14	43.	302	127	291	<u>.</u> 99	303	97	2,958 -
,1969	186	116	. 169	88	27	9 <u>1</u> 0	51	315	130	303	100~	296	102	2,850
	-	(103))	.(113)	(19	93).		(116)	,	(99)	•	(99)	
1970(CY)	* 227	112	211	110	32	7 H	58	325	125	311 '	, 99	299	98	3,349
- 19/1	249		250	. ,	35	4	,	409		322		305		3,717
1972	2//	~	- 2/4		42	v ⊽	6	443		491		316 .		4,208
1973	317		305	•.	40	0	,	525		439 • •		481		4,661
1974	/ 320	· ·	349		51	2		3/3 *	<i>'</i>	520	*	430		4,908
1975	339	•	359		28	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	••	640		209	•	510		5,287
	• •	•	· .				· 				_	•		•
	•			Bi	rths		P	roiectio	n _	•]			• .
	•	· •	-				-	•••		EK	1	1		
3 3 3	•	\ '	Ye	ear	• Nur	nber		Year		- *			•	
	•	,	19	966 ·	• 3	321		1971	`a,	420 -		. •	?	
		•	19	9671.	3	337		1972	4	441] • .			•
°' *	·	4 • •4		968		356		1973	4	166] .	•	,	
	• •	6, ,	•19	969 [.]	2	297	ŀ	1974	3	389]•			•
		•	1.19	920	2	99 [*] · · ·	1	1975		391.	,			4
•	,		•			/			1		T	•	• .	

Five-Year Average EK/Births 5 yrs. Earlier = 131

¹ Based on $\frac{K \text{ Enrollments}}{\text{Births 5 Yrs, Earlier}}$ (All figures listed under SR's are percents.) ² All SR's for current year (CY) are 5-year averages for each grade level. SR for current year is in ().

<u>}</u>;

102

91

TECHNIQUES FOR USING INFORMATION

Projected kindergarten enrollments for children not yet in school for the current year are derived from birth statistics. For example, the projected kindergarten enrollment for 1973 (466) is calculated by multiplying the births 5 years earlier (356) by a 5-year average SR from birth to kindergarten (131 percent).

Table 7-2 shows only the enrollment actually served by the public schools. Special education, adult education, nursery school, and community college enrollments are not shown but can be portrayed on separate sheets, as can summaries by grade level-groups (K-6, 7-9, 10-12, etc.).

If enrollment by sex, race, or other categories is desired, then additional tables would have to be developed for each category in the breakdown.

. Projecting Survival Ratios

The greater the period of time for which a projection is being made, the less reliable the projection will be. However, when projections are updated annually, based upon past enrollment as well as knowledge of changing, community characteristics, the projections should be sufficient for most educational planning.

It is unwise to depend upon only two points in time for establishing SR's. For example, in order to know how many high school seniors a given school district will have next year, the following factors should be considered:

- (1) The eleventh to twelfth grade SR for the past year;
- (2) The average SR from grade 11 to grade 12 for the past 5 years;
- (3) A comparison of the SR's derived in 1 and 2 above, along with an analysis of any variations;
- (4) Analysis of community characteristics present or immediately anticipated (e.g., a housing project just announced) and their possible effects.

In projecting the SR's, perhaps the best way to estimate changes is to compare the 5-year and the 1-year trends. For instance, if both SR's show an approximately 95 percent survival from grade 11 to grade 12, this ratio could be projected into the fail re without change. However, if the 5-year SR is 100 percent and the 1-year figure is 108 percent, then it is quite possible that the district is experiencing a trend toward an increasing inmigration of twelfth graders. At this point, an assumption about what will happen to the Survival *Ratio* in the future can be formulated, based upon understanding the cause of changes in the past and assessing the possible future impact of the cause.

For example, in one community it was found that the establishment and staffing of a large engineering firm over a 5-year period caused a substantial increase in middle-age engineers with a mpanying families. Since their children tended to be older, the inmigration of seniors more than offset the dropout rate. As hiring at the plant levels off over the next 5 years, however, the SR might be be projected back to 100 percent and be expected to remain stable for the second 5 years of a 10-year projection.

Neighborhood Change Factor

Close study should be made of neighborhood and attendance zone aging patterns. New neighborhoods; which are the first phase of neighborhood aging, tend to have many young children. In the second phase, children may tend to show a higher average grade level attended. In the third phase, as children graduate from or drop out of high school, the neighborhood may reach a low point in the number of public school children per household. A fourth phase may occur if older homes are sold to other families. Characteristics of people leaving a neighborhood and characteristics of people who move in may not be the same: the racial composition of the neighborhood may change, homes may also change from single- to multiple-family units, and the neighborhood income level may change. Such trends influence the number and age, distribution of school children as well as the tax revenue that can be called upon for financial support.

Saturation Ratio

The ultimate school population is also a projective index. Such factors as the amount of undeveloped land and planned new housing starts, bordering unincorporated areas, zoning regulations; proximity to probable annexations, and economic indicators must be considered along with data on current patterns and trends in enrollment. The ultimate enrollment that can be accommodated in existing facilities, its probable distribution over the grades, and the time projection for saturation are factors to consider carefully in a master plan for school facilities.

Linking Enrollment Projections to Population Projections

Enrollment projections for 1 to 3 years tend to be relatively accurate in areas with relatively little migration, because the children who will be entering each grade are already on hand. For 5-year projections, however, birth rates should also be considered and linked with projections of the overall population. Population alterations, such as change in the number of women of childbearing age, can have a significant effect on births, and consequently on the number of children who will enter school.

Population projections for a given school area are sometimes available from local planning agencies. In some cases, however, schools must do their own population projections. One of the most useful techniques of projecting population by age is the *Cohort Survival* Method. This method utilizes separate projections of births, deaths, and migration to derive population projections as follows:

(1) Births. Predicting births, even over a short period of time, is difficult and is usually not attempted. Instead, assumptions concerning future birth rates are made by applying a set of age-specific birth rates to the female population of childbearing age.

The Cohort Fertilitý method² is used to predict agespecific data. In this method the probable birth rates for specific groups of women over a period of time are projected, producing a cumulative rate. In using these data, the researcher should include women who enter the childbearing years during the projections period.

(2) Deaths. Death rates are projected by means of detailed death data available from Federal Government life tables. Life tables³ portray age-specific mortality ratios by sex for a given population. Although life tables are rarely available for the particular area under study, in most cases the national age-specific death rates can be used by the researcher. The use of these national data can usually be justified if the crude death rate

² Cohort fertility rates can be obtained from the most recent Series P-25 publications of the United States Bureau of the Census.
 ³ Life tables for the United States can be obtained from publications of the National Center for Health Statistics, United States Department of Health, Education, and Welfare.

for the local area is very near that of the Nation as a whole and if the locality has no unusual age distribution. Age detail is required to use the mortality ratios from the life tables. The area population in each 5-year age interval is multiplied by its corresponding mortality ratio to yield the number of expected deaths occurring in that age group during the 5-year period. This total is the sum of deaths at all ages.

(3) Migration. Estimates of migration are difficult to make, but a fairly effective technique for assessing past net migration is the Residual method. By this method the total deaths in the county during a given decade are substracted from the total births in the county during the same decade to yield the expected natural increase. The expected natural increase is added to the population of the county in the beginning of the decade . to arrive at the expected population at the end of the decade. 'The expected' population at the end of the decade is then compared with the, actual population as enumerated by the census, and the difference is "net migration," which may be either positive or negative. Migration for more than one decade can be assessed by this technique, and the trend for migration can be derived from observations of past decades. This will yield a logical basis for making assumptions about future migration.

Distribution of migrants by age can be accomplished by applying the age distribution of, migrants given by the Bureau of the Census to the total migration estimated for the locality. When the migrant population is added into the base population, the number of projected births is increased because the midperiod population to which the birth rates are applied to derive births has been increased.

Standard Methods.

LÛ4.

Eensus report Series P-26, No. 21, describes the four standard methods of population estimates: (1) the *Vital Rates* method, (2) the *Component* method II, (3) the *Regression* method, and (4) the *Composite* method. The report presents the results of these methods, singularly and in combination, to obtain the estimate for each State.

TECHNIQUES FOR USING INFORMATION

SCHOOL SITE AND TRANSPORTATION PLANNING

Planning for optimum development and use of sites and transportation facilities is a complex process. This discussion addresses the relationship of community information to these planning needs, but planners will also have to consider many other elements such as financing, construction, meeting the requirements of State law, and employing an architectural firm.

The proposed use of a facility will affect site selection. A number of factors must be examined before the site is chosen: (1) required size of the building, including the number and size of rooms; (2) desire for, and financial feasibility of year-round use; (3)-the-desire for special provisions for continuing education and recreation; and (4) the need for auxiliary facilities, such · as cafeteria, health, and day care, because of the lack of accessibility to other public facilities. Natural hazards that might render a site undesirable, such as flood plains, areas subject to settling, and subsurface rock formations, should be researched.

Essential Information

Essential data for site and transportation planning are included within the classification system of this Handbook. Additional data regarding community characteristics and the probable nature of the community's future are suggested in chapters 4 and 5. Specific data needs include population and land use general characeristics, density measures, and specific characteristics.

Population

Current data and trend estimates should be available

Economic Factors

•	Literacy Factors
0105 02	Families by Income Category
01. 05 04	Families Receiving Public Assistance

	•
01. 01 06	Median Highest Grade of School
	Completed
04.0701	Total School Enrollment
04.070101	Total School Enrollment Grades K-8
04. 07 <u>01</u> 02	Total School Enrollment Grades 9-12
04. 07 03	Nonpublic School Enrollment
	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •

Vital Statistic Factors

01. 07 01	Number of Households		
01.0702	Persons Living in Households,	•	
01.0801	Annual-Births		
01.0802	Annual Deaths		
D1`. 08 05	Net Migration		

Land Use - General Characteristics

	-
03. 02 01 01	Average Land Area of K-6 or K-8
	School Attendance Areas
03. 02 01 02	Average Population of K-6 or K-8
• •	School Attendance Areas
03. 02 [´] 05 01	Land Consumption Rate
03. 02 06 01	Average Number of Building Permits
•	for Past 3 Years
03. 02 07	Population Potential According to
•	Master Plan Guidelines
03. 02 05 01	Percent of Land Zoned Residential

Land Use - Density Measures

• for the following	ng items:	03, 03 01	Population per Acre/Hectare
Code Number	Data Item	03. 03 01 01	Population per Residential Acre/Hect
			are .
01.01 01	Total Population	03. 03 01 02	Average Number of School-Age Chil-
01. 01 03	Population Density		dren per Residential Acre/Hectare
01. 02 05	White, Non-Hispanic	03. 03 02	Automobiles per Housing Unit
01. 02 01	American Indian or Alaskan Native	• /.	
01.02.02	Asian or Pacific Islander Population	Land	Use - Specific Characteristics
01, 02 03	Black, Non-Hispanic	·/ ·	۰ · · ·
01.02.04	Hispanic	03. 04 01	Size of Available Land Parcels
01.03 01	Foreign-Born Population	03. 04 01 01	Cost of Available Land Parcels

03. 04 01 03	Expandability of Available Land Par-
	cels .
03. 04 01 04	Location of Available Land Parcels
03. 04 02	Distance of School Site from Nearest
	Public Transportation Route
03. 04 03	Total Populati Within One-half Mile/
	.8 Kilometers of Santool Site
03. 04 03 01	Total Population Within One Mile/1.6
	Kilometers of School Site

This listing should be reviewed to determine types of data needed in the individual school community service area. Some items may be maintained by other public and private agencies and need not be gathered directly by the school.

Standard Formulas

General guidelines and legal requirements pertaining to school site selection have been established and only require adaptation to the individual circumstances and potential of each community.⁴

In the past, school sites were often undersized. In the sixtles, however, the tendency changed; and districts began to acquire as much acreage as appeared feasible. Land costs were rising and both enrollment and demands on schools were growing. The current school population decline was not foreseer. Today, population declines may require a reverse evaluation because of mergers or school closings and related property disposition. An analysis of the expandability of prospective sites should be made, however, if future needs dictate expansion. Bureau of the Census projections anticipate national increases in the school-age population after 1983.

GENERALIZED SITE FEATURES

Sites should be reasonably level. Junior and senior high schools should be within convenient commuting range, and elementary schools should be within easy walking distance for the age groups to be served. (An exception would be in a very low population density district where convenient driving range rather than easy walking distance should be the criterion.) A site should be adequate for any conceivable needs for building, recreational facility, and landscaping, and should be located with proper consideration for the safety of the children and the general appearance of the surroundings.⁵

DISTANCE GUIDELINES FOR A MODERATE-SIZE CITY

The generally accepted maximum radial distances between places of residence and schools, beyond which transportation must be provided for students, are:

- (1) Elementary school: 1/2 mile/.8 kilometer
- (2) Junior high school: one mile/1.6 kilometers, or 20 minutes
- (3) Senior high school: 20 to 30 minutes

Modifying influences on these guidelines include distance of school site to nearest public transportation route (03. 04 02), adequacy of sidewalks and safe street crosings (item 1, Transportation, p. 95), and average population of school attendance areas (03. 02 01 02).

SITE-SIZE STANDARDS

School site-size recommendations commonly reflect the philosophy of providing one acre/.4 hectare per 100 pupils as a basic measure. Additional acreage allotments reflect the requirements for play areas, landscaping, and other needs. Generalized standards for school site sizes include:

- Elementary school: minimum acreage, 5; desirable minimum acreage, 5 plus 1 acre/.4 hectare per 100 additional anticipated enrollment; ideal. acreage range, 10 to 25 acres/4 to 10.1 hectares.
- (2) Junior high school: minimum acreage, 10; desirable minimum acreage, 10 plus 1 acre/.4 hectare per 100 additional anticipated enrollment; ideal acreage range, 25 to 40 acres/10.1 to 16.2 hectares.
- (3) Senior high school: minimum acreage, 29; desirable minimum acreage, 20 plus 1 acre/.4 hectare per 100 additional anticipated enrollment; ideal acreage range, 35 to 70 acres/14.2 to 30.3 hectares.

The acreage units indicated refer to usable land; prohibiting slope and drainage traures may further increase the site size necessary.

-106

⁴ Various formulas exist for determining the size and scope of facilities needed for any school. Architectural and educational consultants are the best source of information on this subject, and reference may be made to such resources as the *Guide for Planning Educational Facilities*, published by the Council of Educational Facility Planners, Columbus, Ohio, 1969, and other current references supplied by the council and the United States Office of Education.

³ Adapted from F.S Chapin, Jr., Urban Land Use Planning (Urbana: University of Illinois Press, 1965), p. 375.

TECHNIQUES FOR USING INFORMATION

Site Cost Considerations

Three types of costs must be evaluated when planning the site of a new school:

- Unimproved. The buying price of land without buildings or other features such as utilities, sidewalks, landscaping, and access roads.
- (2) Improved. The estimated cost of a property in readiness for construction, including such features as utilities, sidewalks, landscaping, and access roads.
- (3) Operational. The cost of maintenance and useof the site over the expected life span of the building.

It is important to conduct a cost feasibility study of alternate sites because unique long-term site costs, such as topographic féatures (03: 04 01 05), the proximity of the site to current and potential transportation arteries (03. 04 02), and student trousing patterns may influence the choice.

Site Location, Population Distribution, and Site Access

A sequence of steps has been formulated for the selection of appropriate site locations:

- (1) Study adequacy of existing school facility locations, considering both functions performed and distribution of the populations served.
- (2) Determine future needs for specific facilities and their desired site size and characteristics.
- (3) Acquire the necessary data on the distribution of present and anticipated populations to be served, including school-age children and adults. (Determining present distribution patterns is a matter of data collection; anticipating future distributions requires analysis of planning controls, observation of economic trends, and a study of
- · community development potential.) -
- (4) Delimit the general areas where sites for various facilities will be needed.
- (5) Analyze each general area to determine the specific characteristics of each potential site.
- (6) Analyze each potential site in terms of accessibility to the populations to be served, using the appropriate indicators from the preceding listings.

107

Spacific Site Characteristics

. Anticipated uses for each potential site must be considered, using the land use indicators provided in the listing in this chapter. If the physical properties appear to be satisfactory, a cost feasibility study is the next step.

Transportation

School policy and State law and such local factors as changing land-use patterns are important considerations in transportation planning.

School district maps should designate attendance areas, housing, transportation routes, school sites, and depots. These maps should be updated regularly. Except where school bus systems exist on a State (e.g., North Carolina) or regional (e.g., Hawaii) basis, enrollment trends should be studied before planners embark on time-consuming and expensive transportation planning programs.

Other data requirements for school transportation depend upon the specific uses of the facility and, in particular, the age of the population to be served.

- Elementary schools. City elementary schools are normally based on some concept of neighborhood, with children walking to the school; therefore, an analysis of sidewalks and safe pedes
 - trian circulation patterns must be conducted. In
- elementary districts where school bus transportation is provided, the comments below are applicable.
- (2) Junior and senior high schools, school bus transportation. Data needs for determining bus
 - routes include the street and road pattern and school population density. Such data may be obtained from the engineer's office of the local government.

Routing is a function of street patterns and their relationship to the distribution of the population to be served. If it is a district policy to run extra buses for students involved in afterschool events and special programs, afternoon routes will be more complex than morning pickups:

- (3) Public Transportation. The routes and scheduled stops of public transportation forms (whether bus, subway, or other) require special mapping and analysis.
- (4) Private cars. Surveys of the number of cars driven to the school by senior high school students,

faculty, staff, parents, and visitors are important in planning for site and parking facilities.

 (5) Future Transportation. Regional planning commissions usually maintain 5-year projections in transportation.

Because of the growth of adult education, the adult population should be surveyed to establish: (1) the primary mode of transportation used by present adult students, (2) the required adult evening use of public transportation for school attendance, and (3) the estimated future use of school-sponsored transportation, if available.

The Future -

The dynamic aspects of the community will have a strong influence on all planning efforts. Trends toward the development of suburbs and economic change in the community must be analyzed continuously in terms of the school plant and transportation.

The principle element in the entire planning process is probably flexibility. With this element as a guideline, decisions can be made that will be responsive to the changing needs of the school and the community.

Projective studies usually undertaken by State, regional, county, city, and special-purpose district planning agencies, are conducted for many kinds of political units and may run the spectrum from general to specialized in subject. Before using projective data, the researcher should read the assumptions upon which a study has been based, and note the geographic area for which data may be available. The assumptions may strongly affect the potential values of the study, and the geographic area used may require breakdown of the data through some statistical-process.----

The researcher should also investigate any projective analysis in terms of the kind of projective planning that has been done and the kind of future expected. Many projective studies have delineated a future clearly based upon the present. Urban specialists have suggested additional modes or needs for planning, such as:

- (1) planning for the present.
- (2) planning toward the future.
- (3) planning with the future.
- (4) planning from the future.⁶

The researcher must decide if the community wishes to plan for present concerns (1 above), to respond to

⁶ Brian J.L. Berry, The Human Consequences of Urbanization (New V--V: St. Martin's Press, 1973), p. 174.

103

predicted futures (2 and 3 above), or to create a desired. future (4 above). The character of planning across the United States varies considerably, although the first type (1) is certainly dominant. The second and third types of planning may become relatively more significant as communities become conscious of the need to adapt some parts of societal functioning.

One possible device administrators may use in goal setting for the school system is the Delphi method. The process involves selection of a panel of knowledgeable individuals who provide responses (usually written) to a series of questions that establish the outlines of a goal-setting process. The data received from the respondents are coppolidated, summarized, and then passed back to the papel members with additional questions. The first round of responses is followed by additional rounds until a rational set of alternatives are developed upon which the primary goals may be based.

Other means of looking at the future are less applicable to the immediate needs of the schools. Scenarios are commonly used as a device to generate a hypothetical series of events that underlie alternative futures. The method allows for a descriptive statement on future communities, lifestyles, or societies, and provides a basis upon which to structure planning toward the future. Preferrable to concentrating on only one scenario is the constructing and comparing of several alternative scenarios.

Another method is simulation gaming in which reality is simulated and change factors are introduced. The consequences (impacts) of change factors are potentially observable and measurable. If gaming is conducted in a statistical framework, the ability to generate numerous alternatives is possible, and the full range of -alternative-future situations may be identifiable.

APPLICATIONS OF ELECTRONIC DATA PROCESSING EQUIPMENT TO THE COMMUNITY INFORMATION SYSTEM

Many school districts either have computers and other data-processing equipment or can share machine time with other local agencies. The feasibility of using data-processing systems in setting up and using the community information classification system described in chapter 3 is an important consideration in school planning.

Systems analysts use several criteria to determine whether any system or part of a system should be au-

TECHNIQUES FOR USING INFORMATION

tomated. In general, if the task the computer is given must be done repeatedly, then the additional cost of computerization is repaid to the user. Machines can process large amounts of information very quickly. Unfortunately; it is more costly and time-consuming to tell the computer exactly what to do (and that is precisely what must be done) than to tell a human being. Computer programs already available to do tasks such as population and school enrollment projections are costly. A considerable investment of time is often required to adapt these programs to a particular system to gain a sufficient amount of experience with them so that they can be readily used.

In utilizing the community information described in this Handbook, there are only a few applications where the use of a computer might be considered necessary.

The first of these possible applications involves extracting census data and translating it into data by school district or attendance area. (Chapter 4 describes the program to convert data by census units into data by school units.) The Bureau of the Census sells its summary tapes for approximately \$80 each. In most cases, however, it will probably be cheaper and easier for individual school districts to secure the printouts needed from one of the summary tape processing centers.

The second possible application is in the area of population and enrollment projections. Whether the computer's use is justified depends on how many sets of projections are to be run. It might be cheaper in the long run to have them provided by an agency specializing in projections.

There are many other areas of information such as land use, zoning, transportation, and employment data that could be automated by the school system. It is probably more efficient for school systems to automate only their own internal data plus data such as census information when justified by the volume of use. Other available data should be secured as needed from the files of agencies where the data are kept. Ideally this approach produces purer data and saves computer storage space.

The U.S. Bureau of the Census has organized summary tape processing centers throughout the country for the use of researchers who require detailed census data. As a general rule, a summary tape processing center will buy tape reels of one or more data files for the State or region in which it is located. Some centers conduct only data retrieval and tape copying services; others provide analytical reports or consultant services as well. A listing of the services holdings, and locations of these centers is available from:

100

Data Access and Use Laboratory Bureau of the Census Washington, D.C. 20233.

The Bureau of the Census has issued the 1970 Census Users' Guide, Volumes I and II, which give details of the available data delivery systems and computer data necessary for processing data tapes. These publications are available from:

Superintendent of Documents United States Government Printing Office Washington, D.C. 20402.

(For further information on census tapes, see appendix, H, Assistance In Obtaining and Using Census Bureau Data and Products.)

GBF/DIME SYSTEM

The Geographic Base File/Dual Independent Map Encoding (GBF/DIME) files are a set of computerized maps developed for the urbanized portions of most metropolitan areas. The files describe each street and the relationship between address ranges, census tract and block numbers, and grid coordinates. Other geographic identifiers can be used by researchers to receive data on local statistical areas such as police precincts, school districts, or health reporting zones.

The GBF/DIME file in each metropolitan area is maintained by a local agency, usually the regional planning group. Boards of education in several areas have joined with other organizations to form metrowide GBF/DIME consortiums, thus expanding the data base upon which all agencies can draw to aid in grant applications, fulfilling Federal performance standards, locating populations or areas in need, and satisfying legislative mandates.

The GBF/DIME System refers to a package of computer programs for establishing, maintaining, and using GBF/DIME files. The system facilitates the conversion of administrative records into statistical data.

By means of the GBF/DIME System, local school administrative files can be geographically coded to census block, census tract, or comparable geographic areas, and summary statistics can be produced for that area without divulging any individual or confidential information. These data can then be mapped or compared to 1970 census data or other local data at that geographic level.

Γ.

CONCLUSION

This chapter has presented some of the basic methods for organizing, analyzing, and presenting collected community data related to enrollment and population, school site and transportation, and computerized retrieval and display of data. The following chapter contains definitions of data items that appear in the classified arrays presented in chapter 3.

Chapter 8

DEFINITIONS OF ITEMS OF INFORMATION ABOUT COMMUNITIES

Commonly understood and carefully defined terminology is essential for communication, recordkeeping, and reporting. The definitions listed below appear in numerical order as identified and classified in chapter " 3. The flexible coding system for the arrays of data is also explained in chapter 3. Standard definitions from authoritative sources such as the regulations for implementing Part B of the Education of the Handicapped Act* and the *Census Users Guide* have been used whenever possible. Definitions. from a variety of scholarly sources and definitions formulated by the Handbook VIII committee have been, added when necessary.

ITEMS DESCRIBING POPULATION DATA

01. SERIES: POPULATION

01	•	POPILI ATION	
U 1.	4	I OI UBAILON	

GENERAL POPULATION CHARACTERISTICS

01.01 01

01. Ò1

Total Population—The total number of persons who claim a given geographic area as their usual place of abode, including armed forces in residence and resident aliens and not including transients or nonresident aliens.

01.010101

Percent Female—The total number of females who claim a given geographic area as their usual place of abode, divided by the total population, and the result multiplied by 100.

01. 01.01 02

Percent Male—The total number of males who claim a given geographic area as their usual place of abode, divided by the total population, and the result multiplied by 100.

01. 01·01 03

Midperiod Population—The arithmetic difference between the total population (01. 01 01) at the beginning of a period and the total population at the end of the same period, divided by two, and added to the total population figure for the beginning of the period.

Part 121a of Title 45 of the Code of Federal Regulations, Federal Register, Vol. 42, No. 250, Dec. 29, 1977.
100 **COMMUNITY INFORMATION** 01.01 02 Population Increase or Decrease-The arithmetic difference between total population (01. 01 01) for two dates. 01.01 02 01 Percent Population Increase or Decrease --- The population increase or decrease (01. 01 02) divided by total population (01. 01 01) at the beginning of the period, and the result multiplied by 100. 01. 01 03 . Population Density—The total population (01: 01 01) divided by the land area (03. 01 01). Median Age-The figure that splits a frequency distribution of ages into two equal parts, 01.01.04 one 50 percent above and one 50 percent below the figure. Median Family Income—The figure that splits a frequency distribution of family incomes 01.01.05 into two equal parts, one 50 percent higher and one 50 percent lower than the figure. 01.01.06. Median Highest Grade of School Completed-The figure for highest grade completed that-splits a frequency distribution of highest grade completed into two equal parts, one 50 percent above and one 50 percent below the figure. ,01. 01 07 Number of Persons Age 25 and Over-The count of persons age 25 and over in the population, 01.02 **RACIAL AND ETHNIC CHARACTERISTICS** 01, 02 01 American Indian or Alaskan Native-A person, having origins in any of the original peoples of North America, who maintains cultural identification through tribal affiliation or community recognition. 01. 02 01 01 Percent American Indian or Alaskan Native-The American Indian or Alaskan Native population (01. 02,01) divided by the total population (01. 01 01), and the result multipliéd by 100. 01.0202 Asian or Pacific Islander - A person having origins in any of the original peoples of the Far East, Southeast Asia, the Indian subcontinent, or the Pacific Islands. This area includes, for example, China, India, Japan, Korea, the Philippine Islands, and Samoa. 01. 02 02 01 Percent Asian or Pacific Islander-The Asian or Pacific Islander population (01. 02 02) divided by the total population (01. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100. Black, Not of Hispanic Origin—A person having origins in any of the Black racial 01. 02 03 groups of Africa. 01. 02 03-01 Percent Black, Not of Hispanic Origin-The Black population not of Hispanic origin (01. 02 03) divided by the total population (01. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100. 01.0204 Hispanic-A person of Mexican, Puerto Rican, Cuban, central or south American or other Spanish culture or origin, regardless of race.

•		
·	DEFINITIONS OF	DATATIEMS
	01. 02,04 01	Percent Hispanic —The Hispanic population (01. 02 04) divided by the total population (01. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100.
•	01. 02 05	White, Not of Hispanic Origin—A person having origins in any of the original peop of Europe, North Africa, or the Middle East.
* *******	01. 02 05 01	Percent White, Not of Hispanic Origin—The White population not of Hispanic orig (01. 02 05) divided by the total population (01. 01 01), and the result multiplied 100.
`	_01.03	FOREIGN BORN CHARACTERISTICS
	01. 03 01	Foreign Born Population—All persons born outside the United States, the commo wealth of Puerto Rico, and other United States possessions and territories, and with neith parent a native of the United States.
•	01. 03 01 01	Percent Foreign born Population—The foreign born population (01. 03 01) divid by the total population (01. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100.
	01. 04	URBAN-RURAL CHARACTERISTICS
* ¢	01.04′01	Urban Population—All persons living in urbanized areas and in places of 2,500 inhat itants or more outside urbanized areas.
ł	01. 04 01 01	Percent Urban Population —The urban population (01. 04 01) divided by the to population (01. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100.
	01. 04 02	Rural Population—All persons not having residence classified as urban.
· · · ·	01. 04 02 01	Percent Rural Population—The rural, population (01. 04 02) divided by the top population (01. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100.
	01. 04 02 02	Rural Farm Population—All persons living in rural areas on places that annual produce agricultural products for sale, in the amount of \$1,000 or more.
	01. 04 02 02 01	Percent Rural Farm Population—The rural farm population (01. 04 02 02) divid by the total population (01. 01. 01) and the result multiplied by 100
•	01. 04 02 03	Rural Nonfarm Population — All persons living in rural territory, not defined as farm
	01. 04 02 03 01	Percent Rural Nonfarm Population—The rural nonfarm population (01. 04 02 0 divided by the total population (01. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100.
	01. 05	INCOME CHARACTERISTICS
	01. 05 01	Number of Families With Income—The count of families reporting income during the year from any member from any source.
	01. 05 02	Families, by Income Category —Families with income (01. 05 01), categorized amount of income. Incomes categorized as: Under \$1,000; \$1,000-2,999; \$3,000-5,99 \$6,000-8,999; \$9,000-11,999; \$12,000-14,999; \$15,000-24,999; \$25,000-49,999; \$50,000 or more.
	• /. •	

.

COMMUNITY INFORMATION

	01.	05	03
--	-----	----	----

01. 05 04

01.050401

01.06

01.0601

01.0602

01.07

01. 07-01

01.07 02

01.07 03

¹ 01. 07 04

01.07 04 01

01\07 05

01.07 05 01

01.0706

Percent Distribution of Families, by Income Category—The number of families in a given category divided by the number of families with income (01. 05 01), and the result. multiplied by 100. This procedure is repeated for each of the following income categories: Under \$1,000; \$1,000-2,999; \$3,000-5,999; \$6,000-8,999; \$9,000-11,999; \$12,000-14,999; \$15,000-24,999; \$25,000-49,999; \$50,000 or more.

Families Receiving Public Assistance—The number of families receiving some form of local, State, or Federal public assistance such as Aid to Dependent Children, Public Welfare, food stamps, or subsidized housing.

Percent Families Receiving Public Assistance—The number of families receiving public assistance (01. 05 04) divided by the number of families with income (01. 05 01), and the result multiplied by 100.

DUCATIONAL CHARACTERISTICS

Highest Grade of School Completed by Persons Age 25 and Over—Persons age 25 and over categorized by the highest grade of school completed or the grade prior to the highest grade attended but not completed. Grade categories include: None, K, 5-8, 9-11, 12, 13-15, 16, and 17 or more.

Percent Distribution of Highest Grade of School Completed by Persons age 25 and Over—The number of persons in a given highest grade category divided by the number of persons age 25 and over (01.01 07), and the result multiplied by 100. This procedure is repeated for each of the following grade categories: none, K-4, 5-8, 9-11, 12, 13-15, 16, and 17 or more.

HOUSEHOLD AND HOUSING CHARACTERISTICS

Number of Households---Number of single housing units.

Persons Living in Households-All persons occupying a single housing unit.

Mean Number of Persons per Household—The number of persons living in households (01. 07 02) divided by the number of households (01. 07 01).

Persons Living in Single Housing Units—The number of people living in separate buildings that have either open space on all four sides or are separated from ground to roof, including row houses, double houses, or houses attached to nonresidential structures.

Percent Persons Living in Single Housing Units—Number persons living in single Housing Units (01. 07 04) divided by the total population (01. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100.

Persons Living in Multiple Housing Units—Persons living in structures with two or more housing units.

Percent Persons Living in Multiple Housing Units—Persons living in multiple Housing Units (01. 07 05) divided by the total population (01. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100.

Number of Owner-Occupied Housing Units-The number of housing units that are occupied by the owner or co-owner

۰,

	01.07 06 01	Percent Owner-Occupied Housing Units—The number of owner-occupied housing units (01. 07 06) divided by the number of housing units (01. 07 11), and the result multiplied by 100.
•	01.0707	Median Value of Owner-Occupied Housing Units—The figure that splits a frequency distribution of housing values into two equal parts, one 50 percent above and one 50 percent below the figure
	01.07 08	Number of Rented Housing Units—The number of housing units occurried by contrast
•		
• •	01.070801	Percent Rented Housing Units —The number of rented housing units (01. 07 08) divided by the number housing units (01. 07 11), and the result multiplied by 100.
	01. 07 09	Median Monthly Gross Rental of Rented Housing Units—The figure that splits a frequency distribution of monthly gross rental into two equal parts, one 50 percent above and one 50 percent below the figure.
3	01. 07 10	Persons Living in Mobile Homes—The count of persons living in mobile homes or trailers.
	01. 07 10 01	Percent Persons Living in Mobile Homes —The number of persons living in mobile homes (01. 07 10) divided by the total opulation (01. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100.
	01. 07 11	Number of Housing Units-The total count of housing units.
° √ ·	01.07 12	Number of Housing Units Without Complete Plumbing Facilities—The count of hous- ing units lacking one or more plumbing facilities (e.g., piped hot and cold water, toilet,
		or bathtub), including units that share toilet or bathing facilities with occupants of other, housing units in the structure.
, ,	01. 07 12 01	Percent of Housing Units Without Complete Plumbing Facilities—The number of housing units without complete plumbing facilities (01. 07 12) divided by the total number of housing units (01. 07 11), and the result multiplied by 100.
	01. 07 13	Number of Persons Under Age 18 Living with Mother Only—The count of persons under age 18 living with the female parent only.
··* , · •	01. 07 14	Number of Persons Under Age 18 Living with Father Only—The count of persons under age 18 living with the male parent only.
	01. 07 15	Number of Persons Under Age 18 Living with Neither Parent—The count of persons under age 18 living with neither the female nor the male parent.
, •	01 08	
	. d1 [*] 08 01	Annual Birtha The sound of high second in the
	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	Annual Births-Ine count of births occurring during a calendar year.
<i></i>	01. 08 01 01	Crude Birth Rate —The number of births per 1,000 population per year, operationally defined as the annual births (01. 08 01) divided by the midperiod population (01. 01 01 03) for the year, and the result multiplied by 1,000.
ERIC et the trouble by ERIC	, • •	115

N .	
104	COMMUNITY INFORMATION
01. 08_02``	Annual Deaths—The count of deaths occurring in a calendar year.
01. 08 02 01	Crude Death Rate—The number of deaths per 1,000 population per year, operationally, defined as the annual deaths (01. 08 02) divided by the midyear population (01. 01 01 * 03) for the year, and the result multiplied by 100.
0108 03	Annual Infant Mortality—Deaths to children under 1 year of age during a calendar year.
01. 08 03 01	Infant Mortality Rate—The number of infant deaths per 1,000 live births per year, operationally defined as the annual infant deaths (01. 08 03) divided by the annual births (01. 08 01), and the result multiplied by 1000.
01. 08 04	Annual Natural Increase or Decrease in Population—The increase or decrease in population due to births and deaths but not migration, operationally defined as the annual births (01. 08 01) minus annual deaths (01. 08 02).
01. 08 05	Net Migration—The difference between inmigration and outmigration during a specific time period, usually 1 year or longer, operationally defined as the difference between the national increase or decrease during a given period (01. 08 04) and the population increase or decrease (01. 01 02) for the same period.
01. 08 06	Age-Specific Births—Annual number of births to women in a specified age category.
01. 08 06 01	Age-Specific Birth Rates—The number of births to women in a specified age category per 1,000 women in that category, operationally defined as age-specific births (01.08 06) divided by the midperiod female population for the year in that category, and the result multiplied by 1,000.
01. 08 07	• Annual Marriages—The number of marriages in a calendar year.
01. 08 07 01	<i>Marriage Rate</i> —The number of marriages in a calendar year (01. 08 07) divided by the midperiod population (01. 01 01 03) of the year, and the result multiplied by 1,000.
01. 08 08	Annual Divorces—The number of divorces in a calendar year.
01. 08 08 01	Divorce Rate—The annual number of divorces per 1,000 population per year, opera- tionally defined as the annual number of divorces (01. 08 08) divided by the midperiod population (01. 01 01 03) for the year; and the result multiplied by 1,000.
01. 09	HANDICAPPED CATEGORIES
01. 09 01	Handicapped Persons—The number of persons of all ages with a handicap. Handicapped persons are those afflicted with a physical or mental disability including those evaluated as being mentally retarded, hard of hearing, deaf, speech impaired, visually handicapped, seriously emotionally disturbed, orthopedically impaired, other health impaired, deaf-

. .

116

Full Text Provided by ERIC

blind, multihandicapped, or as having specific learning disabilities, who because of those impairments need special education and related services.

105

Handicapped Persons Age 18 and Over—The number of persons age 18 and over who have been evaluated as having one or more, of the disabilities specified in (01. 09 01) above.

Handicapped Persons Under Age 18—The number of persons under age 18 who have been evaluated as having one or more of the disabilities specified in (01, 09, 01) above.

Handicapped Persons Under Age 18, by Type of Handicap—The number of handicapped persons under age 18 listed by the type of handicap.

01. 09 04 01

01. 09 02

01: 09 03

01. 09 04

Deaf—A hearing impairment which is so severe that the child is impaired in processing linguistic information through hearing, with or without amplification, which adversely affects educational performance.

Deaf-Blind—Concomitant hearing and visual impairments, the combination of which causes such severe communication and other developmental and educational problems – that they cannot be accommodated in special education programs solely for deaf or blind children.

Hard of Hearing — A hearing impairment, whether permanent or fluctuating, which adversely affects a child's educational performance but which is not included under the

definition of "deaf" in this section.

.01.09 04 03

·01. 09 04 02

01. 09 04 04

01. 09 04 05

Mentally Retarded — Significantly subaverage general intellectual functioning existing concurrently with deficits in adaptive behavior and manifested during the developmental period, which adversely affects a child's educational performance.

Multihandicapped—Concomitant impairments (such as mentally retarded-blind, mentally retarded-orthopedically impaired, etc.), the combination of which causes such severe educational problems that they cannot be accommodated in special education, programs solely for one of the impairments. The term does not include deaf-blind children.

01.090406

Orthopedically Impaired—A severe orthopedic.impairment which adversely affects a child's educational performance. The term' includes impairments caused by congenital anomaly (e.g., clubfoot, absence of some member, etc.) impairments caused by disease (e.g. poliomyelitis, bone tuberculosis, etc.), and impairments from other causes (e.g., cerebral palsy, amputations, and fractures or burns which cause contractures).

01.09.04.07

Other Health Impaired—Limited strength, vitality or alertness, due to chronic or acute health problems such as a heart condition, tuberculosis, rheumatic fever, nephritis, asthma, sickle cell anemia, hemophilia, epilepsy, lead poisoning, leukemia, or diabetes, which adversely affects a child's educational performance.

COMMUNITY INFORMATION

106

01: 09 04 08

Seriously Emotionally Disturbed -

(i) The term means a condition exhibiting one or more of the following characteristics over a long period of time and to a marked degree, which adversely affects educational performance:

(A) An inability to learn, which cannot be explained by intellectual, sensory, or health factors;

(B) An inability to build or maintain satisfactory interpersonal relationships with peers and teachers.

(C) Inappropriate types of behavior or feelings under normal circumstances;

(D) A general pervasive mood of unhappiness or depression; or

(E) A tendency to develop physical symptoms or fears associated with personal or school problems.

(ii) The term includes children who are schizophrenic or autistic. The term doe include children who are socially maladjusted, unless it is determined that they are seriously emotionally disturbed.

Specific Learning Disability—A disorder in one or more of the basic psychological processes involved in understanding or in using language, spoken or written, which may manifest itself in an imperfect ability to listen, think, speak, read, write, spell, or to do mathematical calculations. The term includes such conditions as perceptual handicaps, brain injury, minimal brain disfunction, dyslexia, and developmental aphasia. The term does not include children who have learning problems which are primarily the result of visual, hearing, or motor handicaps; of mental retardation; of emotional disturbance; or of environmental, cultural, or economic disadvantage.

01. 09 04 10 🗥

01. 09 04 11

01.090409

Speech Impaired—A communication disorder, such as stuttering, impaired articulation, a language impairment, or a voice impairment, which adversely affects a child's educational performance.

Visually Handicapped—A visual impairment which, even with correction, adversely affects a child's educational performance. The term includes both partially seeing and blind children.

02. SERIES: ECONOMY

· 02.	ECONOMY
02. 01	GENERAL ECONOMIC CHARACTERISTICS
02. 01 01	Total Employment—The number of individuals reported as employed at places of work within the community.
02. 01 01 01	Percent Change in Employment, Selected Years—The arithmetic difference between employment (02. 01 01) for two dates divided by the employment figure for the earlier date, and the result multiplied by 100.
02. 01 02	Payrolls —The total dollar amount of all forms of compensation such as salaries, wages, commissions, dismissal pay, bonuses, vacation and sick leave pay, and compensation in
	kind, prior to such deductions as withholding taxes, group insurance, and employee social security contributions, and those with less than five employees. Excludes payments to
FRIC	1 A R. 1

proprietors of unincorporated concerns, payments to members of the armed forces, and payments to pensioners carried on the active payroll.

Percent Change in Payrolls, Selected Years—The arithmetic difference between payrolls (02, 01 02) for two dates divided by the payroll for the figure for earlier date, and the result multiplied by 100.

02. 01 03

02. 02

02. 01 02 01

Capital Investments-The total investment in all forms in all economic activities.

EMPLOYMENT, BY INDUSTRY GROUP CHARACTERISTICS

02. 02 01

Employment, by Industry Group—The number of individuals reported as employed at places of work within the community by industry group. Industry groups are categorized as Agriculture; Forestry; Fisheries; Mining Construction; Manufacturing; Transportation; Wholesale Trade; Retail Trade; Finance, Insurance, and Real Estate; Services; Public Administration; and Nonclassifiable Establishments. The nationally accepted classification of industry group is in the Standard Industrial Classification code. (See appendix E.)

02. 02 02 01-99

02. 02203

divided by total employment (02. 01 01); and the result multiplied by 100. Percent Change in Employment, by Industry Group, Selected Years—The arithmetic

Percent Employed, by Industry Group-The number employed in each industry group

difference between employment for two dates in each industry group (02. 02 01) represented in the community divided by the figure for the earlier date, and the result multiplied by 100.

02. 02 04 01-99

02. 02 05

Payrolls, by Industry Group—Payrolls (02. 01 02) for each industry group represented in the Standard Industrial Classification.

Percent Change in Payrolls, Selected Years—The arithmetic difference between payrolls for two. dates in each industry group (02, 02 04 01-99) represented in the community divided by the figure for the earlier date, and the result multiplied by 100.

02. 02 06 01-99

Capital Investment, by Industry Group—Capital investment-for each industry group represented in the Standard Industrial Classification.

02. 02 07 01-99

Major Employers, by Industry Group—A listing of the industry groups providing the major job sources in the community and an identification of the major corporations in the major job-source clusters.

02. 02 09

Agriculture—Activities associated with the production of food and fiber through cultivating the soil, producing crops, and raising livestock; and the minimal preparation and # marketing of such products.

02. 02 09 01

Number of Farms—The total number of operating units engaged in agricultural production (see Glossary for definitions of farm and operating farm unit).

02/02 09 02

Size Grouping of Farms—Classification of farms according to size of total land area restablished for each farm.

02. 02 09 03

Value of Agricultural Products (Including Livestock)—An estimate based on actual sales data and estimates, made according to a formula, for all other unrecorded sales.

119

. *	
108	COMMUNITY INFORMATION
01. 02 09 04	Average Sales per Farm—The value of agricultural products (including livestock) (02. 02 09 03) divided by the total number of farms (02. 02 09 01).
02. 02 09 05	Value of Farms—Total value of farms based on extension of known values to com- parable farms in the area obtaining value of each unit.
02. 02 09 05 01	Average Value of Farms—Total value of farms (02. 02 09 05) divided by the number of farms (02, 02 09 01)
02. 02 09 06 ¹	Tenant Operated Farms All farms rented from others or worked on a share basis.
02. 02.10	Mining—The processes associated with extracting ores or minerals from beneath the surface of the earth.
02. 02 10 01	Value of Minerals Produced—The difference between receipts for minerals shipped, `sold, and costs of producing and initial processing of the minerals.
02. 02 11	Manufacturing—The processes associated with systematic production of products from raw materials or component parts through use of machinery and division of labor.
02. 02 11 01	Manufacturing Establishments—The number of production units classified as engaged in manufacturing activities.
02. 02 11 02	Value Added, by Manufacturing — The difference between basic input costs for pro- duction of a good and the sale value of the finished commodity.
02.021103	Employment in Production Processes—Employment associated with production op- érations.
02.02 12	Wholesale Trade—The processes associated with selling and transferring of-goods in quantity; either for resale by merchant middlemen to ultimate consumers, or for use in business.
02. 02 12 01	Wholesale Trade Establishments, by Category—The number of establishments en- gaged in wholesaling activities, as defined in the Standard Industrial Classification.
02.02 12 02	Wholesale Sales Volume-Total dollar value of wholesale sales.
. 02. 02 12 03	Sales Volume, by Category of Wholesale Commodity—Total dollar value of sales by categories as defined in the Standard Industrial Classification.
02. 02 12 04	Wholesale Sales Volume per Employee — Wholesale sales volume (02. 02 12 02) divided by number of wholesale sales employees (02. 02 01 50-51).
02. 02 12 05	Per Capita Wholesale Sales—Wholesale sales volume (02. 02 12 02) divided by total population (01. 01.01).
02. 02 13	Retail Trade—The processes associated with selling and transferring of goods from who- lesalers or other sources of supply to consumers.
02. 02 13 01	Retail Trade Establishment, by Category—The number of retail establishments, by category, based on the Standard Industrial Classification. Such categories may be further
EDIC	120

.

• EF

	grouped into durable and nondurable goods, convenience and general merchandise,
	apparei, and rumisnings categories.
02.02.13.02	Retail Sales Volume—Total dollar value of retail sales.
02. 02 13 03	• Sales Volume, by Category of Retail Commodity—Total dollar value of retail sales by categories as established in (02. 02 13.01).
02. 02 13 04	Retail Sales Volume per Employee — Retail sales volume (02. 02 13 02) divided by number of retail sales employees (02. 02 01 52-59).
02 ,02 13 05	Per Capita Retail Sales—Retail sales volume (02. 02 13 02) divided by total population (01. 01 01).
02.02 14	Finance, Insurance, and Real Estate—An industrial classification grouping in which concerns are primarily focused upon such activities as circulating money, making investments, providing banking facilities, transferring real property, and making credit arrangements.
02. 02 Î4 01	Bank Deposits—Total of all time (savings) and demand (checking) account deposits.
02. 02 14 02	• Percent Change in Bank Deposits, Selected Years — The arithmetic difference between bank deposits (02. 02 14 01) for two dates divided by the figure for the earlier date, and the result muliplied by 100.
02. 02 14 03	Bank Loans—Total of all notes outstanding, including business loans, car loans, home mortgages, and personal loans.
02.03	ECONOMIC INDICATORS
02. 03 01	Basic Employment—Number of employed persons involved in the production of a com- modity or in the performance of a service for sales beyond the limits of the community or to persons residing outside of the community.
02. 03 02	Nonbasic Employment—Total employment of those involved in the production of a good or performance of a service for sale within the limits of the community; that is, to a person living within or an economic activity located within the limits of the community.
02. 03 03	Basic/Nenbasic Employment Ratio—Ratio between total basic employment (02. 03 01) and total nonbasic employment (02. 03 02), with basic equaling 100.
02. 03 04	Employment Multiplier —Assumption that total employment will change according to the basic nonbasic ratio. That is, any change in the basic employment will stimulate a change in nonbasic employment parallel to the relationship indicated in the ratio.
02. 03 05	Location Employment Quotients —A simple indicator of the relative importance of spe- cific economic activities in the community economy and a crude means of determining basic employment (02. 03 01). Procedure is to compare local data with data from some larger area through an equation: local employment in a particular industrial group/total local employment/national employment in the particular industrial group/total national employment. A quotient of 1.0 indicates the level of employment needed to satisfy local needs; above 1.0 indicates basic employment.
•	

110

COMMUNITY INFORMATION

.

02. 03 06	Employment Stability Index —A running index of employment change accomplished by making total local employment in some base year equal to 100 and relating subsequent yearly employment to that base.
02. 04	ECONOMIC ASPECTS OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT
02.04 01	Governmental Employment (Local)-Total employment by local governmental units.
02. 04 01 01	Government Employment (Other Than Local)—Sunt of employment at all levels of government (e.g., Federal, State), excluding those employed at local levels.
02. 04 01 02	Ratio of Government Jobs to All Jobs—Ratio of government jobs (02. 04 01) + (02. 04 01 01) to/total employment (02. 01 01).
02. 04 02	Annual Revenues, by Source—Total local government receipts by source, the latter being most simply classified as property taxes, insurance trust revenue, utility revenue, intergovernmental revenue, changes and miscellaneous revenue, and other taxes.
02.04 03	Annual Expenditures, by Category—Total local government expenditures classified by category of expenditure (e.g., general fund, street construction, recreation, bond retire-
	ment, etc.).
02. 04 04	Bonded Indebtedness—The sum of bonded indebtedness and general obligation notes
02. 04 04 01	Bonded Indebtedness Limit —The maximum total of bonded indebtedness allowable to a community as established by individual State statutes.
02.0405	Community Credit Rating —An indicator of the potential marketability of a community's bonds and general obligation notes. Established upon request and for a fee by either of a transformation and concerns providing this service.
02. 04 06	Capital Improvement Budget —The sum of that set of items in the local government budget that result in capital improvements.
02. 04,06 01	Percent of Annual Expenditures Devoted to Capital Improvements—The total ex- penditures for capital improvements (02. 04 06) as a percentage of the total annual expenditures.
02. 04 07	Local Taxes, by Type and Rate—A listing of taxes and their current rates. Examples of local taxes includes, income, property, admissions, motor vehicles.
02. 04 08	Volume of Program Funding from External Sources—Total receipts from nonlocal sources, including Federal grants and intergovernmental transfers within the State.
02/. 04 09	Per Capita Bonded Indebtedness—Bonded indebtedness (02. 04 04) divided by total population (01. 01 01).
/02. 04´09 01	 Percent Bonded Indebtedness is of Bonded Indebtedness Limit — Bonded indebtedness (02, 04 04) divided by the bonded indebtedness limit (02. 04 04 01), and the result multiplied by 100.
ERIC	. 122 .

× .	
02. 05	COMMUNITY REVENUE BASE FOR SCHOOLS
02. 05 01	Total Assessed Valuation—Total assessed value of all property subject to taxation, in- cluding real estate and sometimes personal property.
022. 05 01 01	Percent Change in Assessed Valuation, Selected Years —The arithmetic difference between assessed valuation (02. 05 01) for two dates divided by the figure for the earlier date, and the result multiplied by 100.
02.05 02	Assessed Valuation of Non-Tax Exempt Property—Assessed valuation of all property in community subject to property tax.
02. 05 02 01	Percent Change in Assessed Valuation of Non-Tax Exempt Property, Selected Years—The arithmetic difference between assessed valuation (02. 05 01) for two dates divided by the figure for the earlier date, and the result multiplied by 100.
02. 05 03	Assessed Valuation of Tax Exempt Property—Valuation of all property in community not subject to property tax.
02, 05 03 01	Ratio of Tax Exempt Property to Non-Tax Exempt Property—Arithmetic comparison between tax exempt property (02. 05 03) and non-tax exempt property (02. 05 02).
02. 05 03 02	Percent Change in Assessed Valuation of Tax Exempt Property, Selected Years— The arithmetic difference between assessed valuation for two dates divided by the figure for the earlier dates, and the result multiplied by 100.
02. 05 04	Assessed Valuation, by Land Use Types—Valuation of real estate by land use designations (e.g., commercial agricultural, residential, industrial).
02. 05 05	Property Tax Rate —Number of mills levied on each dollar assessed valuation. Some- times expressed as dollars per 1,000.
02. 05 05 01	Per Capita Property Tax—The property tax rate (02. 05 05) times the assessed val- uation of non-tax exempt property (02. 05 02) divided by the total population (01. 01 01).
\$ 2. 05.06	Assessed Valuation per Attendant Student—Assessed valuation (02. 05 01) divided by total school enrollment (04. 07 01).
02. 05 07	Per Capita Local Expenditure for Education —Total expenditures for education, including those for current operation and debt service, divided by total population (01. 01 01).
02.06	ECONOMIC CHARACTERISTICS OF THE POPULATION
02.0601	Civilian Labor Force—All persons employed or unemployed but looking for work, excluding members of the armed forces.
02. 06 01 01	Percent of Labor Force Employed —The number of persons employed (02. 01 01) divided by the civilian labor force (02. 06 01), and the result multiplied by 100.
	•123

2

COMMUNITY INFORMATION

112

02. 06 01 02

02.060103

02.0602

02.0603

02. 06 03 01

02.0604

02.060401

02. 06 04 02

02. 06 04 03

02.0605

02. 06 05 01

02. 06 05 02

02, 06 05 03

100. Percent of Persons Not in Labor Force—The number of persons not in the labor force divided by the population age 14 and over (for 1960 data) or age 16 and over (for 1970

Everent of Labor Force Unemployed—The number of persons unemployed but looking for work divided by the civilian labor force (02. 06 01), and the result multiplied by

Employment Status, by Sex—Classification by sex of all persons age 14 and over (for 1960 data) and age 16 and over (for 1970 data) in the labor force, not in labor force, or in armed forces. (Percent female (02. 06 02 01); percent male (02. 06 02 02)).

data), and the result multiplied by 100.

Employed Civilian Labor Force—The total number of civilians classified as employed persons.

Percent Change in Employed Civilian Labor Force, Selected Years—The arithmetic difference between the total employed civilian labor force (02. 06 03) for two dates divided by the employed civilian force for the earlier date, and the result multiplied by 100.

Employment in White Collar Occupations—Total number of persons employed as professional, technical, and kindred workers, managers and administrators (except farm), sales workers, and clerical and kindred workers.

Employment in White Collar Occupations, Female—Total number of females employed as professional, technical and kindred workers, managers and administrators (except farm), sales workers, and clerical and kindred workers.

Employment in White Collar Occupations, Male—Total number of males employed as professional, technical and kindred workers, managers and administrators (except farm), sales workers, and clerical and kindred workers.

Percent Employment in White Collar Occupations—The number of employed persons in white collar occupations (02. 06 04) divided by the employed civilian labor force (02. 06 03), and the result multiplied by 100.

Employment in Blue Collar Occupations—Total number of persons employed in crafts and kindred work, operatives (except transport), transport and equipment operatives and laborers (except farm).

Employment in Blue Collar Oecupations, Female—Total number of females employed in crafts and kindred work, operatives (except transport), transport and equipment operatives and laborers (except farm).

Employment in Blue Collar Occupations, Male—Total number of males employed in crafts and kindred work, operatives (except transport), transport and equipment operatives and laborers (except farm).

Percent Employment in Blue Collar Occupations—The number of employed persons in blue collar occupations (02. 06 05) divided by the employed civilian labor force (02. 06 03), and the result multiplied by 100.

124

•

02. ÕG 06

02.0607

02. 06 Ø8

02.0609

02.0610

06 11

02.0612

02.06 12 01

02.0613

02, 06 14

02.06 14 01

White Collar/Blue Collar Ratio—Arithmetic comparison between white collar employment (02. 06 04) and blue collar employment (02. 06 05).

113

02. 06 06 01

Percent Change in White Collar/Blue Collar Ratio—Percentage difference between the white collar/blue collar ratios for two selected points in time.

Médian Earnings—The earnings figure that splits a frequency distribution of a population's earnings into two equal parts, one 50 percent above and one 50 percent below the figure.

Annual Weeks Worked—The total number of weeks worked during the preceding year for those who worked at any time during the calender year preceding a census:

Weekly Hours Worked—The total number of hours worked during the reference week for those who worked during that particular week.

Rural Poverty Index—The percent of rural families below the poverty-level. The poverty level (new in the 1970 census) is constantly updated by the U.S. Department of Agriculture.

Urban Poverty Index—The percent of urban families below the poverty level. The poverty level (new in the 1970 census) is constantly updated by the U.S. Department of Agriculture.

Insured Labor Force—The number of members of the labor force covered by the provisions of a State's employment security program.

Percent of Total Civilian Labor Force Classified as Insured—The insured labor force. (02. 06 12) as a percent of the total civilian labor force (02. 06 01).

Labor Force Participation Rate—Proportion of population that is active in the labor market. Population base may be either total population or some age or age-sex part of the total population.

Disposable Income-Aggregate take-home pay of the population.

Percent Change in Disposable Income, Selected Years—The arithmetic difference between disposable income for two dates divided by the disposal income for the earlier date, and the result multiplied by 100.

Residents Working Outside Community of Residence—The total number of employed persons whose place of residence is within the community and whose place of work is outside of that community.

02. 06 16

02.06 15

Occupation 5 Years Ago-Employed persons at a census year (starting in 1970) who were asked occupational characteristics for 5 years before, if they were then employed.

02.06 16 01

Percent Change of Occupational Classifications—The arithmetic difference between the number of employed persons in a specific occupation (02: 06 04 and 02, 06 05) and the number in that same occupation 5 years before (02. 06 16) divided by the number of employed persons in a specific occupation for the earlier year, and the result multiplied by 100.

· · · ·	
•	'.'.'.'.'.'.'.'.'.'.'.'.'.'.'.'.'.'.'.
114	COMMUNITY INFORMATION
02. 06 17.	Industry 5 Years Ago—Employed persons at a census year (starting in 1970) who were asked their industry group for 5 years before, if they were then employed.
02. 06 18	Number of Families With More Than One Wage Earner—The count of family units with more than one wage earner.
02. 06 19	Dependency Ratio —In a given population, the arithmetic comparison of nonworkers to workers, multiplied by 100. Nonworkers are usually defined as persons under age 15 and over age 64.
02. 07	ECONOMIC TRENDS (FUTURE)
02. 07 01	Changes in Employment Growth Rate—A projection to selected future dates of total employment (02. 01 01) and a determination of annual or periodic employment change- rates, based on existing studies, estimates of possible trends, or the conducting of an economic study.
02. 07 02	Changes in Payroll Growth Rate—A projection to selected future dates of possible payroll totals (02. 01 02) and a determination of annual or periodic change rates.
02. 07 03	Changes in Rate of Capital Investment—A projection to selected future dates of possible capital investment (02. 01 03) and a determination of annual or periodic change rates.
02. 07 04	Changes in Employment Growth Rate, by Industry Group —A projection to selected future dates of total employment by industry group (02. 02 01 01-99) and a determination of annual or periodic change rates.
02.07 05	Changes in Local Government Revenues—A projection to selected future dates of an- ticipated local government revenues (02. 04 02) and a determination of annual or periodic change rates.
02.07.06	Changes in Local Government Expenditures—A projection to selected future dates of anticipated local government expenditures (02. 04 03) and a determination of annual or periodic change rates.
02. 07 07	Changes in Size of Civilian Labor Force —A projection to selected future dates of anticipated size of civilian labor force (02. 06 01), based largely on age-sex composition of the population, and a determination of annual or periodic change rates.
02. 07 08	Changes in Employment Status, by Sex—A projection to selected future dates of em- ployment Status by sex (02. 06 02) and a determination of annual or periodic change rate.
02. 07 09	Changes in White Collar/Blue Collar Ratio—A projection to selected future dates of anticipated changes in the white collar/blue collar ratio (02. 06 06) and a determination of annual or periodic change rates.
02. 07 10	Changes in Median Earnings —A projection to selected future dates of possible changes in overall earnings pattern and level of the median earnings (02, 00, 1) and a determination of annual or periodic change rates.
02. 07 11	Changes in Weekly Hours Worked—A projection to selected future dates of possible
ERIC	126

· ·

<u>.</u>...

4 2

•

\$ = 1)

•

.``

¥.

ž

.

: \

AND US

turing use.

CLASSIFICATION OF LAND.

02. 07 12 -

changes in the pattern of weekly hours worked (02. 06 09) and a determination of annual or periodic change rates.

Changes in Disposable Income—A projection to selected future dates of anticipated changes in disposable income (02. 06 14) and a determination of annual or periodic change rates.

03. SERIES: LAND USE

03.

03. 01 01

03. 01 02

03. 01 02.0

03. 01 03

Land Area—The number of square miles/square kilometers contained within the boundaries of some specific political or administrative entity. For land use purposes, square miles/square kilometers are converted to acres/hectares equivalents.

Residential Land Use—The total number of acres/hectares utilized for nontransient space for housing. Some classification systems include transient lodgings as well as household units, group quarters, residential hotels, and mobile home courts or parks.

Percent of Land in Residential Land Use—Land in residential land use (03. 01.02) divided by land area (03. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100.

total land area (03. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100.

Trade Land Use—The total number of acres/hectares utilized for any form of retail and wholesale trade.

Percent of Land in Trade Land Use-Land in trade land use (03, 01 03) divided by

03.0103.01

03, 01 04

03. 01 04 01

• Percent of Land in Manufacturing Land Use—Land in manufacturing land use (03. 01 04) divided by total land area (03. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100.

Manufacturing Land Use-The total number of acres/hectares devoted to any manufac-

03.0105

Transportation, Communication, and Public Utility Land Use—The total number of acres/hectares utilized by railroads, rapid rail transit, street railway transport, motor vehicles, aircraft, marine craft highway and street right of way, automobile parking (except home garages), communication, and utilities.

03. 01 05 01

Percent of Land in Transportation, Communication, and Public Utility Land Use— These land uses (03. 01 05) divided by the total land area (03. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100.

03. 01 06

Services Land Use—The total number of acres/hectares used by finance, insurance, real estate, personal, business, repair, professional contract consultation governmental, educational, and miscellaneous services.

115

COMMUNITY INFORMATION

03. 01 06 01

03. 01 07

116

Percent of Land in Services Land Use—Service land use (03. 01 06) divided by total land area (03. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100.

Cultural, Entertainment, and Recreational Land Use—The total number of acres/hectares used by cultural activities and nature exhibitions, public assembly, amusements, recreational activities, resorts and group camps, and parks.

-Percent of Land in Cultural, Entertainment, and Recreational Land Use-The lands (03. 01 07) divided by total land area (03. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100.

03. 01 08

03-01 07 0

Resource Production and Extraction Land Use—The total number of acres/hectares used by agriculture, agriculture-related activities, forestry activities and related services, fishing activities and related services, and other forms of resource production and extraction.

03. 01 08 01

ζ. 03. 01 09

Ó3. 01 09 01

03.02

03. 02 01

03. 02 01 01

03. 02.01 02

03. 02 02

03. 02 02 01

03. 02 02 02

01 08) divided by total land area (03, 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100. Undeveloped and Water Land Use—The total number of acres/hectares included in undeveloped and unused land area, noncommercial forest development, water areas, vacant

Percent of Land in Resource Production and Extraction Land Use—The lands (03.

floor area, land currently having construction, and other undeveloped areas.

Percent of Land in Undeveloped and Water Land Use—The lands (03. 01 09) divided by total land area (03. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100.

LAND USE — GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS

Land Area of K-6 or K-8 School Attendance Areas—The land area (03. 01 01), measured in acres/hectares included within the school attendance area of the elementary schools of a given local education agency.

Average Land Area of K-6 or K-8 School Attendance Areas—The total land areas (03. 01 01), measured in acres/hectares, covered by all K-6 or K-8 school attendance areas divided by the number of K-6 and/or K-8 schools of a given local education agency.

Average Population of K-6 or K-8 School Attendance Areas—Total population (01.
 01 01) divided by the number of K-6 or K-8 schools of a given local education agency.

Land Area of 9-12 School Attendance Areas—The land area (03. 01 01), measured in acres/hectares, included within the school attendance area of 9-12 schools of a given local education agency.

Average Land Area of 9-12 School Attendance Areas—The total land area (03. 01° 01), measured in acres/hectares, covered by all 9-12 school attendance areas divided by the number of 9-12 schools of a given local education agency.

Average Population of 9-12 School Attendance Areas — The total population (01. 01) 01) divided by the number of 9-12 schools of a given local education agency.

03. 02 03

Land Area of Postsecondary Education Attendance Areas-The land area, measured

***1**23

•

ž

in acres/hectares included within the attendance area of the publicly supported postsec-ondary institutions. ٩

03. 02 03 01	Average Land Area of Postsecondary Education — Total land area, measured in acres/ hectares, covered by all publicly supported postsecondary institution attendance areas divided by the number of such institutions.
03. 02 03 02	Average Population of Postsecondary Attendance Areas—The total population (01) 01 01) divided by the number of publicly supported postsecondary institutions of the defined attendance areas.
03,02 04	Land Values: by Type of Use—Values for each use type of a land parcel. Normally computed in urban areas on a front-foot basis and on an acres/hectares or area basis in fringe areas and in open country. The character of structures, improvements, and depreciation are all taken into account.
03. 02 05	Annual Land Consumption, by Type of Use—Amount of land developed during a year for a particular land use type; requires knowledge of acres/hectares used at beginning and end of year.
03. 02 05 01	Land Consumption Rate—The total of all land consumed by type of use (03. 02 05), expressed as a percentage of the total developed land at the beginning of the year.
03. 02 06	Building Permits per Year—The number of legal building permissions given by the appropriate local governmental agency during a year.
03. 02 06 01	Average Number of Building Permits for Past 3 Years—Total building permits (03. 02 06) for a 3-year period divided by three.
03. 02 06 02	Percent Increase [Decrease in Developed Land Area, Selected Years — Land consumption rates (03. 02 05 01) summed for a period of years with the sum divided by the number of years, and the result multiplied by 100.
	Certificates of Occupancy Issued —The number of legal certificates issued during a year by the appropriate authority of a political subdivision to permit occupancy of a new or remodeled structure for which a building permit was required. Certificates of occupancy certify that a building meets the codes and regulations prescribed for the intended use.
03. 02 07	Population Potential According to Master Plan Guidelines—Summary of zoning and density maximums according to the criteria established in the master planning process.
03. 02 08	Area of Land Zoned Residential—The total of all'lands zoned for residential land use according to the master plan guidelines.
03. 02 08 01	Percent of Land Zoned Residential —Area of land zoned residential (03. 02 08) divided by the total land area (03. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100.
03. 02 09	Area of Land Zoned Manufacturing—The total of all lands zoned for manufacturing land uses according to master plan guidelines.
03. 02 09 01	Percent of Land Zoned Manufacturing — Area zoned manufacturing (03. 02 09) di- vided by the total land area (03. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100.
	120

Í18 **COMMUNITY INFORMATION** 03.02.10 Area of Land Zoned Public Ownership-The total areas of all lands zoned for public ownership purposes, according to master plan guidelines, 03. 02 10 01 Percent of Land Zoned Public Ownership-Area of land zoned for public ownership purposes (03. 02.10) divided by the total land area (03. 01 01), and the result multiplied. by 100. 03.0211 Land Area in Nonconforming Land Uses-Total of all lands that are not used in accordance with zoning ordinances. .03. 02 11 01 Percent of Land Area in Nonconforming Land Uses-total area of land of nonconforming uses (03. 02 11) divided by the total land area (03. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100. 03. 02 12 Land Classified as Federal Property-Area in square miles/square kilometers of land devoted to Federal use within a given geographic area. 03. 02 12 01 Percent of Land Classified as Federal Property-Area of land devoted to Federal use ($03.\ 02\ 12$) divided by the total land area ($03.\ 01\ 01$), and the result multiplied by 100. 03. 02 13 American Indian or Alaskan Native Land Area-Area in square miles/square kilometers of land set aside for public use by American Indian or Alaskan Native within a given geographic area. 03. 02 13 01 Percent of American Indian or Alaskan Native Land Area --- Area of American Indian or Alaskan Native land area (03. 02 13) divided by the total land area (03. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100. 03. 02 14 Size and Location of Blighted Area-Size in acres/hectares (and often number of use units) of areas classified as blighted according to local housing and building codes. 03. 02 14 01 Percent of Residential Blighted Areas-Blighted residential areas (03. 02 14) divided by total residential area (03. 02 08), and the result multiplied by 100. Land Zoned for Historic Preservation-Area in square miles/square kilometers of land-03. 02 15 set preservation within a given geographic area. Percent of Land for Historic Preservation-Land zoned for historic preservation di-03. 02 15 01 vided by total land area (03. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100. ND USE-DENSITY MEASURES 03. 03 01 Population per acre/hectare-Total population (01. 01 01) divided by the land area in acres/hectares (03. 01 01). **`03. 03 01 01** Population per Residential Acre/Hectare-Total population (01, 01 01) divided by the residential land use in acres/hectares (03, 01 02). 03, 03 01 02 Average Number of School-Age Children per Residential Acre/Hectare-The count of school-age children (children ages 5-18: age categories are usually single age or 5year age groups) divided by the total residential land use in acres/hectares (03. 01 02).

03. 03 02	Automobiles per Housing Unit—The number of private motor vehicles divided by the number of residential units within the community.
03.03.03	Land in High Density Residential Use—Usually over 50 persons per residential acre/ hectare.
03. 03 03 01	Percent of Land in High-Density Residential Use —High density residential land use divided by total land area (03. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100.
03. 03 03 02	Average Number of School-Age Children per Acre/Hectare in High-Density Residen- tial Areas—An estimate of the number of school-age children living in high-density residential areas divided by the acreage of high density residential area (03. 03. 03).
03.03 04	Land in Medium-Density Residential Use—Usually a density of 15 to 50 persons per residential acre/hectare.
03. 03 04 01.	Percent of Land in Medium-Density Residential Use—Medium density residential land use (03. 03 04) divided by total land area (03. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100.
03.030402	Average Number of School-Age Children per Acre/Hectare in Medium-Density Res- idential Areas — An estimate of the number of school-age children living in medium- density residential areas divided by the acreage of medium-density residential areas (03, 03 04).
03.03.05	Land in Low-Density Residential Use—Usually under 15 persons per residential acre/ hectare.
Q 37 03\05 01	Percent of Land in Low-Density Residential Use—Low-Density residential land use. (03. 03 05) divided by total land area (03. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100.
03.03 05 02 ²	Average Number of School-Age Children per Acre/Hectare in Low-Density Residen- tial Areas—An estimate of the number of school-age children living in low density residential areas divided by the acreage areas of low density residential areas (03. 03 05).
03.0306	Elementary School-Aged Children Living Within One Mile/1.6 Kilometers of Their School of Attendance—A tally from school records the distribution of student addresses relative to the school location.
03.04	LAND USE—SPECIFIC SITE CHARACTERISTICS
03. 04 01 .	Size of Available Land Parcels—The size, measured in square feet/square centare or acre/hectare units, of land parcels, either vacant or redevelopable, for school site purposes.
03. 04 01 01	Cost of Available Land Parcels—The current estimated or appraised market price of sites as identified in 03. 04 01.
03. 04 01 02	Shape of Available Land Parcels—The shape of sites identified in 03. 04 01 expressed geometrically or in an ordered sequence of compass directions and distances.
·	. 131

. 119,

Ł

;

	•	••• •	
	120.	COMMUNITY INFORMATION	
	03.404*01 03	Expandability of Available Land Parcels —The estimated or appraised prices of available land parcels contiguous to a possible school site.	-
	03. 04 01 04	Location of Available Land Parcels—Precise position expressed in terms of street access to the site or expressed in terms of distance and direction from major community focal points.	•
•	03. 04 01 05	Slape Features of Available Land Parcels—An expression of the topographic features of the site, expressed in degrees of slope or as a percent grade.	
-	03. 04 02	Distance. From School Site to Nearest Public Transportation Route—The distance expressed in feet/dekameters of the shortest safe walking distance from the site to the nearest regular public transportation stop.	•
6	03. 04 02 01	Distance From School Site to First and Second Nearest Public Facility—The distance expressed in feet/dekameters of the shortest safe walking distance from the site to the first and second nearest public facility. Public facility is typified by a public library, the city hall, and a public park.	
	03. 04 03	Total Population Within One-Half Mile/.8 Kilometers of School Site—The total num- ber of people whose permanent-place of residence is within one-half mile/.8 kilometers of the school site.	
	03. 04 03 01	Total Population Within One Mile/1.6 Kilometers of School Site—The total number of people whose permanent place of residence is within one mile/1.6 kilometers of the site.	
	03. 05 L	AND USE REGULATORY INFORMATION	ہ ج
,	03. 05 01	Annexation Procedures—The legal procedures for adding an area to the political juris- diction of an incorporated community.	5
	03. 05 02	Building Code—A legal device enacted to ensure the sound construction of structures, specifying such features as materials and building methods.	
	03. 05 03-	Housing Code—A legal device enacted to assure decent living conditions for a commu- nity's inhabitants, specifying such features as space per person, heat, light, plumbing, and maintenance.	•
	03. 05 04	Planning Area —A special-purpose district that has been designated for the growth and development of a city or other area, and whose boundaries may or may not have legal status.	-
	10 3. 05 05	Subdivision Ordinances—A legal device governing the process of converting raw land into building sites, establishing development standards for the proposed development.	
- 90	03. 05 06	Zoning Code —A legal device for designating specific land use areas, population densities, lot coverage, bulk of structures, and other physical components of a community.	*
	•		, 4

1

04. SERIES: SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND DYNAMICS

04.	SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND DYNAMICS
04. 01	GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS OF THE COMMUNITY
04. 01 01	Number of Families—The total count of families.
04. 01 02	Number of Families With School-Age Children—The total count of families with children between ages 6 and 18.
.04. 0 <u>1</u> 03	Number of Families With Preschool-age Children—The count of families with children age 5 or under.
04. 01 04	Number of Families Receiving Public Assistance That Have School-Age Children- The number of families receiving some form of local, State, or Federal public assistance that have children between ages 6 to 18.
04.01 04 01	Percent Families Receiving Public Assistance That Have School-Age Children—The number of families receiving public assistance that have school-age children (04. 01 04) divided by total number of families (04. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100.
04. Q1 05	Number of Working Mothers With Children Under Age 6 in a Two-Parent Family— The number of mothers working regularly 4 hours or more per day who are in a two- parent family with children under age 6.
04. 01 06	Number of Working Mothers With Children Under Age 6 in a One-Parent Family The number of mothers who are working regularly 4 hours or more per day who are in families where the mother is the sole parent and have children under age 6.
04. 01 07.	Number of Working Fathers With Children Under Age 6 in a Two-Parent Family— The number of fathers who are working regularly 4 hours or more per day who are in a two-parent family with children under age 6.
04. 01 08	Number of Working Fathers With Children Under Age 6 in a One-Parent Family— The number of fathers who are working regularly 4 hours or more per day who are in families where the father is the sole parent and have children under age 6.
04. 01`09 ≮	• Number of Families in Which English Is a Second Language—The count of families in which English is not the primary language.
, 04. 01 09 01	Percent of Families in Which English Is a Second Language — The number of families in which English is the second language (04. 01 09) divided by the total number of families (04. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100.
04. 01 10	Major Ethnic Groups—The number of different ethnic groups with enough population to represent a significant political force or unique educational need.
•	133

•		
122	COMMUNITY INFORMATION	
04. 01 10 01	Major Ethnic Groups Population—The count of persons comprising all major ethnic groups within the community.	
04.01 10 02	 Percent Major Ethnic Groups in the Community—The count of persons comprising all major ethnic groups within the community (04. 01 10 01) divided by the total population of the community (01. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100. 	
04. 01 11	Location of Ethnic Groups, by Precinct—A comparison of ethnic group residential areas with voting precincts for the purpose of identifying concentrations of potentially active political pressure groups or subcultural voting patterns.	
04.01,12	Location of Ethnic Groups, by School Attendance Area—A comparison of ethnic group residential areas with school attendance areas for the purpose of identifying concentration of potentially active ethnic interest groups.	
04. 02	STATISTICS COLLECTED BY LOCAL AGENCIES	
04. 02 01	Annual Suicides—The number of suicides occurring in a given calendar year.	
04. 02 01 01	Suicidal Rate—Suicides per 1,000 population pet year, operationally defined as the annual suicides (04. 02-01)_divided by midperiod population (01. 01 01 03) for the year, and the result multiplied by 1,000.	
04.02.02	Live Births to Teenagers.—The count of live births to females ages 15-17.	
.04.02 02 01	Rate of Live Births to Teenagers —The number of live births to teenagers (04. 02 02) divided by the total number of annual births (01. 08 01).	
04. 02 03	Delinquencies—The number of delinquent acts known to the police during a calendar year.	
04. 02 03 01	Delinquency Rate—The number of delinquent acts per 1,000 population per year, operationally defined as the number of delinquencies (04. 02 03) divided by the midperiod population (01. 01 01 03) for the year, and the result multiplied by 100.	
04. 02 04	Drug Arrests of Juveniles —The number of individuals under the legal age established by State statute, who are arrested on drug charges during a calendar year.	
04. 02 04 01	Juvenile Drug-Arrest Rate — The number of drug arrests per 1,000 juveniles per year, operationally defined as juvenile drug arrests (04: 02 04) divided by the number of persons under the legal age established by State statute, and the result multiplied by 1,000.	
04.03	VOTING CHARACTERISTICS	
04.0301.	Voter Registrations—The total number of persons registered as eligible to vote by the board of elections, as of a given date.	
04. 03 01 01	Voter Registrations, by Political Party—The number of voter registrations (04. 03 01) for each political party.	
	13.	

Ċ

۲

ided by ERIC

•

04. 03 01 02	Percent Distribution of Voter Registrations by Political Party The voter and
•	for each political party (04. 03 01 01) divided by the overall voter registration (04, 03
· • •	• 01), and the result multiplied by 100. The percentages for all parties constitute the percentage distribution of voter registration by party.
04. 03 02	Votes Cast in Last Two Presidential Elections-The total of votes cast in the two most recent presidential elections.
04. 03 02 01	Votes Cast in Last Two Presidential Elections, by Political Party—The number of votes cast for each political party's presidential candidate in the two most recent presidential elections.
04. 03 02 02	Votes Cast in Last Two Presidential Elections, by Political Party, by Precinct—The number of votes cast for each political party's presidential candidate according to pre-
04. 03 03	Votes Cast in Last Two Nonpresidential Year U.S. House Elections, by Political Party—The votes cast by political party in the last 2 elections for the U.S. House of Representatives held in years in which there was not a presidential election.
04. 03 03 01	Votes Cast in Last Two Nonpresidential Year U.S. House Elections, by Political Party, by Precinct—Votes cast by political party, by precinct in the last two elections for the U.S. House of Representatives that were held in nonpresidential election years.
04. 03 04 	Votes Cast in School-Operating Levy Elections, Last Three Elections—The total num- ber of votes cast in each of the past three school-operating levy elections.
04. 03 04 01	Votes Favoring School-Operating Levy, Last Three Elections—The number of votes favoring the school operating levy in each of the past three elections.
,04. 03 04 02	Percent Votes Favoring School-Operating Levy, Last Three Elections—Votes favor- ing the school operating levy (04. 03 04 01) divided by the vote cast in the school operating levy election (04. 03 04), and the result multiplied by 100 for each of the last three elections.
04. 03 04 03	Votes Cast in School-Operating-Levy Elections, Last Three Elections, by Precinct— The total number of votes cast in each of the past three school operating levy elections, according to precincts.
04. 03 04 04	Votes Favoring School-Operating Levy, Last Three Elections, by Precinct—The num- ber of votes favoring the school operating levy in each of the past three elections, according to precinct.
04. 03 04 05	Percent Votes Favoring School-Operating Levy, Last Three Elections, by Precinct— Votes favoring the school operating levy (04. 03 04 01) divided by the vote cast in the school operating levy election (04. 03 04), and the result multiplied by 100 for each of the last three elections, according to precinct.
04. 03 05	Votes Cast in School Bond Issue, Last Three Elections—The total number of votes cast in each of the past three school bond issue elections.

 13°_{5}

COMMUNITY INFORMATION

124

04. 03 05 01

04..03 05 02

04. 03 05 03

04.03 05 04

04.03 05 05

Votes Cast in School Bond Issue Elections, Last Three Elections, by Precinct—The total number of votes cast in each of the past three school bond issue elections, according to precinct.

Votes Favoring School Bond Issues, Last Three Elections - The number of votes

Percent Votes Favoring School Bond Issues, Last Three Elections—Votes favoring. the school bond issue (04. 03 05 01) divided by the votes cast (04. 03 05), and the

favoring the school bond issues in each of the last three elections.

result multiplied by 100, for each of the past three elections.

Votes Favoring School Bond Issues, Last Three Elections, by Precinct—The number of votes favoring the school bond issue in each of the last three elections, according to precinct.

Percent Favoring School Bond Issues, Last Three Elections, by Precinct—Votes favoring the school bond issue (04. 03 05 01) divided by the votes cast (04. 03 05), and the result multiplied by 100 for each of the past three elections, according to precinct.

04.04

04.04 01

04 02

04.04 02 01

14 04 03

FORMAL AND INFORMAL ORGANIZATIONS IN THE COMMUNITY

Number of Government Units Included in School District Boundaries—A listing of all operating administrative or political jurisdictions in the area, including incorporated communities, school districts, fire districts, and special planning areas.

Number of Formal Organizations in the Community—The total number of social groups whose structure and activities have been relationally organized and standardized with definitely prescribed group rules, goals, and leaders.

Percent of Population in at Least One Formal Organization—The total number of 'persons in at least one formal organization divided by the total population (01. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100.

Number of Informal Organizations in the Community—The total number of social groups whose structure and activities are not standardized, and whose group rules, regulations, and goals are not set forth in a formally adopted constitution.

04.04 03 01.

Percent of Population in at Least One Informal Organization—The total number of persons in at least one informal organization divided by the total population (01. 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100.

Ad Hoc Committees, Locally—The number of temporary or special-purpose committees that are established by formal organizations of the community and are currently active.

Cultural Groups—The number of groups concerned mainly with the leisure activities of members in such areas as drama, literature, music, the arts, gardening, and other cultural activities.

04. 04*06

04.0405

Minority Organizations-The number of formal organizations whose membership is -

Ŕ,

de

Q RI(

```	
*	composed primarily of persons who identify themselves as belonging to a minority group
04. 04 07	Fraternal and Sororal Organizations—The number of groups that are organized to support certain ideals, to increase sociability, and to provide for leisure time recreation. Some of these groups have religious interests.
04. 04.08	<b>Governmental Organizations</b> —The number of local, county, State, and national gov- ernment agencies that provide services in such areas as recreation, law enforcement, family life, and housing.
04.0409	Interest Groups, Nationally—The number of special interest groups with enough numbers or influence to represent a significant political force.
04. 04 10	Older Person Clubs—The number of formal organizations whose membership is com- prised primarily of persons age 65 or older.
04. 04 11	Patriotic Organizations—The number of groups that have extensive programs for the conservation of real and assumed values pertaining to the American way of life, and stress teaching, government, civic responsibility, health, and patriotism.
•04. 04 12	<b>Political Groups</b> —The Number of political party organizations, partisan clubs, nonpar- tisan political organizations, and other specifically political organizations.
04.04 13 ·	Professional Organizations—The number of organizations restricted to practitioners in specific professions such as teaching, engineering, medicine, and dentistry.
04.0414,	<b>Religious Organizations</b> —The number of groups that maintain churches and synagogues and secular organizations engaged in work defined as religious in nature.
04.04.15	Service Clubs—The number of organized groups having as their common purpose the promoting and furthering of public causes or enterprises.
04. 04, 16 مر	Social Service Agencies—The number of organizations, either public or private, that serve the needs of groups, families, or individuals in such areas as counseling, financial resources, crises situations. Where there are fees, they are usually based on an ability to pay.
04. 04 17	Unions—the number of formal organizations with dues-paying members who are workers in a specific industry trade, profession, or combination of such; and whose main purposes are to advance the welfare of its members and conditions of work.
04. 04 18 *	Youth Groups—The number of groups organized for and/or by adolescents or young adults for various purposes such as recreation, education, or service.
04. 05	ALLOCATION OF COMMUNITY RESOURCES AND SERVICES
04. 05 01	<b>Total Public Budget</b> —The amount in dollars budgeted annually by all public agencies serving a given geographic area.
04. 05 01 01	Percent Public Budget Allotted to Public Services—Public services budget divided by total public budget (04, 05 01), and the result multiplied by 100. $T_3$

.

	-	
ر ب پس	126	COMMUNITY INFORMATION
	04. 05 01 02	<b>Percent Public Budget Allotted to Recreation</b> —Recreation budget divided by the total public budget (04. 05 01), and the result multiplied by 100.
• •	°04. 05 01 03 ,	<b>Percent Public Budget Allotted to Parks</b> —Parks budget divided by total public budget (04. 05 01), and the result multiplied by 100.
	04. 05 01 04	<b>Percent Public Budget Allotted to Health Services</b> —Health services budget divided by total public budget (04, 05 01), and the result multiplied by 100:
• .	04. 05 01.05	<b>Percent Public Budget Allotted to Social Services</b> —Social services budget divided by the total public budget (04: 05 01), and the result multiplied by 100.
•	04. 05 01 06	<b>Percent Public Budget Allotted to Libraries</b> —Library budget divided by total public budget (04. 05 01), and the result multiplied by 100.
•	04. 06	COMMUNICATION THROUGH MASS MEDIA
- - - - -	04. 06 01	Local Circulation of Local Newspapers—The number of locally distributed copies of each newspaper published within the locality.
	`04.0602	Local Circulation of Nonlocal Newspapers—The number of locally distributed copies of each newspaper published outside the locality, excluding those having national circu- lation.
, 	04. 06 03	Local Circulation Ratio, Local to Nonlocal Newspapers—Total combined circulation of local newspapers (04, 06 01) divided by the total combined circulation within the
ч	04. 06 04	<b>Radio Stations Reporting Local Stories</b> —Number of radio stations presenting local broadcasts that report local events at least once weekly.
	04. 06 05	<b>Television Stations Reporting Local Stories</b> —Number of television stations presenting local broadcasts that report local events at least once weekly.
*	04, 06 06	Circulation of School Bulletins or Newsletters—The scope of distribution and the num- ber of copies of a given issue of a bulletin or newsletter prepared by a school or school district.
- - 	04. 06 07	<b>Circulation of Nonschool Bulletins Covering Education</b> —The total number of copies issued of bulletins, house organs, and regularly circulated publications of noneducation agencies within the community.
* *	04. 06 08	Local Circulation of Minority Newspapers—The number of locally distributed copies of a newspaper.
* <b>1</b>	04. g6 09	• Radio Stations That Are Spanish-Language or Minority Oriented—The number of radio stations that sponsor regular public broadcasts in Spanish or provide programming for other clearly identifiable minority groups.
	04. 07	SCHOOL DISTRICT CHARACTERISTICS
×, -	04. 07 01 ©	Total School Enrollment-The total number of persons on the current colls of elementary
E.		138

attending because of illness.

and the result multiplied by 100.

by 100.

schools, secondary schools, and institutions of higher education, including those enrolled but not attending because of illness.

Total School Enrollment, Grades K-8-The total number of persons, in both public and private schools, currently enrolled in grades K-8, including those enrolled but not

04.07 01 01

04. 07 01 01 01.

Percent School Enrollment, Grades K-8-The school enrollment, grades K-8 (04. 07 01 01) divided by total school enrollment (04. 07 01), and the result multiplied by 100.

04.07 01 02

Total School Enrollment, Grades 9-12-The number of persons currently enrolled in grades 9-12, including those enrolled but not attending because of illness.

Percent School Enrollment, Grades 9-12-The school enrollment, grades 9-12 (04. 07 01 02) divided by total school enrollment (04. 07 01), and the result multiplied

04. 07 01 02 01

04. 07 02

Public School Enrollment-All persons enrolled in schools operated by publicly elected or appointed school officials in which the program and activities are under the control of these officials and supported by public funds.

04.07 02 01

04. 07 02 02

Percent Public School Enrollment ---- Public school enrollment (94. 07.02) divided by total school enrollment (04. 07:01), and the result multiplied by 100.

Public School Enrollment, Grades-K-8-The number of persons enrolled in grades K-. 8 of public schools (04. 07 02).

04.07 02 02 01

04.07 02 03

04 07 02 03 0

Public School Enrollment Grades, 9-12—The number of persons enrolled in grades 9-12 of public schools (04. 07 02).

Percent Public School Enrollment, Grades K-8-Public school enrollment, grades K-8 (04: 07 02 02) divided by the school enrollment, grades K-8 (04. 07 01 01),

Percent Public School Enrollment, Grades 9-12-Public school enrollment, grades 9-12 (04. 07 02 03) divided by school enrollment, grades 9-12 (04. 07 01 02), and the result multiplied by 100.

04.0703

Nonpublic School Enroliment-The total number of persons enrolled in schools established by an agency other than the State, subdivisions of the State, or the Federal government, which usually are supported by other than public funds, and the operation of which rests with other than publicly elected or appointed officials.

04.07 03 01

Percent Nonpublic School Enrollment - The nonpublic school enrollment (04. 07 03) divided by the total school enrollment (04. 07 01), and the result multiplied by 100.

03 02

Nonpublic School Enrollment, Grades K-8, -The number of persons enrolled in grades K-8 of nonpublic schools (04. 07 03):

	10.0000.7	9 N 9 100 - CH 9 N 9	
COMMI	INITY		ATION

Percent Nonpublic School Enrollment, Grades K-8-The nonpublic school enroll-04. 07 03 02 01 ment, grades K-8 (04. 07 03 02) divided by the total school enrollment, grades K-8 (04, 07 01 01), and the result multiplied by 100. 04. 07 03 03 Nonpublic School Enrollment, Grades 9-12-The number of persons enrolled in grades 9-12 of nonpublic schools (04. 07 03). Percent Nonpublic School Enrollment, Grades 9-12-Thenonpublic school enroll-04. 07 03 03 01 ment, grades 9-12 (04. 07 03 03) divided by the total school enrollment, grades 9 12 (04. 07 01-02), and the result multiplied by 100. Number of Dropouts-Total number of persons who leave a school, for any reason. 04.07 04 except death, before graduation or completion of a program of studies and without trans- . ferring to another school. Dropout Rate-The number of dropouts (04. 07 04) divided by the total school en-04. 07 04 01 rollment (04, 07:01). Number of Adults Enrolled in Adult Continuing Education-The count of persons 04.0705 enrolled in organized processes for persons age 18 or over. Percent Adults Enrolled in Adult Continuing Education-The number of adults en-04. 07 05 01 rolled in adult education (04. 07 05) divided by the population age 18 or over, and the result multiplied by 100. Total High School Job-Rélease Students-Number of high school students officially 04. 07 OG exempted from part- or full-time attendance for the purpose of holding a part- or full-time job. Percent High School Job-Release Students-The total number of job-release students 1. 07 06 01 (04. 07 06) divided by total high school enrollment (04. 07 01 02), and the result * multiplied by 100. Number of High School Graduates Who Continue in Postsecondary Education-The 04.070 number of high school graduates from a given school system who enroll in some type of postsecondary institution to receive formal instruction leading to a degree, a certificate, or other official document awarded upon completion of a prescribed program of study. Percent of High School Graduates Who Continue in Postsecondary Education-The 04. 07 07 01 number of high school graduates from a given school system who enroll in some type of postsecondary institution divided by the total number of high school graduates for a given year, and the result multiplied by 100 (see 04. 07 07 above). Number of High School Graduates Who Stay in the Local Job Market-The number of high school graduates from a given school system who are employed within commuting distance from their homes. Percent of High School Graduates Who Stay in the Local Job Market-The number 04. 07 08 01 of high school graduates who stay in the local job market (04. 07 08) divided by the total number of high school graduates for a given year, and the result multiplied by 100. -140

DEIMANONS	OF DATA ITEMS	• • • •	1
· . 04. 07 09 .	Number of Non-English-Spea	aking Students—The number on nglish spoken in their residence.	f students who do not sp
04.070901 ·	Percent Non-English-Speak dents (04. 07 09) divided to result multiplied by 100.	king Students—The number of by the total public school enrol	non-English speaking Iment (04. 07 02), and
04. 07 10	Number of Functional Illitera and compute sufficiently well t	ates—The number of adults who to meet the requirements of adu	o are unable to read, wr It life.
04. 07 10.01	Percent Functional Illiterate	es — The number of functional ill a, and the result multiplied by 1	literates (04: 07 10) divid 00.
04.08	SCHOOL DISTRICT ORGANI	ZATION	•
04. 08 ,01	⁸ Number of School Board Me education.	mbersThe number of member	ers on the public board
04. 08 02	Average Length of Service of members on the public board of number of members for the sam	School Board MembersTo f education for a particular perio period.	tal years of service of od of time, divided by t
04. 08 03	Number of Public Schools in schools serving a given age pop	District, by Grade Level Servulation.	ed—The count of pub
04. 08 04	<b>Total Number of Students</b> —T within a school system, as of a.	he total number of students, gra given date.	des K-12, in membersh
04. 08 05	<b>Total Number of Teachers</b> —T teaching assignments serving the	he number representing the tota students of a particular school	full-time equivalency or school system.
- 04. 08 06	Student-Feacher Ratio—The n the total number of teachers (04.	umber of students in membersh 08 05), as of the same given d	ip (04. 08 04) divided t late.
04. 08 06 01	Student-Teacher Ratio, Elém 07 02 02), as of a given dat serving those students, as of t	entary—The public school enr e, divided by the total number he same date.	ollment, grades K-8 (04 of teachers (04, 08 05
• 04. 08 06 02	Student-Teacher Ratio, Second a given date, divided by the top as of the same date.	<i>idary</i> —The public school enroll tal.number of teachers (04. 08'0)	ment, grades 9-12, as o 5) serving those students
04. 08 07	Current Expenditures per Stude	ent—Current expenditures for a	particular period of time
	except those for capital outlay and or program areas divided by the a school systems, schools, and/or p	I enrollment (04. 07.02). The t I debt service, for specified scho verage daily membership of aver rogram areas involved.	erm includes all charge ool system, schools, and rage, daily attendance for
04. 08 07 01	Current Expenditures per Eler	nentary Student-School exper	nditures (grades K-8) for

~_____

1

1 .0

ίς

130 04: 08 07 02 Current Expenditures per Secondary Student-School expenditures (grades 9-12) for a particular period of time divided by public enrollment, grades 9-12 (04. 07 02 03). 04. 08 07 0 Current Expenditures per Community College Student-School expenditures, excluding capital outlay and debt service, in a given community college divided by the number of community college students. 04. 08 07 04 Current Expenditures per Adult Continuing Education Student-School expenditures of a secondary or postsecondary institution, not including expenditures for capital outlay and debt service, divided by the number of adult continuing education students. 04.0808 Average Teacher's Salary-The total annual salaries of all teachers divided by the number representing the full-time equivalency of teaching assignments serving a given school or school system, l. 08 09 Annual School Budget A plan that guides fiscal operations of a school system for a given school year and indicates allocations of funds for particular purposes. It contains a listing, with appropriate coding, of all anticipated receipts and expenditures for those funds under jurisdiction of the board of education. 04. 08 10 Ratio of School Budget to Total Public Budget-The arithmetic comparison of the total school budget (04. 08 09) to the total public budget (04. 05 01). 04.0811 Revenue From Local Sources The amount of money produced within the boundaries of the LEA and available to the LEA for its use. Money collected in the same amount by another governmental unit as an agent of the LEA, less collection costs, it recorded as revenue from local sources. 04.081101 Revenue From Local Taxes-Compulsory charges levied by a governmental unit for the purpose of financing services performed for the common benefit. 04. 08 11 02 Revenue From Other Local Sources-All other revenues from local sources not covered by (04. 08 11 01-03). 04. 08 11 03 Revenue From Tuition-Money received from students, their parents, welfare agencies, or other LEA's for education provided in the LEA. 04. 08 12 Revenue From Intermediate Sources-Revenue from funds collected by an intermediate administrative unit, a political subdivision between the LE7 and the State, and distributed to LEA's in amounts that differ in proportion to those that were collected within such systems. 04.0813 Revenue From State Sources-Revenue from funds collected by the State and distributed to LEA's in amounts differing proportionately from those that were collected within such LEA's -Revenue From Federal Sources-Revenue from funds collected by the Federal Govern-04..08 14 ment and distributed to LEA's in amounts differing in proportion from those that were collected within such LEA's.

04. 09 🛥	SCHOOL AND COMMUNITY INTERRELATIONSHIPS
04. 09 01 .	Number of Surveys Conducted by Outside Agencies, Last 5 Years—The count of systematic studies conducted by an agency other than the local education agency, utilizing survey research techniques for the purpose of gathering information and formulating recommendations regarding one or more phases of school operation, and intended for use as an aid to decisionmaking in the most recent 5 years.
04. 09 02	Number of Surveys Conducted by Schools, Last 5 Years—The count of systematic studies, conducted under auspices of the local educational agency, utilizing survey research techniques for the purpose of gathering information and formulating recommendations regarding one or more phases of school operation, and intended for use as an aid to decisionmaking in the most recent 5 years.
.04. 09 03	Number of Citizens Involved in School Planning—Total count of citizens who have worked on committees or as volunteer workers in planning for the execution of a school project, such as building, curriculum change, tax issue, or bond issue.
04. 09 04	Average Attendance at School Board Meetings—The total number of people attending board meetings over a given period of time divided by the number of board meetings for the same period.
04. 09 05	Number of Parent and Other Citizen Volunteers Serving in the Schools—Total count of parents and other citizens who have performed a service, without pay, for the schools.
04. 09 06	Percent of Pupils Whose Homes Are Visited by School Personnel; Annually—The count of pupils whose homes are visited by school personnel in a given year divided by the total number of homes represented by pupils in a school, and the result multiplied by 100.
04. 09 07	Number of Groups Using School Facilities—A count of the different community or- ganizations and groups who have used school facilities over a given period of time.
04. 09 08	<b>Parent Organization Membership</b> —The total number of patents who are members in good standing, by virtue of paying dues for a given year, of a local school-related parent organization.
04. 09 09	Percent Annual School Budget for Community Relations—The annual dollar cost of community relations divided by the total amount of the annual school budget (04. 08'09), and the result-multiplied by 100.
•	

~

ERIC

140

*:

# Appendix A GLOSSARY

## INTRODUCTION

This section contains an alphabetical listing of terms and concepts used in Handbook VIII that either are not elsewhere defined or are defined less fully.

The index may be consulted for the page in the Handbook where glossary terms, data items, and other technical terms appear.

Many of the definitions of terms in this glossary were previously presented in other handbooks of the series. In such instances the approximate Roman numeral follows the definition to indicate the most recent handbook from which the definition was cited. In instances where the original definition from other handbooks has been changed, a capital letter (M) follows the Roman numeral to indicate modification. Definitions originated by this Handbook are indicated by the Roman numeral VIII.

Appendix H definitions of terms used in U.S. Bureau of the Census documents, including the designations of geographic areas, are not duplicated in this glossary. Those defined here are followed by the word "Census" to indicate the source.

ACCESSIBILITY — In land use, a measurement of the spatial distribution of activities about a point, adjusted for the ability and desire of people or firms to overcome physical separation. (VIII)

ACCOUNTABILITY — The capability and the responsibility to account for the commitment of money and other resources in terms of the results achieved. This involves both the stewardship of money and other resources, and the evaluation of achievement in relation to specified goals. (VII) ADMINISTRATIVE JURISDICTION — A geographic area used as the basis for performing one or more administrative functions. Examples: county, town, water district, school district, police precinct. (VIII)

ADMINISTRATIVE UNIT A geographic area which, for specified public school purpose, is under the control of a board of education and the supervision of one or more administrative officers. (VII)

ADULT — Any individual who has attained the age of 16. (Adult Education Act, 1966) In most States, this is the maximum age for compulsory school attendance. (IX)

ADULT BASIC EDUCATION (ABE) — Education for adults whose inability to speak, read, or write the English language constitutes a substantial impairment of their ability to get or retain employment commensurate with their real ability, and designed to help eliminate such inability and raise the level of education of such individuals, with a view to making them less likely to become dependent on others, to improving their ability to benefit from occupational training and otherwise increasing profitable employment, and to making them better able to meet their adult responsibilities. (Adult Education Act, 1966) (IX) (See also "Adult Education" and "Adult Vocational Education.")

ADULT CONTINUING EDUCATION — Instruction designed to meet the unique needs of adults and youth who have either completed or interrupted their formal education. This may be provided by a school system, college, or other agency or institution (in-

144

cluding a community college, technical institute, or area vocational school) through activities and media such as formal classes, correspondence study, radio, television, lectures, concerts, demonstrations, and counseling. (VIII)

ADULT EDUCATION — The entire body of organized educational processes, whatever the content, level, and method, whether formal or otherwise, whether they prolong or replace initial education in schools, colleges, and universities as well as in apprenticeships, whereby persons regarded as adult by the society to which they belong develop their abilities, enrich their knowledge, improve their technical or professional qualifications or turn them in a new direction and bring about changes in their attitudes or behavior in the twofold perspective of full personal development and participation in balanced and independent social, economid, and cultural development. (UNESCO) (IX) (See also "Adult Basic Education" and "Adult Vocational Education.").

ADULT VOCATIONAL EDUCATION — Education that is designed to provide training or retraining to insure stability or advancement in employment of persons who have already entered the labor market and who are either employed or seeking employment. (Vocational Education Act of 1963, 'as amended) (IX) (See also "Adult Basic Education" and "Adult Education.")

ADVISORY COUNCIL — A group of persons either appointed or elected to provide advice, consultation, or counsel in one or more areas of concern. Appointments or elections may or may not be by legislative or regulatory authorities. Such council may be temporary to accomplish a specific preconceived purpose or it may be of a standing or permanentnature. (VII)

AREA VOCATIONAL SCHOOL — A public school that has been approved by the State board for vocational education to provide instruction in a specific geographic area usually larger than one local education agency. (VIM)

ASSESSED PROPERTY VALUATION — A determination by the appropriate local government agency for tagetion purposes. Assessment criteria vary from State to State, but commonly are based on a percentage of presumed full market value. (VIII) ATTENDANCE AREA — The geographic area wherein reside the students normally served by a particular school. (VR)

**COMMUNITY INFORMATION** 

- ATTENDANCE AREA ANALYSIS Detailed study of an attendance area to produce certain data that are tabulated and studied to provide background for solving problems of the area. (VIII)
- ATTITUDES Positive or negative orientations toward particular objects, persons, or ideas. These orientations represent the emotional valence of a per-'son's thoughts. For example, a positive attitude is revealed in the statement, "I like what the schools are doing for my children."(VIII) (See also "Beliefs" and "Values.")
- **BASE MAP** A map that shows the location of important geographic and economic features of an area, and is used to plot the distribution of social phenomena such as income levels. (VIII)
- BASIC EDUCATION Education emphasizing-literacy in language, methematics, natural sciences, and history and related social sciences. (VI)

**BASIC INPUT COSTS** — That set of costs essential to the production of a final product, commonly used in determination of value added by manufacturing. Such costs include labor, overhead, utilities, acquisition of required materials, and cost of transportation of required materials. (VIII)

BELIEFS — Ideas about an objective state of the world that are acted upon as if they were true, whether or not actually true. An example would be the statement, "The school staff knows more about what my-child needs to learn than I do." (VIII) (See also "Attitudes" and "Values.")

**BIAS** — Systematic error that leads to a difference between an estimate of population characteristicsand their true value.

- **BLIGHT.** Substandard structures and neighborhoods. By substandard the following is implied: (1) relatively few safe and sanitary dwellings in the neighborhood; (2) a lack of adequate and accessible transportation; and (3) a lack of satisfactory community facilities and improvements. (VIII)
- 145

#### GLOSSARY .

**BLOCK LEADER** — A lay person chosen by block relidents as the coordinator of block school communication. (VIII)

BLOCK PARENT — A person whose residence is identified by a sign as a designated place where children or adults can receive assistance. (VIII)

BLOCK PLAN — A system of dividing a school community into areas capable of being contacted by a designated person living in the block. (VIII)

BLUE COLLAR WORKER — A manual worker whose work is primarily physical rather than mental or social. The category includes skilled, semiskilled, and unskilled workers; factory workers; miners; and construction workers. The term is used to differentiate the manual worker from the "white collar worker." As the term is used by the U.S. Bureau of the Census; blue collar workers comprise: (1) craftsmen and kindred workers; (2) operative, except transport; (3) transport equipment operatives; (4) and laborers, except farm. (VIII)

BOARD OF EDUCATION — The elected or appointed body that has been vested with responsibilities for, authorizing, financing, and evaluating the educational activities in a given school system, school, or geographic area. Such bodies sometimes are known by terms such as school boards, governing boards, boards of directors, school committees, and school trustees. This definition relates to the general term and encompasses the boards of both public and nonpublic institutions and school systems. (VR)

BUSINESS CYCLE — Cyclical fluctations in business activity in which periods of depression or recession (contractions) alternate with periods of prosperity or inflation (expansions). The alternating high and low phases follow each other in regular succession, but do not follow any fixed pattern of duration or intensity. (VIII)

CAPITAL INVESTMENTS — Financial outlays for developments having a long period of usefulness of more than 1-year. For example, in a community, capital improvements would include streets, traffic control facilities, water and sewage treatment-plants, handling and distribution facilities, and land acquisition and improvement. (VIII) CHILDBEARING AGE — The age period during which a female may be physically capable of producing children; usually regarded as the period between ages 15 and 44. (Census)

COHORT — A group of individuals born in the same, year or having some other statistical factor in common, such as class in school. (VIII)

**COMMUNICATION** — The transmission of information, ideas, attitudes, or emotions from one person or group to another (or others) primarily through symbols. In effective communication the meaning conveyed to the recipient corresponds closely to that intended by the sender. Communication forms the basis for all social interaction; it enables the transmission of cumulative knowledge and makes-possi-

• ble the existence of empathic understanding among individuals. (IIR)

**COMMUNITY COLLEGE** — A comprehensive 2year institution operated by a public body in which instruction is adapted in content, level; and schedule ...to the needs of the local community. The purposes of a community college usually include offering the first 2 years of a baccalaureate program or an associate degree, counseling and advising services, community services, technical and vocational education, and continuing adult learning opportunities. (VIII)

COMMUNITY COUNCIL — An advisory council to the local school that might be composed of many block leaders and agencies in the area served by the school. Such councils are used in the community education movement to assist the community school director in receiving and using information from the community. Sometimes the council members are elected by residents of the community. (VIII)

**COMMUNITY COUNSELOR** — A citizen from the community who is trained in working with families to help them meet family problems and to introduce them to methods by which the quality of home and family life can be upgraded. (VIII)

**COMMUNITY EDUCATION** — The total realm of educational experience available to individuals and groups to enable them to learn how to use their knowledge for the fulfillment of their wants and needs. It is a philosophical concept that recognizes life experiences as being part of one's education and is not limited to formal instruction, certain age classifications, or attainment of diplomas. Community education further recognizes that involving citizens in identifying the conditions, resources, and prioritles of the community is the central means of improving the quality of life within the community. This process focuses upon every institution, agency, and organization as potential contributors to the educational resources of the community. (IXM) (See also "Community School" and "Community Service.")

COMMUNITY. SCHOOL — A program in which a public building, including but not limited to a public elementary or secondary school or a community is center operated in conjunction with other groups in the community, community organizations, and local governmental agencies to provide educational, recreational, cultural, and other telated community services for the community that center serves in âccordance with the needs, interests, and concerns of that community. (IX) (See also "Community Education" and "Community Service.")

COMMUNITY SCHOOL COORDINATOR — A
 person whose primary function is to supervise the efforts of the community school directors serving the various schools of a local education agency. (VIII)

COMMUNITY SCHOOL DIRECTOR — A professional position within a community school. The primary responsibility is to communicate with the school community, collect information relative to needs, and coordinate all the efforts of the community to meet those needs. The community school director is responsible to the building principal or the community school coordinator. (VIII)

COMMUNITY SERVICE — An educational program, activity, or service, including a research program and a university extension or continuing education offering, that is designated to assist in the solution of community problems in rural, urban, or suburban areas. (Higher Education Act, Title I-A, Section 102, 1965 as amended; P.L. 89-329) (IXM) (See also "Community Education" and "Community School.")

**CONDITION OF ROADS** — A determination by an agency such as the Office of the County Engineer or the State Highway Department; an important factor in determining pupil transportation costs and planning bus routes. (VIII)

**CONTINUING EDUCATION** — Learning opportunities designed to meet the needs and interests of adults. (VIII)

**CONVENIENT COMMUTING RANGE** — Distance that can be traversed easily from home to school or work in not more than one hour by public or private transportation. (VIII)

COST REVENUE STUDY — An analysis designed to provide information on the governmental costs of supplying public improvements and services to urban land areas. Such costs relate to available moneys to finance such improvements and services, and the revenues that will be generated by the urban land area provided with such improvements and services. (VIII)

COUNCIL-MANAGER PLAN OF CITY GOV-ERNMENT — A city governmental form consisting of a council and a manager. The executive head or manager carries out council policies and is not directly responsible to the electorate. Ideally, the manager is chosen less for political popularity or political affiliation than for ability as an executive. (VIII)

COUNTY ROADS — All roads legally classed as county property and maintained by the county. Construction costs are financed by the county and by State_funds under various funding and rebate programs. (VIII)

**QATA** — Any or all facts or quantities represented by numbers, letters, or symbols. Also, items of information that can be processed or reproduced by a. computer. (VIII)

DATA CATEGORIES — The organizational structure under which arrays of data items appear and are coded according to a sequential numbering system. (VIII)

**DATA ITEM** — A specific element of information' that can be quantified and defined in such a manner as to ensure comparability. (VIII)

**DELINQUENT ACT** — Any act, that, if committed by an adult, would legally constitute a crime. Also,

14'
### GLOSSARY

behavior such as incorrigibility or habitual truancy that may be specifically defined by statute as delinquent acts. (VIII)

**DENSITY INDEX** — A quotient that is determined by dividing the total number of pupils transported by the total number of miles of public roads in a school district. This index is useful as a factor in determining transportation costs within a local education agency. (VIII)

**DROPOUT** — A student who leaves a school, for any reason except death, before graduation or completion of a program of studies and without transferring to another school. The term is often used to designate an elementary or secondary school student who has been in membership during the regular school term and who withdraws from membership before graduating from secondary school (grade 12) or before completing an equivalent program of studies: Such an individual is considered a "dropout" whether the dropping out occurs during or between regular school terms, whether the dropping out occurs before or after passing the compulsory school attendance age, and where applicable, whether there has been completion of a minimum required amount of schoolwork. The term "dropout" is used synonymously with the term "discontinuer." (VM)

EARNINGS — The sum of wages and salary income and net self-employment income, (Census)

ELEMENTARY SCHOOL STUDENT — An individual enrolled to receive instruction under the jurisdiction of a school or school system normally in grades K-8. Instruction may be offered in any location, such as a hospital or home, and may be presented through any appropriate medium such as television, film, prepared program, or person-to-person. (VIII)

ENUMERATION DATE — The specific date upon which a census is taken. (Census)

- FAMILY Two or more persons living in the same household who are related by blood, marriage, or adoption. (Census)
- FAMILY INCOME The combined incomes of all members of a family. (VIII)

- FARM A place in a rural area that has annual gross sales of agricultural products in the amount of \$1,000 or more. (Census)
- FEDERAL HIGHWAYS All roads whose construction cost is largely assumed by the Federal government, usually 90 percent for interstate routes and more than 50 percent for all other Federal roads. Such roads are maintained by the State. (VIII)
- FOLLOWUP STUDY— A study made of the experiences or status of former learners, either for the purpose of assisting them in further adjustment or for securing information to help improve instruction or guidance for those still in school. This term often refers to research activity designed to determine what occupations are pursued by graduates and/or other former learners in occupation programs, and the effectiveness of their preparation in relation to job requirements. (VIM)
- FORUM A public meeting at which topics are discussed by leaders and the audience. (VI)

FREEWAYS AND EXPRESSWAYS — The first rank in the classification of streets, used exclusively for_the movement of vehicles, and providing for no vehicular or pedestrian access to adjoining properties. Interchange of traffic between a freeway and other streets is accomplished by grade-separated interchanges. (VIII)

**FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTION** — A distribution of the frequencies with which a set of mutually exclusive categories of characteristics appear in a population. (VII)

FULL-TIME EQUIVALENCY OF ASSIGNMENT — The amount of employed time normally required of a staff member to perform a less than full-time assignment divided by the amount of time normally required in performing a corresponding full-time assignment. Full-time equivalency of assignment usually is expressed as a decimal fraction to the nearest loth, and is determined within each organization upon the basis of the amount of time required to perform a full-time assignment in that day. (VR)

FUNCTIONAL AREA — That-geographic area considered to be an integrated functional unit for economic study purposes. Boundaries may or may not be coincident with a political community. (VIII)

FUNCTIONALLY ILLITERATE — An adult who is unable to read, write, and compute sufficiently well to meet the requirements of adult life. For purposes of many adult continuing education programs, adults who have not gone beyond the eighth grade, or who cannot read, write, and compute at or above, an eighth grade level of performance are classified as functionally illiterate. In the United States this term usually is applied also to foreign born adults having limited ability to use the English language. (VR)

- **GRADE** That portion of a school program which represents the work of one regular school year, identified by a designation such as kindergarten, grade 1, or grade 10. (VR)
- **GROSS RENTAL OF HOUSING** The contract rent; the monthly dollar rent agreed upon, plus the average cost of utilities (water, electricity, gas) and other fuel, to the extent that these are paid by the renter. (VIII)

HEAD START PROGRAM — A federally funded child development program that offers economically disadvantaged preschool children learning experiences and health screening (including examination of physical.condition, dental health, mental health, and nutrition) and treatment where required. Fullyear programs are provided for children as young as age 3. In some instances, summer enrichment programs are offered for children who will enter school for the first time the following fall. (VRM)

HIGHER EDUCATION — Education above the instructional level of the secondary school, usually beginning with grade 13, that is provided by colleges, universities, graduate schools, professional schools, and other degree-granting institutions. (IVRM)

HIGHEST GRADE OF SCHOOL COMPLETED — The highest grade of school completed or the grade prior to the highest grade attended but not completed. (Census)

HOUSEHOLD — All persons occupying a single housing unit. (Census) See "Housing Unit."

### COMMUNITY INFORMATION

HOUSING UNIT — A house, an apartment, a group of rooms, or a single room that is occupied or vacant but intended for occupancy as separate living quarters where occupants live and eat separately from any other persons in the structure; and where there is either direct access to the unit from the outside or through a common hall or complete kitchen facilities for the occupants' exclusive use. (VIII)

**INMIGRATION** — Movement of population into a given area. (VIII)

INTERMEDIATE ADMINISTRATIVE UNIT — An administrative unit smaller than the State that exists primarily to provide consultative, advisory, administrative, or statistical services for local basic administrative unit or to exercise certain regulatory and inspection functions over local basic administrative units. An intermediate unit may operate schools and contract for school services, but it does not exist primarily to render such services. Such units may or may not have taxing and bonding authority. Where there is a supervisory union board, the union is included as an intermediate unit. (VII)

- JOB SOURCE OR CLUSTER Those parts of the economic community that provide the larger part of community employment; usually identified by industry groups. (VIII)
- JUVENILE An individual who is under the legal age at which persons are considered responsible adults. Legal age may vary according to statutes of different States. (VIII)
- LABOR FORCE SHORTAGE --- Number of workers needed, in addition to current supply, in particular industry groups as reported by the local or Stateoffice of a State's bureau of employment security or similar agency. (VIII)

LABOR FORCE SURPLUS — Number of individuals seeking work in a particular industry as reported by the local or State bureau of employment security or similar agency. (VIII)

LABOR MARKET AREA — The area within which workers compete for jobs and employers compete for workers, and for which labor market data are periodically published by the U.S. Department of Labor, (VIII)

149.

LABOR TURNOVER — The proportion of the labor force, in any one or all components of economic activity, that requires replacement during a year. (VIII)

LAND PARCEL MAPS AND PROPERTY MAPS — Maps showing the boundaries, size, and relative position of each parcel in the community. (VIII)

LAND USE COMPATIBILITY — An assessment of the probabilities that two unlike and neighboringland uses can each function efficiently with no ill effects on the other. (VIII)

LAND USE MAP — A graphic presentation of dominant land uses, by activity groups, each with its assemblage of specific land uses. (VIII)

LOCAL ACCESS STREETS — The fourth rank in the classification of streets, used primarily to provide access to adjoining properties. (VIII)^{*}

LOCAL BASIC ADMINISTRATIVE UNIT — An administrative unit at the local level that exists primarily to operate public schools or to contract for public school services. Normally taxes can be levied by such units for school purposes. These units may or may not be coterminous with county, city, or town boundaries. This term is used synonymously with the terms "School District" and "Local Education Agency." (VII)

LOCAL EDUCATION AGENCY (LEA) — An educational agency at the local level that exists primarily to operate public/common schools or to contract for educational services. Normally taxes may be levied by such publicly operated agencies for school purposes serving grades within the range K-12. These agencies may or may not be coterminous with county, city, or town boundaries. This term is used synonymously with the terms "School District," "School System," and "Local Basic Administrative Unia." (IVRM)

MASTER PLAN — A document prescribing a general pattern of land use and population distribution,-major-arteries of movement, and systems of physical facilities for an area. (VIII)

MEASURE — A unit of measurement to which reference may be made for purposes of description; comparison, and evaluation. Many measures are obtained by computation involving one or more items of information. (IVR)

MEDIAN — The number that splits a frequency distribution into two entry parts, 50 percent above and 50 percent below the number. (VIII)

MICROFICHE — A sheet of microfilm containing microimages in a grid pattern. (VIII)

MIGRANT WORKER — An individual whose primary employment is on a seasonal or other temporary basis, and who establishes a temporary residence, with or without a family, for the purpose of such employment. (VR)

MIGRATION — As used in this Handbook, the movement of population from one place or locality to another. (VIII)

MINIMUM PATH STREET PATTERNS — The determination of a particular route that will minimize the total distance to be covered in a redistribution of a group (as of students) from the point of origin to the set of residences that are the destinations of the members of the group. (VIII)

MINORITY GROUP - As used in this handbook, any recognizable racial, religious, or ethnic' group, in a community that because of physical or cultural characteristics of its individual members, is differentiated from other groups in the society or treated unequally. This term, as commonly used, is not a technical term, and it is often used to refer to categories of people rather than groups, and sometimes to majorities rather than minorities. For example, though women are neither a group (but rather a social category) nor a minority, some writers call them minority group because supposedly a male-oriented society discriminated against women. On the other hand; a group that is privileged or not discriminated against but is a numerical minority would rarely be called a minority group. As the term is often used, a minority group need be neither a minority nor a group, so long as it refers to a category of people who can be distinguished by special physical or cultural traits that are used to single them out for differential and unequal treatment. (VIII)

MOBILE HOME OR TRAILER — A structure used as a permanent dwelling but designed without a permanent foundation and capable of being moved to different locations where temporary connections are made to utilities. (VNU)

MODEL — A pattern of relationships, whether conceptual or mathematical, that is found in some way to imitate, duplicate, or analogously illustrate a pattern of relationships in one's observations of the world, such as patterns in social behavior or social structure. (IVRM)

MUNICIPAL STREETS — All roads legally classed as municipal property and maintained by the munic ipality. Construction costs are financed by the municipality and with funds from the county and State under various funding and rebate programs. (VIII)

**NEIGHBORHOOD** — A small territorial unit, usually a subdivision of a larger community, in which there is some sense of local unity or identity. (VIII)

NEIGHBORHOOD AGENCIES AND ASSOCIA-TIONS — Organized groups from a local area whose purposes are representative of the neighborhood purposes. (VIII)

NEIGHBORHOOD UNIT An integrated, planned, urban area related to the larger community of which ^{*} it is a part and consisting of residential districts, a school or schools, shopping facilities, religious buildings, open areas, and perhaps a degree of service industry. (VIII)

**NET MIGRATION** — As used in this handbook, the difference between infinigration and outmigration for a given geographic area. (Census)

NONCONFORMING LAND USES — Land uses that do not conform with the provisions of a zoning ordinance. Most such nonconforming uses result from the continuation of a use instituted prior to the adoption of the zoning ordinance. Usually there is a limited life to nonconforming land uses. (VIII)

NONPARTISAN ELECTIONS — An election in which candidates have no party designation, and political parties are prohibited from running candidates or from seeking to influence the outcome. (VIII) NONPUBLIC OR PRIVATE SCHOOL — A school that is controlled by an individual or by an agency other than a State, a subdivision of a State, or the Federal Government; is usually supported primarily by other than public funds; and is operated by other than publicly elected or appointed officials. (VRM)

NUMBER OF MILES OF BUS TRAVEL — The total number of miles traveled daily by all vehicles used in transporting pupils to and from school. Included are the total number of recognized miles traveled by passenger cars, station wagons, and other small vehicles while loaded with one or more pupils. (VIII)

**OPERATING FARM UNIT** — All agricultural land operated by one person, partnership, or corporation. (Census) (See "Farm.")

**OPINION LEADER** — A person used as a resource by others for information and guidance in forming opinions. (VIII)

**OUTMIGRATION** — Movement of population out of a given area. (VIII)

PLANNING — Activities associated with systematically anticipating and achieving adjustment in the environment, consistent with social and economic trends and sound principles of civic design. More recent concepts include a complete consideration of social values, optimization of the human landscape, and advocacy of measures to meet the special needs of the people of a neighborhood or segment, of the community. (VIII)

PLANNING PERIOD — That period of time for which active planning is being done. Short-term planning is usually less than 5 years; long-term, any period over 5 years. (VIII)

**POLITICAL JURISDICTION** — A governmental. administrative jurisdiction, such as a county, a town, a township, or a metropolitan district that serves as, the territorial basis for political representation. (VIII)

**POLITICAL PARTY** — A political group organized to gain influence over a government through the election of its candidates to public office. (VIII)

### GLOSSARY

- **POPULATION DENSITY MAP** A map showing the number of people per square mile/1.6 square kilometers or per acre/.4 hectare. (VIII)
- **POPULATION DISTRIBUTION MAP** A map showing 'the distribution of population by selected symbols. (VIII)
- **POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION** Formal instruction, research, public service, and other learning opportunities offered by educational institutions that primarily serve persons who have completed secondary education or who are beyond the compulsory school attendance age. (National Commission on the Financing of Postsecondary Education, 1975) (IX)

POSTSECONDARY OCCUPATIONAL EDUCA-TION — Education, training, or retraining, including guidance, counseling, and placement services, for persons 16 years of age or older who have graduated from or left elementary or secondary school, " conducted by an institution legally authorized to provide postsecondary education within a State. The program is designed to prepare individuals for gainful employment as semiskilled or skilled workers or technicians or subprofessionals in recognized occupations, including new and emerging occupations, or to prepare individuals for enrollment in advanced technical education programs. (IX)

**POVERTY LEVEL** — The amount of family income below which a family is considered to be poor. Poverty level is determined by an interaction of the revised annually by an interagency committee of the Federal Government. The index is based upon the lowest cost of a nutritionally adequate family food plan, as determined by the U.S. Department of Agriculture. The poverty level family index is the cost of the food plan multiplied by 3 and is adjusted for size of family. and residential status, farm or nonfarm. (VIII)

**PRECINCT** — An election district of a town, a township, a county, or other political jurisdiction. (VIII)

**PRESSURE GROUP** — Any group that attempts to influence legislative or governing agencies in behalf of its own special interests or the interests of a larger public that it represents. (VIII)

PUBLIC BOARD OF EDUCATION — The elected or appointed body that has been created according to State law and vested with responsibilities for educational activities in a given geographic area. Such bodies are sometimes known as school boards, governing boards, boards of directors, school committees, and school trustees. This definition includes State boards of education and the boards of intermediate and local basic administrative units and individual public institutions. (VR)

PUBLIC OWNERSHIP — Proprietorship by citizens through a governmental agency. (VII)

**PUBLIC RESOURCES** — Facilities, finances, and staff personnel under the control of a governmental. agency. (VIII)

- **PUBLIC SCHOOL** A school operated by publicly elected or appointed school officials in which the program and activities are under the control of these officials and which is supported primarily by public funds. (VR)
- **PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION ROUTES** A statement of the precise path and scheduled stops of each public transportation route. (VIII)

PUPIL - See "Student."

RACE — The classification of the population into the categories White, Black, American Indian, Japanese, Chinese, Filipino, Hawaiian and Korean, Aleut and Eskimo, and mixed parentage. These categories do not correspond to strict scientific definitions of biological stock but, instead, indicate the categories in which individuals place themselves or are socially defined. (VIII)

REAL ESTATE — Land, improvements to site, and buildings; real property, (IIIR)

- **REFERENCE WEEK** A week used for <u>determin-</u> ing the number of hours worked by members of the labor force. For data published by the Bureau of the Census, a reference week is usually one ending in mid-November. (VIII)
- **RENTER** Person or family who occupies a housing unit as leasee and pays a fee to the owner for specific periods of time, as a month or a year. (VIII)

**REPORTING UNIT** — The organizational unit submitting a report, (e.g., a State department of education, an intermediate administrative unit, a local basic administrative unit, or a school). (VR)

**RESIDENCE ADDRESS** — Includes the number of the house, hotel, or apartment and the mame of the street, subdivision or trailer park, city, zip code, county, and State where an individual resides. (Census)

**RURAL FARM/RURAL NONFARM** — The rural population; all residents living on farms and the remaining rural population. (Census)

SAFE PEDESTRIAN CIRCULATION PAT-TERNS — That route or set of routes that a pedestrian may traverse between two or more points that will allow maximum safety. (VIII)

SAFE VALUE — Value of a final product, commonly used in determination of value added by manufacturing. (Census)

**SAMPLE** — A limited number of cases selected for study from a particular population. (VIII)

SCENARIO — As used in this handbook, an outline or synopsis of a planned course of action, either in written form or formulated mentally. (VIII) '

SCHOOL — A division of the school system, consisting of students comprising one or more grade groups or other identifiable groups, organized as one unit with one or more teachers to give instruction of a defined type, and housed in a school plant, as is the case when the elementary and secondary schools are housed in the same school plant. (VR)

SCHOOL ATTENDANCE AREA — The geographic area served by a school. It does not necessarily constitute a local faxing unit and likewise does not necessarily have an independent system of administration. Attendance areas for elementary schools may or may not be conterminous with those for secondary schools. (VRM)

SCHOOL BOARD — See "Board of Education."

SCHOOL DISTRICT — A term used synonymously with the term "Local Administrative Unit". (IIR) SCHOOL FACILITY — A building or site belonging to or used by a school or school system for school purposes: (V)

SCHOOL PLANT — The site, buildings, and equipment constituting the physical facilities used by a single school or by two or more schools sharing the use of facilities. (IIR)

SCHOOL SYSTEM — All the schools and supporting services operated by the board of education of a given administrative unit or by another organization that operates one or more schools. (VR)

SECONDARY SCHOOL STUDENT — An individual enrolled to receive instruction under the jurisdiction of a school or school system normally in grades 9-12. Instruction may be offered in any location, such as a hospital or a home, and may be presented through any appropriate medium such as television, film, tape, prepared program, or person-to-person. (VIII)

SEMISKILLED LABOR — An arbitrary classification that requires less training and demands the exercise of less independent judgment than skilled labor, and requires more independent judgment than unskilled labor. (VIII), # ~~.

SITE COST FEASIBILITY STUDY — An assessment of all direct and indirect costs of the acquisition and development of a site using the sum of these costs, compared to available funds for development. (VIII)

SKILLED LABOR — An arbitrary classification that requires skill and training in a particular occupation, craft, or trade and the exercise of more independent judgment than semiskilled or unskilled labor. (VIII)

SPECIAL-PURPOSE DISTRICT — An area designated by a State or local government to develop and operate facilities and services for a particular, need or activity. Examples of special purpose-districts are those for parks, water, fire, soil conservation, or vocational education. (VIII)-

STANDARD LAND USE CODING SYSTEM — A coding system that makes possible the standardization of land use recordkeeping and mapping, developed by the U.S. Bureau of Public Roads. (VIII)

### GLOSSARY

STANDARD OCCUPATIONAL CLASSIFICA-TION (SOC) — An indicator of the principal work performed by a person. The Standard Occupational Classification Manual identifies 19 major categories of work. (XII)

STATE EDUCATION AGENCY (SEA) — The organization established by law for the primary purpose of carrying out part of the educational responsibilities of the State. It is characterized by having statewide jurisdiction and may be composed of a State board, chief executive officer, and staff. Some State education agencies' may lack one or two of these three elements, but in any case, there must be either a board or a chief executive officer. The term 'commission'' is sometimes used synonymously with ''board.'' (VII)

STATE HIGHWAYS — All roads with construction and maintenance primarily financed by the State. (VIII)

STATISTICAL INFORMATION — Information existing in quantified form within published sources or official records. (VIII)

STATISTICAL SERVICES — Services concerned with collecting; organizing, summarizing, analyzing, and disseminating data pertinent to various interests, including pupils, staff, instruction, facilities, and finance. (IIR)

STUDENT — An individual for whom instruction is provided in an educational program under the jurisdiction of a school, school system, or other educational institution. The term includes individuals at all instructional levels. A student may receive instruction in a school facility or in another location, such as at home or in a hospital. Instruction may be provided by direct student-teacher interaction or by some other approved medium such as television, radio, telephone, or correspondence. (VR)

SUBURBANIZATION — The movement of population and services from large cities to the areas surrounding such cities, resulting in the cities being ringed by an array of suburbs beyond their political limits. (VIII)

**TOWN** — A minor civil division of a State corresponding in general to minor civil divisions of other States, but having some characteristics of a municipality. (VIII)

**TOWNSHIP** — A minor civil division of the county, present in many but not all States. (Census)

TOWNSHIP ROADS — All roads legally classed as township property and maintained by the township or by some other political unit, usually the county, under contract with the township. Construction costs are usually financed by the township with funds from the county and State under various funding and rebate programs. (VIII)

**TRADE AREA** — The primary distributing area for the community's retail and wholesale functions. (VIII)

**TREND ANALYSIS** — The result of repeated assessment of public opinion on certain basic issues over a period of time, making possible comparisons between baseline data and subsequent changes. (VIII)

UNDEREMPLOYED PERSON — A person whose qualifications and skills are greater than those required for the position occupied. (VIII)

UNIT OF MEASURE — A combination of statistical elements in education usually expressed in ratios, such as learners per teacher, square feet per learner, cost per learner, and cost/effectiveness ratio. (IVR)

UNSKILLED, LABOR — An arbitrary classification that requires less skill, technical training, and exercise of independent judgment than required of skilled or semiskilled labor. (VIII)

URBAN BLIG Deterioration or deficiency in the quality of structures and their immediate environment. (VIII)

**URBAN FRINGE** — (1) The area beyond the established suburbs of a city where urban and rural characteristics converge. An area of mixed land use and less political organization. Because of an absence of zoning regulations and the relatively lower land cost, types of land use considered undesirable (such as automobile junk yards) are often found in fringe areas (also referred to as the rural-urban fringe). (2) As defined by the U.S. Bureau of the Census; the

built-up area surrounding a large city, that is contiguous with the city and has an average density of 2,000 persons per square mile. In this sense the urban fringe includes the suburbs and the fringe as defined above. (VIII)

URBAN RENEWAL — A form of recuperative change in the physical city by which dysfunctional or outmoded structures and facilities are replaced in response to pressures of economic and social change. (VIII)

VALUE OF HOUSING OR VALUE OF UNIT ... The estimate of property value on the current market, or the asking price for vacant units at the time of enumeration. (Census)

VALUES — Abstract ideas about the relative desirability of (1) various goals or aims, and (2) the means for achieving them. Values are arranged in a hierarchy of relative desirability, which serves as a tool for establishing priorities for action. For example, ⁵² 'Education should not be entirely utilitarian.'' (VIII) (See also ''Attitudes'' and ''Beliefs.'')

WELFARE AGENCIES — Governmental or private organizations having the purpose of aiding poor and disadvantaged individuals. (VIII)

WHITE COLLAR WORKER — A salaried employee whose duties are primarily mental or social? rather than physical, and do not require wearing of work clothes or protective clothing, as contrasted to blue collar workers. (VIII)

WORKER EDUCATION — Learning opportunities provided for workers, including on-the-job training and individual development. (IX)

**YOUTH AGENCIES** — Governmental or private organizations whose purpose is to deal with problems (of adolescents and young adults. (VIII)

ZONING — The public regulation of land and building use in order to control the character of the community. Ideally, areas of the city or town are restricted to specialized usage for the benefit of thepublic welfare, for example, so that residential areas will not become interspersed with industry. (VIII)

# Appendix B

# ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS FOUND IN HANDBOOK VIII

4		•	•
ABE	Adult Basic Education	ESAA	Emergency School Aid Act
ADA	Average Daily Attendance	FHA	Federal Housing Administration
ADM/A	Average Daily Membership/Attend-	FICE	Federal Interagency Committee on Ed
	ance	,	ucation
AFDC	Aid to Families with Dependent Chil-	Four-H (4-H)	Hands, Heart, Head, and Health
	dren '	FTE	Full-Time Equivalency
AFL-CIO	American Federation of Labor-Com-	GAO	General Accounting Office
	mittee for Industrial Organization	GBF/DIME	Geographic Base File/Dual Indepen-
BAS	Boundary and Annexation Survey		dent Map Encoding
BLS	Bureau of Labor Statistics	GPO	Government Printing Office
BSIC/EFL	Building Systems Information Clear-	GRF	Geographic Reference File
17. · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	inghouse/Educational Facilities.	HC	Housing Census
× 4. *	Laboratories	HUD	Department of Housing and Urban
, BY	Base Year	A)	Development
CBD ·	Central Business District	IPA	Illinois Principal's Association
,CC	Community College	K-6	Kindergarten Through Sixth Grade
CCD ·	Common Core of Data :	K-8	Kindergarten Through Fighth Grade
CCD'S	Census Data Divisions	9-12	Ninth Through Twelfth Grade
CDP'S	Census Designated Places	LEA	Local Education Agency
CEIS	Committee on Evaluation and Infor-	LMA	I abor Market Area
	mation Systems	MCD'S	Minor Civil Divisione
COSCA	Citizens for School and Community	MIT	Massachusette Institute of Technology
· · ·	Advancement	MRC	Maior Patail Cantom
CY .	Current Year	NAACP	National Association for the Advance
CY-1	Preceding Year (current vear minus >		manual Association for the Advance-
;	one)*	NCES	National Conten for Education Stati
DAD -	Data Access Description		tion
DBA	Downtown Business Area	NPA	National Blanning Association
DHEW/HEW	Department of Health, Education and	NYC	New York City
•	Welfare	OCR	Office for Civil Bishes
ED	Enumeration District		On the Joh Training
<b>ELSEGIS</b>	Elementary and Secondary Education	OKI	Ohio Kontucing
	General Information Survey	OMB *	Office of Management (1) D
ERIĊ	Educational Resources Information	PC	Bonulation Consult
•,	Čenter	PHC	Population Unucing C
ESEA	Elementary and Secondary Education		Stondard Consult days & Stondard Consult
•	Act	SEA	Statutard Consolidated Statistical Area
		SEA	State Education Agency -



. مۇرى

156

47.4 SERR State Educational Records and Reports UA Urbanized Area Standard Industrial Classification Standard Metropolitan Statistical Area Standard Occupational Classification ŞIC UNESCO United Nations Educational, Scien² SMSA tific, and Cultural Organization . SOC VFW Veterans of Foreign Wars SŔ Survival Ratio Zone Improvement Plan . ZIP TOE Table of Equivalence

146

Ċ

# Appendix C **COMMUNITY PROFILE CHARTS**

### INTRODUCTION

The profile charts in this section serve two functions: (1) outline a basic (or minimum) array of information, and (2) illustrate a way of displaying the data. Deciding what information is basic is difficult. Some items obviously belong in any information system (e.g., total population, total school enrollment). Others are not so readily applicable to all situations, since communities and school districts vary considerably in size and character. Therefore, these profile charts should be viewed as flexible. Some items may not be applicable and should be omitted. Some items can be added if they are important in a particular community or school district. Expansion of the charts can take the form of adding more antegories or data items, and/or expanding - appendix, show a letter "B" by those data items conthe given categories to greater levels of detail.

The charts make it easier to detect significant changes over time. Most of the charts have 2-year columns. Census data are currently generated at 10-year intervals. Thus, the data from two censuses can be tabulated and compared. However, charts for the Social Structure and Dynamics Series (04.) include columns for 4-year tabulations. Since most of these data are locally collected, they can be gathered more frequently and can be compared for shorter time spans.

These charts illustrate only one of several methods of displaying the information-storing the information in an index card file. In this system, each data item is listed on a single index card and is updated periodically. Below is a sample of an index card file.

The profile charts, contained in the remainder of this sidered important for most communities.

Total Population	(01. 01 01)	-	• • • •	· ·		•	•	¢	,
1960 Census	· · ·		8	4	• .				
1970 Census	•	•	-					,	
1980 Census	¢.	•			•		•		
1985 Census .	• ,	•		•			•	. –	
1990 Census		,				• • •	, v		•

158

### 01. POPULATION 01. 01 GENERAL POPULATION CHARACTERISTICS

•	CHARACTE	RISTICS	Year from which data taken:	Year from which data taken:
B	Total Population (01. 01 01)			
	Population	Population Increase o		4
B	Decreases:	Percent Population In (01. 01 02 01)	traise or Decrease.	
B	Population-Density (01.01.03)	· · ·	•	ð
₿.	Median Age (01. 01 04) -			
B	Median Family Income (01. 01 05)		•	50 J
B	Median Highest Grade of School Completed (01.0106)		· · · · ·	
B	Number of Persons Aged 25 and Over (01. 01 07)			•

.

۰.,

í

01.02 RACIAL AND ETHNIC CHARACTERISTICS	Year from which data taken:	Year from which data taken:
merican Indian or Alaskan Native (01. 02,01)*		
Percent American Indian or Alaskan Native (01. 02 01 01)		, , ,
Females		
Percent Females	0,	-
Males		
Percent Males	•	
sian or Pacific Islander (01. 02 02)*	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Percent Asian or Pacific Islander (01, 12 02 01)	ê	· /
Females		• 1
Percent Females	· · ·	,  ·
Males	ζ <b>χ</b> .	
Percent Males	• • •	· /.
ack, not of Hispanic Origin (01. 02 03) Percent Black, not Hispanic Origin (01. 02 03 01)	• A	
spanic 1. 02 04)		\$ .
Percent Hispanic (01. 02 04 01)	· · ·	
hite, not of Hispanic Origin (01. 02 05). Percent White, not of Hispanic Origin (01. 02 05 01)	,	
		·

149[°]

v 160 .

۱,

COMMUNITY INFORMATIO
----------------------

ł

فلميد

	01. POPULATION 01. 07 HOUSEHOLD AND HOUSING CHARACTERISTICS	Year from which data taken:	Year from which data faken:
	Number of Households (01. 07 01)		
	Mean Number of Persons Per Household (01. 07 03)		, , ,
	Persons Living in Single Housing Units (01. 07 04)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	Percent Person's Living in Single Housing Units (01. 07 04 01)	(,	*
	Persons Living in Multiple Housing Units (01. 07 05)		
	Percent Persons Living in Multiple Housing Units . (01. 07 05 01)	•	1
'	Number of Owner-Occupied Housing Units (01.07.06)		
	Percent Owner-Occupied Housing Units (01. 07 06		· · · ·
1	Number of Rented Housing Units (01. 07 08)	`)	· · · · · ·
	Percent Rented Housing Units (01. 07 08 01)		· · · ·
F	Persons Living in Mobile Homes (01.07 10).	-	
	Percent Persons Living in Mobile Homes (01. 07 10 , 01)		·
N	umber of Housing Units (01. 07 11)		••
'N Q	Jumber of Persons Under Age 18 Living with Mother only (01. 07 13)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	··· , ·
N O	Sumber of Persons Under Age 18 Living with Father Only (01. 07 14)		•
N Pa	umber of Persons Under Age 18 Living with Neither arent (01. 07 15)		,

161.

1**50** 

* *

ER

ERIC

01. POPULATION 01. 08 VITAL STATISTICS

\$

-	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Year from which data takèn:	Year from which data taken:
	Annual Births (01. 08 01)		
	Crude Birds Rate (01. 08 01 01)		·
,	Annual Deaths (01. 08 02)		×
	Crude Death Rate (01. 08 02 01)		. `
^	Annual Infant Mortality (01. 08 03)		,
'	Infant Mortality Rate (01. 08 03 01)		
B	Annual Natural Increase or Decrease in Population . (01. 08 04)		· · ·
в	Net Migration (01. 08 05)		

162

151

ŧ,

# 01. POPULATION 01. 09 HANDICAPPED CATEGORIES

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	ð	•	Year from which data taken:	Year from which data taken:
Handicapped Persons I	Jnder Age 18 (01	. 09 03)	<i>(</i>	•
Handicapped Persons U Handicap (01. 09 04)	Jnder Age 18, by	Type of	, ·	
Deaf (01. 09 04 01)	<b>*</b> -			•
	94 02)	· · · · · ·		
Hard of Hearing (01. 09 04 03)	• • •	/		
Mentally Retarded (01.09 04 04)	• • • •			
Multihandicapped (01. 09 04 05)	 			
Orthopedically Impai (01. 09 04 06)	red	• • •	\$	Ň
Health Impaired Othe (01. 09 04 07)	r , Y		•	1
Seriously Emotionally (01. 09 04 08)	Disturbed			
Specific Learning Dis (01. 09 04 09)	ability	•		•
Speech Impaired (01. 09 04 10)		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		, ,
Visually Handicapped (01. 09 04 11)		· · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

163

<

RIC

Year
Year
ear .
(ear
Year
rear
•
· ·
· · · · · ·
2 6 9
• .
,
· · ·
~
· · ·

153

02. ECONOMY 02. 02 EMPLOYMENT BY INDUSTRY	* · ·	
GROUP [®] CHARACTERISTICS		
(Conditiued)	Year	Year .
Payrolls, by Industry Group (02. 02 04 01-99) For example: Payrolls in Manufacturing (02. 02 04 20-39)*	*	, , ,
Percent Change in Payrolls, Selected Years (02.02.05)		- · ·
Major Employers, by Industry Group (02. 02 07 01-99)*		
For example: Major Employers in Manufacturing 1. 2.		
3. 4.		
Agriculture (02. 02 09)		
Number of Farms (02. 02 09 01)	2	
Average Sales per Farm (02. 02 09 04)		
Value of Farms (02. 02 09 05)		
Average Value of Farms (02. 02 09 05 01)		•
Tenant Operated Farms (02. 02 09 06)	<u>.</u>	• ~
Wholesale Trade (02. 02 12)	~ ~ ~	
Wholesale Sales Volume per Employee (02. 02 12 04)	*	
Retail Trade (02. 02 13)		<u> </u>
Retail Sales Volume per Employee (02. 02 13 04)		· · · ·
Finance, Insurance, and Real Estate (02. 02 14).		
Percent Change in Bank Deposits, Selected Years (02. 02 14 02)		· · · ›

154

]

Ł

02. 03 ECONOMIC INDICATORS	Year	Year
Basic Employment (02. 03 01)		
Employment Stability Index (02. 03 06)		
	· . ··/.	^
02. VECONOMY 02. 04 ECONOMIC ASPECTS OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · ·
	Year	Year
Government Employment (Local) (02. 04 01)		· i.
Government Employment (Other than Local) (02. 04 01 01)		÷
Annual Revenues, by Source (02. 04 02)		
1. 2. 3. 4. 5.	,	•
Annual Expenditures, by Category (02. 04 03) 1. 2. 3	- 6	
4. 5.		
Bonded Indebtedness (02. 04 04)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	·
Community Credit Rating (02. 04 05)	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	ć .
Capital Improvement Budget (02. 04 06)		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Local Taxes, by Type and Rate (02. 04 07) 1.	×	· · ·
2.1 3. 4. 5.	•	
Per Capita Bonded Indebtedness (02. 04 09)		· · ·

155

۱۰

ŝ

>		
° 02.	ECONOMY	

02. 05 COMMUNITY REVENDE BASE FOR SCHOOLS

Year       Year         Total Assessed Valuation (02. 05 01)       Percent Change in Assessed Valuation, Selected         Years (02. 05 01 01)       Assessed Valuation of Non-tax Exempt Property         (02. 05 02)       Assessed Valuation of Tax Exempt Property         Assessed Valuation of Tax Exempt Property       (02. 05 03)         Property Tax Rate (02. 05 05)       Assessed Valuation per Attendant-Student (02. 05 06)         Per Capita Local Expenditure for Education (02. 05 07)       Per Capita Local Expenditure for Education (02. 05 07)	Total Assessed Valuation (02, 05 01)	Year	
Total Assessed Valuation (02. 05 01)         Percent Change in Assessed Valuation, Selected         Years (02. 05 01 01)         Assessed. Valuation of Non-tax Exempt Property         (02. 05 02)         Assessed Valuation of Tax Exempt Property         (02. 05 03)         Property Tax Rate (02. 05 05)         Assessed Valuation per Attendant-Student (02. 05 06)         Per Capita Local Expenditure for Education (02. 05 07)	Total Assessed Valuation (02, 05 01)		Year
Percent Change in Assessed Valuation, Selected Years (02. 05 01 01) Assessed Valuation of Non-tax Exempt Property (02. 05 02) Assessed Valuation of Tax Exempt Property (02. 05 03) Property Tax Rate (02. 05 05) Assessed Valuation per Attendant-Student (02. 05 06) Per Capita Local Expenditure for Education (02. 05 07)	······································	·	<u> .                                    </u>
Assessed. Valuation of Non-tax Exempt Property (02. 05 02) Assessed Valuation of Tax Exempt Property (02. 05 03) Property Tax Rate (02. 05 05) Assessed Valuation per Attendant-Student (02. 05 06) Per Capita Local Expenditure for Education (02. 05 07)	Percent Change in Assessed Valuation, Selected Years (02. 05 01 01)	•	. 1
Assessed Valuation of Tax Exempt Property (02. 05 03) Property Tax Rate (02. 05 05) Assessed Valuation per Attendant-Student (02. 05 06) Per Capita Local Expenditure for Education (02. 05 07)	Assessed Valuation of Non-tax Exempt Property (02. 05 02)	•	· · ·
Property Tax Rate (02. 05 05) Assessed Valuation per Attendant-Student (02. 05 06) Per Capita Local Expenditure for Education (02. 05 07)	Assessed Valuation of Tax Exempt Property (02. 05 03)		
Assessed Valuation per Attendant-Student (02. 05 06)	Property Tax Rate (02. 05 05)		•
Per Capita Local Expenditure for Education (02. 05 07)	Assessed Valuation per Attendant-Student (02. 05 06)		
	Per Capita Local Expenditure for Education (02. 05 07)		1
•		•	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

١

N

.

, . . . . .

ERIC

02. ECONOMY 02. 06 ECONOMIC CHARACTERISTICS OF THE POPULATION

FOPULATION		
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Year	Year
Civilian Labor Force (02. 06 01) ~ .	1	
Percent of Labor Force Employed (02. 06 01 01)		
Percent of Labor Force Unemployed (02. 06 01 02)	2 •	
Percent of Persons Not in Labor Force (02. 06 01 03)		
Employment Status, by Sex (02. 06 02)		
Employed Civilian Labor Force (02. 06:03)		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Percent Change in Employed Civilian Labor Force, Selected years (02. 06 03 01)		•
Employment in White Collar Occupations (02. '06 04)	•	
Employment in Blue Collar Occupations (02. 06 05)		
White Collar/Blue Collar Ratio (02. 06 06)		
Median Earnings (02. 06 07)		
Rural Poverty Index (02. 06 10)		
Urban Poverty Index (02. 06 11)		
Insured Labor Force (02. 06 12)	•	
Labor Force Participation Rate (02. 06 13)	•••	<b>-</b>
B Disposable Income (02. 06 14)		
Percent Change in Disposable Income, Selected Years (02. 06 14 01)	1	•
Number of Families with More Than One Wage Earner (02. 06 18)	•••	•
Dependency Ratio (02. 06 19)	<u> </u>	

١

,

02. ECONOMY 02. 07 ECONOMIC TRENDS (FUTURE)	Year	Year
Changes in Employment Growth Rate (02, 07 01)		·
Changes in Payroll Growth Rate (02. 07 02)	• ,•	• • •
Changes in Rate of Capital Investment (02. 07 03)	2	•
Changes in Employment Growth Rate, by Industry Group (02. 07 04)		· · ·
Agriculture (02. 07 (1.01.07)	·	,,
Forestry (02. 07 04 08)	· · · ·	Å
Fisheries (02. 07 04 09)	· · ·	
Mining (02. 07 04 10-14)	· · ·	
Construction (02. 07 04 15-17)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · ·
Manufacturing (02. 07 04 20-39)	· · ·	
Transportation (02. 07 04 40-49)	•	· · · ·
Wholesale Trade (02. 07 04 50-51)		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Retail Trade (02. 07 04 52-59)		· · · ·
Finance, Insurance, and Real Estate (02, 07 04 60-67)		
Service (02. 07 04 70-89)		~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
Public Administration (02. 07 04 91-97)		
		· · ·
Nonclassifiable Establishments (02. 07 04 91-97)		-
Changes in Local Government Revenues (02. 07 05)	1	• .
Changes in Local Government Expenditures	•	
Changes in Size of Civilian Labor Force (02. 07 07)	* - *	

158

•

:

J

:

PROFILE CHARTS						· .	15
02. ECONOMY 02. 07 ECONOMIC TRENDS (FUTURE) (Continued)	,	<b></b>				*	
(Continued)	٢		Year	٠	ŀ	Year	1
B Changes in Employment Status, by Sex (02. 07 08)	·		•				_1
Mále (02, 07 08 01)	,						•
Female (02. 07 08 02)	,	1			$\uparrow$		
Changes in Median Earnings (02. 07 10)		• •	,		1		
Changes in Weekly Hours Worked (02. 07 11)	•			•	,		
Changes in Disposable Income (02. 07 12)	,		•	•			

X.

7

	V. C	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Year from • which data taken:	Year from which data taken:
Land Area (03. 01 01)	•	
Residential Land Use (03. 01 02)		
Percent of Land in Residential Land Use (03. 01 02 01)		· · ·
Trade Land Use (03. 01 03)	,	· · ·
Percent of Land in Trade Land Use (03. 01 03 01)		
Manufacturing Land Use (03. 01 04)	×	
Percent of Land in Manufacturing Land Use (03. 01 04 01)	•	· , ,
Transportation, Communication, and Public Utility Land Use (03. 01 05)		
Percent of Land in Transportation, Communication, and Public Utility Land Use (03. 01 05 01)	, ° , °	
Services Land Use (03. 01 06)		
Percent of Land in Services Land Use (03. 01 06 01)	(	
Cultural, Entertainment, and Recreation Land Use (03. 01 07)		
Percent of Land in Cultural, Entertainment, and .Recreational Land Use (03. 01 07 01)		•
Resource Production and Extraction Land Use (03. 01 08)		¥
Percent of Land in Resource Production and Extrac- tion Land Use (03. 01 08 01)		

03. LAND USE 03. 01 CLASSIFICATION OF LAND (Continued)

Underdeveloped and Water Land Use (03. 01 09)

Percent of Land in Underdeveloped and Water Land Use (03. 01 09 01)

Year from which data taken:	Year from which data taken
	· · ·

• ۱

16	2	СОМІ	MUNITYINFORMA
ŗ	03. LAND USE 03. 02 LAND USE GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS	Year from which data taken:	Year from which data taken:
	Land Area of K-6 or K-8 School Attendance Areas (03. 02 01)	•	
	Average Land Area of K-6 or K-8 School At- tendance Areas (03. 02 01 01)		
	Average Population of K-6 or K-8 School Attendance Areas (03. 02 01 02)	ţ,	
	Land Values, by Type of Use (03. 02 04) [•] 1. 2. 3.	-	
	Annual Land Consumption, by Type of Use (03. 02 05) 1. 2. 3.	· · ·	
	Building Permits, by Year (03. 02 06)	. /	•
	Average Number of Building Permits for Past Three Years (03. 02 06 01)		, ,
	Population Potential According to Master Plan Guidelines (03. 02 07)		
•	Area of Land Zoned Manufacturing (03. 02/09)		, .
	Percent-of Land Zoned Manufacturing (03-02 09 01)		
ð	Area of Land Zoned Public Ownership (03. 02 10)		• 
	Percent of Land Zoned Public Ownership (03.02 10 01)	٠. في	• •

8

2

ERIC

# 03. LAND USE 03. 02 LAND USE -

03. 02 LAND USE - GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS	^ ·	7.
	Year from which data taken:	Year from which data taken:
Land Classified as Federal Broperty (03. 02 12)		- 1
Percent of Land Classified as Federal Property (03. 02 12 01)		
American Indian or Alaskan Native Land Area (03. 02 13)		
Percent of American Indian or Alaskan-Native Land Use (03. 02 13 01)		•
Size and Location of Blighted Areas (03. 02 14)		
Percent of Residential Blighted Areas (03. 02 14 01)		$\mathcal{I}$
03. LAND USE 03. 03 LAND USE -	. <b>R</b> . 	•
DENSITY MEASURES	Year from which data taken:	Year from which data taken:
Average Number of School-Age Children per Residen- tial Acre/Hectare (03. 03 01 02)	D	
, Automobiles per Housing Unit (03. 03 02)	· · ·	•
Elementary School-Age Children Living Within One Mile/1.6 Kilometers of Their School of Attendance 03. 03 06)	· · · · · ·	

174

:

164	. 、	,	۲ ۲		Сомм	
۹.	· · ·			1		· · · ·
•	03. LAND USE	IC SITE		• `		•
	CHARACTERISTICS					•
	: .75_	*	·		·	·····
	т. 		٥		i.	
	· · · · ·		a	•		Data
· •[		· · ·				<u>+</u>
	Size of Available Land Parcels (0	3. 04 01)		° .		4
	2.	•				
	3.					
	4. 2		~	,		
1	Cost of Available Land Parcels	(03 04 01 01)				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
ſ	1	(05: 04 01 01)		•		2
	2.	, <del>-</del>		\$		
	3. 1					° • •
$\downarrow$	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	, ,				
	Expandability of Available Lan	d Parcels ·	$\sim$			
	(03.04 01 03)	. •	•	•		
ľ	······································			•		
	3					· · · ·
	.4.		•		•	
t						<u>↓</u>
	Location of Available Land Par	cels (03. 04 01 0	4) -			
		•				
	3.			•		
	4.					· ·
$\vdash$	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		•			•
ł	Distance of School Site from Near	est Public			. 🖌	
. I	Transportation Route (03. 04 02)		,		•	•
	· • • • • •			•		
	y 3	•		•	• <b>*</b>	
	<b>4</b> .		•			
Ц,	5				, . 	
	<b>▼</b> .			•		
	•	·	•	<b>,</b> ·		•
			\$			,
•		_	•		٠.	-
,	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			•		x
		. ° `	÷			
		<del>v</del>		<u>`</u>		· · ·
•			-			
•		· 1	75		•	,

ŝ

R.-

•

ERIC

1.")

04. 01 GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS OF THE COMMUNITY	Year	Year	Year	Year
Number of Families (04. 01,01)				
Number of Families with School-Age Children (04. 01 02)				
Number of Families Receiving Public Assistance That Have School-Age Children (04. 01 04)	•			
Percent Families Receiving Public Assis- tance That Have School-Age Children (04. 01 04 01)	,	•	*	•
Number of Families in Which English Is a Second Language (04. 01 09)	*	1		_
Percent Families in Which English Is a Sec- ond Language (04. 01 09 02)			~	,
Major Ethnic Groups (04. 01 10) 1. 2. 3. 4.		•	•	*
Percent Major Ethnic Groups in the Com- munities (04. 01 10 02) 1. 2. 3. 4.	•	- \ - 2		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
	· ·	· · ·	· · ·	•
04. 02 STATISTICS COLLECTED BY LOCAL	Vear	Veor		

165

;

-

04. 02 STATISTICS COLLECTED BY LOCAL AGENCIES	Year .	Year _,	Year	Year	
Live Births to Teenagers (04. 02 02)	\$	. •.		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Rate of Live Births to Teenagers (04. 02 02 01)			·		

----

170

04. 03 VOTING CHARACTERISTICS	Year •	Year	Year	Year
Voter Registration, by Political Party (04. 03 01 01)		•	,	
Democrat				
Republican				<u>ل</u>
Other		- 32	2	
Votes Cast in Last Two Presidential Elections, by Political Party (04. 03 02 01)	•	• 2		
Democrat		-74	~, '	
Republican	'		•	1
American Independent	~ . ·	•		•
	۰ •	•		· · ·
Votes Cast in Last Two Nonpresidential Year U.S. House	· · ·	•		
Votes Cast in Last Two Nonpresidential Year U.S. House Elections, by Political Party (04. 03 03)		•		
Votes Cast in Last Two Nonpresidential Year U.S. House Elections, by Political Party (04. 03 03)				
Votes Cast in Last Two Nonpresidential Year U.S. House Elections, by Political Party (04. 03 03) Democrat Republican	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
Votes Cast in Last Two Nonpresidential Year U.S. House Elections, by Political Party (04. 03 03) Democrat Republican Other	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		· ·	
Votes Cast in Last Two Nonpresidential Year U.S. House Elections, by Political Party (04. 03 03) Democrat Republican Other Votes Cast in School Operating Levy Election, Last Three Elections (04: 03 04)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
Votes Cast in Last Two Nonpresidential Year U.S. House Elections, by Political Party (04. 03 03) Democrat Republican Other Votes Cast in School Operating Levy Election, Last Three Elections (04: 03 04) Votes Favoring School Operating Levy, Last Three Elections (04. 03 04 01)			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

-		. `
P	ROFILE CHARTS	• 1
	04. SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND DYNAMICS 04.03 VOTING CHARACTERISTICS (Continuéd) Year Year Year	Year
B	Votes Cast in School Bond Issues, Last Three Elections (04. 03 05)	
B	Votes Favoring School Bond Issues, Last Three Elections (04. 03 05 01)	
· · · · ·	Votes Favoring School Bond Issues, Last Three Elections, by Precinct (04. 03 05 04) Precinct #1 Precinct #2 Precinct #3*	· · · · ·
3 9 9	04. SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND DYNAMICS	
• •	04. 05 ALLOCATION OF COMMUNITY RESOURCES Year Year Year	Year
, , , ,	Total Public Budget (04-05 01)	¥ .
- <u>-</u> ,	Percent Public Budget Allotted to Public Service (04, 05 01,01)	<del>به</del> ۲.
	Percent Public Budget Allotted to Recreation (04, 05 01 02)	.*
<b>,</b>	Percent Public Budget Allotted to Parks (04. 05 01 03)	\$ [·]
s ,	Percent Public Budge Allotted to Health Services (04. 05 01 04)	· .
	Percent Public Budget Allotted to Social Services (04. 05 01 05)	, ,
- Ŋ	Percent Public Budget Allotted to Libraries (04. 05 01 06)	-

į

f TICS		•	4.	, Year	Year	Year	Year
Total School E	nrollment (04.		4	`	2	· · · ·	[. ·
Total School E	Enrollment Grades	K-8 (04. 07 0	1 01)	•		· · ·	· · · ·
· Percent Scho	ol Enrollment Gra	ades K-8 (04. (	07 01 01' 0				
Total School E	nrollment Grades	9-12 (04. 07 0	1°02)°	•			
Percent Scho	oi Enrollment Gra	ides 9-12 (04.	07 01 02 0	l) .	v.		·
Publič School H	Enrollment (04. 07	/`02)	•				
Percent Publi	c School Enrollm	ent (04: 07 02	, 01) '		•		
Public School E	Enrollment Grades	K-8 (04. 07 0	2 02)	· · ·	•	•••	•
Percent Publi (04. 07 02 02	c School Enrollme	ent Grades K-8				-	P
Public School E	nrollment Grades	9-12 (04. 07 (	02 03)				•
Percent Public (04. 07 02'03	c School Enrollme	ent Grades 9-12	2 -			8	
Nonpublic Scho	ol Enrollment (04	. 07 05	, <b>, r</b>	· .		· •	
Percent Nonp	ublic School Enro	llment (04. 07	03 01)	•			
Ionpublic Schoo	Enrollment.Gra	des <b>K-8</b> (04. 0	7_03_02)		• • • •		
Percent Nonpi	iblic School Enrol	liment Grades	K-8		•		B

Ņ

В

B₹

B

B

### 04. SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND SYNAMICS 04. 07 SCHOOL DISTRICT CHARACTER-ISTICS (Continued)

STICS (Continued)

B Nonpublic School Enrollment Grades 9-12 (04. 07 03 03)

Year

ø

Year

Year

- Percent Nonpublic School Enrollment Grades 9-12 (04. 07 03 03 01)
- B Number of Dropouts (04, 07 04)
  - Dropout Rate (04. 07 04 01)
  - Number of Adults Enrolled in Adult Continuing Education (04. 07 05)

• Percent Adults Enrolled in Adult Continuing Education (04. 07 05 01)

180

169

Year

### 04. SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND DYNAMICS 04. 08 SCHOOL DISTRICT ORGANIZATION

1.			<u> </u>	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Year	Year	Year	Year
Number of Public Schools in the School District, by Grade Level Served (04. 08 03) Elementary (K-6)				
Elementary (K-8) Junior High Secondary Other	•		, •	
Studen# Teacher Ratio (04. 08 06)			<u>ه</u> :	
Student-Teacher Ratio Elementary (04. 08 06 01)	•			
Student-Teacher Ratio Secondary (04. 08 06 02)				·
Current Expenditure per Student (04. 08 07)	•			
Current Expenditure per Elementary Student (04. 08 07 01)	- 0			• •
Current Expenditure per Secondary Student	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	- 	•	
Current Expenditure per Community College Student (04. 08 07 03)	<b>?</b> .		- + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	• •
Current Expenditure per Adult Continuing Education			•	*
Annual School Budget (04: 08 g9)	R		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<b>ب</b> و ۲
Ratio of School Budget to Total Public Budget (04, 08 10)	'÷	· · · · ·		
		· · ·		. 8

× • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •			🔺 Ì	
04. SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND DYNAMICS		•	9	ی ب
(Continued)	[	<u> </u>	T	T
	Year	Year	• Ýėar	Year
Revenue from Local Taxes (04. 08 11 01)	· · · ·	<u> </u>	$\uparrow$	
		<u> </u>	<u> </u> 2	
Revenue from Other Local Sources (04. 08 11 02)		F i		• C ¹⁰
Revenue from Tuition (04, 08, 11, 03)	·	, ,	· <b> </b> · · ·	
P			· ,	
Revenue from Intermediate Sources (04. 08 12)				
Revenue from State Sources (04, 08 13)	 	<u>├</u> ───		1
	(			· · · · · ·
Revenue from Federal Sources (04. 08 14)		•	. \.	
	J	L	, ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	· ·
04. SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND DYNAMICS	(·	د		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
<ul> <li>64. SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND DYNAMICS</li> <li>64. 09 SCHOOL AND COMMUNITY INTERRELA TIONSHIPS</li> </ul>		, ,		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
04. SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND DYNAMICS 04. 09 SCHOOL AND COMMUNITY INTERRELA TIONSHIPS	Year	Year	Yeat	Year
04. SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND DYNAMICS 04. 09 SCHOOL AND COMMUNITY INTERRELA TIONSHIPS Number of Citizens Involved in School Planning (04, 09 03)	Year	Year	Yea	Year
04. SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND DYNAMICS 04. 09 SCHOOL AND COMMUNITY INTERRELA TIONSHIPS Number of Citizens Involved in School Planning (04, 09 03)	Year	Year	Yea	Year
04. SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND DYNAMICS 04. 09 SCHOOL AND COMMUNITY INTERRELA TIONSHIPS Number of Citizens Involved in School Planning (04, 09 03) Average Attendance at School Board Meetings (04. 09 04)	Year	Year	Yea	Year
04. SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND DYNAMICS 04. 09 SCHOOL AND COMMUNITY INTERRELA TIONSHIPS Number of Citizens Involved in School Planning (04, 09 03) Average Attendance at School Board Meetings (04. 09 04) Number of Parent and Other Citizen Volunteers Serving in	Year	Year	Yea	Year
<ul> <li>04. SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND DYNAMICS</li> <li>04. 09 SCHOOL AND COMMUNITY INTERRELA. TIONSHIPS</li> <li>Number of Citizens Involved in School Planning (04, 09 03)</li> <li>Average Attendance at School Board Meetings (04. 09 04)</li> <li>Number of Parent and Other Citizen Volunteers Serving in the School (04, 09 05)</li> </ul>	Year	Year	Yea	Year
04. SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND DYNAMICS 04. 09 SCHOOL AND COMMUNITY INTERRELA TIONSHIPS Number of Citizens Involved in School Planning (04, 09 03) Average Attendance at School Board Meetings (04. 09 04) Number of Parent and Other Citizen Volunteers Serving in the School (04. 09 05)	Year	Year	Yea	Year
<ul> <li>04. SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND DYNAMICS</li> <li>04. 09 SCHOOL AND COMMUNITY INTERRELA TIONSHIPS</li> <li>Number of Citizens Involved in School Planning (04, 09 03)</li> <li>Average Attendance at School Board Meetings (04. 09 04)</li> <li>Number of Parent and Other Citizen Volunteers Serving in the School (04. 09 05)</li> <li>Number of Groups Using School Facilities (04. 09 07)</li> </ul>	Year	Year	Yea	Year
<ul> <li>04. SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND DYNAMICS</li> <li>04. 09 SCHOOL AND COMMUNITY INTERRELA TIONSHIPS</li> <li>Number of Citizens Involved in School Planning (04, 09 03)</li> <li>Average Attendance at School Board Meetings (04. 09 04)</li> <li>Number of Parent and Other Citizen Volunteers Serving in the School (04. 09 05)</li> <li>Number of Groups Using School Facilities (04. 09 07)</li> <li>Parent Organization Membership (04. 09.08).</li> </ul>	Year	Year	Yea	Year
<ul> <li>04. SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND DYNAMICS</li> <li>04. 09 SCHOOL AND COMMUNITY INTERRELA TIONSHIPS</li> <li>Number of Citizens Involved in School Planning (04, 09 03)</li> <li>Average Attendance at School Board Meetings (04. 09 04)</li> <li>Number of Parent and Other Citizen Volunteers Serving in the School (04. 09 05)</li> <li>Number of Groups Using School Facilities (04. 09 07)</li> <li>Parent Organization Membership (04. 09 08)</li> <li>Percent Annual School Budget for Community Relations</li> </ul>	Year	Year	Yea	Year
<ul> <li>04. SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND DYNAMICS</li> <li>04. 09 SCHOOL AND COMMUNITY INTERRELA TIONSHIPS</li> <li>Number of Citizens Involved in School Planning (04, 09 03)</li> <li>Average Attendance at School Board Meetings (04. 09 04)</li> <li>Number of Parent and Other Citizen Volunteers Serving in the School (04. 09 05)</li> <li>Number of Groups Using School Facilities (04. 09 07)</li> <li>Parent Organization Membership (04. 09.08)</li> <li>Percent Annual School Budget for Community Relations (04. 09 09)</li> </ul>	Year	Year	Yea	Year

¢

ъ

:

Full

# Appendix D AN EDUCATIONAL AND SOCIOLOGICAL A DEFINITION OF COMMUNITY •

For purposes of this handbook, community is defined as a locally based general purpose social organization. A locality is an administrative or political
jurisdiction that can be described in terms of physical
boundaries. A school district is a locally based special purpose organization. The nature of these units should be understood before data are collected.

The physical boundaries of a community are defined in terms of three criteria:

(1) Interaction. A community is a concentrated settlement of people in a limited territorial area, within which are satisfied many daily needs through a system of interdependent relationships. The main element of a community is interdependence.

(2) Territory. A community is a geographic area that must be of a size and design that allows a great range of functions to be carried out within its boundaries.

(3) Identity. A community is a social unit and focus of group identification forming a local geographic area, but not necessarily a political entity.

A community includes many of the economia, political, religious, familial, and other social institutions by which people organize themselves in the pursuit of group goals. The community is thus representative of the society.

Many localities approximate the community as defined above. The concept community is an idealization that identifies factors to search when attempting to locate a community. Since the physical boundaries of a community are defined in terms of the three criteria, a community sometimes does not correspond to the often arbitrary boundaries of political or administrative. units. Yet there is a relationship among the criteria because the term local is seldom applied to land areas that are too large to comprise a single community. Therefore, community, locality, and school district often encompass the same general territory.

Localities are either political or administrative general purpose entities that are specifically defined in terms of territorial boundaries. Political locality is important as the source of jurisdiction for public services and as the basic unit of financial, legislative, or judicial citizen responsibility. County, city, village, township, and town are examples. Administrative localities are areas that describe: 1) a political unit as a county or a town, 2) a combination of political units as in the metropolitan area, or 3) subdivision of political units as in a census tract or block. Administrative locality is the basic data-gathering unit in the United States. Local areas are the smallest feasible unit for reporting information about a community.

School districts are special-purpose localities whose physical boundaries may or may not correspond to community, political locality, or administrative locality: For example, a school district may comprise only part of an entire community, or it may cover several communities or political localities, as in the case of consolidated school districts. Community colleges usually function in a prescribed service area comprised of several communities.

In developing an information system for use in planning by local school districts, the most important unit, for analysis is usually the school district itself. Most socioeconomic data, however, are collected by census geographic units and seldom by school district, unless boundaries happen to correspond to a census geographic unit or units. In most cases school districts and census geographic units are not coterminous. However,
a project of the National Center for Education Statistics (NCE3) resulted in translating the 1970 census data on population and housing to a school district base for approximately 12,000, of some 18,700 districts. The same type of project is being planned for the 1980 Census of Population and Housing. This project is described more fully in chapter 4.

174

The U.S. Bureau of the Census provides detailed information for many census geographic units. Tabulations of census information are available for areas as small as the city block for metropolitan areas and enumeration districts for other areas. Maps of areas showing these various census units are also available from the U.S. Bureau of the Census. School districts with a number of attendance areas may want to estimate some of the data items by attendance area from the decennial census.

(See A Guide to the Literature for estimating and projecting sources. See appendix H for information on the U.S. Bureau of the Census.)

# Appendix E

# THE STANDARD INDUSTRIAL CLASSIFICATION (SIC) SYSTEM

185

The SIC System—The Census Búreau defines the scope of its economic censuses and surveys and tabulates the results on the basis of the Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) system, as defined by the Executive Office of the President, Office of Management and Budget. The SIC system is used in the classification of establishments by type of activity in which they are engaged; it facilitates the collection, tabulation, presentation, and analysis of data relating to establishments. The SIC also promotes uniformity and comparability in the presentation of statistical data collected by various Federal Government agencies, State agencies, trade associations, and private research organizations.

The SIC divides the Nation's economic activities into 10 broad industrial divisions (generally identifiedby the first digit of the codes), 2-digit major groups, 3-digit industry subgroups, and 4-digit detailed industries. For example:

Division	2	Manufacturing
Major Group	22	. Textile Mill Products
Industry Subgroup	225	Knitting Mills
Detailed Industry	2257	Circular Knit Fabric Mills

In some instances, an even more detailed classification has been devised explicitly for census purposes so that

SOURCE: Data Access Descriptions (DAD No. 38 Revised, pp 51-52), U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, August 1977. additional industries, kinds of business, or specific products can be identified within the SIC categories.

3 :

The structure of the classification is such that, depending on the level of industry detail called for "(and consistent with confidentiality requirements), the Bureau can tabulate, analyze, and publish establishment data on an industry code basis; and in some instances, for census derived songlivisions within 4-digit industries.

The SIC Manual-This book explains and defines the SIC system in great detail. Two versions of this manual have been used until recently. The 1967 SIC Manual was used as the basis of classification in surveys of retail trade, wholesale trade and selected service industries mrough the August 1977 data month, Beginning with September 1977, these surveys provide data based on the 1972 revised edition of the Standard Industrial Classification Manual. On the other hand the Annual Survey of Manufactures and Current Industrial Reports-made the switch beginning with the 1973 data year: County Business Patterns started using the revised 1972 SIC system for 1974 data. In the 1972 revision, a number of additional separate industries were recognized and insignificant industries were eliminated; the definitions of many of the industries within the scope of the economic censuses were modified by shifting products and services from one industry to another within each SIC division For more information on the SIC revisions, see Technical Paper No. 28, From the Old to the New 1972 SIC for Establishments. Both the technical paper and the SIC Manual are sold by the Government Printing Office:

175

SIC Categories at the 2-Digit Level

`				· — `	
Div.	Major group	· · · · Activity	Div.	Major group	Activity
A	01-09	Agriculture, Forestry, and Fishing 🐇	F٣	50-51	Wholesale Trade
•	01 02	Agricultural Production-Crops Agricultural Production-Livestock		50 51	Wholesale Trade-Durable Goods Wholesale Trade-Nondurable Goods
i	07	/ Agricultural Services	. •	-	
	08 09	Forestry Fishing, Hunting, and Trapping	G	52-59	Retail Trade
ń		Mandman		52	Building Mate lals & Garden Supplies
. В	10-14	Mining	,	53	General Merchandise Stores °
0	10/	Metal-Mining		54.	·Food Stores
•	11/	Anthracite Mining		35 ý	Stations
	1/2	Bituminous Coal and Lignite Mining		56	Apparel and Accessory Stores
	14	011 and Gas Extraction Nonmetallic Minerals, Except Evels		Š7.	Furniture & Home Furnishings Stores
	/**	Nonmetating Minerals, Except rueis	·	58	Eating and Drinking Places
•	46 17	for the second sec	· ·	59	Miscellaneous Retail
. с. _у	15-17	Construction			•
·	9 15 16	General Building Contractors Heavy Construction Contractors	н	60-67	Finance, Insurance, and Real Estate
. /	17	Special Trade Contractors	1	60	Banking
/ `	+		r •	62	Security. Commodity Brokers &
<i>,</i> 6	20-39	Manufacturing	1		Services
/			· ·	63	Insurance Carriers
	20	Food and Kindred Products	°	64	Insurance Agents, Brokers & Service
	21	Tobacco Manufactures		66	Real Estate
/ •	23	Apparel and Other Textile Products		67	Holding and Other Investment Offices
/ ·	. 24	Lumber and Wood Products		.	
<i> </i> ·	25	• Furniture and Fixtures	ŀ		<b>₩</b>
1	26	Paper and Allied Products	I,	70-89	Services .
	28	Chemicals and Allied Products	ł	70	Hotels and Other Lodging Places
1				72	Personal Services
<b>F</b> ×	29	Petroleum and Coal Products		۰73	Business Services
•	30	Rubber and Misc. Plastics Products		75	Auto Repair, Services, and Garages
	31.	Leather and Leather Products		76	Miscellaneous Repair Services
	33	Drimary Metal Industries	1	79	Amusement & Recreation Services
	34	(Fabricated Metal Products)	1.	80	Health Services
	35 **	Machinery, Except Electrical		81	Legal Services
. '	36	" Electric and Electronic Equipment		/ 82	Educational Services ,
	37.	* Transportation Equipment		83	Social Services
« ·	39	Misc. Manufacturing Industries	Ι.	101	Gardens
· .				86	Membership Organizations
8	40-#	Transportation & Public Utilities		88 89	Private Households · Miscellaneous services
>	40	Railroad Transportation	1.		
•	41	Local & Interurban Passenger Transit	J.	91-97	Public Administration
1	42	Trucking and Warehousing		•	
1	43	U.S. Postal Service	l ¹	91	Executive, Legislative, and General*
	44	Water Transportation	ſ	92	Finance, Texation & Monetary Policy
	46	Pipe Lines. Except Natural Gas	·	94 -	'Administration of Human Resources
i					······································
191	47	Transportation Services	ł	95	Environmental Quality and Housing
ig 1	47	Transportation Services Communication		95 96,	Environmental Quality and Housing Administration of Economic Programs, ~

188

. 176

.

# Appendix F

# RACE AND ETHNIC STANDARDS FOR FEDERAL STATISTICS A AND ADMINISTRATIVE REPORTING*

KATHERINE K. WALLMAN Statistical Policy Division, Office of Management and Budget

**1**:8′.

# JOHN HODGDON Office for Civil Rights, Department of Health, Education, and Welfare

On May 12, 1977, the Office of Management and Budget issued Revised Exhibit F to OMB Circular No. A-46. This exhibit sets forth standard race and ethnic categories and definitions for Federal statistics and administrative reporting. The issuance of the revised exhibit culminates a multiyear interagency effort to standardize the collection and publication of data on race and ethnicity by the Federal Government.

### Background

More than 3 years ago, several Federal agencies responsible for the collection of information from education agencies and institutions recognized that their reporting requirements with respect to racial and ethnic data, while essentially similar; were marked by minor differences in categories and definitions. These variations resulted in increased burden on the respondents, who were forced to maintain separate records to meet each of a number of Federal agency, requirements, as well as in noncom-

• OMB Circular No. A-46 was subsequently reissued as Statistical Policy Directive No. 15 pursuant to transfer of Statistical Policy functions from the Office of Management and Budget to the U.S. Department of Commerce, under Executive Order 12013. Direcfive No. 15 supersedes section 7(h) and Exhibit F of OMB Circular No. A-46, dated May 3, 1974, and as revised May 12,, 1977. parability of data across Federal agencies. Under the auspices of the Federal Interagency Committee on Education (FICE), a task group was formed to develop a single set of racial and ethnic categories and definitions to be used in reporting from education agencies and institutions. In Spring 1975, agreement was reached by the Office of Management and Budget (OMB), the General Accounting Office (GAO), the DHEW Office for Civil Rights, and the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission to use the draft FICE categories for a trial period of at least 1 year. This trial was underfaken to test the new categories and definitions and to determine what problems, if any, would be encountered in their implementation.

At the end of the test period, OMB and GAO convened an Ad Hoc Committee on Racial Ethnic Categories to review the experience of the agencies which had implemented the standard categories and definitions and to discuss any potential problems which might be encountered in extending the agreement to all Federal agencies. This Committee, which met in August 1976, included representatives of OMB, GAO, the Department of Justice, the Department of Labor, the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, the Department of Housing and Urban Development, the Bureau of the Census,

and the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission. Based upon the discussion in that meeting, the Office of Management and Budget prepared minor revisions to the FICE definitions and circulated the proposed final draft for agency comment. These revised categories and definitions became effective in September 1976 for all compliance recordkeeping and reporting required by the Federal agencies represented on the Ad Hoc, Committee. Because many of the affected agencies already had forms in the field, and because lead time was required for respondents to change their recordkeeping systems, it was agreed that the changes would be implemented when existing forms were submitted for extension, or when new or revised forms were submitted for clearance. Changes were not required on forms which had already been approved for use until such documents were revised or expired.

### . Revision of Exhibit F, Circular No. A-46

Based upon-the interagency agreement, the Statistical Policy Division of the Office of Management and Budget initiated action to revise exhibit F to OMB Circular No. A-46 to formalize and extend the standardization of racial and ethnic data collection and presentation. The draft exhibit was distributed for review to participants in the Ad Hoc Committee, as well as to other agencies which had expressed interest in its contents. Following receipt of comments and incorporation of suggested modifications, the exhibit was prepared in final form. On May 12, 1977, the revised exhibit was signed by the Director of the Office of Management and Budget and issued to the heads of executive de-( partments and establishments.

• Revised exhibit F was prepared and issued to standardize racial and ethnic data which are collected and published by Federal agencies. The exhibit provides standard classifications for recordkeeping, collection, and presentation of data on race and ethnicity in Federal program administrative reporting and statistical activities. The following lists the highlights of revised exhibit F:

• Revised exhibit F provides, for the first time, standard categories and definitions. for use at the Federal level in reporting on racial and ethnic groups.

- The provisions of revised exhibit F extend, in general, to all forms of Federal recordkeeping and reporting which involve the collection and presentation of racial and ethnic data.
- Revised exhibit F provides a minimum standard, which can be adapted by individual agencies which need more detailed data for specific purposes.
- The requirements of revised exhibit, F extend beyond presentation of data to the recording and collection of information.
- Revised exhibit F is effective immediately for all new or revised recordkeeping and reporting. All existing data collections must be made consistent with the exhibit at the time they are submitted for renewal of clearance, or not later than January 1, 1980.

The full text of revised exhibit F is reprinted below.

REVISED EXHIBIT F RACE AND ETHNIC STANDARDS FOR FEDERAL STATISTICS AND ADMINISTRATIVE REPORTING

Purpose: This exhibit provides standard classifications for recordkeeping, collection, and presentation of data on race and ethnicity in Federal program administrative reporting and statistical activities. These classifications should not be interpreted as being scientific or anthropological in nature, nor should they be viewed as determinants of eligibility for participation in any Federal program. They have been developed in response to needs expressed by both the executive branch and the Congress to provide for the collection and use of compatible, nonduplicated, exchangeable racial and ethnic data by Federal agencies.

Definition The basic racial and ethnic categories for Federal statistics and program dministrative reporting are defined as follows:

1. American Indian or Alaskan Native, A person having origins in any of the original peoples of North America, and who maintains cultural identification through tribal affiliation or community recognition.

2. Asian or Pacific Islander. A person having origins in any of the original peoples of the Far East, Southeast Asia, the Indian sub-

### **RACE AND ETHNIC STANDARDS**

continent, or the Pacific Islands. This area includes, for example, China, India, Japan, Korea, the Philippine Islands, and Samoa.

- 3. Black. A person having origins in any of the black racial groups of Africa.
- 4. Hispanic. A person of Mexican, Puerto Rican, Cuban, Central or South American or other Spanish culture or\origin, regardless of race.
- 5. White. A person having origins in any of the original peoples of Europe, North Africa, or the Middle East."

Utilization for Recordereeping and Reporting: To provide flexibility, it is preferable to collect data on race and ethnicity separately. If separate race and ethnic categories are used, the minimum designations⁷are:

a. Race:

- -American Indian or Alaskan Native
- -Asian or Pacific Islander
- -Black
- ---White -
- b. Ethnicity:
- --Hispanic origin
- -Not of Hispanic origin

When race and ethnicity age collected separately, the number of White and Black persons who are Hispanic must be identifiable, and capable of being/reported in that category.

If a combined format is used to collect racial and ethnic data, the minimum acceptable categories are:

American Indian or Alaskan Native Asian or Pacific Islander Black, not of Hispanic origin Hispanic

White, not of Hispanic origin.

The category which most closely reflects the individual's recognition in his community. should be used for purposes of reporting on persons who are of mixed racial and/or ethnic origins.

. In no case should the provisions of this exhibit be construed to limit the collection of data to the categories described above. However, any reporting required which uses more detail shall be organized in such a way that the additional categories can be aggregated into these basic racial/ethnic categories.

The minimum standard collection categories shall be utilized for reporting as follows:

Civil rights compliance reporting: The categories specified above will be used by all agencies in either the separate or combined format for civil rights compliance reporting and equal employment reporting for both the public and private sectors and for all levels of government. Any variation requiring less detailed data or data which cannot be aggregated into the basic categories will have to be specifically approved by the Statistical Policy Division of OMB for executive agencies. More detailed reporting which can be aggregated to the basic categories . may be used at the agencies' discretion.

General program administrative and grant reporting: Whenever an agency subject to this circular issues new or revised administrative reporting or recordkeeping requirements which include racial or ethnic data, the agency will use the race/ethnic categories described above. A variance-can be specifically requested from the Statistical Policy Division of OMB, but such a variance will be granted only if the agency can demonstrate that it is not reasonable for the primary reporter to determine the racial or ethnic background in terms of the specified categories, and that such determination is not critical to the administration of the program in -question, or if the specific program is directed to only one or a limited number of race/ethnic groups, e.g., Indian tribal activities.

Statistical reporting: The categories described in this exhibit will be used as a minimum for federally sponsored statistical data collection where race and/or ethnicity is required, except when: the conjection involves a sample of such size that the data on the smaller categories would/be unreliable, or when the collection effort focuses on a specific racial or ethnic group. A repetitive survey shall be deemed to have an adequate sample size if the racial and ethnic data can be reliably aggregated on a biennial basis. Any other variation will have to be specifically authorized by OMB through the reports clearance process (see OMB Circular No. A-40). In those cases where the data collection is Sot subject to the reports clearance process, a direct request for a variance should be made to the Statistical Policy Division of OMB.

Effective date: The provisions of this exhibit will be effective immediately for all new and re-183

vised recordkeeping or reporting requirements containing racial and/or ethnic information. All existing recordkeeping or reporting requirements shall be made consistent with this exhibitat the time they are submitted for extension, or not later than January 1, 1980.

#### Presentation of Race/Ethnic Data:

- 1. Displays of racial and ethnic compliance and statistical data will use the category designations listed above. The designation
- "nonwhite" is not acceptable for use in the presentation of Federal Government data. It is not to be used in any publication of compliance or statistical data or in the text of any compliance or statistical report.
- 2. In cases where the above designations are considered inappropriate for presentation of statistical data on particular programs or for particular regional areas, the sponsoring agency may use:
  - a. The designations "Black and Other Races" or "All Other Races," as collective descriptions of minority races when the most summary distinction between the
    - majority and minority races is appropriate;
  - b. The designations "White," "Black," and "All Other Races" when the distinction, among the majority race, the principal minority race and other races is appropriate; or
  - c. The designation of a particular minority race or races, and the inclusion of "White" with "All Other Races," if such a collective description is appropriate.
- 3. In displaying detailed information which represents a combination of race and ethnicity, the description of the data being displayed must clearly indicate that both bases of tassification are being used.
- 4. When the primary focus of a statistical report is on two or more specific identifiable groups in the population, one or more of which is racial or ethnic, it is acceptable to display data for each of the particular groups separately and to describe data relating to the remainder of the population by an appropriate collective description.

#### Limitations of Revised Exhibit F

Revised exhibit F represents the best efforts of the Federal agencies to develop a standard in an area where many differing views and concerns are evident; however, there are some limitations in the use of the recently issued exhibit. A number of these are discussed briefly below:

First, it should be noted that the categories and definitions were developed primarily on the basis of the geographic location of various countries. It is important to note, therefore, that the classifications which are presented should not be interpreted as being scientific or anthropological in nature.

Second, the purpose of Circular No. A 46, and its exhibits, is to set forth standards and guidelines for Federal statistics. Thus, the standardization of categories, and any reporting pursuant to that standard, should not be construed as determinants of eligibility for participation in any Federal program. The responsibility for such determinations continues to rest : with the Federal program and compliance agencies.

Third, the definitions which are presented provide examples of areas or countries which are to be included in particular categories. These lists are not meant to be exhaustive. If a question arises with respect to the proper categorization of persons from a particular country, clarification may be obtained from the Statistical Policy Division, Office of Management and Budget. In response to agency requests, the Statistical Policy Division has already provided guidance on the following specific questions:

- 1. What countries are included within the Indian subcontinent?
- The Indian subcontinent includes: India, Pakistan, Bangladesh, Sri Lanka, Nepal, Şikkim, and Bhutan.
- 2. Should persons from all Central and South American countries be reported in the category "Hispanic?"

No. Only those persons from Central and South American countries who are of Spanish origin, descent, or culture should be included in the category Hispanic. Person's from Brazil, Guiana, Surinam, Trinidad, and Belize would be classified according to their race, and would not necessarily be included in the Hispanic category.

### RACE AND ETHNIC STANDARDS

3. Does the Hispanic category include persons from Portugal?

No. The Portuguese should be excluded from the category Hispanic, and should be classified according to their race.

Finally, problems may be encountered by agencies which find it necessary to employ respondent self-identification techniques rather than observer identification methods to determine individuals' racial and ethnic characteristics. Further discussion of this issue is presented below.

### Use of Self-Identification to Obtain Racial and Ethnic Data

¹ Federal agencies which have employed respondent self-identification to determine racial and ethnic characteristics, particularly for civil rights compliance purposes, have encountered' two basic types of problems. The first has been a misunderstanding on the part of respondents concerning the purpose of obtaining the data and its subsequent use and protection. The second has been objection by respondents to placing themselves in one of five mutually exclusive categories, none of which appears appropriate. This objection has arisen particularly in cases , where persons have mixed racial or ethnic backgrounds.

In some situations, racial and ethnic data can be obtained more easily if a third party makes a determination for reporting purposes. There are situations, however, in which the subjects of the survey have no direct point of contact with the agency conducting the survey. In such cases, respondent self-identification may be the only feasible method for data collection. Where this is the case, and where respondent misunderstanding is anticipated, the organization responsible for the data collection should make every effort to minimize the misunderstandings which can arise from the collection of racial and ethnic data. Steps which can be taken for this purpose include the following:

• Agencies should include in the instrument used to obtain racial and ethnic data a discussion of why the data are being collected, how they will be used and the steps which will be taken to prevent the use of data for discriminatory purposes.

- Agencies should include in the instrument an indication that the report is not attempting to develop an anthropologically precise description of the persons surveyed, but rather to obtain information on the number of persons in the study population who may be subject to discrimination because of the community's perception of their racial or ethnic heritage.
- The full wording of the categories and definitions which are to be used for respondent self-identification, as prescribed by revised exhibit F, should be included in the instrument in order to avoid the misunderstandings.which abbreviations may cause.
- Agencies may include an "Other (specify)" category for self-identification by respondents who feel that none of the five categories adequately describe their heritage. This sixth category should be added, however, only when the data gathering agency is prepared to assign the persons choosing this response option to a standard category for purposes of presenting aggre gated information. While the use of the "other" category is admittedly cumbersome, it appears preferable to allow its use in cases where such an option may serve to increase response rate and minimize respondent concern. It should be emphasized that the use of an "Other (specify)" category_is permissible only in cases where respondent self-identification is used; this option is not to be used in reporting forms which collect racial and ethnic data through observer idéntification of such characteristics.

#### Conclusion

Revised exhibit F, and the suggestions in this article, have been provided with a view towards improving the collection and presentation of racial and ethnic data in Federal reporting. Questions concerning the exhibit and the implementation of its requirements may be directed to the Statistical Policy Division, Office of Management and Budget.

# Appendix G

# THE FAMILY EDUCATIONAL RIGHTS AND PRIVACY ACT OF 1974*

SEC. 438. (a) (1) (A) No funds shall be made available under any applicable program to any educational agency or institution which has a policy of denying, or which effectively prevents, the par-~ ents of students who are or have been in attendance at a school of such agency or at such institution, as the case may, be, the right to inspect and review the educational records of their children. If any material or document in the education record of a student includes information on more than one student, the parents of one of such students shall have the right to inspect and review only such part of such material or document as relates, to such student or to be informed of the specific information contained in such part of such material. Each educational agency or institution shall establish appropriate, procedures for the granting of a request by parents for access to the education records of their children within a reasonable period of time, but in no case more than forty-five days after the request has been made.

(B) The first sentence of subparagraph (A) shall not operate to make available to students in institutions of postsecondary education the following materials:

(i) financial records of the parents of the student or any information contained therein;

(ii) confidential letters and statements of recommendation, which were placed in the education records prior to January 1, 1975, if such letters or statements are not used for purposes

Complete text of the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974, Sec. 438 of the General Education Provisions Act, as established by P.L. 93-380, Education Amendments of 1974, and amended by P.L. 93-568. Also included is the closely related Sec. 440 pertaining to the limitation on withholding of Federal funds.  other than those for which they were specifically intended;

 (iii) if the student has signed a waiver of the student's right of access under this subsection. in accordance with subparagraph (C), confidential recommendations—

(I) respecting admission to any educational agency or institution.

(II) respecting an application for employ ment, and

(III) respecting the receipt of an honor or honorary recognition.

(C) A student or a person applying for admission may waive his right of access to confidential statements described in clause (iii) of subparagraph-(B), except that such waiver shall apply to recommendations only if (i) the student is, upon request, notified of the names of all persons making confidential recommend ations and (ii) such recommendations are used solely for the purposes for which they were specifically intended. Such waivers may not be required as a condition for admission to, receipt of financial aid from, or receipt of airy other services or benefits from such agency or institution.

, (2) No funds shall be made available under any applicable program to any educational agency or institution unless the parents of students who are or have been in attendance at a school of sush agency or at such interaction are provided an opportunity for a hearing by such agency or institution, in accordance with regulations of the Secretary, to challenge the content of such student's educational records, in order to insure that the records are not inaccurate, misleading, or otherwise in violation of the privacy or other rights of students, and to provide

an opportunity for the correction or deletion of any such inaccurate, misleading, or otherwise inappropriate data contained therein and to insert into such records a written explanation of the parents respecting the content of such records.

(3) For the purposes of this section the term "educational agency or institution" means any public or private agency or institution which is the recipient of funds under any applicable program.

(4) (A) For the purposes of this section, the term "education records" means, except as may be provided otherwise in subparagraph (B), those records, files, documents, and other materials, which-

(i) contain information directly related to a student; and

(ii) are maintained by an educational agency or institution, or be a person acting for such agency or institution.

(B) The term "education records" does not include-

(i) records of instructional, supervisory, and administrative personnel and educational personnel ancillary thereto which are in the sole possession of the maker thereof and which are not accessible or revealed to any other person except a substitute;

(ii) if the personnel of a law enforcement unit do not have access to education records under subsection (b) (1), the records and documents of such law enforcement unit which (I), are kept apart from records described in subparagraph (A), (II) are maintained solely for law enforcement purperes, and (III) are not made available to persons other than law enforcement officials of the same jurisdiction,

(iii) in the case of persons who are employed by an educational agency or institution but who are not in attendance at such agency or institution, records made and maintained in the normal course of business which relate exclusively to such person in that person's capacity as an employee and are not available for use for any other purpose; or

(iv) records on a student who is eighteen years of age or older, or is attending an institution of postsecondary education, which are made or maintained by a physician, psychiatrist, psychologist, or other recognized professional or paraprofessional acting in his professional or paraprofessional capacity, or assisting in that capacity, and which are made, maintained, or used only in connection with the provision of treatment to the student, and are not available to anyone other than persons providing such treatment, except that such records can be personally reviewed by a physician or other appropriate professional of the student's choice.

(5) (A) For the purposes of this section the term "directory information" relating to a student includes the following. the student's name, address, telephone listing, date and place of birth, major field of study, participation in officially recognized activities and sports, weight and height of members of athletic teams, dates of attendance, degrees and awards received, and the most recent previous educational agency or institution attended by the student.

(B) Any educational agency or institution making public directory information shall give public notice of the categories of information which it has designated as such information with respect to each student attending the institution or agency and shall allow a reasonable period of time after such notice has been given for a parent to inform the institution or agency that any or all of the information designated should not be released without the parent's prior consent.

(6) For the purposes of this section, the term "student" includes any person with respect to whom an educational agency or institution maintains education records or personally identifiable information, but does not include a person who has not been in attendance at such agency or institution.

(b) (1) No funds shall be made available under any applicable program to any educational agency or institution which has a policy or practice of permitting the release of education records (or personally identifiable information contained therein other than directory information as defined in paragraph (5) of subsection (a)) of students without the written consent of their parents to any individual, agency, or organization, other than to the following-

(A) other school off⁷ ls, including teachers within the educational institution or local educational agency, who have been determined by such agency or institution to have legitimate educational interests.

(B) officials of other schools or school systems in which the student seeks or intends to enroll, upon condition that the student's parents be notified of the transfer, receive a copy of the record if desired, and have an opportunity for a hearing to challenge the content of the record;

(C) authorized representatives of (i) the Comptroller General of the United States, (ii) the Secretary,

(iii) an administrative head of an education agency (as defined in section 408 (c)) or (iv) State educational authorities, under the conditions set forth in paragraph (3) of this subsection;

(D) in connection with a student's application for, or receipt of, financial aid;

(E) State and local officials or authorities to whom such information is specifically required to be reported or disclosed pursuant to State statute adopted prior to November 19, 1974;

(F) organizations conducting studies for, or on behalf of, educational agencies or institutions for the purpose of developing, validating, or administering predictive tests, administering student aid programs, and improving instruction, if such studies are conducted in such a manner as will not permit the personal identification of students and their parents by persons other than representatives of such organizations and such information will be destroyed when no longer needed for the purpose for which it is conducted;

(G) accrediting organizations in order to carry out their accrediting functions;

(H) parents of a dependent student of such parents, as defined in section 152 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954; and

(I) subject to regulations of the Secretary, in connection with an emergency, appropriate persons if the knowledge of such information is necessary to protect the health or safety of the student or other persons.

Nothing in clause (E) of this paragraph shall prevent a State from further limiting the number or type of State or local officials who will continue to have access thereunder.

(2) No funds shall be made available under any applicable program to any educational agency or institution which has a policy or practice of releasing, or providing access to, any personally identifiable information in education records other than direct-ory information, or as is permitted under paragraph (i) of this subsection.

(A) there is written consent from the student's parents specifying records to be released, the reasons for such release, and to whom, and with a copy of the records to be released to the student's parents and the student if desired by the parents, or

(B) such information is furnisned in compliance with judicial order, or pursuant to any lawfully issued subpoena, upon condition that parents and the students are notified of all such orders or subpoenas



in advance of the compliance therewith by the educational institution or agency.

(3) Nothing contained in this section shall preclude authorized representatives of (A) the Comptroller General of the United States, (B), the Secretary, (C) an administrative head of an education agency or (D) State educational authorities from having access to student or other records which may be necessary in connection with the audit and evaluation of Federally-supported education program, or in connection with the enforcement of the Federal legal requirements which relate to such programs: Provided, That except when collection of personally identifiable information is specifically authorized by Federal law, any data collected by such officials shall be protected in a manner which will not permit the personal identification of students and their parents by other than those officials, and such personally identifiable data shall be destroyed when no longer needed for such audit, evaluation, and enforcement of Federal legal requirements.

(4) (A) Each educational agency or institution shall maintain a record, kept with the education records of each student, which will indicate all individuals (other than those specified in paragraph (1) (A) of this subsection), agencies, or organizations which have requested or obtained access to a student's education records maintained by such educational agency or institution, and which will indicate specifically the legitimate interest that each such person, agency, or organization has in obtaining this information. Such record of access shall be available only to parents, to the school official and his assistants who are responsible for the custody of such records, and to persons or organizations authorized in, and under the conditions of, clauses (A) and (C) of paragraph (1) as a means of auditing the operation of the system.

(B) With respect to this subsection, personal information shall only be transferred to a third party on the condition that such party will not permit any other party to have access to such information without the written consent of the parents of the student.

(c) The Secretary shall adopt appropriate regulations to protect the rights of privacy of students and their families in connection with any surveys or data-gathering activities conducted, assisted, or authorized by the Secretary or an administrative head of an education agency. Regulations established under this subsection shall include provisions controlling the use, dissemination, and protection of

such data. No survey or data-gathering activities shall be conducted by the Secretary, or an administrative head of an education agency under an applicable program, unless such activities are authorized by law.

(d) For the purposes of this section, whenever a student has attained eighteen years of age, or is attending an institution of postsecondary education the permission or consent required of and the rights accorded to the parents of the student shall thereafter only be required of and accorded to the student.

(e) No funds shall be made available under any applicable program to any educational agency or institution unless such agency or institution informs the parents of students, or the students, if they are eighteen years of age or older, or are attending an institution of postsecondary education, of the rights accorded them by this section. (f) The Secretary, or an administrative head of an education agency, shall take appropriate actions to enforce provisions of this section and to deal with violations of this section, according to the provisions of this Act, except that action to terminate assistance may be taken only if the Secretary finds there has been a failure to comply with the provisions of this section, and he has determined that compliance cannot be secured by voluntary means.

(g) The Secretary shall establish, or designate in office and review board with the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare for the purpose of investigating, processing, reviewing, and adjudicating violations of the provisions of this section and complaints which may be filed concerning alleged violations of this section. Except for the conduct of hearings, none of the functions of the Secretary under this section shall be carried out in any of the regional offices of such Department.

### LIMITATION ON WITHI OLDING OF FEDERAL FUNDS

SEC. 440. (a) Except as provided in section 438 (b) (1) (D) of this Act, the refusal of a State or local educational agency or institution of higher education, community college, school, agency offering a preschool program, or other educational institution to provide personally identifiable data on students or their families, as part of any applicable program, to any Federal office, agency, department, cr other third party, on the grounds that it constitutes a violation of the right to privacy and confidentiality of

¢

students or their parents, shall not constitute sufficient grounds for the suspension or termination of Federal assistance. Such a refusal shall also not constitute sufficient grounds for a denial of, a refusal to consider, or a delay in the consideration of, funding for such a recipient in succeeding fiscal years. In the case of any dispute arising under this section, reasonable notice and opportunity for a hearing shall be afforded the applicant.



# Appendix H

# ASSISTANCE IN OBTAINING AND USING DATA AND PRODUCTS FROM THE U.S. BUREAU OF THE CENSUS

# **DATA USER SERVICES**

The U.S. Bureau of the Census (referred to herein as "Bureau") specialists are available to answer inquiries and provide consultation on data products and services by phone, correspondence, or personal visit. The Bureau offers seminars, workshops, and training courses to inform users of available products and their use. The Bureau also sells machine-readable data files, computer, programs, maps, geographic products, microfiche and microfilm, and printouts prepared from data files.

For further information and assistance regarding Bureau programs or products, contact: Data User Services Division U.S. Bureau of the Census Washington, D.C. 20233 Telephone: (301) 763-2400

# **REGIONAL USER SERVICES**

The Bureau's 12 regional offices also offer a variety of services to users of Census data. Data user services officers can answer inquiries about census publications and other Bureau products, conduct workshops, and make presentations to groups interested in the statistical programs and products of the Bureau. A library of Bureau publications is maintained in each office for users.

Atlanta Regional Office 1365 Peachtree St., N.E. Atlanta, Georgia 30309 Tel. (404) 881-2274

Boston Regional Office 441 Stuart Street Boston, Massachusetts 02116 Tel. (617) 223-0668

Charlotte Regional Office 230 South Tryon St. Charlotte, North Carolina 28202 Tel. (704) 372-0711 Ext. 351

# **Census Bureau Regional Offices**

Chicago Regional Office 55 E. Jackson Blvd. Chicago, Illinois 60604 Tel. (312) 353-0980

Dallas Regional Office 1100 Commerce St. Dallas, Texas 74242 Tel. (214) 749-2394

Denver Regional Office 575 Union Blvd. Denver, Colorado 80225 Tel. (303) 234-5825 Detroit Regional Office 231 W. Lafayette Detroit, Michigan 48226 Tel. (313) 226-4675

Kansas City Regional Office 4th and State Streets Kansas City, Kansas 66101 Tel. (816) 374-4601

Los Angeles Regional Office 11777 San Viceñte Blvd. Los Angeles, California 90049 Tel. (213) 824-7291



New York Regional Office 26 Federal Plaza New York, New York 10007 Tel. (212) 264-4730

Philadelphia Regional Office 600 Arch St. Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19106 Tel. (215) 597-8314 Seattle Regional Office 1700 Westlake Ave., North Seattle, Washington, 98109 Tel. (206) 442-7080

# **U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE DISTRICT OFFICES**

Other good sources of help in finding census information are the U.S. Department of Commerce district and satelli^{*}e offices located in most large cities. Each office maintains a reference collection of census reports as well as current reports for sale to the public. Phone numbers for government offices are listed in the white pages of the telephone directory under United States Government.

Albuquerque, New Mexico 87102 (Suite 1015) Anchorage, Alaska 99501 (412 Hill Building) Atlanta, Georgia 30309 (135 Peachtree Street, NE, Suite 600)

Baltimore, Maryland 21202 (U.S. Customhouse, Room 415) Birmingham, Alabama 35205 (908 South 20th Street, Suite 200) Boston, Massachusetts 02116 (441 Stuart Street) Buffalo, New York 14202 (1312 Federal Building)

Charleston, West Virginia 25301 (500 Quarrier Street) Cheyenne, Wyoming 82001 (2120 Capitol Avenue) Chicago, Illinois 60603 (55 East Monroe Street) Cincinnati, Ohio 45202 (550 Main Street) Cleveland, Ohio 44114 (666 Euclid Avenue) Columbia, South Carolina 29204 (2611 Forest Drive)

Dallas, Texas 75202 (1100 Commerce Street) Denver, Colorado 80202 (New Customhouse, Room 161) Des Moines, Iowa 50309 (210 Walnut Street) Detroit, Michigan 48226 (Federal Building, Room 445)

Greensboro, North Carolina 27402 (Federal Building, Room 203)

Hartford, Connecticut 06103 (450 Main Street) Honolulu, Hawaii 96813 (1015 Bishop Street) Houston, Texas 77002 (515 Rusk Street)

Indianapolis, Indiana 46204 (46 East Onio Street)

Los Angeles, California 90049 (11777 San Vicente Boulevard)

Memphis, Tennessee 38103 (147 Jefferson Avenue) Miami, Florida 33130 (25 West Flagler Street) Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202 (517 East Wisconsin Avenue)

# **OBTAINING AND USING CENSUS BUREAU DATA**

د.

Minneapolis, Minnesota 55401 (110 South Fourth Street)

Newark, New Jersey 97102 (Gateway Building, 4th Floor) New Orleans, Louisiana 70130 (432 International Trade Mart) New York, New York 10007 (26 Federal Plaza, Foley Square)

Omaha, Nebraska 68102 (1815 Capitol Avenue, Suite 703A)

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19106 (9448 Federal Building) Phoenix, Arizona 85004 (112 North Central Avenue) Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15222 (100C Liberty Avenue) Portland, Oregon 97204 (1220 S.W. Third Avenue, Room 618)

Reno, Nevada 89502 (300 Booth Street) Richmond, Virginia 23240 (400 North 8th Street)

St. Louis, Missouri 63105 (120 South Central Avenue) Salt Lake City, Utah 84138 (125 South State Street) San Francisco, California 94102 (450 Golden Gate Avenue) San Juan, Puerto Rico 00918 (Federal Building, Room 659) Savannah, Georgia 31402 (125-29 Bull Street) Seattle, Washington 98109 (1700 Westlake Avenue North)

## **LIBRARIES**

More than 1,200 selected libraries throughout the country have been designated as Federal depository libraries. These libraries maintain varying collections of U.S. Government publications, including U.S. Bureau of the Census reports. In addition, the Bureau furnishes copies of its reports to a selected group of libraries designated as census depository libraries. These libraries have most of the census reports needed to obtain basic data for educational planning and decisionmaking. Other libraries may also maintain selected census volumes, and any library can obtain any census report through interlibrary loan. A list of Federal depository libraries is available from the U.S. Government Printing Office (GPO) or from the Data User Services Division.

# **MACHINE-READABLE PRODUCTS**

Special tabulations can be prepared, at user cost, from existing data files for specific geographic or subjectmatter areas. These tabulations are reviewed to make sure no confidential individual information is disclosed. For information regarding special tabulations or for assistance in obtaining and using U.S. Bureau of the Census machine-readable products, contact the Data User Services Division, telephone (301) 763-2400. The Data User Services Division can also provide a list of organizations known as Summary Tape Processing Centers, both public and private groups that have certain data files available.

193

# **COMPUTER SUMMARY TAPES**

ŝ

The major portion of the results of the 1970 census are produced in a set of six tabulation counts (see figure H-1). The data so tabulated are generally available, subject to suppression of certain detail where necessary to protect confidentiality, on magnetic computer tape, printouts, and microfilm, at the cost of preparing the copy. To help meet the needs of census users, these counts were designed to provide data with much greater subject and geographic detail than is feasible or desirable to publish in printed reports. Contact your local Summary Tape Processing Center for cost.

The term 'cells," is used to indicate the scope of subject content of the several counts, and refers to each figure or statistic in the tabulation for a specific geographic area. For example, in the Third Count, there are six cells for a cross-classification of race by sex; three categories of race (White, Black, other race) by two categories of sex (male, female). In addition to the above-mentioned summary tapes, the Bureau has available for purchase certain sample tape files containing population and housing characteristics as shown on individual census records. These files contain no names or addresses, and the geographic identification is sufficiently broad to protect confidentiality. There are six files, each containing a 1-percent national sample of persons and housing units. Three of the files are drawn from the population covered by the census 15-percent sample, and three from the population. One identifies individual large SMSA's and, for the rest of the country. groups of counties; the second identifies individual States and, where they are sufficiently large, provides urban-rural and metropolitan/ nonmetropolitan detail; and the third identifies State groups and size of place, with each individual's record showing selected characteristics of his/her neighborhood.

*First Count:* Source of the PC(1)-A¹ reports; contains about 400 cells of data on the subjects covered in PC(1)-B and HC(1)-A² reports and tabulated for each of the approximately 250,000 enumeration districts in the United States.

Second Count: Source of the PC(1)-B, HC(1)-A, and part of the  $PHC(1)^3$  reports; contains about 3,500 cells of data covering the subjects in these reports and tabulated for the approximately 35,000 county subdivisions in the United States.

*Third Count:* Source of the HC(3) reports; contains about 250 cells of data on the subject covered in the PC(1)-B and HC(1)-A reports and tabulated for approximately 1,500,000 blocks in the United States.

Fourth Count: Source of the PC(1)-C, HC(1)-B, and part of the PHC(1) reports; contains about 13,000 cells of data covering the subjects in these reports and tabulated for the approximately 35,000 tracts and 35.000 county subdivisions in the United States; also contains about 30,000 cells of data for each county.

Fifth Count: Contains approximately 800 cells of population and housing data for 5-digit ZIP code areas in SMSA's and 3-digit ZIP code areas outside SMSA's; the ZIP code data are available only on tape.

Sixth Count: Source of the PC(1)-D and HC(2) reports; c ... tains about 260,000 cells of data covering the subjects in these reports and tabulated for States, SMSA's, and lar_e cities.

The tapes are generally organized on a State basis. To use the First Count and Third Count tapes, it is necessary to purchase the appropriate enumeration district and block maps.

¹ PC refers to Population Census.

² HC refers to Housing Census.

³ PHC refers to Population Housing Census.

# OBTAINING AND USING CENSUS BUREAU DATA

Summary Tape Series		Geographic Areas Covered	Complete- Count or Sample	No. of Tables and Data Cells for Each Area	Reels for U.S.**		
	File &	Block Group or Enu- meration District		54 tables containing 400 cells	108		
1st Count	File B	State, County, Minor Civil Division or Census County Division. MCD- Place, Place, Congres- sional District	100%		58		
	File A	Tract			108		
2nd Count	File B	State, County, Minor Civil Division or Census County Division, Place, SMSA, and Component Areas	100\$	93 tables containing 3,500 cells	155	```	
3rd Count		Block	100%	38 tables containing 250 cells	240		
	File A	Tract	20% 15% 5%	127 tables containing 7.100 ze21s	int		
4th Count Pop.	File B	Minor Civil Division or Census County Division		20% 15% 5%	127 tables containing 7,100 cells	125	
	File C	State, County, Place, SMSA, and Component Areas		127 tables containing 14,500 cells*	95 ´		
	File A	Tract	208 158 58	200 tables containing 6,600 cells	203		
4th Count Hous.	File B	Minor Civil Division or Census County Division		200 tables containing 6,600 cells	196		
;	File C	State, County, Place, SMSA, and Component Areas		200 tables containing 12,200 cells	108		
5th Count	File A	3-digit ZIP areas			1		
a daalaad Broomay, _ Over 11 Pr. 11 an	File B	5-digit ZIP areas (in SMSA's)	20%	53 tables	12		
	File C	Block Groups or Enu- meration Districts, Tracts, MCD's/CCD's in Non-tracted Areas	178 5%	containing 900 cells	205		
6th Count	Pop.	State, SMSA, Motro. County, City 50,000+, Central City	20% 15%	92 tables containing 150,000 cells	192	:	
•	Hous.	State, SMSA, Metro County, Non-Metro, County 50,000+, Jity 50,000+, Central City	۲. ۲.	348 tables containing 110,000 ce'ls	209		

FIGURE H-1. 1970 Census Summary Tapes: Counts and Files

*The additional number of data cells in File C are not tabulated for places. Tabulations for places have the same number of data cells as Files A and B. **Assumes 556 or 800 bpi. Fewer tapes would be required at 1600 bpi.

SOURCE: 1970 Census and You. Washington: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census. September 1977 (Rev.).

. 191

# GEOGRAPHIC AREAS ASSOCIATED WITH THE CENSUS OF POPULATION AND HOUSING

The following terms and definitions correspond to figure H-2 which illustrates the hierarchy of census geographic areas.

(A)

- Geographic Regions—Geographically contiguous groups of States (with the exception of the region that includes Alaska and Hawaii).
- Geographic Divisions—Groups of States that are subdivisions of regions. There are nine geographic divisions in the United States.

States-The major political units of the United States.

- Counties—The primary political and administrative divisions of the States. In Louisiana such divisions are called parishes and in Alaska census divisions have been established as county equivalents for statistical purposes. A number of cities are independent of any county organization and are treated the same as counties in census tabulations.
- Minor Civil Divisions (MCD's)—In 29 States MCD's are the primary political and administrative subdivisions of a county. For example: towns, townships, precincts and magisterial districts.

Census County Divisions (CCD's)—In 21 States, MCD's were unsuitable for presenting statistics, either because the areas have lost their original significance, have a very small population, have frequent boundary changes, or have indefinite boundaries. For these States the Bureau of the Census, in cooperation with State and local governments, established relatively permanent statistical areas designated as Census County Divisions. CCD's are defined with boundaries that seldom change and can be easily located, e.g., roads, highways, streams, railroads, power lines, and ridges.

- Enumeration Districts (ED's)—These areas average about 800 people or 250 housing units and are generally based on an enumerator workload. Enumeration districts must not cross the boundaries of any area for which data are to be tablulated (e.g., census tracts, MCD's, places, congressional districts, etc.).
- Block Groups—Combinations of contiguous blocks, having an average population of about 1,000 (One Block has an average population of about 100). Block groups are subdivisions of census tracts where ED data are not available. They are the equivalent of enumeration districts for purposes of providing small-area population and housing data. Block groups are typically defined without regard to the boundaries of political or administrative areas such as cities, minor civil divisions, or U.S. congressional districts.

**(B)** 

- Standard Consolidates Statistical Areas (SCSA's)—Thirteen statistical areas comprised of two or more contiguous SMSA's which meet certain criteria of population size, urban character, social and economic integration, and contiguity of urbanized areas.
- Standard Metropolitan Statistical Areas—An integrated economic and social unit with a recognized large population nucleus. Generally, each SMSA consists of one or more entire counties, or county equivalents, that meet standards pertaining to population and metropolitan character. In

# **OBTAINING AND USING CENSUS BUREAU DATA**

New England, towns and cities, rather than counties, are used as the basic geographic units for defining SMSA's. In Alaska, census divisions are used for defining SMSA's. SMSA's usually have one city with 50,000 or more inhabitants or twin cities with a combined population of 50,000 or more.

Metropolitan Counties—See "Counties" in (A).

Census Tracts—Small areas into which large cities and metropolitan areas have been divided for statistical purposes, and which have been designed to achieve some uniformity of population characteristics, economic status, and living conditions, within each tract.

Enumeration Districts-See listing in (A).

Block Groups—See listing in (A).

Blocks—Well-defined pieces of land, bounded by streets, roads railroad tracks, streams, or other features on the ground. Blocks do not cross census tract boundaries, but may cross other boundaries such as city limits. Blocks are the smallest areas for which census data are tabulated.

#### (C)

Urban and Rural Areas (Population)—The urban population comprises all persons living in urbanized areas and in places of 2,500 or more inhabitants outside urbanized areas. The population not classified as urban constitutes the rural population. The rural population is subdivided into the rural-farm population, which comprises all rural households living on farms, and the ruralnonfarm population, which comprises the remaining rural population.

Urbanized Areas (UA's)—Established primarily to distinguish the urban from the rural population in the vicinity of large cities. They differ from SMSA's chiefly by excluding the rural portions of counties comprising the SMSA's as well as those places that are separated by rural territory from the densely populated fringe around the central city. Because UA's are defined on the basis of population distribution at the time of a decennial census, their boundaries tend to change in each Census.

Places—Concentrations of populations, regardless of the existence of legally prescribed limits, powers, or functions. Most of the places identified in the 1970 census were incorporated as cities, towns, villages, or coroughs. In addition a number of larger unincorporated places were delineated for the 1970 census tabulations.

(1) Incorporated places—Political units incorporated as cities, boroughs, villages, and towns. Most incorporated places are subdivisions of the MCD or CCD in which they are located. However, incorporated places may cross MCD and county lines, but never cross State lines since they are chartered under the laws of a State.

(2) Census Designated Places (CDP's)—Previously known as unincorporated places. The new terminology makes it more obvious that unincorporated places are defined by the Bureau of the Census. It also avoids confusion in New England where many unincorporated places (now Census Designated Places) are parts of incorporated towns. For the 1980 census, CDP's will be used to describe densely settled population centers without legally defined limits or corporate powers. CDP's contain a dense, city-type street pattern, and ideally should have an overall population density of at least 1,000 persons per square mile.



* ×

In addition, a CDP should be a community that can be identified locally by place, name having developed over the years from a small commercial area or market center, rather than encompassing a residential land subdivision, apartment development or general urban expansion area.

Central Cities (of an SMSA)—The largest city in an SMSA is always a central city. One or two additional cities may be added to the SMSA title and identified as central cities.

For a more detailed definition or description of Census Geographic areas/units, see Data Access Description (DAD) No. 33 published by the Bureau of the Census. The terms geographic units and geographic areas are used synonymously.

# OTHER GEOGRAPHIC AREAS ASSOCIATED WITH CENSUS OF POPULATION AND HOUSING

U.S. Congressional Districts—Areas defined by State legislatures for the purpose of electing persons to the U.S. House of Representatives; 435 in number. The Census of Population and Housing is the only source from which statistics for the congressional districts are tabulated. Wards—Political subdivisions of incorporated places used for voting and representation purposes.

# GEOGRAPHIC AREAS ASSOCIATED WITH THE ECONOMIC CENSUSES

The 1972 Economic Censuses included the censuses of construction industries, manufacturers, mineral industries, retail trade, wholesale trade, transportation, and selected service industries. Data collected in the Economic Censuses are provided for many of the same geographic areas used for the Census of Population and Housing. Economic Census data are not tabulated for census tracts, census county divisions, enumeration districts, block groups, blocks, U.S. congressional districts, or wards. The relatively small number of businesses establishments and the sensitivity of the data to confidentiality restrictions severely limit the amount of economic census data that can be provided for small places. counties, or even SMSA's. However, for areas with high concentrations of retail establishments, small areas are defined that are not recongized in the popultaion and housing censuses: Central Business Districts and Major Retail Centers.

Central Business Districts (CBD's)—Areas which have high land value; a high concentration of retail businesses, offices, theaters, hotels, and service businesses; and high traffic flow. The CBD is defined in terms of existing census tract boundaries. For the 1977 Economic Censuses, there will no longer be a distinction drawn between CBD's and Downtown Business Areas (DBA's). The DBA was a specialized type of MRC. Former DBA's will not be called CBD's.

Major Retail Centers (MRC's)-Concentrations of retail stores, located in SMSA's, but outside the Central Business District.

# **OTHER SPECIAL-PURPOSE DISTRICTS**

Some publications from the Economic Censuses show statistics for areas defined for special purposes. Detail descriptions of these areas can be found in the publications showing the statistics for these areas, such as:

- (1) Oil and Gas Districts;
- (2) Production Areas;
- (3) Travel Regions.

il areas defined by other Federal agencies are used in appropriate Bureau of the Census reports also.

# OBTAINING AND USING CENSUS BUREAU DATA

## FIGURE H-2. Census Bureau Geographic Units*— Their Hierarchical Relationships

These figures illustrate hierarchical or "nesting" relationships among census geographic areas. Note that the hierarchies overlap, e.g., counties are subdivided into MCD's or CCD's (figure A), into urban and rural components (figure C), and, inside SMSA's, into census tracts (figure B). Note also the relationships among governmental and statistical units as data summary areas.



*Blocks do not cover the entire SMSA, only the urbanized part.

204

* The terms geographic unit and geographic area are used synonymously in the Bureau of the Census literature. SOURCE: The 1970 Census and You. Washington: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, September 1977 (Rev.).

ERIC FullExt Provided by ERIC

2

# FIGURE H-3. Summary of Major 1970 Census Reports

٤._

Type of output	Title -	Description	Geographic area	Unit of issue	
Advance Series					
FORULATION: PC(	i) Final Population Counta	. Official population counts.	States, counties, subdivisions, all incorpor- ated places, unincorporated places of 1,000+.	- United States, each State: District of Columbia.	
PC()	2) General Population-Characteristic	s-Data on age, sex, race, relationship to household head.	States, SMSA's, counties, places of 10,000+ population.	United States; each State; District of Columbia.	
HOUSING: HC()	1) General Housing Characteristics	. Selected data on 100-percent housing subjects.	States, SMSA's, counties, places of 10,000+ population.	United States: each State: District of Columbia.	
POPULATION: PC					
	Population	This volume consists of separate reports described in Series PC(1)-A through PC(1)-D below.	(See Series PC(1)-A through PC(1)-D below.)	Valued States: much States	
• PC(1)	-A Number of Inhabitants	Final official population counts.	States, counties (by urban-rural residence). SMSA's, urbanized aress, county subdivisions, all incorporated places, unincorporated places of 1,000+ population.	District of Columbia; Puerto Rico: Guam, Virgin Islands American Samoa; Canal Zone: Trisst Territory of the Brothin following	
PC(1)	B Generel Population Charecteristic	Data on age, sex, race, marital status, and relationship to head of household (100' population subjects).	States, counties (as above), SMSA's, urbanized areas, county subdivisions, places of 1,000+ population.		
PC(1)	C General Social and Economic Characteristics	Data on population subjects collected on a sample basis.	States (by urban, rural-nonfarm, and rural- farm residence), counties, SMSA's, urbanized areas, places of 2,500+ population.	Unifted States; each State;	
PC(1)	D Detailed Characteristics	Data on most population subjects collected on a sample basis, presented in detail and cross-classified by aRe, race, and other characteristics.	States (hy urban, rural-nonfarm, and rural- farm residence), SMSA's, large cities.	District of Columbia, and Puerto Rico.	
PC(	Volume II, Subject Reports	Detailed information and cross- relationships for selected pop- ulation characteristics,	United States; regions; for a few reports, States and SMSA's.	Sejected subjects,	
PC (S)	) Supplementary Reports	Open series presenting miscellaneous types of population data such as special compilations and selected tables.	United States, some by State and SNSA's, counties, and places of 2,400, population.	Sejected subjects.	
			. '	,	
NOSING: HC'I	Volume I, Housing Characteristics for States, Citics, and Counties,	This volume consists of the separate reports described in Series HC(1)-A and HC(1)-B below.	(See Series HC(1)-A and HC(1)-B helow.)	District of Columbia; Puerto Bistrict of Columbia; Puerto	
HC(1)-	A General Housing Characteristics	Data on the housing subjects collected on a 100° basis.	States, counties, SHSA's by urban-rural parts), urbanized areas, places of 1,000, population.	American Summa; Canal Zone, Trust Territory of the Picific Islands,	
	BDetailed-Housing-Characteristics	Data "on" the housing subjects collected on a sample basis,	States, counties (by urban, rural-nonfarm, and rural-farm parts), SMSA's, urbanized areas, places of	United States, each State; District of Columbia; and	
HC (2	Volume II. Metropolitan Housing Characteristics	Data covering most of the 1970 census housing subjects in considerable detail and cross-classification.	SWSA's and their component large cities.	United States: each SMSA.	
HC(3)	Volume III, Block Statistics	Selected data, 100° population	Blocks.	Each urbanized area: contract b ock statistics areas by Contract	
. нс(4) )	Volume IV, Components of Inventory	Data on components of change hased on a sample survey conducted in late 1970 and early 1971.	Fifteen SNSA's, separately for central city and balance of SNSA	United States and regions; each of 15 SMSA's	

ERIC

ż

196

1.000

2Û.

### FIGURE H-3.—Continued

Ì	HC(5)	Volume V, Residential Finance	Data on financing characteristics of homeowner properties and rental and . vacant properties. Based on a sample - survey-conducted in early 1971.	United States, regions, presented by size of place and by type of area.	One report.
	HC(6)	Volume VI, Plumbing Facilities and Estimates of Dilapidated Housing.	Data on.plumbing facilities reported in the census and estimates of dilapidation.	United States, regions, divisions, States, SMSA's, central cities and other cities of 50,000+ population, and constituent counties.	One report.
	HC(7)	Volume VII, Subject Reports	Detailed information and cross- classifications for selected housing characteristics.	Whited States, regions; for some reports, States and SMSA's.	Selected subjects.
,	HC(S1)	Supplementary Reports	Open series presenting miscellaneous types of housing data such as special compilations and selected tables.	United States, regions, divisions, States, urbanized areas, Congressions1 districts, SMSA's, urbanized areas, countics, places of 2,500 population, tracts.	Selected subjects.
JOINT POPULATIO	N -				
HOUSING:	PHC(1)	Census Tract Reports	Data for post 1970 census population and housing subjects.	SMSA's by census tract.	Each SMSA.
	PHC(2)	General Demographic Trends for Metropolitan Areas, 1960 to 1970.	Comparative 1960 and 1970 data on population counts and selected 100% population and housing subjects.	State, counties (population counts only), SMSA's and their central cities and con- stituent counties.	United States; each State; District of Columbia.
	рнс(3)	Employment Profiles of Selected Low-Income Aress	Data on social and economic character- istics of rosidents of low-income areas based on sample surveys con- ducted during late 1970 and early 1971.	Selected poverty neighborhoods in cities.	Sixty reports for 51 cities, 1 report each for 7 rursl areas.
METHODOLOGICAL REPORTS:	PHC(B)	Evaluation Reports	Open series presenting results of the 1970 census evaluation program.	United States	
	PHC(R)	Procedursl Peports	Open series presenting information on sdministrative and methodological aspects of the 1970 census, including 5 comprehensive procedural history.		
<u> </u>		Other assorted titles	Includes technical papers, working papers, and coding manuals.		
OTHICK REPORTS:	G <b>E</b> 40	Census Tract Papers	Open series; papers on small-area research.		
	GE60	Computerized Geographic Coding	Open series.		
	GE50	United States Maps	Open series.	United States; counties.	Selected subjects.
1	GE 70	United States Maps	Open series.	United States; counties.	Selected subjects.
	GE80	Urban Atlsses	12 maps showing population and housing characteristics.	Census tracts within 65 SMSA's	Esch of 65 SMSA's
		Index to 1970 Census Summary Tspes	Subject index to 1-6th summery tape counts		
		Index to Selected 1970 Census Reports	Subject index to $PC(1)$ , $HC(1,2,3)$ , and $PHC(1,2)$ .		
		1970 Census Users' Guide	Description of census concepts and procedures with census users' dictionary.		
		Assorted titles	Documentation to computerized files.		ar
		Dats Access Descriptions	Papers on specific 1970 census dsts products.		

SOURCE: The 1970 Census and You. Washington: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, September 1977 (Rev.).

207

٠,

OBTAINING AND USING CENSUS BUREAU DATA

200

ĘŸ

c

# Appendix I

# THE ROLE OF NCES IN GATHERING AND COMPILING DATA AND INFORMATION ABOUT COMPILING DATA AND INFORMATION ABOUT

This handbook is one of several in the State Educational Records and Reports (SERR) Series, sponsored by the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) is a coordinated attempt to produce a comprehensive and compatible set of standardized terminology for use in education.

NCES has a responsibility to provide and interpret comprehensive statistics about the condition of education in the United States. In addition is has mandates calling for conducting and publishing specialized analyses and for providing assistance to State and local education agencies in improving their statistical activities.

To fulfill its role, NCES sponsors a number of programs, ranging from regular data collection to the development of materials and techniques that facilitate the compilation and comparison of statistical information. One of these programs is the development and periodic revision of manuals of standardized terminology. One set of handbooks, the State Educational Records and Reports (SERR) Series, is directed primarily toward elementary and secondary education and has sprung from a long-expressed need by educators to have statistical information available to them in more uniform and compatible formats. The first handbook in this series dealt with a common core of general information related to education. That handbook, as did the handbooks that followed it, stressed standardized terms and definitions, along with a classification scheme and coding structure for those terms. Handbook VIII continues this tradition. Other handbooks in the SERR Series are listed in the following pages.

Adoption of the SERR Series (or the "handbook series," as it is most often called) is not required by Federal law. NCES does not, nor can it, mandate the use of any handbook at the State, intermediate, or local level. However, more and more State and local school system administrators have begun to realize the value of having well-organized, standard items of data at their disposal for management and reporting purposes. As a result, many of the handbooks in the SERR Series have come into use in a number of the Nation's school systems. At the same time, many Federal and State reports utilize terms and definitions from these handbooks.

# STATE EDUCATIONAL RECORDS AND REPORTS SERIES

Handbook I: The Common Core of State Educational Information: Bulletin 1953, No. 8. Compiled by Reason, Paul L., Emery M. Foster, and Robert F. Will. Washington: U.S. Office of Education, 1953. 116 pp.

"This handbook contains the items, with their definitions, which comprise the common core of State educational information that should be available annually in each State department of education." The 516 listed items pertain to State Education Agencies, Intermediate Administrative Unit Organization, Personnel and Finance for Public Elementary, Secondary, Adult, and Community College Programs of Education, Nonpublic Elementary and Secondary Day Schools, and other Full Time Day Schools and



Institutions, excluding Colleges and Universities. A minimum list of items which should be available in the fall is given. (Out of print)

Handbook II: Financial Accounting for Local and State School Systems. Bulletin 1957, No. 4. Compiled by Reason, Paul L., and Alpheus L. White. Washington: U.S. Office of Education, 1957. 235 pp.

"This Handbook is the basic guide to financial accounting for local and State school systems in the United States." It was "recommended that Federal, State and local agencies effect its use promptly and completely". There was recognition that "Handbook II will need to be revised from time to time to meet changing financial accounting needs" and that "through such action, its effectiveness may be maintained." (Out of print)

Handbook II, Revised: Financial Accounting: Classifications and Standard Terminology for Local and State School Systems. DHEW Publication No. (OE) 73-11800. Compiled by Roberts, Charles T. and Allan R. Lichtenberger. Washington: National Center for Education Statistics, 1973. 194 pp.

"This handbook... replaces original Handbook II.... The revision has been cooperatively developed, as was the original, and is designed to servethe same users more effectively as a vehicle for accumulating data for management decisions concerning educational programs and students." It was recognized that "Handbook II is subject to updating and revision at short intervals... for management purposes...."

Bulletin No. 21. Financial Accounting for School Activities. Compiled by Samuelson, Everett V., George G. Tankard, Jr., and Hoyte W. Pope. Washington: U.S. Office of Education, 1959. 109 pp.

This handbook is a supplemental volume to Handbook II: Financial Accounting for Local and State School Systems. It contains a standard classification and definitions of accounts for handling receipts and expenditures for school activities and presents a fund system of accounting to illustrate how these accounts may be used. It is recommended that the handbook be used as "the guide for financial accounting for school activities in every school throughout the Nation." Revisions are recommended based on "experience gained through use of the handbook." (Out of print) Handbook IIB: Principles of Public School Accounting. OE 22025. Adams, Bert K., Quentin Hill, Joseph A. Perkins, Jr., Philip S. Shaw. Washington: National Center for Education Statistics, 1967. 272 pp.

As an extension of the State Educational Records and Reports Series, this handbook is a procedural manual, supplementing the other handbooks in the Series. It is designed for persons not having extensive training and experience in school finance accounting and is intended to be useful in all schools as a means of self-improvement, inservice development, and a ready reference. (Out of print)

Guide for Implementing Handbook III: Property Accounting for Local and State School Systems. OE-23029, Cir. 797. Roberts, Charles T. Washington: U.S. Office of Education, 1966. 54 pp.

"This Guide has been developed to serve as a suggested procedural manual for local and State school systems officials seeking assistance in setting up school facilities data systems." It contains suggestions about types of organizations to implement the project, to stimulate interest, to operate the project, and to evaluate its use. Some manual and automatic data systems for recording and reporting on sites, buildings, and equipment are illustrated. (Out of print)

Handbook III, Revised: Property Accounting: A Handbook of Standard Terminology and a Guide for Classifying Information about Education Property. Seibert, Ivan N., Project Officer. Washington: National Center for Education Statistics, 1977. 131 pp.

"This revised edition of Handbook III provides property terminology, definitions, concepts, and a classification structure for property information." These are intended to assist in planning and decisionmaking to help ensure compatible and comparable recording and reporting of data on education property. This handbook addresses property used in elementary,-middle, secondary, and community (adult) education.

Handbook IV, Revised: Staff Accounting: Classifications and Standard Terminology for Local and State School Systems 1974. Roberts, Charles T. Washington: National Center for Education Statistics, 1974. 139 pp.

This revision of Handbook IV contains "classifications, definitions and coding schemes for the data elements about staff members necessary to assist ad-

2i0

# NCES ROLE IN EDUCATION DATA COLLECTION

ministrative decision making. ... The handbook -covers information about-staff members in both public and nonpublic educational institutions, including elementary, middle/junior high, and high schools, vocational-technical schools, and special education and adult/continuing education learning centers. ... The basic purpose of Handbook IV is to provide a framework for the accumulation of necessary data about staff members. ... The handbook is intended only as a guide. ...."

Handbook V, Revised: Student/Pupil Accounting: Standard Terminology and Guide for Managing Student Data in Elementary and Secondary Schools, Community/Junior Colleges, and Adult Education. Putnam, John F. Washington: National Center for Education Statistics, 1974. 239 pp.

The new edition of the handbook is similar to its predecessor in its organization, and its prime function remains to identify the terms and definitions most needed at the current time for collecting, using, and reporting data about students. There are major differences in scope and content. Confidentially of student information is treated. The concept of continuous student accounting is stressed.

Handbook VI: Standard Terminology for Curriculum and Instruction in Local and State School Systems. Compiled and edited by Putnam, John F. and W. Dale Chismore. Washington: National Center for Education Statistics, 1970. 319 pp.

"Terminology, definitions, and classifications in this handbook-representing, in effect, a language of communication-are the result of 5 years of cooperative effort of some 70 national organizations and the U.S. Office of Education. The handbook is a guide for local and State school systems for items of information used in keeping records and making reports about curriculum and instruction." It classifies and defines specific items of information about the organization, administration, content, resources, and processes of curriculum development and instruction, and includes related terminology. The handbook applies to elementary, middle and secondary schools, junior colleges and adult education arrangements. Consistent "use of the terminology in this handbook can help improve the quality of education by facilitating meaningful evaluation, realistic planning, and efficient operation of educational systems throughout the United States." It is anticipated

that it will be necessary to reappraise all items and definitions at some future date.

Handbook VII: The State Education Agency: A Handbook of Standard Terminology and A Guide for Recording and Reporting Information About State Education Agencies. Compiled and edited by Harris, Yeuell Y. and Ivan N. Seibert. Washington: National Center for Education Statistics, 1973. 168 pp.

This handbook is "devoted to the work of the State instrumentalities which serve as trustees of American education." State education agencies "are the fulcrum in the American system of education." The handbook is intended to comprehensively reflect the broad responsibility of State education agencies, current and future. Appropriate revision will be necessary to keep abreast of the emerging responsibilities of State education agencies. The handbook classifies and defines terms concerned with State education authorit. . the functions of State departments of education, the personnel and property of State education authorities and State departments of education, and the financial operations of State departments of education. The terminology contained in this handbook provides a plan according to which information about State education agencies can be recorded, reported, and studied, and it permits records and reports to be prepared with greater speed, accuracy, and flexibility.

Handbook VIII: Community Information: Its Collection and Use in Education. Harris, Yeuell Y., Project Officer. Washington: National Center for Education Statistics, forthcoming (1978) 256 pp.

A handbook of terminology and definitions about community characteristics which are significal, in educational administration and planning. It is designed for a wide range of users, not professional statisticians, and is for units as small as a school attendance area and as large as a State. It encompasses a variety of statistical data with particular emphasis on Census data and locally generated data. The handbook intends to aid in the solution of such community educational issues as securing financial support for schools, reorganizing curriculum, involving citizenry in school planning, and utilizing community resources. This handbook is primarily external to the school and its operation and as such departs from the other handbooks in the series. Periodic revisions are expected.



Handbook X: Educational Technology: Handbook of Standard Terminology and a Guide for Recording and Reporting Information about Educational Technology... Seibert, Ivan N., Project Officer. Washington: Na²¹ tional Center for Education Statistics, 1975. 276 pp. This handbook is/intended to aid in the gathering, compiling, and interpreting of data relating to the application of technology to instruction. It assists the user by providing standardized terms and definitions

and by providing a structure showing the interrelationships of those terms.

Combined Glossary. Compiled and edited by Seibert, Ivan N. and W. Dale Chismore. Washington: National Center for Education Statistics, 1974. 293 pp.

An alphabetical listing of terms and definitions covering the following handbooks: I, II, III, IV, V, IIB, VI, VII, IIR, IVR, VR. Coded to indicate source.

# Appendix J A GUIDE TO THE LITERATURE

Although Handbook VIII is designed to be self-sufficient, users who want a greater depth of information on certain subjects may want to consult other sources. A Guide to the Literature supplements chapters 4 through 7, and provides a listing of agencies that provide information services, standard reference books, and journals. The guide is organized by major topics and subtopics as follows:

- Population
  - Research Organizations
    - Books
      - General
    - Planning for an Aging Population
- Planning, Land Use, and Economy
  - Public Organizations
  - Private Organizations
  - Books
    - Planning
    - Land Use
    - Futurism
- Social Structure and Dynamics
  - Public Organizations
    - School and Community Relations
    - Educational Planning
  - Private Organizations
    - School and Community Relations
    - Educational Planning
  - Books
    - Citizen Participation in Education
    - Community Education
    - Community Power
    - Educational Planning
    - Future Planning in Education
    - Information Systems
    - School Enrollment Projections

- Surveys Research Methods
- Basic Statistics Texts
- Journals
  - Social and Political Characteristics, and Surveys
  - General Education
- ERIC Educational Resources Information Center
- Bibliographies
- Bibliography of Footnotes Used in Handbook VIII

# POPULATION

The U.S. Bureau of the Census (deferred to herein as "Census Bureau") is the main source of population information and analysis within the United States. The Census Bureau's Data User Services Division provides numerous information and referral services. Appendix G lists address and phone numbers for the Washington offices of the Division and the 12 Census Bureau Regional Offices. The Census Bureau also publishes *Data User News*, which provides current information on data services.

# **Research O. ganizations**

Local and regional population analyses are conducted by university-based population research organizations. The following is a selective list:

Carolina Population Center University of North Carolina 123 E. Franklin St. Chapel Hill, North Carolina 27514



Center for Demography and Ecology University of Wisconsin Madison, Wisconsin 53706

Center for Population Research Georgetown University Washington, D.C. 20007

Center for Population Studies Harvard University 9 Bow Street Cambridge, Massachusetts 02138

Center for Studies in Demography and Ecology University of Washington Seattle, Washington 98105

Demographic Research and Training Center University of Georgia Athens, Georgia 30601

East-West Population Institute The East-West Center Honolulu, Hawaii 96822

Institute of Population and Urban Research University of California 2234 Piedmont Avenue Berkeley, California 94720

Minnesota Population Studies Center University of Minnesota Minneapolis, Minnesota 55455

Office of Populaton Research Princeton University Princeton, New Jersey 08540

Population Research Center University of Chicago 1413 E. 60th St. Chicago, Illinois 60637

Population Research Center University of Texas Austin, Texas 78705

Population Research Lab University of Southern California Los Angeles, California 90007

Population Studies Center University of Michigan Ann Arbor, Michigan 40014 Population Studies Center University of Pennsylvania 3718 Locust St. Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19104

Scripps Foundation for Research in Population Problems Miami University Oxford, Ohio 45056

#### Books

#### General

- Shryock, Henry S. and Jacob S. Siege! The Methods and Materials of Demography. Vols. I and II. Washington, D.C.: United States Government Printing Office, 1973.
- U.S. Department of Health, Education and Welfare, National Institute of Education. Declining Enrollment: The Challenge of the Coming Decade. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, March 1978.
- U.S. Department of Commerce, Office of Federal Statistical Policy and Standards, Bureau of the Census. Social Indicators 1976. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, December 1977. (Superintendent of Documents Stock No. 041-001-00156-5)

### Planning for an Aging Population

- Atchley, Robert C. Social Forces in Later Life. Belmont, California: Wadsworth, 2nd edition, 1977.
  - DeCrow, Roger. New Learning for Older Americans: An Overview of National Effort. Washington, D.C.: Adult Education Association, 1975.
  - Grabowsky, S. and W. D. Mason. Learning for Aging. Washington, D.C.: Adult Education Association, 1974.
  - Hendrickson, A. A Manual on Planning Educational Programs for Older Adults. Tallahassee: Florida

### A GUIDE TO THE LITERATURE

State University, Department of Adult Education, 1973.

- Korim, Andrew. Older Americans and Community Colleges: An Overview. Washington D.C.: American Association of Community and Junior Colleges, 1974.
- Korim, Andrew. Older Americans and Community Colleges: A Guide for Program Implementation. Washington, D.C.: American Association of Community and Junior Colleges, 1974.

# PLANNING, LAND USE, AND ECONOMY

The literature on planning, land use, and the local economy is enormous and is growing daily. Standard works are listed at the end of this section, but public and private organizations are important sources of bibliographic information and trends in these fields and can aid in developing a more current set of data. Because the professional and agency literature in these fields comes from a very diverse array of sources, it is difficult to maintain an updated listing.

# **Public Organizations**

The public information offices of three Federal Government departments are initial reference points. The Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), the Department of the Interior, and the Department of Transportation all generate relevant information, including bibliographies. Numerous other Federal and State agencies are also good information sources. Inquiries concerning specific issues should be sent to the Office of Public Information of the individual agencies to assure reaching the right office.

Office of Public Information Department of Housing and Urban Development 451 7th Street SW. Washington, D.C. 20401

Office of Public Information Department of Interior "C" Street Between 15th and 19th Street NW. Washington, D.C. 20240 Office of Public Information Department of Transportation 400 7th Street SW. Washington, D.C. 20590

# **Private Organizations**

The number of private organizations with planning and land use concerns are also quite numerous. The Urban Institute, the Urban Land Institute, and Resources for the Future are three representative organizations, each a source of important studies. Two major planning organizations in the United States are the American Society of Planning Officials and the American Institute of Planners. The former publishes a monthly journal, Planning, which includes a current listing of books and reports. As a major national organization it tends to receive most important items. The Journal, American Institute of Planners, also includes a listing of articles published in a variety of related professional journals. It tends to focus on theoretical and conceptual issues, whereas Planning addresses more immediate needs, trends, and problems in planning and the community. Another good reference is the journal of the American Institute of Planners, The Practicing Planner.

The urban research centers at the Johns Hopkins University, Rutgers, Harvard, Massachusetts Institute of Technology and other universities provide many sound studies and are particularly useful when a variety of questions relating to planning and land use are being considered instead of the actual plan for land use of local communities. For specific local information, the reports and maps produced by the local or regional planning agency are useful.

American Institute of Planners 4776 Massachusetts Avenue NW. Washington, D.C. 20036

- American Society of Planning Officials 1313 E. 60th St. Chicago, Illinois 60637

Resources for the Future 1755 Massachusetts Avenue NW. Washington, D.C. 20036

The Urban Institute 2100 M Street NW. Washington, D.C. 20037

### **Books**

206

#### <u>Planning</u>

- Bennis, Warren G., Kenneth D. Benne, Robert Chin, and Kenneth E. Corey. *The Planning of Change*. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 3rd edition, 1976.
- Berry, Brian J. L. The Human Consequences of Urbanization. New York: St. Martin Press, 1973.
- Goodman, William I., editor. Principles and Practice of Urban Planning. Washington, D.C.: International City Manager's Association, 4th edition, 1968. (A new edition is scheduled to appear in 1978.)
- Krueckeberg, Donald A. and Arthur L. Silvers. Urban Planning Analysis: Methods and Models. New York: John Wiley, 1974.
- Perloff, Harvey S., editor. Agenda for the New Urban Era. Second Generation National Policy. Washington, D.C.: American Society of Planning Officials, 1975.
- <u>Whittich. Arnold. editor. Encyclopedia of Urban Plan-</u> ning. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1974.

#### Land Use

- Anderson, James R., et al. A Land Use and Land Cover Classification System for Use with Remote Sensed Date. Geological Survey Research Paper 96. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1976.
- Chapin, F. Stuart, Jr. Urban Land Use Planning. Urbana: University of Illinois Press, second edition, 1965.
- Clawson, Marion. Suburban Land Conversion in the United States: An Economic and Governmental Process. Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins Press, 1971.
- Friedman, John and William Alonso. Regional Policy: Readings in Theory and Applications. Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press, 1975.

- Perloff, Harvey S. and Lowden Wingo, Jr. Issues in Urban Economics. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins, 1968.
- Reilly, William K., editor. The Use of Land: A Citizen's Policy Guide to Urban Growth. New York: Thomas Y. Crowell Co., 1973.
- Thompson, Wilbur R. A Preface to Urban Economics. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins, 1965.
- Tiebout, Charles M. The Community Economic Base Study. New York: Committee for Economic Development, 1962.
- U.S. Department of Commerce, Office of Federal Statistical Policy and Standards. Standard Occupational Classification Manual. Prepared by: Executive Office of the President, Office of Management and Budget, Statistical Policy Division, 1977. (Superintendent of Documents Stock No. 041-001-00153-1)
- U/S. Urban Renewal Administration and the Bureau of Public Roads. Standard Land Use Coding Manual. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1976.

^tFuturism

- Abler, Ronald, et al., editors. Human Geography in a Shrinking World. North Scituate, Mass.: Duxbury Press, 1975.
- Delbecq, Andre L., Andrew H. Van de Ven, and David H. Gustafson. Group Techniques for Program Planning: A Guide to Nominal Group and Delphic Processes. Glenvicw, Illinois: Scott, Forseman & Co., 1975. (Paperback)
- Forrester, Jay W. World Dynamics. Cambridge: Wright-Állen, 1971.
- Harman, Willis W. An Incomplete Guide to the Future. San Francisco, California: San Francisco Book Company, 1976.
- Kahn, Herman and Anthony J. Wiener. The Year 2000: A Framework for Speculation on the Next Thirty-Three Years. New York: MacMillian, 1967.

ERIC Full fext Provided by ERIC

213

# A GUIDE TO THE LITERATURE

207

Sackman, Harold. Delphi Critique. Lexington, Massachusetts: Lexington Books. 1975.

Weaver, Timothy W. The Delphi Method. Syracuse University: Educational Policy Research Center, 1970.

# SOCIAL STRUCTURE AND DYNAMICS

There is much literature from many disciplines and there are many public and private organizations that address the areas included under Social Structure and Dynamics. What follows is a highly selective list of references that can serve as sources of information for local educational planners. It may be necessary to combine references from this section with sources from other sections of the Handbook for more indepth research needs.

# **Public Organizations**

# School and Community Relations

National Joint Continuing Committee on Community Education 1601 N. Kent Street 11th Floor Arlington, Virginia 22209

Office of Community Education U.S. Office of Education ROB No. 3 7th and D Street: 3 SW. Washington, D.C. 20202

Office of Community Education Research 3112 School of Education Building University of Michigan Ann Arbor, Michigan 48104

### **Educational Planning**

National Center for Education Statistics Federal Office Building #6 400 Maryland Avenue SW. Washington, D.C. 20202 The National Institute of Education U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare Office of Public Affairs Washington, D.C. 20208

# **Private Organizations**

### School and Community Relations

Charles S. Mott Foundation Mott Foundation Building Flint, Michigan 48502

Institute for Neighborhood Studies 1901 Q Street NW. Washington, D.C. 20009

Institute for Responsive Education ?04 Commonwealth Avenue Boston, Massachusetts 02215

Institute for Self-Reliance 1717 18th Street NW. Washington, D.C. 20009

National Center for Voluntary Action 1785 Massachusetts Avenue NW. Washington, D.C. 20036

National Community Education Association 1030 15th Street NW., Suite 536 Washington, D.C. 20005

National School Public Relations Association 1801 N. Moore Street Arlington, Virginia 22209

National Self-Help Resource Center, Inc. 1800 Wisconsin Avenue NW. Washington, D.C. 20007

Northwest Community Education Center University of Connecticut Storrs, Connecticut 06268

The Twentieth Century Fund 41 E. 70th Street New York, New York 10017



# Educational Planning

American Association of School Administrators 1801 North Moore Street Arlington, Virginia 22209

American Sociological Association 1722 N St. NW. Washington, D.C. 20036

Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development 1201 Sixteenth St. NW. Washington, D.C. 20036

Association of Collegiate Schools of Planning 237 Arden Road Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15216

Building Systems Information Clearinghou e/Educational Facilities Laboratories (BSIC/EFL) 3000 Sand Hill Road Menlo/Park, California 94025

Council of Educational Facility Planners 29 West Woodruff Avenue Columbus, Ohio 43210

The Council for Exceptional Children 1920 Association Drive Reston, Virginia 22091

Council of the Great City Schools 1819 H Street NW., Suite 850 Washington, D.C. 20006

Designing Education for the Future 1362 Lincoln Street Denver, Colorado 80203

Educational Facilities Laboratories 850 Third Avenue New York, New York 10022

Eric Clearinghouse on Educational Management University of Oregon Eugene, Oregon 97403 Future Information N.twork % Michael Marien World Institute 777 United Nations Plaza New York, New York 10017

Institute for the Future 2725 Sand Hill Road Menlo Park, California 94025

International Institute for Educational Planning UNESCO 7 rue Eugene-Delacroix 75 Paris, France

International Society of Educational Planners Mankato State College Mankato, Minnesota 56001

Letropolitan Toronto School Board Study of Educational Facilities 155 College Street Toronto 2B, Ontario, Canada

National Association of Elementary School Principals 1801 North Moore St. Arlington, Virginia 22209

National Association of Secondary Schools Principals 1904 Association Drive Reston, Virginia 22091

National Education Association 1201 16th Street NW. Washington, D.C. 20036

National Society for the Study of Education 5835 Kimbark Avenue Chicago, Illinois 60637

Ontario Institute for Studies in Education 252 Bloor Street West Toronto, 2B Ontario, Canada

Phi Delta Kappa Eighth & Union Streets Bloomington, Indiana 47401

213



### A GUIDE TO THE LITERATURE

Society for College and University Planning % Columbia University 616 West 114th Street New York, New York 10025

Special Libraries Association
Planning, Building, and Housing Section of Social Science Division
235 Park Avenue S.
New, York, New York 10003

#### Books

### Citizen Participation in Education

- Cahn, Edgar S. and Barry A. Passett, editors. Citizen Participation Effecting Community Change. New York: Praeger Publishers, 1971.
- Campbell, Roald R., Luvern L. Cunningham, and Roderick F. McPhee. The Organization and Control of American Schools. Columbus, Ohio: Charles E. Merrill Books, Inc., 1965.
- Community Services Administration. Citizen Participation. Washington, D.C.: 1978.
- Levin, Henry' M., editor. Community Control of Schools. Washington, D.C.: The Brookings Institution, 1970.
- Martinez, Maurice and Josepha M. Weston, editors. School and Community Issues and Alternatives. Dubuque, Iowa: Kendall/Hunt Publishing Co., 1976.
- McKelvey, Troy V., editor. Metropolitan School Orgenization: Proposals for Reform. Berkeley, California: McCutchen Publishing Corp., 1974.
- Rosenthal, Alan, editor. Governing Education: A Reader on Politics, Powers, and Public School Policy. Garden City, New York: Doubleday and Co., 1969.
- Rubinstein, Annette T., editor. Schools Against Children: The Case for Community Control. New York: New York Monthly Review Press, 1970.

#### **Community Education**

- Sanders, Irwin T. The Community: An Introduction to a Social System. Third Edition. New York: Ronald Press Co., 1975.
- Seay, Maurice. Community Education, An Emerging Concept. Midland, Michigan: Pendall Press. 1976.
- Warren, Roland. The Community in America. Chicago: Rand McNally, second edition, 1977.

#### **Community** Power

- Aiken, Michael and Paul E. Mott, editors. The Structure of Community Power. New York:- Random House, 1970
- Bonjean, Charles M., R.L. Lineberry, et al. Community Politics: A Behavioral Approach. New York: Free Press, 1971.
- Clark, Terry N. Community Structure and Decision Making: Comparative Analysis. San Francisco: Chandler Publishing Company, 1968.
- Dahl, Robert A. Who Governs? New Haven: Yale University Press, 1961.
- Freeman, Linton C., et al. Patterns of Local Community Leadership. Indianapolis: Bobbs Merrill, 1968.
- Gittell, Marilyn and Lan G. Hevesei. The Politics of Urban Education. New York: Frederick A. Praigerr, 1969.
- Iannaccone, Laurence. *Politics in Education*. New York: The Center for Applied Research in Education, 1969.
- Iannaccone, Laurence and Frank W. Lutz. Politics, Power and Educational Decision Making. Chicago: Rand McNally, 1964.

# Educational Planning

Banghart, Frank William and Albert Trull. Educational Planning. New York: Macmillan, 1973.



219

- Brieve, Fred J. Educational Planning. Worthington, Ohio: C.A. Jones Publishing Co., 1973.
- Coombs, Philip Hall. What is Educational Planning? UNESCO. Paris: International Planning Institute for Educational Planning, 1970.
- Correa, Hector. Population, Health, Nutrition, and Development: Theory and Planning. Lexington, Mass.: Lexington Books, 1975.
- Correa, Hector. Quantitive Methods of Educational —Planning.—Scranton:—International Textbook Co., 1969.
- Fox, Karl A. Economic Analysis for Educational Planning: Resource Allocation in Nonmarket Systems. Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press, 1972.
- Green, Thomas F., editor. Educational Planning in Perspective. Guildford, England, 1971.
- Harper, William. Community, Junior, and Technical Colleges: A Public Relations Sourcebook. Washington: Hemisphere Publishing Corporation, 1977.
- Itzkoff, Seymour W. A New Public Education. New York: McKay, 1976.
- Kaufman, Roger A. Educational System Planning. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, 1972.
- Raddick, W. Charette Processes: A Tool for Urban Planning. York, Pennsylvania: Shumway Publishing, 1971.
- Tanner, C. Kenneth. Designs for Educational Planning: A Systemic Approach. Lexington, Mass.: Heath Lexington Books, 1971.
- Temkin, Sanford. Handbook of Comprehensive Planning in Schools. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Educational Technology Publications, 1975.

#### Future Planning in Education

Hostrop, Richard W., editor. Foundations of Futurology in Education. Homewood, Illinois: ETC Publications, 1973.

Morrish, Ivor. Aspects of Educational Change. New York: John Wiley, 1973.

- Shane, Harold G. The Educational Significance of the Future. Bloomington, Indiana: Phi Delta Kappan, 1973.
- Cochran, William G. Sampling Techniques. New York: John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 1953.
- Conway, James A., Robert E. Jennings, and Mike M. Milstein. Understanding Communities. Englewood —Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall, Inc., 1974. (This book is highly recommended for educators undertaking a survey of the community.)
- Oppenheim, A. N. Questionnaire Design and Attitude Measurement. New York: Basic Books, 1966.
- Parten, Mildred. Surveys, Polls, and Samples: Practical Procedures. New York: Harper and Brothers, 1950.
- Sudman, Seymour. Applied Sampling. New York: Academic Press, 1976.
- Warwick, Donald P. and Charles A. Lininger. The Sample Survey: Theory and Practice. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1975.
- Weihberg, Eve. Community Surveys with Local Talent: A Handbook. National Opinion Research Center. Chicago: The University of Chicago, 1971.

#### Information Systems

- Simonds, Richard Shelton. Toward a Paradigm of Educational Change: The Role of Management Information Systems. Thesis. University of Southern California, 1973.
- UWASIS II: A Taxonomy of Social Goals and Human Service Programs. (United Way of America Services Identification System) Alexandria, Virginia: United Way of America, 1976.

#### School Enrollment Projections

Jaffee, A. J. Handbook of Statistical Procedures for Long-Range Projections of Public School Enrollment. Bureau of Applied Social Research, Columbia University, Technical Monograph, Project Contract

210

# A GUIDE TO THE LITERATURE

- No. OEC-No. OEC-1-7-701253-5103 OE-24017, U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Office of Education, Office of Program Planning and Evaluation. Washington, D.C.
- New York State Department of Education. Procedures for Projecting School District Enrollment. Albany: October, 1974.
- St. Louis Research Consortium. School Facility Planning System: Final Report. St. Louis County Government Center, 7900 Forsyth, Clayton, Missouri 63105. Clayton: January 24, 1974. (Available from Council of Educational Facility Planners, 29 West Woodruff Avenue, Columbus, Ohio 43210)
- St. Louis Research Consortium. School Facility Planning System: User's Handbook: Manual Version. St. Louis County Government Center, 7900 Forsyth, Clayton, Missouri 63105. Clayton: October, 1975. (Available from Council of Educational Facility Planners, 29 West Woodruff Avenue, Columbus, Ohio 43210)

### Survey Research Methods

- Babbie, Earl R. Survey Research Methods. Belmont, California: Wadsworth Publishing Company, Inc., 1973.
- Backstrom, Charles H. and Gerald D. Hursh. Survey Research. Evanston, Illinois: Northwestern-University Press, 1963.

### **Basic Statistics Texts**

- Downie, N. M. and R. W. Heath. Basic Statistical Methods. New York: Harper and Row, 1974.
- Ferguson, George A. Statistical Analysis in Psychology and Education. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1971.
- Loether, Herman, J. and Donald G. McTavish. Descriptive Statistics for Sociologists: An Introduction. Boston: Allyn and Bacon, Inc., 1974.
- . Inferential Statistics for Sociologists: An introduction. Boston: Allyn and Bacon, Inc., 1974.
- Siegel, Sidney. Nonparametric Statistics for the Behavioral Sciences. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1956.

Zeisel, Hans. Say It With Figures. New York: Harper and Brothers Publishers, 1957.

### 

# Social and Political Characteristics

- American Journal of Political Science (formerly The Midwest Journal of Political Science), published by the Midwest Political Science Association.
- American Journal of Sociology, published by the University of Chicago Press.
- American Political Science Review, journal of the American Political Science Association.
- American Sociological Review, journal of the American Sociological Association.
- Public Opinion Quarterly, journal of the American Association for Public Opinion Research.
- Rural Sociology, journal of The Rural Sociological Society.

### **General Education**

221

The addresses of periodicals can be located in the guides to periodicals listed below:

Current Index to Journals in Education Education Index Ulriches International Periodicals Directory

American School and University American School Board Journal Association of Collegiate Schools of Planning Bulletin Bulletin of National Association of Secondary School Principals Change Magazine, formerly Change in Higher Education Changing Education Chronicle of Higher Education Citizen Action in Education Council of Educational Facilities Planners Journal Education Tomorrow Educational Leadership, official publication of ASCD
Educational Planning Forum for the Discussion of New Trends in Education Journal of Education Finance Long-Range Planning National Elementary Principal Nation's Cities Nation's School Report Notes on the Future of Education Phi Delta Kappan Planning and Changing Planning for Higher Education School and Community Urban Education

## ERIC—EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER*

Each year many educational documents are not commercially or professionally published. However, an excellent source for such documents is the Educational Resources Information Center (ERIC), a nationwide system that collects and disseminates educational information throughout the United States. The documents are collected by the 16 ERIC clearinghouses, published in microfiche form by the central ERIC Clearinghouse in Washington, D.C., and listed in a monthly catalog, *Research in Education*. Many State and local departments of education, as well as colleges and universities, have ERIC collections and catalogs. In addition to ERIC article abstracts, the American Association of School Administrators publishes abstracts of ERIC publications called *The Best of ERIC*.

## **BIBLIOGRAPHIES**

- Choi, Susan and Richard Cornish. Selected References in Educational Planning. Project Simu-School, Santa Clara County Component, 100 Skyport Drive, San Jose, California, 95110. San Jose: 1975.
- Davies, Don. Citizen Participation in Education Annotated Bibliography. Center for the Study of Education, Institute for Social and Policy Studies, Yale

University. New Haven: December, 1973. (This publication also available through ERIC.)

- Hawley, W. D. and H. H. Svara. The Study of Community Power: A Bibliographic Review. Santa Barbara, California: A.B.C. Clio Press, 1972.
- Human Services Bibliography Series: Approaches to Human Services Planning. Journal of Human Services Abstracts. Project Share, P.O. Box 2309, Rockville, Maryland 20852. Rockville: Rev. Feb. 1978.
- Marien, M.D. Essential Reading for the Future of Education. Educational Policy Research Center, Syracuse University. Syracuse: 1971.
- Phipps, Lloyd J., and Franklin O. Jackson. An Annotated Bibliography of Literature on Citizens Advisory Councils and Committees. Rural Education Development Laboratory, University of Illinois at Urbana, 357 Education Building, Urbana, Illinois, 61901. Urbana: 1973.

## BIBLIOGRAPHY OF FOOTNOTES USED IN HANDBOOK VIII

#### Chapter 2

Weeks, R. Population. Belmont, California: Wadsworth, 1978.

#### Chapter 3

Shyrock, Henry S. and Jacob S. Siegel. *The Methods* and Materials of Demography. Vols. I and II. Washington, D.C.: United States Government Printing Office, 1973.

#### Chapter 4

^{*} The Educational Resources Information Center (ERIC) is supported by the Research and Educational Practice program, National Institute of Education, Education Division, U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare.

U.S: Bureau of the Census. Census of Population: 1970-General Population Characteristic, Final Report. PC(1)-B49 Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1971.

## A GUIDE TO THE LITERATURE

Chapter 6

- Conway, James A., Robert E. Jennings, and Mike M. Milstein. Understanding Communities. Prentice-Hall, Inc., 1974, p. 74.
- Oakland Schools, Pontiac, Michigan. Inforet (Information Return), 1970, p. 28.

#### Chapter 7

ł,

Adapted from Chapin, Jr., F. S., Urban Land Use

Ś

Planning. Urbana: University of Illinois Press, 1965, p. 375.

213

Berry, Brian J. J. The Human Consequences of Urbanization. New York: St. Martin's Press, 1973, p. 174.

### Appendix D

.

U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census. Data Access Descriptions (DAD No. 38 Revised, August 1977), pp. 51-52.



# Appendix K ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The development of the various drafts and revisions of Handbook VIII has been a cooperative effort involving 17 professional organizations, numerous Federal agencies, and many individuals of local and State agencies. The acknowledgments that follow generally indicate title and organizations at the time of participation in project activities.

## NATIONAL PLANNING COMMITTEE

The project's National Planning Committee consisted of representatives selected by 17 national organizations. This group met twice to advise the Handbook Team on community information needs in education, the structure and content of the revised handbook, and the accuracy and adequacy of the draft handbook. The organizational representatives serving as members of the committee were:

## AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF COMMUNITY AND JUNIOR COLLEGES

President: Project Delegate: Edmund J. Gleazer, Jr. Sandra Drake Research Associate. American Association of Community and Junior Colleges Washington, D.C.

#### AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF SCHOOL ADMINISTRATORS

Executive Secretary: Paul B. Salmon Project Delegate: Kimball Salmon Assistant Superinten Sacramento City Un

Assistant Superintendent Sacramento City Unified School District Sacramento, California

#### AMERICAN COUNCIL ON EDUCATION

President: Project Delegate: Roger W. Heyns Charles J. Anderson Coordinator of Educational Statistics U American Council on Education Washington, D.C.

224

### **AMERICAN ECONOMIC ASSOCIATION**

Secretary-Treasures:	Rendigs Fels
Project Delegate:	Harold F. Williamson
	Economics Professor, Retired
	Evanston, Illinois

### **AMERICAN SOCIETY OF PLANNING OFFICIALS**

<b>Executive Director:</b>	Israel Stollman
Project Delegate:	Robert J. Piper
	Metz Train Olson and Youngren
•	Chicago, Illinois

#### **AMERICAN SOCIOLOGICAL ASSOCIATION**

Executive Officer: Russell R. Dynes Project Delegate: Joyce L. Epstein Research Scientist and Assistant Professor of Social Relations Johns Hopkins University Baltimore, Maryland

#### **ASSOCIATION OF AMERICAN GEOGRAPHERS**

<b>Executive Director:</b>	J. Warren Nystrom
Project Delegate:	Kenneth E. Corey
,	Professor and Head
۰.	Graduate Department of Community Planning
	University of Cincinnati
	Cincinnati, Ohio

## ASSOCIATION FOR SUPERVISION AND CURRICULUM DEVELOPMENT

<b>Executive Director:</b>	Gordon Cawelti
Project Delegate:	Neil P. Atkins
•	Director of Secondary Education
,	West Hartford Public Schools
	West Hartford, Connecticut

## **COUNCIL OF CHIEF STATE SCHOOL OFFICERS**

 Executive Secretary:
 Byron W. Hansford

 Project Delegate:
 Donald Thomas

 Director, Educational Data System
 Minnesota Department of Education

 St. Paul, Minnesota
 St. Paul, Minnesota

## INTERNATIONAL SOCIETY FOR EDUCATIONAL PLANNERS

Executive Secretary: Bernard A. Kaplan Project Delegate: Hal E. Hagen

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Professor of Curriculum Mankato State University Mankato, Minnesota

## NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF ELEMENTARY SCHOOL PRINCIPALS

Executive Director:	William L. Pharis
Project Delegate:	Neil R. Osborne
	Principal, Deerfield School
	Windsor, Connecticut

## NATIONAL ASSOCIATION FOR PUBLIC CONTINUING AND ADULT EDUCATION

Executive Secretary: James R. Dorland Project Delegate: Donald Butcher Vice President for Academic Affairs Lake Superior State College Sault Ste. Marie, Michigan

## NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECONDARY SCHOOL PRINCIPALS

Executive Director: Owen B. Kiernan Project Delegate: Nancy De Leonibu The National Asso

Nancy De Leonibus The National Association of Secondary School Principals Reston, Virginia

## NATIONAL CENTER FOR HIGHER EDUCATION MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS

Project Delegate:

Dennis Jones National Center for Higher Education Management Systems Boulder, Colorado

## NATIONAL COMMUNITY EDUCATION ASSOCIATION

Executive Secretary: Paul Tremper Project Delegate: Lee Watt Garden City School District Detroit, Michigan

## NATIONAL SCHOOL BOARDS ASSOCIATION

Executive Director: Harold V. Webb Project Delegate: Isaiah E. Robinso Member NYC Bo

Isaiah E. Robinson Member NYC Board of Education Brooklyn, New York

#### PHI DELTA KAPPA

Executive Secretary: Lowell Rose Project Delegate: Stanley M. E

Lowell Rose Stanley M. Elam Editor, Phi Delta Kappan Bloomington, Indiana

## **REGIONAL REVIEW CONFERENCES**

A series of ten regional conferences of 2 days was held January through March for the purpose of reviewing Draft Three of the handbook. In these critiques the handbook was considered page by page for the purpose of soliciting suggestions for its revision. The participants in the conferences were invited from lists of nominations provided by the national organizations represented on the National Planning Committee. These review conferences were comprised of highly competent professional persons who served without compensation or remuneration for travel and per diem.

The conferences were held in the major cities where the HEW Regional Offices are located. Staff of the offices of Regional Commissioners of Education were most helpful in making the arrangements.

A feature of the conferences was the presentations made by a representative of each regional office of the User Services Division of the Bureau of the Census.

A total of 130 persons, whose names appear below, served at the regional review conferences.

**REGION I-BOSTON** 

Harry C. Allen Administrative Assistant For Community Education Brockton Community School Program Brockton, Massachusetts

C. Louis Cedrone Assistant Superintendent Westwood Public Schools Westwood, Massachusetts

Mary Ellen Curran Center Director Community Education Development Center Montclair State College Upper Montclair, New Jersey

Robert I. Curran Consultant Division of Adult and Community Education State Department of Education and Cultural Services Augusta, Maine

Guy N. DiBiasio Director of Curriculum Cranston School Department Cranston, Rhode Island

Paul R. Fillion Chief Division of Administration New Hampshire Department of Education Concord, New Hampshire Edward D. Houlihan Superintendent Bennington-Rutland Supervisory Union Manchester Center, Vermont

Pamela Irving Jackson Assistant Professor Department of Sociology and Social Welfare Rhode Island College Providence, Rhode Island

James P. Karon Bureau of Research and Evaluation Rhode Island Department of Education Providence, Rhode Island

Robert D. Kelly Consultant Community Education Department Connecticut Department of Education Hartford, Connecticut

Robert H. Lindauer Superintendent of Schools Simsbury Public Schools Simsbury, Connecticut

David K. Miller Assistant Professor Department of Sociology Dartmouth College Hanover, New Hampshire

John E. O'Brien Superintendent of Schools

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Washington Northeast Supervisory Union Plainsfield, Vermont

Edward J. Slawski Supervisor, Research Services Center for Research, Evaluation, and Information Services Pontiac City School District Pontiac, Michigan

Susan-Uchitelle Assistant to the Superintendent Parkway School District Chesterfield, Vermont

#### **REGION II—NEW YORK CITY**

John E. Allen Deputy Superintendent Newark School District Newark, Delaware

Harold J. Burbach Associate Professor, Education University of Virginia Charlottesville, Virginia

Mary Ellen Curran Center Director Community Education Development Center Montclair State College Upper Montclair, New Jersey

Robert A. Feldmesser Senior Research Sociologist Educational Testing Service Princeton, New Jersey

John N. Hatfield Associate Division of Continuing Education New York State Education Department Albany, New York

Daniel P. Huden Associate Professor and Chairman Social Foundations University of Maryland College Park, Maryland Duane E. Hutton Superintendent of Schools Vernon-Verona-Sherrill Central Schools Verona, New York

Christen T. Jonassen Professor, Sociology Ohio State University Columbus, Ohio

Jerome-Krase Assistant Professor, Sociology Brooklyn College of CUNY Brooklyn, New York

Patrick T. Long Director Center for Community Education Mankato State University Mankato, Minnesota

Ann L. Paterson Associate Professor and Chair Department of Sociology and Anthropology West Virginia University Morgantown, West Virginia

John J. Stiglmeier Director Information Center on Education New York State Education Department Albany, New York

#### **REGION III—PHILADELPHIA**

Val Arnsdorf Chairman - S Department of Curriculum and Instruction College of Education University of Delaware Newark, Delaware

Stephen F. Barsky Department of Sociology Temple University Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

Robert V. Bresnahan State Specialist

Federal Programs Research State Department of Public Instruction Townsend Building Dover, Delaware

Paul G. Carlson Principal Joseph M. McVey Elementary School Newark, Delaware

Nancy De Leonibus Research associate National Association of Secondary Principals Reston, Virginia

Patricia D. Fenn Administrative Specialist Maryland National Capitol Park and Planning Commission Silver Spring, Maryland

Dr. Leonard D. Garlick Consultant: Systems and Development Maryland State Department of Education Baltimore, Maryland

Irvin A. Gaydos Assistant Director, Special Projects State Department of Education Trenton, New Jersey

Oliver W. Gerland, Jr. President Family Service Association of Atlantic County West Atlantic City, New Jersey

Cheryl M. Graham Urban Agent College of Urban Affairs and Public Policy University of Delaware Newark, Delaware

Dr. Harold S. Himmelfarb Associate Professor of Sociology The Ohio State University Columbus, Ohio

Dave Lewis Data Users Services Officer Bureau of Census Philadelphia, Pennsyivania

ERIC Full Text Provided by ERIC

۰ ۲ ۲ R. T. Lewis, Jr. Supervisor of Data Utilization Virginia Department of Education Richmond, Virginia

Paul Peachey Associate Professor of Sociology Department of Sociology The Catholic University of America Washington, D.C.

John E. Radig Community Education Consultant Educational Improvement Center-South Sewell, New Jersey

George Rush Director-Joint Data Project Council of Chief State School Officers Washington, D:C.

## **REGION IV--ATLANTA**

Richard Alterman Policy Analyst Florida Department of Education Tallahassee, Florida

John A. Barker, Jr. Management Analyst Georgia Department of Education Atlanta, Georgia

Ernest Berty Director of Management Information West Virginia Department of Education Charleston, West Virginia

R. P. M. Bowden Community Schools Administrator Sutton Community Schools Atlanta, Georgia

John Crumpton President Durham Technical Institute Durham, North Carolina

Allen D. Edwards Emeritus Professor of Sociology

229

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Winthrop College Rock Hill, South Carolina

Merrill T. Egger Principal Powhatan Elementary School Baltimore, Maryland

Roy M. Hall Retired Dean of Education Georgia State University Cordelle, Georgia

Roger Hecht Assistant Professor, Sociology East Tennessee State University Johnson City, Tennessee

John W. Holley Assistant Professor, Sociology University of South Florida Lutz, Florida

Jo An Kerrey Chief Supervisor Management Information Services South Carolina Department of Education Columbia, South Carolina

ľ

Donald T. Lassiter Associate Superintendent Nash County Schools Nashville, North Carolina

1.5

.

Jagan Rao Lingamneni Associate Professor, Sociology West Georgia College Carrollton, Georgia

Glenn Moore Coordinator of Community Education McGavock Comprehensive High School Nashville, Tennessee

Larry A. Platt Assistant Professor, Sociology Georgia Southern College Statesboro, Georgia

Roderick W. Powers Coordinator of Student Information System



State Department of Education Montgomery, Alabama

Paul Ruark Associate Director Center for Community Education University of Alabama Birmingham, Alabama

Carol G. Thigpin Coordinator, Community Education Tennessee State Department of Education Nashville, Tennessee

George W. Wallis Associate Professor, Sociology University of Georgia Athens, Georgia

John S. Yates Principal Lumpkin County High School Dahlonega, Georgia

#### REGION V-CHICAGO

٢.

Paul Bishop Coordinator Community Education Program Mott Community College Flint, Michigan

Bernice Bloom Executive Director Educational Research and Development Wilmette, Illinois

Eleanor Buehrig Manager, Community Relations Section State Board of Education Illinois Office of Education Springfield, Illinois

Donald O. Bush Professor Education Administration Central Michigan University Mt. Pleasant, Michigan

Norman E. Duncan Elementary Principal President Elect IPA Park Ridge, Illinois

230

Ethan Janove Director Institute for Community Education Development Ball State University Muncie, Indiana

James V. Jordan Executive Director Coalition of Neighborhoods Cincinnati, Ohio

Dolores Story Kaufman Manager, Information Services Illinois Office of Education State Board of Education Springfield, Illinois

Mary S. Knudten Assistant Professor, Sociology Marquette University Milwaukee, Winconsin

Margaret G. Labat Superintendent-District 202 Evanston Township High School Evanston, Illinois

Joan W. Levy State Legislation Chairperson of Illinois Association of School Boards Winnetka, Illinois

Margaret L. Lotspeich Associate Professor Graduate Department of Community Planning University of Cincinnati Cincinnati, Ohio

Larry J. Love Superintendent Wilmette Public Schools Wilmette, Illinois

Carol I. Lyon Community Organizer Coalition of Neighborhoods Cincinnati, Ohio

Dawson Orman Assistant Superintendent Brown Education Center sville, Kentucky George Pintar State Facilitator for Community Education Illinois Office of Education Springfield, Illinois

Hazel Reinhardt State Demographer State Planning Agency St. Paul, Minnesota

Irene Rubin Director Urban Career Studies Lewis University Lockport, Illinois

Arthur D. Smith Associate Professor, Education and Psychology Northwestern University Evanston, Illinois

Kenneth J. Smith Manager of Data Systems Illinois Office of Education Springfield, Illinois

Lynn E. Smith Director of Community Education Center Madison, Wiscensin

Jerry Stockdale Associate Professor Department of Sociology University of Northern Iowa Cedar Falls, Iowa

Henry Stovall -Elementary School Principal Beaver Creek Schools Xenia, Ohio

T. Jan Wiseman Dean, Community Education and Services Kishwaukee College Malta, Illinois

#### REGION VI-DALLAS

Smith Markham Principal Richardson Public Schools Richardson, Texas

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Valetie McFarland Data User Services Officer U.S. Bureau of the Census Dailas, Texas

Phil Morris Associate Professor, Sociology Sam Houston State University Huntsville, Texas

^{*} J. Steven Picou Associate Professor, Sociology Texas A & M University College Station, Texas

Pete Shell Research Statistician Louisiana State Department of Education Baton Rouge, Louisiana

Joseph Williams, Jr. Director, Planning and Evaluation Louisiana State Department of Education Baton Rouge, Louisiana

#### REGIÓN VII-KANSAS

Jerry T. Barton Director of Research Texas Education Agency Austin, Texas

Dean Bergman Consultant I, Field Services Nebraska State Department of Education Lincoln, Nebraska

Robert L. Gast Director, Information Services Kansas State Department of Education Topeka, Kansas

Bill Ghan Coordinator, Adult and Community Education Missouri Department of Elementary and Secondary Education Jefferson City, Missouri

Victor D. Gragg Superintendent of Schools Fort Osage School District Independence, Missouri



232.

Ray Harrington Chief, Research and Information Division of Budget and Planning Office of Administration, State of Missouri Jefferson City, Missouri

John S. Holik Associate Professor, Rural Sociology University of Missouri Columbia, Missouri

James Kemp Consultant, Management Information Services Florida Department of Education Tallahassee, Florida

LeRoy Ortgiesen Administration Nebraska Department of Education Lincoln, Nebraska

W. A. Rumbaugh Director, Postsecondary Administration Kansas State Department of Education Topeka, Kansas

Kenneth Wright Data User Services Officer U.S. Bureau of Census Kansas City, Kansas

#### **REGION VIII---DENVER**

Bonnie Austin Banks Associate Planner North Dakota State Planning Division Bismarck, North Dakota

Lawrence P. Corsa Principal Lake Junior High School Denver, Colorado

Bill Funk Principal Runyon Elementary School Littleton, Colorado

Dale F. Graham Director of Research/Development Adams County School District #14 Commerce City, Colorado

Daniel F. O'Connor Assistant Professor, Sociology University of Northern Colorado Greeley, Colorado

William Reimer District Planner Cherry Creek School District #5 Englewood, Colorado

John H. Salazar Realty Specialist Bureau of Land Management U.S. Department of Interior Denver, Colorado

Jack Siegman Professor of Sociology University of Nebraska Lincoln, Nebraska

#### REGION IX-SAN FRANCISCO

Ernie A. Hickson Director North Santa Clara County Regional Occupation Program

Ruben L. Ingram Principal Mark Twain School Long Beach, California

Larry Kavanaugh Director, Community Service Fresno City College Fresno, California

Lamar Le Fevre Consultant Nevada Department of Education Las Vegas, Nevada

David Jess Leon Assistant Professor School of Education University of California Berkeley, California E. David Migocki Director Center for Community Education Development San Jose State University San Jose, California

Mary E. Preas Professor, Sociology Education East Texas State University Commerce, Texas

Stuart Reid Principal Quannah McCall Sixth Grade Center North Las Vegas, Nevada

Evonne Schulze Director Community Education Lindbergh Community School San Diego, California

Helen James Wallace Superintendent/Principal Liberty School District (P.T.) Curriculum Consultant Association of California School Administrators Novato, California

Robert Welty Consultant Program Planning and Development California State Department of Education Sacramento, California

#### REGION X-SEATTLE

Jan Clemmer Coordinator, Statistical Services Oregon Department of Education Salem, Oregon

Larry Collister Research Supervisor Seattle Public Schools Seattle, Washington

Betty-Coe deBroekert Consultant Vice-President B and C Consultants, Inc. Salem, Oregon

233

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

C. M. deBroekert Director, Educational Services Oregon Department of Education Salem, Oregon

Alan W. Metcalf Assistant Director Information Services State Superintendent of Public Instruction Old Capitol Building Olympia, Washington

George C. Shepard Research Demographer Mercer Island, Washington Jerry B. Thornton Director Washington Center for Community Education Superintendent of Public Instruction Old Capitol Building Olympia, Washington

Guy E. Waldrop Coordinator School Business Services Oregon Department of Education Salem, Oregon

## PARTICIPANTS IN THE FIELD TESTING OF DRAFT THREE OF HANDBOOK VIII

Draft Three of Handbook VII was reviewed by the following State and local education agencies, community colleges, and noneducation agencies.

234

#### North Carolina

< SEA: " Department of Public Instruction, Raleigh Superintendent: A. Craig Phillips Liaison: William W. Peek, Assistant to the Superintendent LEA: Caldwell County Schools, Lenoir Superintendent: Gerald D. James LEA: Goldsboro City Scnools, Goldsboro Superintendent: James E. Surratt Liaison: Garland Hill, Director of ESAA LEA: Greensboro Public Schools, Greensboro Superintendent: W. J. House Liaison: Donn Gresso LEA: Tarboro City Schools, Tarbor Superintendent: Phillip L. Beaman Liaison: Thomas B. Lockamy Institution: Cape Fear Technical Institution, Wilmington President: M. J. McLeod Liaison: Michael D. Bonner, Director of Continuing Education Institution: Guilford Technical Institute, Jamestown President: Woodrow B. Sugg Liaison: Lyle F. Pepino, Director of Institutional Research Institution: Mayland Technical Institution, Spruce Pine President: O. M. Blake, Jr. Liaison: David Joshins, Director of Institutional Research and Development

•2

Agency: Executive: Liaison: Wake County Community Action Agency, Raleigh Dorothy Allen Sharma Krauskopf

Agency: Liaison: City of Raleigh Planning Department, Raleigh Paul Del Mastra

State Department of Education, Columbus

Division of Planning and Evaluation

Franklin B. Walter

Peggy Mauter, Director

Harry Wolford, Director

#### Ohio

SEA: Superintendent: Liaisons:

LEA: Superintendent: Liaisons:

LEA: Superintendent: Liaisons:

LEA: Superintendent: Liaisons:

LEA: Superintendent:

LEA: Superintendent:

LEA: Acting Superintendent: Liaison:

Community College: President: Liaison:

> Community College: President: Liaison:

Division of Computer Services and Statistical Reports Cincinnati Public Schools, Cincinnati James Jacobs

Bernard M. Barbadora, Associate, Administrative Research Branch Guy W. Buddemeyer, Assistant Superintendent

Columbus City Schools, Columbus Joseph L. Davis Calvin Smith, Evaluation and Research Dale Baker, Acting Director of Research and Evaluation

Dayton City Schools, Dayton John Maxwell Elizabeth Lane, Educational Evaluation Donald Oldiges, Educational Research Jerry Steck, Administrative Research

Ohio Valley Local, West Union Donald L. Dowdy

Talawanda School District, Oxford Roe Hildreth

The Toledo Public Schools, Toledo John Parsons Gerald Biernacki, Director of Evaluation

Cuyahoga Community College, Cleveland John J. Koral Richard C. Romoser, Director Educational Research and Evaluation Services

235

Sinclair Community College, Dayton David H. Ponitz B. Albert Friedman, Director of Institutional Research

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Community College: President:	Southern State College, Wilmington Lewis C. Miller
Community College: President:	Rio Grande Community College, Rio Grande Paul C. Hayes
Agency:	Miami Valley Regional Planning Commission, Dayton
Director:	Dale Bertch
Liaisons:	Gayle Wiley and Cathy Emery, Data and Research Department
Agency:	OKI Regional Council of Governments, Cincinnati
Director:	A. H. Hessling
Liaisons:	Bruce Brock
	Joan Hull
Agency:	Toledo-Lucas County Plan Commissions, Toledo
Executive:	Walter T. Edelein
Liaison:	Eugene H. Naujock, Deputy Director
Agency:	Toledo Society for the Handicapped, Toledo
Liaison:	Sally A. Taber
Agency:	United Way of Montgomery County, Dayton
Liaison:	Judith Tobias, Research and Information
Washington	, , ,
SEA:	Department of Public Instruction, Olympia
Superintendent:	Frank B. Brouillet
Liaison:	Al Rasp, Assistant Superintendent of Instruction
LEA:	Camas Public Schools, Camas
Superintendent:	Stanford E. Hosman
Liaison:	Dan Peoples, Administrative Assistant
LEA:	Central Valley School, Spokane
Superintendent:	George M. Eisentrout
Liaison:	Fran Erickson

LEA: Superintendent: Liaison:

LEA: Superintendent:

LEA: Superintendent: Liaison:

Cosmopolis Public Schools, Cosmopolis Ben G. Edlund Larry Greear

Ephrata School District, Ephrata Bill Mayberry

Kennewick School District, Kennewick Donald N. Anderson Bob Valiant

227

LEA: Superintendent: Liaison:

Community College: Liaison:

State Level:

Pasco School District, Pasco H. Jay Childers Clarence Alford Seattle City Schools, Seattle David Moberly Susan Stier Vancouver Public Schools

Gerald L. Hester Richard T. Gjelsteen, Supervisor of Federal Programs Walla Walla School District, Walla Walla Franklin Hanson

Elton Fenno Yakima Public Schools, Yakima Warren Starr

John Gilmore, Principal Roosevelt Elementary School

Walla Walla Community College, Walla Walla Donn Adams, Director, Continuing Education E. Frank Price, Associate Director State Board for Community College Education Earl Hale State Board for Community College Education

Other Principal Reviewers

Agency:The Council on the Aging, Inc., Washington, D.C.Executive:Jack OssofskyLiaison:Richard X. Redmond

Agency: Reviewer: County of Fairfax, Fairfax, Virginia Tony Ahuja, Systems Analyst, Community Development Branch

LEA: Superintendent: Reviewer:

Franklin Local School District, Philo, Ohio Terry Ohlinger Starling D. Green, Administrative Assistant

LEA: Superintendent and Reviewer:

Agency: Executive Secretary: Reviewer: Starling D. Green, Administrative Assistan Highland Local, Sparta, Ohio

Richard A. Van Horn

American Association of School Administrators, Arlington, Virginia Paul B. Salmon Richard B. Chobot, Educational Planner

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

SEA:	State of Alabama, Department of Education, Montgomery, Alabama
CEIS Person:	Frank T. Speed, Director, Division of Departmental Services
Reviewer:	R. W. Powers, Planning and Evaluation
SEA:	State of Rhode Island, Department of Education, Providence
CEIS Person:	Donald P. Galamaga, Deputy Assistant Commissioner
Reviewer:	Laura H. Salganik, Specialist I. Research and Evaluation

#### NATIONAL CENTER FOR EDUCATION STATISTICS (NCES)

Various staff members of the National Center for Education Statistics have assisted in development of Handbook VIII through consultation, participation in planning and review conferences, and attendance at the meetings of the National Planning Committee. These include the following:

Marie Eldridge	• -	Paul Dunn
Administrator NCES	3.	Education Indicators and Foreign Statistics Branch
•		Evelyn Kay
J. Fred Beamer Statistician	~~ LS '	Vocational Education
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	•	Robert North
Martin M. Frankel Mathematical Statistician	*	Technical Planning Officer
<b>e</b> , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	~	Ivan Seibert
Allan R. Lichtenberger		Acting Chief
Chief, Educational Data Standards Branch (Retired)	57 45	Federal-State Coordination Branch (Retired)
	2	Absolom Simms, Acting Chief
John Putnam	, <b>-</b>	Education Indicators and Foreign Statistics Branch
Education Specialist		George H. Wade, Acting Chief
Handbook VIII, Draft Two	· · · J	Forms Management and Publications Branch
	* •	Deborah E. Gerald
Yeuell Y. Harris	۰2 •	Mathematical Statistician
Education Specialist	,	**** inj
Handbook VIII, Draft three	л	Loretta J. Wright, Writer/Editor
•		1

#### **OTHER CONTRIBUTORS**

The Handbook had cooperation from representatives of various agencies of the Federal Government including the following:

Carter Collins Acting Chief Director Planning, Program and Policy Analysis National Institute of Education Washington, D.C. 233

Warren Glimpse Assistant Chief Data User Services Division Bureau of the Census Washington, D.C.

 $\mathbb{R}^{2}$ 

۵,

John Kavaliunas Regional Users Coordinator Bureau of the Census Washington, D.C.

ŧ۶

Dixie Sommers Occupational Outlook Bureau of Labor Statistics Washington, D.C.

Peter Ward Occupational Outlook Bureau of Labor Statistics Washington, D.C.

- 239

Dr. William A. McCartney, University of Hawaii (retired), performed a valuable service by his editorial critique of Draft Three of the handbook.

## 230

٠.

A

ABE

SEE Adult basic education

Accessibility, 133

Accountability, 133

Ad hoc committee . . . (Data item) 04.04 04 Ad hoc committees, locally, 42, 124

Administrative jurisdiction, 133, 173 SEE ALSO Administrative unit

County Functional area Georgaphic area Police precinct Political jurisdiction Political unit School district Town

Water district

Administrative unit, 1, 24, 133 SEE ALSO Administrative jurisdiction Census tract City County Functional area Geographic unit Intermediate administrative unit Labor market area Local basic administrative unit Political jurisdiction Political unit Standard metropolitan statistical area Township

Adult, 133 Adult basic education, 133 SEE ALSO Basic education Adult vocational education, 134 SEE ALSO Area vocational school Vocational education Continuing education Adult continuing education . . . (Data item) 04.07 05 Number of adults enrolled in adult continuing education, 43, 49, 124, 169

Adult education, 133 SEE ALSO Adult basic education Adult continuing education Adult vocational education

Adult vocational education, 134 SEE ALSO Area vocational school Vocational education

Adults . . . (Data item) 04.0705 Number of adults enrolled in adult continuing education, 43, 49, 124, 169

Adult Education Act, 73

Advisory council, 134

Age . . . (Data item)

- 01.01 04 Median age, 13, 28, 48, 49, 100, 148
- 01.01 07 Number of persons age 25 and over, 28, 100, 148
- 01.06 01 Highest grade of school completed by persons age 25 and over, 29, 102
- 01.06 02 Percent distribution of highest grade of school completed by persons age 25 and over, 29, 102
- 01.07 13 Number of persons under age 18 living with mother only, 30, 103, 150
- 01.07 14 Number of persons under age 18 living with father only, 30, 103, 150
- 01.07 15 Number of persons under age 18 living with neither parent, 30, 51, 103, 150



01.08 06 Age-specific births, 30, 104

232

- 01.09 02 Handicapped persons age 18 and over, 31, 105
- 01.09 03 Handicapped persons under age 18, 31, 105, 152'
- 01.09 04 Hanidcapped persons under age 18, by type of handicap, 31, 105, 152
- 03.03 06 Elementary school-age children living within one mile/1.6 kilometers of their school attendance, 38, 119, 163
- 04.01 02 Number of families with school-age children, 40, 121, 165
- 04.01 03 Number of families with preschool-age children, 40, 121
- 04.01 04 Number of families receiving public assistance that have school-age children, 40, 121, 165
- 04.01 05 Number of working mothers with children under age 6 in a two-parent family, 41, 121
- 04.01 06 Number of working mothers with children under age 6 in a one-parent family, 41, 121
- 04.01 07 Number of working fathers with children under age 6 in a two-parent family, 41, 121
- 04.01 08 Number of working fathers with children under age 6 in a one-parent family, 41, 121

Agriculture, U.S. Dept. of

- -SEE U.S. Dept. of Agriculture
- Agriculture/agricultural . . . (Data item) 02.02 01 01-07 Employment in agriculture, 33, 107, 153

02.02 09 Agriculture, 33, 107, 154

- 02.02 09 03 Value of agricultural products (including live-stock), 33, 56, 107
- 02.07 04 01-07 Agriculture, 158
- - 03.02 13 American Indian or Alaskan native land area, 38, 118, 163
- American Indian . . . (Data item) 01.02 01 American Indian or Alaskan native, 44, 28, 93, 100, 149
  - 03.02 13 American Indian or Alaskan native land area, 38, 118, 163

Annexation . . . (Data dem) 03.05 01 Annexation procedures, 38, 120 Area vocational school, 134

SEE ALSO Adult vocational education Vocational education

Arkansas, Dept. of Education Migrant Student Record Transfer System, 61

Arrests . . . (Datz item) 04.02 04 Drug arrests of juveniles, 41, 122

Asian . . . (Data item) 01.02 02 Asian or Pacific islander, 28, 93, 100, 150

Assessed property valuation, 134

Attendance area, 134 SEE ALSO Attendance area analysis School attendance area

Attendance area analysis, 134

Attitudes, 134 SEE ALSO Beliefs Values

Automobiles . . . (Data item) 03.03 02 Automobiles per housing unit, 38, 93, 119, 163

#### В

Bank deposits . . . (Data item) 02.02 14 01 Bank deposits, 34, 57, 109

Bank loans . . . (Data item) 02.02 14 03 Bank loans, 34, 57, 109

BAS map SEE Boundary and Annexation and Survey Map

Base map, 134

Basic data item SEE Data item(s) Basic

Basic education, 134 SEE ALSO Adult basic education

241

Basic input costs, 134

Beliefs, 134 SEE ALSO Attitudes Values Bias, 79, 83, 134 Birth projections, 92 Births . . . (Data item) 01.08 01 Annual births, 30, 93, 103, 151 01.08 06 Age-specific births, 30, 104 04.02 02 Live births to teenagers, 41, 122, 165 Black . .-- (Data item) 01.02 03 Black, not of Hispanic origin, 29, 93, 100, 149 Blight, 134 SEE ALSO Urban blight Blighted areas . . . (Data item) 03.02 14 Size and location of blighted areas, 38, 118, 163 Blind . . . (Data item) 01.09 04 02 Deaf-blind. 31, 105, 152 Block groups (Census term), 192 Block leader, 135 Block parent, 135 Block plan, 135 Blocks (Census term), 193 Blue collar . . . (Data item) 02.06 06 White collar/blue collar ratio, 35, 113, 157

ž,

02.07 09 Changes in white collar/blue collar ratio, 35, 114

Blue collar worker, 135

Board of education, 135

Bonded . . . (Data em) 02.04 04 Bonded indebtedness, 34, 110, 155

Boundary and Annexation Survey Map, 52

Budget . . . (Data item) 02.04 06 Capital improvement budget, 34, 110, 155 04.05 01 Total public budget, 42, 125, 167 04.08 09 Annual school budget, 44, 130, 170 04.08 10 Ratio of school budget to total public budget, 44, 130, 170 04.09 09 Percent annual school budget for community relations, 44, 131, 171 Building code . . . (Deta item) 03.05 Building code, 38, 120 Building permits . . . (Data item)

03.02 06 Building permits per year, 37, 117, 162

Business cycle, 135

#### С

Capital improvement . . . (Data item) 02.04 06 Capital improvement budget, 34, 110, 155

Capital investments, 135

Case studies

CBD SEE Central business districts (Census term)

CCD

SEE Census county division (Census term)_

CDP

SEE Places (Census term)

CEIS

SEE Council of Chief State School Officers. Committee on Evaluation and Information Systems

#### Census

242

SEE ALSO Enumeration date Continuous, 62 Periodic, 62

Census, School SEE School census

Census, U.S. Bureau of the SEE U.S. Bureau of the Census

Census county divisions (Census term)

- Census Data by School District Project SEE National Center for Education Statistics 1980 Census Data by School District Project
- Census Depository Libraries, U.S. SEE U.S. Census Depository Library
- Census designated places (Census term) SEE Places (Census term)
- Census tract, 24, 45, 50 Case studies, 12
- Census tracts (Census term), 193
- Central business districts (Census term), 194

Central cities (of an SMSA) (Census term), 194

Change, Management of, 20

Childbearing age, 135

- Children . . . (Data item)
  - 03.03 06 Elementary school-age children living within one mile/1.6 kilometers of their school of attendance, 38, 119, 163
  - 04.01 02 Number of families with school-age children, 40, 121, 165
  - 04.01 03 Number of families with preschool-age children, 40, 121
  - 04:01-04-Number of families receiving public assistance that have school-age children, 40, 121, 165
  - 04.01 05 Number of working mothers with children under age 6 in a two-parent family, 41, 121
  - 04.01 06 Number of working mothers with children under age 6 in a one-parent family, 41, 121
- 04.01 07 Number of working fathers with children under age 6 in a two-parent family, 41, 121
- 04.01 08 Number of working fathers with children under age 6 in a one-parent family, 41, 121
- Citizen participation as a source of community information, 72-74

City, 20, 24, 45, 48, 173

Cohort, 135

Commerce, U.S. Dept. of SEE U.S. Dept. of Commerce

- Commodity . . . (Data item)
  - 02.02 12 03 Sales volume, by category of wholesale commodity, 33, 56, 108
  - 02.02 13 03 Sales volume, by category of retail commodity, 34, 57, 109

Communication, 135

1. S. C.

- Communication . . . (Data item)
  - 04.06 Communication through mass media, 6, 25, 40, 42, 126
  - 03.01 05 Transportation, communication and public utility land use, 37, 116, 160

Community, 1, 20, 74, 173-174 SEE ALSO Neighborhood unit

Community . . . (Data item)

02.04 05 Community credit rating, 34, 110, 155

- 02.05 Community revenue base for schools, 6, 25, 32, 34, 111, 156
- 02.06 15 Residents working outside community of residence, 35, 113
- 04.01 General characteristics of the community, 6, 25, 39, 40, 121, 165
- 04.04 Formal and informal organizations in the community. 6. 25, 39, 42, 124
- 04.04 02 Number of formal organizations in the community, 42, 124
- 04.04 03 Number of informal organizations in the ______ community, 42, 124_____
- 04.05 Allocation of community resources and services, 6, 25, 39, 42, 125, 167
- 04.09 School and community interrelationships, 6, 25, 40, 44, 131, 171
- 04.09 09 Percent annual school budget for community relations, 44, 131, 171

Community college, 20, 135, 173

Community council, 135

Community counselor, 135

Community education, 135 SEE ALSO Community college Community school Community service

243

Community information, 20-22 SEE ALSO Economic studies Land use studies Migration studies Problem identification Social structure and dynamics studies Analysis, 2, 3, 7, 75, 87 SEE ALSO Trend analysis Classification, 2, 3, 24-44 SEE ALSO Data item(s) Standard Lance Use Coding System Collection, 2, 3, 7, 22, 23-24, 45, 59, 63, 75-82 SEE ALSO Community information, Availability of Existing Community Survevs Case studies, 11-20 Display SEE ALSO Community profile chart Figures, 88 Graphs, 88 Maps, 74, 88 Tables, 88, 89 Identification, 45 **Organization** SEE ALSO Community information classification Sources, 59, 66-73 SEE ALSO Community residents as sources of community information Community resources and services as sources of community information Local organization as sources of community information Mass-media_as_a_source_of_community information Storage and retrieval systems, 5, 63, 96-98, 147 SEE ALSO Geographic Base File/Dual Independent Map Encoding System Community information, Availability of existing, 2, 3, 7, 22, 45, 59-66 Case studies, 9-11

Community profile chart, 23, 45, 147-171

Community resources and services as sources of community information, 69-70

Community residents as sources of community information, 71-72 Community school, 136 SEE ALSO Community education Community service Community school coordinator, 136 Community school director, 136 Community service, 136 SEE ALSO Community education Community school Community surveys, 2, 3, 45, 63, 66, 70, 75-85 SEE ALSO Bias Administration. 81-82 Analysis, 76, 82, 84 SEE ALSO Trend analysis Design, 76-79 Planning, 76 Pretesting, 76, 81-82 Questions, 76-79 Attitudinal, 78 Demographic, 77-78 Factual: 78 Results, 85 Sampling, 79, 81 Conditions of roads, 136 Construction . . . (Data item) 02.02 01 15-17 Employment in construction, 33, 107, 153

02.07 04 15-17 Construction, 158

Continuing education, 136 SEE ALSO Adult continuing education Adult education

Continuing education . . . (Data item) 04.07 05 Number of adults enrolled in adult continuing education, 43, 49, 128, 169

Continuous census SEE Census Continuous

Convenient commuting range, 136

Cost revenue study, 136 -

244

Council-Manager plan of city government, 136

Council of Chief State School Officers. Committee on Evaluation and Information Systems, 52

Counties (Census term), 192

County, 20, 24, 45, 50, 133, 140, 173 County roads, 136 Credit . . . (Data item) . 02.04 05 Comr unity credit rating, 34, 110, 155

Cultural . . . (Data item) 03.01 07 Cultural, entertainment and recreational land use, 37, 116, 160 04.04 05 Cultural groups, 42, 124

Curriculum planning

#### D

Data, 136

Data analysis SEE Community information Analysis Mean Median

Data categories, 5, 24, 136 SEE ALSO Economy (Data category) Environment and resources (Data category) Land use (Data category) Population (Data category) Social structure and dynamics (Data category)

Data collection SEE Community information Collection

Data identification SEE Data item(s) Identification

Data item(s), 1, 5, 24, 45, 63, 66, 133, 136, 147 Basic, 23 Derived, 23 Display SEE Community profile chart Identification, 2, 3, 7, 23, Case studies, 7

Data organization SEE Community information Classification

Data User Services Division, U.S. Bureau of the Census SEE U.S. Bureau of the Census. User Services Division

Deaf . . . (Data item) 01.09 04 01 Deaf, 31, 105, 152 01.09 04 02 Deaf-blind, 31, 105, 152

Death projections, 92

Deaths . . . (Data item) 01.08 02 Annual deaths, 30, 93, 104, 151

Decisionmaking SEE Educational decisionmaking School decisionmaking

Delinquenices . . . (Data item) 04.02 03 Delinquencies, 41, 122

Delinquent act, 136-137

Density . . . (Data item) 01.01 03 Population density, 28, 48, 93, 100, 148 03.03 Land use-density measures, 6, 25, 36, 38, 118, 163

03.03 03 Land in high-density residential use, 38, 119

03.03 04 Land in medium-density residential use, 38, 119

03.03 05 Land in low-density residential use, 38, 119

Density index, 137

Dependency ratio . . . (Data item) 02.06 19 Dependency ratio, 35, 114, 157

Depository Libraries, U.S. SEE U.S. Depository Libraries

Depository Libraries, U.S. Census SEE U.S. Census Depository Libraries

Derived data item SEE data item(s) Derived

Divorces . . . (Data item) 01.08 08 Annual divorces, 31, 104

Dropout, 137

Dropouts . . . (Data item) 04.07 04 Number of dropouts, 43, 128, 169

#### E

Earnings, 137 SEE ALSO Family income

Earnings . . . (Data item) 02.06 07 Median earnings, 35, 113, 157 02.07 10 Change in median earnings, 35, 114, 159

Economic projections Case studies, 10, 11, 16-19

Economic studies, 53-58, 63

Economy (Data category), 1, 6, 25, 26, 31, 33, 106, 153-159

Economy/economic . : . (Data item) 02.01 General economic characteristics, 6, 25, 31-32, 33, 106, 153

02.03 Economic indicators, 6, 25, 32, 34, 109, 155

02.04 Economic aspects of local government, 6, 25, 32, 34, 110, 155

02.06 Economic characteristics of the population, 6. 25, 32, 35, 111, 157 02.07 Economic trends (future), 6, 25, 32, 35,

114, 159

ED

SEE Enumeration districts

Education

SEE ALSO Adult basic education Adult continuing education Adult education Adult vocational education Basic education Community education Continuing education Higher education Postsecondary education Postsecondary occupational education Vocational education Worker education Education, Arkansas Dept. of SEE Arkansas. Dept. of Education Education, Public board of SEE Public board of Augustion Education/educational . . . (Data item) 01.06 Educational characteristics, 5, 25, 28, 29, 102 02.05 07 Per capita local expenditure for education, 34, 111, 156 03.02 03 Land area of postsecondary education, 37, 116 04.06 07 Circulation of nonschool bulletins covering education, 43, 126 04.07 05 Number of adults enrolled in adult continuing education, 43, 49, 128, 169 04.07 07 Number of high school graduates who continue in postsecondary education, 43, 128 Educational decisionmaking, 1, 19 SEE ALSO School decisionmaking Educational law and legislation SEE Adult Education Act Delinquent act Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965 Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act Educational planning, 1, 20 Elections . . . (Data item) 04.03 02 Votes cast in last two presidential elections, 41, 123 04.03 33 Votes cast in last two nonpresidential year U.S. House elections, by political party, 41, 123, 166 04.03 04 Votes cast in school operating levy elections, last three elections, 41, 123, 166 04.03 05 Votes cast in school bond issues, last three elections, 41, 123, 167

Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965, 73

Elementary school student, 137

#### ELSEGIS

243

SEE National Center for Education Statistics

- Emotionally disturbed . . . (Data item) 01.09 04 08 Seriously emotionally disturbed, 31, 106, 152
- Employee . . . (Data item) 02.02 12 04 Wholesale sales volume per employee, 33, 108, 154 02.02 13 04 Retain sales volume per employ.e, 34,
  - 109, 154
- Employers . . . (Data item) 02.02 07 01-99 Major employers, by industry group, 33, 107, 154
- Employment and unemployment projections Case studies, 17-19
- Employment/employed . . . (Data item) 02.02 Employment, by industry group
  - characteristics, 6, 25, 32, 33, 107, 153 02.02 01 Employment, by industry group, 33, 107, 153
  - 02.02 01 01-07 Employment in agriculture, 33, 107, 153
  - 02.02 01 08 Employment in forestry, 33, 55, 107, 1:3
  - 02:02 01 09 Employment in fisheries, 33, 55, 107, 153
  - 02.02 01 10-14 Employment in mining, 33, 107, 153
  - 02.02 01 15-17 Employment in construction, 33, 107, 153
- 02.02 01 20-39 Employment in manufacturing, 33, 55, 107, 153
- 02.02 01 40-49 Employment in transportation, 33, 107, 153
- 02.02 01 50-51 Employment in wholesale trade, 33, 107, 153
- 02.02 01 52-59 Employment in retail trade, 33, 107, 153
- 02.02 01 60-67 Employment in finance, insurance and reai estate, 33, 107, 153
- 02.02 01 70-89 Employment in services, 33, 107, 153
- 02.02 01 91-97 Employment in public adminstration, 33, 107, 153
- 02.02 01 99 Employment in nonclassifiable establishments, 33, 107, 153

02.02 02 01-99 Percent employed, by industry
, group, 33, 107
02.02 03 Percent change in employment, by
industry group, selected years, 33, 107
02.02 11 03 Employment in production processes.
33, 56, 108
02.03 01 Basic employment, 34, 109, 155
02.03 02 Nonbasic employment, 34, 109
02.03 03 Basic/nonbasic employment ratio, 34,
109
02.03 04 Employment multiplier, 34, 109
02.03 05 Location employment quotients, 55, 183
02.03 06 Employment stability index, 34, 109,
155
02.04 01 Government employment, (local), 34,
110, 155
02.04 01 01 Government employment (other than
local), 34, 110, 155
02.06 01 0i Percent of labor force employed, 35,
111, 157
02.06 02 Employment status, by sex, 35, 112, 157
02.06 03 Employed civilian labor force, 35, 112.
157
02.06 04 Employment in white collar occupations.
35; 112, 157
02.06 05 Employment in blue collar occupations.
35, 112, 157
02.07 01 Changes in employment growth rate, 35,
114, 158
02.07 04 Changes in employment growth rate, by
industry group, 35, 114, 158
02.07 08 Changes in employment status, by sex,
35, 114, 159
02.01 01 Total employment, 33, 55, 106, 153

- Entertainment . . . (Data item) 03.01 07 Cultural, entertainment and recreational land use, 37, 116. 150
- Enumeration date, 137
- Enumeration districts (Census term), 192
- Environment and resources (Data category, 27
- Environmental . . . (Data item) 06.01 Environmental characteristics, 27
- Ethnic . . . (Data item)
  - 01.02 Racial and ethnic characteristics, 5, 25, 27, 28, 100, 149

- 04.01 11 Location of ethnic groups, by precinct, 41, 122
- 04:01 12 Location of ethnic groups, by school attendance area
- 04.04 06 Minority organizations, 42, 124
- Expenditure(s) . . . (Data item)
  - 02.04 03 Annual expenditures, by category, 34, 110, 155
  - 02.05 07 Per capita local expenditure for education; 34, 111, 156
  - 02.07 06 Changes in local government expenditures, 35, 114, 158
  - 04.08 07 Current expenditure per student, 44, 129, 170

Expressways

SEE Freeways and expressways Highways Roads Streets

F

Family, 137

Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act, 183-186

Family/families . . . (Data item)

- 01.01 05 Median family income, 13, 28, 48, 49; 88, 100, 148
- 01.05 01 Number of families with income, 29, 49, 101 *
- 01.05 02 Families, by income category, 29, 93, 101

01.05 03 Percent distribution of families, by income category, 29, 102

- 01.05 04 Families receiving public assistance, 29, 93, 102
- 02.06 18 Number of families with more than one wage earner, 35, 114, 157
- 04.01 01 Number of families, 40, 121, 165

04.01 02 Number of families with school-age children, 40, 121, 165

- 04.01 03 Number of families with preschool-age children, 40, 121
- 04.01 04 Number of families receiving public assistance that have school-age children, 40, 121, 165
- 04.01 05 Number of working mothers with

239

children under age 6 in a two-parent family, 41, 121

- 04.01 06 Number of working mothers with children under age 6 in a one-parent family, 41, 121
- 04.01 07 Number of working fathers with children under age 6 in a two-parent family, 41, 121
- 04.01 08 Number of working fathers with children under age 6 in a one-parent family, 41, 121
- 04.01 09 Number of families in which English is a second language, 41, 121, 165

Family income, 137 SEE ALSO Earnings

Farm, 137 SEE ALSO Operating farm unit

Farm(s) . . . (Data item) 01.04 02,02 Rural farm population, 29, 101 02.02 09 01 Number of farms, 33, 56, 107, 154 02.02 09 02 Size grouping of farms, 33, 56, 107 02.02 09 04 Average sales per farm, 33, 108, 154 02.02 09 05 Value of farms, 33, 56, 108, 154 02.02 09 06 Tenant operated farms, 33, ^c6, 108, 154

Father(s) . . . (Data item)

- 01.07 14 Number of persons under age 18 living with father only, 30, 103, 150
- 04.01 07 Number of working fathers with children under age 6 in a two-parent family, 41, 121
- 04.01 08 Number of working fathers with children under age 6 in a one-parent family, 41, 121
- Federal Depository Libraries, U.S. SEE U.S. Federal Depository Libraries

Federal highways, 137-

Federal property . . . (Data item) 03.02 12 Land classified as Federal property, 38, 118, 163

Federal Reserve System, U.S. SEE U.S. Federal Reserve System

243

X

240 、

#### Figures

## SEE Community information Display Figures

Finance . . . (Data item)

02.02 01 60-67 Employment in finance, insurance and real estate, 33, 107, 153

- 02.02 14 Finance, insurance and real estate, 34, 109, 154
- 02.07 04 60-67 Finance, insurance and real estate, 158
- Fisheries . . . (Data item) 02.02 01 09 Employment in fisheries, 33, 55, 153 02.07 04 09 Fisheries, 158

Focused interviews SEE Interviews Focused

Followup study, 137

Foreign born . . . (Data item) 01.03 Foreign born characteristics, 6, 25, 27, 29, 101 01.03 01 Foreign born population, 29, 49, 93, 101

Foreșt Service, U.S. SEE U.S. Forest Service

- Forestry . . . (Data item) 02.02 01 08 Employment in forestry, 33, 55, 153 02.07 04 08 Forestry, 158
- Formal organizations . . . (Data item)
  04.04 Formal and informal organizations in the community, 6, 25, 39, 42, 124
  04.04 02 Number of formal organizations in the community, 42, 124

Forum, 137

Fraternal organizations . . . (Data item) 04.04 07³Fraternal or sororal organizations, 42, 125

Freeways and express ways SEE ALSO Highways Roads Streets

Frequency distribution, 127

Full-time equivalency of assignment, 137

Functional area, 20, 137 SEE ALSO Administrative jurisdiction Administrative unit Geographic unit Political jurisdiction Political unit

Functional illiterates . . . (Data Item) 04.07 10 Number of functional illiterates, 43, 129

Functionally illiterate, 138

G

GBF/DIME System SEE Geographic Base File/Dual Independent Map Encoding System

Geographic Base File/Dual Independent Map Encoding System, 97

Geographic divisions (Census term), 192

Geographic Reference File SEE National Center for Education Statistics 1980 Census Data by School District Project

Geographic regions (Census term), 192

Geographic unit, 1, 20, 24, 45, 50 SEE ALSO Administrative jurisdiction Administrative unit Census t.act City County Functional area Political jurisdiction Political unit School attendance area School district

Geological Survey, U.S. SEE U.S. Geological Survey

Government Printing Office, U.S. SEE U.S. Government Printing Office

Government/governmental . . . (Data Item) 02.04 Economic aspects of local government, 6, 25, 32, 34, 110, 155 02.04 01 Government employment (local), 34, 110, 155

02.07 05 Changes in local government revenues, 35, 114, 158

02.07 06 Changes in local government cxpenditures, 35, 114, 158

04.04 01 Number of government units included in schools district boundaries, 42, 124

04.04 08 Governmental organizations, 42, 125

#### GPO

SEE U.S. Government Printing Office

Grade, 138 SEE ALSO Highest grade of school completed

Grade . . . (Data item)

01.06 01 Highest grade of school completed by persons age 25 and over, 29, 102

01.06 02 Percent distribution of highest grade of school completed by persons age 25 and over, 29, 102

04.08 03 Number of public schools in the school district, by grade level served, 43, 129, 171

Graphs

SEE Community information Display Graphs

GRF (Geographic Reference File)

SEE National Center for Education Statistics 1980 Census Data by School District Project

Gross rental of housing, 138

Group interviews

SEE Interviews Group

#### Н

Handicapped . . . (Data item)

01.09 Handicapped categories, 6, 25, 28, 31, 104, 152

01.09 01 Handicapped persons, 31, 104

- 01.09 02 Handicapped persons age 18 and over, 31, 105
- 01.09 03 Handicapped persons under age 18, 31, 105, 152

01.09 04 Handicapped persons under age 18, by type of handicap, 31, 105, 152

250

Hard of hearing . . . (Data item) 01.09 04 03 Hard of hearing, 31, 105, 152

Head Start Program, 138

- Health, Education, and Welfare, U.S. Dept. of SEE U.S. Dept. of Health, Education, and Welfare
- Health impaired . . . (Data item) 01.09 04 07 Other health impaired, 31, 105, 152

HEW

SEE U.S. Dept. of Health, Education, and Welfare

High school graduates . . . (Data item) 04.07 08 Number of high school graduates who stay in the local job market, 43, 128

Higher education, 138 SEE ALSO Postsecondary education

Highest grade of school completed, 138

Highest grade of school completed . . . (Data item) 01.01 06 Median highest grade of school

completed, 13, 28, 48, 49, 93, 100, 148 01.06 01 Highest grade of school completed by

persons age 25 and over, 29, 102 01.06 02 Percent distribution of highest grade of school completed by persons age 25 and over, 30, 102

High ways SEE Federal highways Freeways and expressways Roads State hignways Streets

Hispanic . . . (Data item) 01.02 04 Hispanic, 29, 93, 100, 149

Historic preservation . . . (Data item) 03.02 15 Land zoned for historic preservation, 38, 118

[Hours of labor] . . . (Data item) 02.06 08 Annual weeks worked, 35, 113 02.06 09 Weekly hours worked, 35, 113

- . 02.07 11 Changes in weekly hours worked, 36, 114, 159
- Household, 226
- Household(s) . . . `(Data item)
- 01.07 Household and housing characteristics, 6, 25, 28, 30, 102, 150
- 01.07 01 Number of households, 30, 51, 93, 102, 150
- 01.07 02 Persons living in households, 30, 51, 93, 102
- 01.07 03 Mean number of persons per household, 13, 30, 102, 150
- Housing/housing unit(s) . . . (Data item) 01.07 Household and housing characteristics, 8, 25, 28, 30, 102, 150
  - 01.07 04 Persons living in single housing units, 30, 51, 102, 150
  - 01.07 05 Persons living in multiple housing units, 30, 102, 150
  - 01.07 06 Number of owner-occupied housing units, 30, 51, 102, 150
  - 01.07 07 Median value of owner-occupied housing units, 13, 30, 48, 51, 103
  - 01.07 08 Number of rented housing units, 30, 103, 150
  - 01.07 09 Median monthly gross rental of rented housing units, 30, 48, 51, 103
  - 01.07 11 Number of housing units, 30, 48, 51, 103, 150
  - 01.07 12 Number of housing units, without complete plumbing facilities, 30, 103
  - 03.03 02 Automobiles per housing unit, 38, 93, 119, 163
  - 03.05 03 Housing code, 38, 120
- Housing unit, 138

SEE ALSO Gross rental of housing Mobile home or trailer Value of housing or value of unit

I

Income SEE Earnings Family income

Income . . . (Data item) 01.01 05 Median family income, 13, 28, 48, 49, 88, 100, 148

## **COMMUNITY INFORMATION**

01.05 Income characteristics, 5, 25, 27, 29, 101

- 01.05 01 Number of families with income, 29, 49, 101
- 01.05 02 Families, by income category, 29, 93, 101
- 01.05 03 Percent distribution of families, by income category, 29, 102
- 02.06 14 Disposable income, 35, 113, 157
- 02.07 12 Changes in disposable income, 36, 115, 159

Incorporated places (Census term) SEE Places (Census term)

- Indebtedness . . . (Data item) 02.04 Bonded Indebtedness, 34, 110, 155 02.04 09 Per capita indebtedness, 34, 110, 155
- Industry/industry group . . . (Data item) 02.02 Employment, by industry group
  - characteristics, 6, 25, 32, 33, 107, 153 02.02 01 Employment, by industry group, 33,
  - 107, 153 02.02 02 01-99 Percent employed, by industry group, 33, 107
  - 02.02 03 Percent change in employment, by industry group, selected years, 33, 107
  - 02.02 04 01-99 Payrolls, by industry group, 33, 56, 107, 154
  - 02.02 06 01-99 Capital investments, by industry group, 33, 107
  - 02.02 07 01-99 Major employers, by industry group, 33, 107, 154
  - 02.06 17 Industry 5 years ago, 35, 114
  - 02.07 04 Changes in employment growth rate, by industry group, 35, 114, 158
- Infant mortality . . . (Data item) 01.08 03 Annual infant mortality, 30, 104, 151

Informal organizations . . . (Data item)

- 04.04 Formal and informal organizations in the community, 6, 25, 39, 42, 124
- 04.04 03 Number of informal organizations in the community, 42, 124

Information storage and retrieval systems SEE Community information Storage and retrieval systems

Inmigration, 138

251

Insurance . . . (Data item)

- 02.02 01 60-67 Employment in finance, insurance, and real estate, 33, 158
- 02.02 14 Finance, insurance, and real estate, 34, 109, 154
- 02.07 04 60-67 Finance, insurance, and real estate, 158
- Intermediate administrative unit, 138 SEE ALSO Local basic administrative unit
- Internal Revenue Service, U.S. SEE U.S. Internal Revenue Service
- International City Managers' Association Census publications, 58

Interviews

Focused, 66 Group, 66

Investments . . . (Data item) 02.01 03 Capital investments, 33, 55, 107 02.02 06 01-99 Capital investments by industry group, 33, 107 02.07 03 Changes in rate of capital investment, 35, 114, 158

## J

Job market . . . (Data item) 04.07 08 Number of high school graduates who stay in the local job market, 43, 128

Job source or cluster, 138

Juvenile, 138

Juveniles . . . (Data item) 04.02 04 Drug arrests of juveniles, 41, 122

252

Labor, U.S. Dept. of SEE U.S. Dept. of Labor

Labor force SEE Semiskilled labor Skilled labor Unskilled labor Labor force . . . (Data item)

02.06 01 Civilian labor force, 35, 111, 157

02.06 01 01 Percent of labor force employed, 35, 111, 157

02.06 01 02 Percent of labor force unemployed, 35, 111, 157

02.06 03 Employed civilian labor force, 35, 112, 157

- 02.06 12 Insured labor force,
- 02.06 13 Labor force participation rate, 35, 113, 157

02.07 07 Changes in size of civilian labor force, 35, 114, 158

Labor force shortage, 138

Labor force surplus, 138

Labor market area, 20, 22, 24, 138

Labor Statistics, U.S. Bureau of , SEE U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics

⁷Labor turnover, 139

Land/land use . . (Data item) 02.05 04 Assessed valuation, by land use types, 34, 111, 156

- 03.01 Classification of land; 6, 25, 36, 37, 115, 160
- 03.01 01 Land area, 37, 48, 49, 115, 160
- 03.01 02 Residential land use, 37, 115, 160
- 03.01 03 [Wholesale and retail] trade land use, 37, 115, 160

03.01 04 Manufacturing land use, 37, 115, 160

- 03.01 05 Transportation, communication and public utility land use, 37, 115, 160
- 03.01 06 Services land use, 37, 115, 160
- 03.01 07 Cultural, entertainment and recreational land use, 37, 116, 160
- 03.01 08 [Natural] resource production and extraction land use, 37, 116, 160
- 03.01.09 Undeveloped and water land use, 37, 116, 161
- 03.02 Land use—general characteristics, 6, 25, 36, 116, 162
- 03.02 01 Land area of K-6 or K-8 school attendance areas, 37, 116, 162
- 03.02 02 Land area of 9-12 school attendance - areas, 37, 116
- 03.02 03 Land area of postsecondary education, 37, 116

٩,

- 03.02 04 Land values, by type of use; 37, 117, 162
- 03.02 05 Annual land consumption, by type of use, 37, 117, 162
- 03.02 08 Area of land zoned residential, 37, 117
- 03.02 09 Area of land zoned manufacturing, 37, 117, 162
- 03.02 10 Area of land zoned public ownership, 37, 118, 162
- 03.02 11 Land area in conforming land uses, 37, 118
- 03.02 12 Land classified as Federal property, 38, 118, 163
- 03.02 13 American Indian or Alaskan native land area, 38, 118, 163
- 03.02 15 Land zoned for historic preservation, 38, 118
- 03.03 Land use-density measures, 6, 25, 36, 38, 118, 163
- 03.03 03 Land in high-density residential use, 38, 119
- 03.03 04 Land in medium-density residential use, 38, 119
- 03.03 05 Land in low-density residential use, 38, 119
- .03.04 Land use—specific site characteristics, 6, 25, 36, 38, 119, 164
- 03.04 01 Size of available land parcels, 38, 93, 119, 164
- 03.05 Land use-regulatory information, 6, 25, 36, 38, 120

Land parcel maps and property maps, 139

Land use

SEE Noncomforming land uses Zoning

Land use (Data category), 1, 6, 25, 36, 37, 115, 160, 162, 164

Land use compatibility, 139

Land use map, 139

Land use studies, 58, 66

LEA

SEE Local education agency

Learning disability . . . (Data item) 01.09 04 09 Specific learning disability, 152

Local access streets, 139

Local agencies . . . (Data item) 04.02 Statistics collected by local agencies, 6, 25, 39, 41, 122; 165

Local basic administrative unit, 139 SEE ALSO Local education agency School district

Local education agency, 139 SEE ALSO Local basic administrative unit School district School system State education agency

Local government . . . (Data item) 02.04 Economic aspects of local government, 6, 25, 32, 34, 110, 155

02.07 05 Changes in local government revenues, 35, 114, 158

02.07 06 Changes in local government expenditures, 35, 114, 158

Local organizations as sources of community information, 67-69

Local taxes . . . (Data item) 02.04 07 Local taxes, by type and rate, 34, 110, 155

#### М·

Major retail centers (Census term), 194

Management and Budget, U.S. Office of SEE U.S. Office of Management and Budget

Manufacturing . . . (Data item) 02.02 01 20-39 Employment in manufacturing, 33, 55, 153

02.02 11 Manufacturing, 33, 108

£

- 02.02 11 01 Manufacturing establishments, 33, 56, 108
- 02.02 11 02 Value added by manufacturing, 33, 56, 108
- 02.07 04 20-39 Manufacturing, 158
- 03.01 04 Manufacturing land use. 37
- 03.02 09 Area of land zoned manufcturing, 37, 117, 162

253

Maps SEE Base map Community information. Display Maps Land parcel maps and property maps Land use map Population density map Population distribution map

Marriages . . (Data item) 01.08 °7 Annual marriages, 31, 104

Mass media . . (Data item) 04.06 Communication through mass media, 6, 25, 40, 42

Mass media as a source of community information, 70

Master plan, 139

Master plan . . . (Data item) 03.02 07 Population potential according to master plan guidelines, 37, 93, 117, 162

MCD SEE Minor civil divisions (Census term)

Mean, 87

Measure, 139

Median, 145, 139

Mentally retarded . . . (Data item) 01.09 04 04 Mentally retarded, 31, 105, 152

Microfiche, 139

Migrant Student Record Transfer System SEE Arkansas. Dept. of Education Migrant Student Record Transfer System

Migrant worker, 139

Migration, 139 SEE ALSO Inmigration Net migration Outmigration Suburbanization

Migration . . . (Data item) 01.08 05 Net migration, 30, 93, 103, 151

Migration projections, 92

Migration studies, 61

Minerals . . . (Data item) 02.02 10 01 Value of minerals produced, 33, 56, 108

Minimum path street patterns, 139

Mining . . . (Data item) 02.02 01 10-14 Employment in mining, 33, 153 02.02 10 Mining, 33, 108 02.07 04 10-14 Mining, 158

Minor civil divisions (Census term), 192

- Minority . . . (Data item) 04.06 08 Local circulation of minority newspapers, 43, 126
  - 04.06 09 Radio stations that are Spanish language or minority oriented, 43, 126

Minority group, 139

Mobile home or trailer, 140

Mobile homes . . . (Data item) 01.07 10 Persons living in mobile homes, 30, 103, 15.0

Model, 140

Mother(s) . . . (Data item)

- 01.07 13 Number of persons under age 18 living with mother only, 30, 103, 150
- 04.01 05 Number of working mothers with children under age 6 in a two-parent family, 41, 121
- 04.01 06 Number of working mothers with children under age 6 in a one-parent family, 41, 121
- Multi-stage cluster sampling SEE Community surveys, Sampling
- Multihandicapped . . . (Data item) 01.09 04 05 Multihandicapped, 31, 105, 152

Municipal streets, 140

254

- National Center for Education Statistics, 50, 52, 53, 174, 199
  - Elementary and Secondary General Information Survey, 52
  - 1980 Census Data by School District Project, 50-53
- National Planning Association, Center for Economic Projects Census publications, 55
- Natural resources . . . (Data item) 03.01 08 [National] resource production and extraction land use, 37, 116, 160 06.02 Natural resources, 27

#### NCES

N)

25

SEE National Center for Education Statistics

Neighborhood, 140

Neighborhood agencies and associations, 140

Neighborhood change factor, 91

Neighborhood unit, 140

Net migration, 140

Newspaper . . . (Data item)

- 04.06 01 Local circulation of local newspapers, 42, 126
- 04.06 02 Local circulation of nonlocal newspapers, 42, 126
- 04.06 03 Local circulation ratio, local to nonlocal newspapers, 42, 126
- 02.06 08 Local circulation of minority newspaper, 43, 126
- Non-tax exempt property . . . (Data item) 02.05 02 Assessed valuation of non-tax exempt property, 34, 111, 156

Nonclassifiable establishments . . . (Data item) 02.02 01 99 Employment in nonclassifiable establishments, 33, 107

Nonconforming land uses, 140

Nonfarm . . . (Data item) 01.04 02 03 Rural nonfarm population, 29, 101

Nonpartisan elections, 140

Nonpublic or private school, 140

Nonpublic school . . . (Data item) 04.07 03 Nonpublic school enrollment, 43, 93, 127, 168

Number of miles of bus travel, 140

#### 0

Occupation(s) . . . (Data item) 02.06 04 Employment in white collar occupations, 35, 112, 157

02.06 05 Employment in blue collar occupations, . 35, 112, 157

02.06 16 Occupation 5 years ago, 35, 113 02.09 Shortage and surplus occupations, 26

Oil and gas districts (Census term), 194

Older person clubs . . . (Data item) 04.04 10 Older person clubs, 42, 125

Operating farm unit, 140

Opinion leader, 140

Orthopedically impaired . . . (Data item) 01.09 04 06 Orthopedically impaired, 31, 105, 152

Outmigration, 140

Overqualified worker SEE Underemployed person

255

#### P

Pacific islander . . . (Data item) 01.02 02 Asian or Pacific islander, 28, 93, 100, 149

Parent . . . (Data item) 01.07 15 Number of persons under age 18 living with neither parent, 51, 103, 150

Parent organizations ... (Data item) 04.09 08 Parent organization membership, 44, 131, 171

Patriotic organizations . . . (Data item) 04 04 11 Patriotic organizations, 42, 125

Payrolls . . . (Data item)
02.01 02 Payrolls, 33, 55, 106
02.02 04 01-99 Payrolls, by industry group, 33, 56, 107, 154
02.02 05 Percent change in payrolls, selected years, 33, 107, 154
02.07 02 Changes in payroll growth rate, 35, 114, 158

Periodic census SEE Census Periodic

Places (Census term), 193

Planning, 96, 140

 SEE ALSO Change, Management of Curriculum planning Educational planning
 Planning period School planning
 School site planning
 School transportation planning

Planning . . . (Data item) 03.05 04 Planning area, 38, 120⁵

Planning period, 140

Plumbing facilities . . . (Data item) 01.07 12 Number of housing units without complete plumbing facilities, 30, 103

Police precinct, 133

Political groups . . . (Data item) 04.04 12 Political groups, 42, 125

Political party, 140

Political party . . . (Data item) 04.03 01 01 Voter registrations, by political party, 41, 122, 166

04.03 03 Votes cast in last two nonpresidential year U.S. House elections, by political

256

party, 41, 123, 166

Political jurisdiction, 140 SEE ALSO Administrative jurisdiction Administrative unit County Functional area Geographic unit Political unit Town Township Village

Political unit, 1, 20, 173

SEE ALSO Administrative jurisdiction Administrative unit Census tract City County Functional area Geographic unit Political jurisdiction Town

Population

SEE Rural farm/rural nonfarm [population]

Population (Data category), 1, 5, 24, 25, 27, 28, 99, 147, 148, 149, 150, 151, 152

Population . . . (Data item)

- 01.01 General population charcteristics, 5, 24, 27, 28, 99, 147, 148
- 01.01 01 Total population, 13, 28, 48, 49, 99, 147, 148
- 01.01 02 Population increase or decrease, 28, 100, 148
- 01.03 01 Foreign born population, 29, 49, 93, 101
- 01.04 01 Urban population, 29, 101
- 01.04 02 Rural population, 29, 101
- 01.04 02 02 Rural farm population, 29, 101
- 01.04 02 03 Rural nonfarm population, 29, 101
- 01.08 04 Annual natural increase or decrease in population, 30, 104, 151
- 02.06 Economic characterististics of the population, 6, 25, 32, 35, 111, 157
- 03.02 67 Population potential according to master plan guidelines, 37, 93, 117, 162
- 03.03 01 Population per acre/hectare, 38, 93, 118
- 03.04 03 Population within one-half mile/.8 kilometers of site, 38, 94, 120

Population density map, 141

248

Population distribution map, 141

Population projections, 92 SEE ALSO Birth projections Death projections Migration projections Case studies, 12-19

Postsecondary education, 141 SEE ALSO Higher education Postsecondary occupational education

Postsecondary education . . . (Data item) 04.07 07 Number of high school graduates who continue in postsecondary education, 43, 128

Postsecondary occupational education, 141 SEE ALSO Postsecondary education

Poverty . . . (Data item) 02.06 10 Rural poverty index, 35, 113, 157 02.06 11 Urban poverty index, 35, 113, 157

Poverty level, 141

Precinct, 141

Precinct . (Data item) 04.01 J1 Location of ethnic groups, by precinct, 41, 122

Pressure group, 141

Private school SEE Nonpublic or private school

Probability sampling SEE Community surveys, Sampling

Problem identification, 2, 3, 6-8 Case studies, 8-11

Production areas (Census term), 194

Professional organizations . . . (Data item) 04.04 13 Professional organizations, 42-125



Program funding . . . (Data item) 02.04 08 Volume of program funding from external sources, 34, 110

Projective studies, 96

SEE ALSO Birth projections Death projections Economic projections Employment and unemployment projections Migration projections Population projections School enrollment projections

Property . . . (Data item) 02.05 02 Assessed valuation of non-tax exempt

property, 34, 111, 156

- 02.05 03 Assessed valuation of tax exempt property, 34, 111, 156
- 02.05 05 Property tax rate, 34, 111, 156

03.02 12 Land classified as Federal property, 38, 118, 163

Property maps SEE Land parcel maps and property maps

Public administration . . . (Data item) 02.02 01 91-97 Employment in public administration, 33, 153 02.07 04 91-97 Public Administration, 158

- Public assistance . . . (Data item) 01.05 04 Families receiving public assistance, 29, 93, 102
  - 04.01 04 Number of families receiving public assistance that have school-age children, 40, 121, 165

Public board of education, 141

Public ownership, 141

Public ownership . . . (Data item) 03.02 10 Area of land zoned public ownership, 37, 118, 162

257

Public resources, 141

Public Roads, U.S. Bureau of

Public school, 141
Public school(s) . . . (Data item)

04.07 02 Public school enrollment, 43, 127, 168 04.08 03 Number of public schools in the school district, by grade level, 43, 129, 170

Public transportation . . . (Data item) 03.04 02 Distance of school site from nearest public transportation route, 38, 94, 95 120

Public transportation routes, 141

Public utility . . . (Data item) 03.01 05 Transportation, communication and public utility land use, 37, 115, 160

# - R

Race, 141

Racial . . . (Data item) 04.04 06 Ethnic/racial groups, 42, i24 01.02 racial and ethnic characteristics, 5, 25, 27, 28, 100, 149

Racial and ethnic categories, 177-181

Radio stations . . . (Data item)

- 04.06 04 Radio stations reporting local stories, 42, 126
- 04:06 09 Radio stations that are Spanish language or minority oriented, 43, 126

Random sampling SEE Community surveys, Sampling

Real estate, 141

Real estate . . . (Data item) 02.02 01 60-67 Employment in finance, insurance and real estate, 33, 153

- 02.02 14 Finance, insurance and real estate, 34, 109, 154
- 02.07 04 60-67 Finance, insurance and real estate, 158

Recreational . . . (Data item) 03.01 07 Cultural, entertainment and recreational land use, 37, 116, 160 Reference week, 141

Religious organizations ... (Data item) 04.04 14 Religious organizations, 42, 125

Renter, 141

Reporting unit, 142

Residence address, 142°

Residence/residential . . . (Data item)

02.06 15 Residents working outside community of residence, 35, 113, 157

03.01 02 Residential land use, 37, 115, 160

- 03.02 08 Area of land zoned residential, 37, 117
- 03.03 03 Land in high-density residential use, 38, 119
- 03.03 04 Land in medium-density residential use, 38, 119
- 03.03 05 Land in low-density residential use, 38, 119

Retail . . . (Data item)

- 02.02 13 Retail trade, 34, 108, 154
- 02.02 13 01 Retail trade establishments, by category, 34, 57, 108
- 02.02 13 03 Sales volume, by category of retail commodity, 34, 57, 109
- 02.02 13 04 Retail sales volume per employee, 34, 109, 154
- 02.07 04 52-59 Retail trade, 158
- 02.02 01 52-59 Employment in retail trade, 33, 153
- 03.01 03 [Wholesale and retail] trade land use, 37, 115, 160

Retail trade

SEE Trade area

Revenue(s) . . . (Data item)

- 02.04 02 Annual revenues, by source, 34, 110, 155
- 02.07 05 Changes in local government revenues, 35, 114, 158
- 04.08 11 Revenue from local sources, 44, 130, 170
- 04.08 12 Revenue from intermediate sources, 44, 130, 171
- 04.08 13 Revenue from State sources, 44, 130, 171

253

- 04.08 14 Revenue from Federal sources, 44, 130, 171
- 02.05 Community revenue base for schools, 6, 25, 32, 34, 111, 156

Roads

SEE Condition of roads County toads Freeways and expressways Highways Streets Township roads

Rural . . . (Data item)

- 01.04 Urban-rural characteristics, 5, 25, 27, 29, 101
- 01.04 02 Rural population, 29, 101,
- 01.04 02 02 Rural farm population, 29, 101
- 01.04 02 03 Rural nonfarm population, 29, 101 02.06 10 Rural poverty index, 35, 113, 157

S

Rural farm/rural nonfarm [population], 142

Safe pedestrian circulation patterns, 142

Safe street crossings, 95

Safe value, 142

- Sales . . . (Data item)
  - 02.02 09 04 Average sales per farm, 33, 108, 154 02.02 12 02 Wholesale [trade] sales volume, 33, 108
  - 02.02 12 03 Sales volume, by category of wholesale commodity, 33, 56, 108
  - 02.02 12 04 Wholesale sales volume per employee, 33, 108, 154
  - 02.02 13 02 Retail sales volume, 34, 57, 109 02.02-13-03 Sales volume, by category of retail
  - commodity, 34, 57, 109
  - 02.02 13 04 Retail sales volume per employee, 34, 109, 154

Sample, 142

Sanborn Map Company, 58

Saturation ratio, 91

Scenario, 142

School, 142

SEE ALSO Community college Community school Nonpublic or private school Public schools

School(s) . . . (Data item)

- 01.01 06 Median highest grade of school completed, 13, 28, 48, 49, 93, 100, 148
- 01.06 01 Highest grade of school completed by persons age 25 and over, 29, 102
- 01.06 02 Percent distribution of highest grade of school completed by persons age 25 and over, 30, 102
- 02.05 Community revenue base for schools, 6, 25, 32, 34, 111, 156
- 03.03 06 Elementary school-age children living within one mile/1.6 kilometers of their school of attendance, 38, 119, 163
- 03.04 02 Distance of school site from nearest public transportation route, 38, 120, 94, 95, 120, 164
- 04.03 04 Votes cast in school levy elections, last three elections, 41, 123, 166
- 04.03 05 Votes cast in school bond issues, last three elections, 41, 123, 167
- 04.06 06 Circulation of school bulletins or newsletters, 43, 126
- 04.07 01 Total school enrollment, 43, 48, 49, 93, 126, 168
- 04.07 02 Public school enrollment, 43, 127, 168
- 04.07 03 Nonpublic school enrollment, 43, 127, 168

Ą

- 04.07 06 Total high school job-release students, 43, 128
- 04.07 07 Number of high school graduates who continue in postsecondary education, 43, 128
- 04.08 03 Number of public schools in the school district, by grade level served, 43, 129, 170
- 04.08 09 Annual school budget, 44, 130, 170 -

259

250

04.08 10 Ratio of school budget to total public budget, 44

04.09 School and community interrelationships, 6, 25, 40, 44, 131, 171

04.09 02 Number of surveys conducted by schools, last 5 years, 44, 131

04.09 05 Number of parent and other citizen volunteers serving in the schools, 44, 131, 171

04.09 06 Percent of students whose homes are visited by school personnel annually, 44, 131

04.09 07 Number of groups using school facilities, 44, 131, 171

04.09 09 Percent annual school budget for community relations, 44, 131, 171

School attendance area, 20, 23, 45, 50, 142, 174 SEE ALSO Attendance area Attendance area analysis Case studies, 12-16

School attendance area(s) . . . (Data item) 03.02 01 Land area of K-6 or K-8 school attendance areas, 3.7, 116, 162

03.02 02 Land area of 9-12 school attendance areas, 37, 116

04.01 12 Location of ethnic groups, by school attendance area, 41, 122

School board . . . (Data item) 04.08 01 Number of school board members, 43, 129

04.08 02 Average length of service of school board members, 43, 129

04.09 04 Average attendance at school board meetings, 44, 131, 171

School board of education SEE Board of education

School census, 62. 63

School closings Case studies, 12, 16

School decisionmaking, 5 SEE ALSO Educational decisionmaking

School district, 20, 23, 45, 50, 52, 133, 142, 173, 174

SEE ALSO Local basic administrative unit Local education agency

School district . . . (Data item)

- 04.04 01 Number of government units included in school district boundaries, 42, 124
- 04.07 School district characteristics, 6, 25, 40, 43, 126, 168
- 04.08 School district organization, 6, 25, 40, 129, 170

04.08 03 Number of public schools in the school district, by grade level served, 43, 129, 170

School enroilement projections, 89-92 SEE ALSO Neighborhood change factor Saturation ratio Survival ratio method Case studies, 8-20

School facility, 142 SEE ALSO School plant

School planning, 5, 20-22, 59, 66 SEE ALSO School site planning School transportation planning

School planning . . . (Data item) 04.09 03 Number of citizens involved in school planning, 44, 131, 171

School plant, 142 SEE ALSO School facility

School site planning, 93-95

School system, 142 SEE ALSO Local education agency

School transportation planning, 93, 94, 95, 96 SEE ALSO Number of miles of bus travel

SCSA

SEE Standard consolidated statistical areas (Census term)

SEA . SEE State education agency

Second language . . . (Data item)
 04.01 09 Number of families in which English is a

260

### **COMMUNITY INFORMATION**

252

second language, 41, 121, 165

Semiskilled labor, 142

Service clubs . . . (Data item) 04.04 15 Service clubs, 42, 125

Services . . . (Data item) ,02.02 01 70-89 Employment in service, 33, 153 02.07 04 70-89 Services, 158 03.01 06 Services land use, 37, 115, 160

Sex . . . (Data item) 02.06 02 Employment status, by sex, 35, 112. 1.57 02.07 08 Changes in employment status, by sex, 35, 114, 159

#### SIC

SEE Standard Industrial Classification System

Sidewalks, adequacy of, 95

Site cost feasibility study, 142

Skilled labor, 142

#### SMSA

SEE Central cities (of an SMSA) Standard metropolitan statistical area ~

SOC

. . .

SEE Standard Occupational Classification

Social service agencies . . . (Data item) 04.04 16 Social service agencies, 42, 125

Social structure and dynamics (Data category), 1, 5, 25, 39, 40, 121, 147, 165, 166, 167, 168, 169, 170, 171

Social structure and dynamics-studies, 58, 66-74

Sororal organizations . . . (Data item) 04.04 07 Fraternal or sororal organizations, 42, 125

Special interest group SEE Pressure group

Special interest groups . . . (Data item) 04.04 09 [Special] interest groups, nationally, 42, 125 Special-purpose district, 142

Speech impaired . . . (Data item) 01.09 04 10 Speech impaired, 31, 106, 152

Standard consolidated statistical areas (Census term), 192

Standard Industrial Classification System, 32, 175, 176

Standard Land Use Coding System, 142

Standard metropolitan statistical area, 24

Standard metropolitan statistical areas (Census term), 192-193

Standard Occupational Classification, 143

State education agency, 143 SEE ALSO Local education agency

State highways, 143

States (Census term), 192

Statistical analysis SEE Mean Median

Statistical information, 143 SEE ALSO Unit of measure

Statistical services, 143

Statistics . . . (Data item) 01.08 Vital statistics, 6, 25, 28, 30, 103, 151 04.02 Statistics collected by local agencies, 6, 25, 39, 41, 122, 165

Stratified sampling SEE Community surveys, Sampling

Street crossings, safe, 95

Streets SEE Freeways and expressways Highways Local access streets Minimum path street patterns

261

Municipal streets Roads Student, 143 SEE ALSO Elementary school student Student(s) . . . (Data item) 02.05 06 Assessed valuation per attendant student, 34, 111, 156 04.07 06 Total high school job-release students, 43, 128 04.07 09 Number of non-English speaking students, 43, 129 04.08 04 Total number of students, 43, 129 04.08 06 Student-teacher ratio, 44, 129, 170 04.08 07 Current expenditures per student, 44, 129, 170 04.09 06 Percent of students whose homes are visited by school personnel annually, 44, 131 Subdivision . . . (Data item) 03.05 05 Subdivision ordinances, 38, 120 Suburbanization, 143 Suicides . . . (Data item) 04.02 01 Annual suicides, 41, 122 Sarveys SEE Community surveys Surveys . 🥲 (Data item) 🗋 04.09 01 Number of surveys conducted by outside agencies, last 5 years, 44, 131 04.09 02 Number of surveys conducted by schools, last 5 years, 44, 131 Survival ratio method, 89-91 Systematic sampling SEE Community surveys, Sampling Table of Equivalence SEE National Center for Education Statistics

Tax(es) . . . (Data item) 02.04 07 Local taxes, by type and rate, 34, 110, 155 02.05 03 Assessed valuation of tax exempt property, 34, 111, 156 02.05 05 Property tax rate, 34, 111, 156 Teacher(s) . . . (Data item) 04.08 06 Student-teacher ratio, 44, 129, 170 04.08 08 Average teacher's salary, 44, 130 Teenagers . . . (Data item) 04.02 02 Live births to teenagers, 41, 122, 165 Television stations . . . (Data item) 04.06 05 Television stations reporting local stories, 42, 126 TOE (Table of Equivalence) SEE National Center for Education Statistics 1980 Census Data by School District Project Town, 20, 133, 140, 143 Township, 24, 140, 143 Townships roads, 143 Trade area, 143 Transportation -. . . (Data item) 02.02 01 40-49 Employment in transportation, 33, 153 02.07 04 40-49 Transportation, 158 03.01 05 Transportation, communication and public utility land use, 37, 115, 160 03.04 02 Distance of school site from nearest public transportation route, 38, 94, 95, 120, 164 Transportation planning SEE School transportation planning Travel regions (Census term), 194 Trend analysis, 143

U

 SEE Community information Display Tables

Project

1980 Census Data by School District

SEE Urbanized areas (Census term)

262

UA

### COMMUNITY INFORMATION

- Underemployed person, 143
- Unemployed . . . (Data item) 02.06 01 02 Percent of labor force unemployed, 35, 111, 157

- 1

- Unemployment projections SEE Employment and unemployment projections
- Unions ... (Data item) 04.04 17 Unions, 42, 125
- Unit of measure, 143
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, 20, 24 Census publications, 22, 54
- U.S. Bureau of Public Roads, 58 Standard Land Use Coding System SEE Standard Land Use Coding System
- U.S. Bureau of the Census, 1, 12, 24, 45, 48, 52, 53, 54, 94, 175, 187 SEE ALSO Census tract Census publications, 61, 97, 133, 174, 187, 190 General, 48-59, 53-54 Housing, 45, 46-47, 50-51 Population, 45-46, 47 Summary tapes, 45, 47, 97, 190 SEE ALSO U.S. Bureau of the Census. Summary Tape Processing Centers
- U.S. Bureau of the Census, Data Access and Use Laboratory, 97
- U.S. Bureau of the Census, Data User Services Division, 74, 187, 189
- U.S. Bureau of the Census, Publication Distribution Section, 45
- U.S. Bureau of the Census, Regional Offices, 187-188
- U.S. Bureau of the Census. Summary Tape Processing Centers, 97, 190 SEE ALSO U.S. Bureau of the Census Census publications Summary tapes

- U.S. Census Depository Libraries, 189
- U.S. Congressional districts (Census term), 194
- U.S. Dept. of Agriculture, 61
- U.S. Dept. of Commerce Census publications, 55, 188
- U.S. Dept. of Commerce, District Offices, 48, 188-189
- U.S. Dept. of Health, Education, and Welfare, 27, 61
- U.S. Dept. of Labor, 32, 61
- U.S. Depository Libraries, 61, 189
- U.S. Federal Reserve System Census publications, 55
- U.S. Forest Service, 74
- U.S. Geological Survey, 58, 66, 74
- U.S. Government Printing Office, 97
- U.S. Internal Revenue Service, 54
- U.S. Office of Management and Budget, 27, 175
- U.S. Postal Service, 81
- U.S. Urban Renewal Administration, 58

Unskilled labor, 143

- Urban . . . (Data item) 01.04 Urban-rural characteristics, 5, 25, 27, 29, 101 01.04 01 Urban population, 29, 101 02.06 11 Urban poverty index, 35, 113, 157
- Urban and rural areas (population) (Census term), 193
- Urban blight, 143 SEE ALSO Blight

Urban fringe, 143

263

Urban renewal, 144

Urban Renewal Administration, U.S. SEE U.S. Urban Renewal Administration

Urbanized areas (Census term)

### V

Value of housing or value of unit, 144

Value(s)/valuation . . . (Data item)

01.07 07 Median value of owner-occupied housing units, 13, 30, 48, 51, 103

02.02 09 03 Value of agricultural products (including livestock), 33, 56, 107

- 02.02 09 05 Value of farms, 33, 56, 107, 154
- 02.02 10 01 Value of minerals produced, 33, 56, 108
- 02.02 11 02 Value added by manufacturing, 33, 56, 108
- 02.05 01 Total assessed yaluation, 34, 111, 161

02.05 02 Assessed valuation of non-tax exempt property, 34, 111, 156

02.05 03 Assessed valuation of tax exempt property, 34, 111, 156

- 02.05°04 Assessed valuation, by land use types, 34, 111, 156
- 02.05 06 Assessed valuation per attendant student, 34, 111, 156
- 03.02 04 Land values, by type of use, 37, 117, 162

Values, 144 SEE ALSO Attitudes Beliefs

Village, 173

Ċ1

Visually handicapped . . . (Data item) 01.09 04 11 Visually handicapped, 31, 106, 152

Vital statistics . . . (Data item) 01.08 Vital statistics, 6, 25, 28, 30, 103, 15,

Vocational education, 22 ¹ SEE ALSO Adult vocational education Area vocational school Case studies, 16, 22

Volunteers . . . (Data item) 04.09 05 Number of parent and other citizen

volunteers serving in the schools, 44, 131, 171

Voter registrations. / . (Data item) 04.03 01 Voter registrations, 41, 122 04.03 01 01 Voter registrations, by political party, 41, 122, 166

- Votes/voting . . . (Data item) 04.03 Voting characteristics, 6, 25, 39, 41, 122, 166
  - 04.03 02 Votes cast in last two presidential elections, 41, 123
  - 04.03 03 Votes cast in last two nonpresidential year U.S. House elections, by political party, 41, 123, 166
- 04.03 04 Votes cast in school operating levy elections, last three elections, 41, 123, 166

04.03 05 Votes cast in school bond issues, last three elections, 41, 123, 167

#### W

Wage earner . . . (Data item) 02.06 18 Number of families with more than one wage earner, 35, 114, 157

Wages SEE Earnings

Wards (Census term), 194

Water district, 133

Welfare agencies, 144

White . . . (Data item) 01.02 05 White, not of Hispanic origin, 29, 49, 93, 101, 149

White collar . . . (Data item)
02.06 04 Employment in white collar occupations, 35, 112, 157
02.06 06 White collar/blue collar ratio, 35, 113, 157
02.07 09 Change in white collar/blue collar ratio,

White collar worker, 144

264

35, 114

# **COMMUNITY INFORMATION**

- Wholesale . . . (Data item)
  - 02.02 01 50-51 Employment in wholesale trade, 33, 153
  - 02.02 12 Wholesale trade, 33, 108, 154
  - 02.02 12 01 Wholesale trade establishments, by .category, 33, 56, 108
  - 02.02 12 02 Wholesale [trade] sales volume, 33, 108
  - 02.02 12 03 Sales volume, by category of wholesale commodity, 33, 57, 108
  - 02.02 12 04 Wholesale sales volume per employee, 33, 108, 154
  - 02.07 04 50-51 Wholesale trade, 158
  - 03.01 03 [Wholesale and retail] trade land use, 37, 115, 160
- Wholesale trade
  - SEE Trade area

Worker 🕚

SEE Blue collar worker Migrant worker White collar worker Worker education Worker education, 144

Y

Youth agencies, 144

Youth groups . . . (Data item) 04.04 18 Youth groups, 42, 125

Z

Zoning, 144

Zoning/zoned . . . (Data item)

- 03.02 08 Area of land zoned, residential, 37, 117
- 03.02 09 Area of land zoned, manufacturing, 37, 117, 162
- 03.02 10 Area of land zoned, public ownership, 37, 118, 162
- 03.02 15 Land zoned for historic preservation, 38, 118
- 03.05 06 Zoning code, 38, 120

